SEMI-ANNUAL SCHOLARLY LEGAL JOURNAL OF COMENIUS UNIVERSITY IN BRATISLAVA FACULTY OF LAW





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (online): 2644-6359 EV: 5519/17 DOI: 10.46282/blr.2020.4.2 EDITOR IN CHIEF Ondrej Blažo / Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia

EDITORIAL BOARD

Ondrej Hamul'ák / Palacký University in Olomouc, Czechia secretary of editorial board Rainer Arnold / University of Regensburg, Germany Gábor Hamza / Eötvös Loránd University in Budapest, Hungary Matej Horvat / Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Philip M. Genty / Columbia Law School, USA Peter Lysina / Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Joseph Marko / University of Graz, Austria Katrin Nyman-Metcalf / Talinn University of Technology, Estonia Matthias Niedobitek / Chemnitz University of Technology, Germany Wojciech Piątek /Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań, Poland Václav Stehlík /Palacký University in Olomouc, Czechia Tomáš Strémy /Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Márton Várju /Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Hungary Laurent Waelkens / KU Leuven, Belgium

EDITORIAL OFFICE executive editor: Olexij M. Meteňkanyč

junior executive editors: Adam Köszeghy Adam Máčaj Terézia Švedová

CONTACT

Comenius University in Bratislava Faculty of Law Šafárikovo nám. 6 811 00 Bratislava Slovakia blr@flaw.uniba.sk

Published twice a year by Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law print and online: https://blr.flaw.uniba.sk https://doi.org/10.46282/blr

Volume 4 Issue 2 was published 31 December 2020

Texts © Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law and authors, 2020 Cover and Layout © Štefan Blažo, 2020

The readers may read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of all of the Article of the Journal and use them for any other lawful purpose under specified Creative Commons Licence (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0).

ABOUT THE JOURNAL

Bratislava Law Review is an international legal journal published by the Faculty of Law of Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia (till the end of 2019 it was published by Wolters Kluwer in cooperation with the Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava). It seeks to support legal discourse and research and promote critical legal thinking in a global extent. The journal offers a platform for fruitful scholarly discussions via various channels – be it lengthy scholarly papers, discussion papers, book reviews, annotations or conference reports. Bratislava Law Review focuses on publishing papers not only from the area of legal theory and legal philosophy but also other topics with international aspects (international law, EU law, regulation of the global business). Comparative papers and papers devoted to interesting trends and issues in national law that reflect various global challenges and could inspire legal knowledge and its application in other countries are also welcomed.

The Bratislava Law Review has adopted multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary, but also cross-disciplinary coverage. This is also the reason why members of the Bratislava Law Review Editorial Board are experts both in legal sciences and legal practice as well as in related disciplines – to ensure cross-cutting knowledge throughout all legal sciences, branches and fields of law. The Editorial Board consisting of foreign scholars-experts in the above fields, as well as a double-blind external peer review, provide a guarantee of the high standard of the contributions published. In this way, the Bratislava Law Review hopes to provide space for presenting a diversity of opinions and approaches to up-to-date legal issues and problems, aiming in this way to contribute to an overall rise in standards of legal science in the CEE region.

SECTION POLICIES

Studies and articles

Studies and articles are peer-reviewed papers bringing deep and comprehensive analyses of international law, European law, legal theory, legal philosophy, legal history or comparative law. If covering national jurisdiction, they shall have solid comparative importance.

Discussion papers and commentaries

Discussion papers usually cover one jurisdiction or particular legal regulation with relevant comparative impact or particular legal problem. Commentaries shall provide insight and evaluation of selected legislation or case law relevant to CEE legal environment and legal tradition. Both discussion papers and commentaries are peer-reviewed.

Special sections

Special sections contain peer-reviewed studies and articles. Topic of special section and selection of papers is suggested by guest editors who also recommend authors and their papers, and it is usually outcome of particular research group or research task. Obviously, special section status does not relieve papers from standard review procedures and the criteria are the same as the criteria for studies and articles.

Reviews and reports

Reviews and reports shall bring notices and information on scientific publications and scientific events. They are not subject to peer-review.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

Publishing with the scientific journal Bratislava Law Review means publishing with the Faculty of Law of Comenius University in Bratislava, the oldest and leading law school in Slovakia.

The Journal seeks to publish original research papers that make a significant contribution to all fields of law, in particular European, comparative and international law. To achieve the aim of the journal, we encourage authors to submit significant articles from all other branches of law and legal scholarship that can help shape the everchanging legal knowledge in the area of Central and Eastern Europe and in particular the V4 countries and Danube region. Book reviews, annotations and various legal and scholarly reports are also accepted for publication. Bratislava Law Review is committed to support the growth of new generation of researchers and scholars in all fields of legal studies and the journal therefore accepts also junior researchers' papers (particularly students enrolled in Ph.D., JSD and equal study programmes).

The papers shall be submitted directly via journal's webpage which enables authors to follow editorial process

All papers are subject to an anti-plagiarism check via iThenticate.

The paper shall be written and submitted in the standard editable format of text editor (e.g. doc, docx, rtf). The authors are expected to deliver the proposed articles in correct English (British standard).

Each study and scientific article shall contain an abstract which summarizes the research aims of the paper, the structure of the paper as well as outlines conclusions. Keywords shall enable enhancing searchability of the papers and grouping papers of similar topics, so we suggest choosing, on the one hand, keywords general enough, on the other hand, precise enough in order to characterize the paper properly. Jurisdiction and area of law shall be included in key words. We kindly ask potential authors to respect quotation standards of Author-Date System (APA Style). References should cover solely the items referred to or cited in the text, no papers cited from a secondary source should be included in the references. In each reference item, the author must include its assigned DOI (if applicable).

Detailed guidelines for authors can be found on the journal's webpage.

Submissions are free of charge.

Authors, reviewers and editorial team shall follow the Editorial Ethics and the Code of Conduct published on the journal's webpage.

Forthcoming issues:

2021, volume 5, issue 1 Deadline for submission of papers: 15th March 2021 Review procedure and editing process: March-June 2021 Foreseen date of publication: June 2021

2021, volume 5, issue 2 Deadline for submission of papers: 15th September 2021 Review procedure and editing process: September-November 2021 Foreseen date of publication: December 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

ARTICLES
International Trade Law and Emerging Technologies – A Conceptual Framework
Balázs Horváthy Paying Taxes in the Digital Age
Matej Kačaljak
About Non-Positivist Perspective on Legal Values in International Law Mario Krešić
Interpreting Law through International Judicial Dialogue by Polish Courts Magdalena Matusiak-Frącczak
Guilty of Not Doing That! Marco Mazzocca
Apply or Not To Apply? A Comparative View on Territorial Application of CCPA and GDPR Matúš Mesarčík
Do the New Peace Agreements between Israel and the Gulf States Set a 'Honey Trap' for Isr Nellie Munin
Schrems II: Will It Really Increase the Level of Privacy Protection against Mass Surveillance? Lusine Vardanyan, Václav Stehlík
Scandinavian Legal Realism and the Challenge of Recognizing Emergency Medical Service as a Legal Norm Jenna Uusitalo
Private Antitrust Enforcement in Digital Market Dominik Wolski
DISCUSSION PAPERS AND COMMENTARIES
The European Public Prosecutor's Office: New Actor in EU Criminal Law Dominika Becková
The Model of Supervision over Administrative Courts in Poland Jan Olszanowski
Insolvent Groups of Companies in the European Union – Objectives of Establishing Group Coordination Proceedings <i>Noémi Suri</i>
REPORTS
International and National Legal Aspects of Direct Citizen Participation in Local Self-Governr (Bratislava, 3 December 2020) L'udovít Máčaj
Improvement of Effectiveness of Legal Regulation of Public Procurement and Its Application within EU Law Context (Bratislava, 25 November and 3 December 2020) Adam Máčai, Daniel Zigo

ARTICLES





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW AND EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES – A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK / Balázs Horváthy

Balázs Horváthy, PhD. Centre for Social Sciences, Tóth Kálmán utca 4, H-1097 Budapest, Hungary

Széchenyi István University, Faculty of Law and Political Sciences, Egyetem tér 1, H-9026, Jogr, Hungary horvathy.balazs@tk.mta.hu ORCID: 0000-0001-6809-0223

The underlining research of this paper has been conducted within the project "Legal issues of Autonomous Vehicles" (project No. GINOP-2.3.4-15-2016-00003 Center for University-Industry Cooperation at Széchenyi University). Abstract: The paper aims to establish a conceptual framework for a relation between technological development and the international trade law. Uncovering the complex interaction between these two areas of the social reality is important today, when we are witnessing an intense period of technological revolution, which transforms not only the trade, but also the whole economy, and at the same time, it also creates challenges to the international trade law. The paper sheds light on the background of these processes and offers an introductory analysis with the aim of mapping the topic and the relevant literature. For this reason, the paper examines the roots of this context, and tries to respond the questions, what are the main challenges this revolution poses to international trade law, and how this area of law can rely upon its infrastructure to respond these challenges.

Key words: new technologies; industry 4.0; autonomous vehicles; technology and law; international trade law, WTO

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 30 November 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Horváthy, B. (2020). International Trade Law and Emerging Technologies – A Conceptual Framework. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 9-20. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.201

1. INTRODUCTION

The complex interaction between international trade law and technological development was observed long before the ongoing "digital industrial revolution" (Schwab, 2015).¹ These challenges posed by the technology were mostly indirect, i.e. the technology primarily affected the trade itself, which reacted on the regulation of international trade. One can think of how the advent of the steamships or the railway changed radically the forms of international trade, creating new cross-border transactions and generating new legal problems (Cottier, 2017; Ciuriak, 2018).

Today, we are witnessing a similarly intense period of technological development that stimulates the transformation of economy, and at the same time, creates challenges to the international trade law. These challenges stem not only from the technological change itself, but also from the fact that technological revolutions have been accelerated considerably in the recent decades. Early technological changes took shape over

¹ The current technological development is frequently called as the 4th industrial revolution.

generations until it became widespread in everyday practice, but as we could observe recently, the transition from the analogue to digital technology took only a few decades. Therefore, not only the extent and complexity but also the dynamic of the technological development has changed radically (Baldwin, 2016; Curiak, 2018).

The emergence and spread of new technologies, digitalization, artificial intelligence, automation, or autonomous vehicles also lead to the spread of new products and new services, shedding light on certain new problems of international trade regulations, such as the application of intellectual property rights and industrial property, or trade adverse effects of standards or technical regulations (Gasser, 2015; Glancy, 2015). Some of these challenges relate to the fact that today, the legal framework for the application of these new technologies is predominantly determined by domestic laws (or, to certain extent, regional integrations, like the EU law), therefore the relevant norms, technical rules, and standards may still differ significantly from each other. Due to the lack of substantial international unification, the diverging national regulations may constitute obstacles to international trade, making the exports and imports of the products and services based on these new technological innovations more difficult.

For this reason, the international trade law should find ways and means of regulating or, where appropriate, standardizing requirements for new technologies. On the other hand, the impact of some new, "disruptive technologies"² cannot be neglected either, because they require an entirely new approach of international trade law. Sometimes even new forms of regulations are needed, which are adequately able to create entirely new channels, instruments, transactions and, possibly, even revolutionary financial environments (Burri and Cottier, 2012; Cottier, 1996; Porter and Heppelmann, 2014).³ In the latter cases, the national regulations are not able at all to address the complex problems the new technologies are posing effectively, therefore, the response of international trade law is often forced to go beyond the task of harmonizing diverse national laws. Consequently, new technologies stimulate not only the harmonization, but also the unification, requiring more intensive cooperation of the countries.

The following paper aims at shedding light on the background of these processes, and tries to establish a conceptual framework covering the current "digital revolution" and international trade regulation. The paper just wants to make the nexus between the technology and international trade law visible and therefore, offers an introductory analysis with the aim of mapping the topic and the relevant literature. For this reason, the paper discusses, after analysing the roots of this context, the main challenges this revolution poses to international trade law, and the way this area of law can rely upon its infrastructure to respond to these challenges.⁴

² The new technologies are "disruptive" in a sense that these are now building entirely new structures in a way that, at the same time, "disrupt" or even demolish our traditional social structures, our traditional knowledge etc. (see Manyika et. al., 2013).

³ See e.g. cryptocurrencies. The development of digital technologies is also drastically transforming the way how trade is handled. Not only the impact of the internet and the various platforms can be realized now, but, e.g. the Internet of Things (IoT) can be used now to trace products from the very beginning of the production process to delivering it to the consumer, which might result in simplification of the customs barriers and safety standards. But the proliferation of artificial intelligence can optimize the trade process, and blockchain technology can contribute to "streamlining" the contractual basis of trade transactions. However, in addition to their fundamental commercial benefits, these technologies will evidently help to reduce the costs of trade.
⁴ The paper, however, does not address the nexus between the technology and the so called "private standards". Private actors, like NGOs, industrial associations etc. are setting standards as well, which might law and, to certain extent, the domestic laws to the technolog (see Cottier, 2017 for 'private standards').

2. INTERACTION BETWEEN TECHNOLOGY, TRADE AND INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW

In the past, the development of international trade was directly influenced by technological advances of transport and communication, as these technological innovations reduced the costs of international trade drastically. However, the trade also reacted to these processes: the technological development created new trade techniques and instruments, which generated more and more trade. The increasing volume of international trade contributed to better access to national markets, increased the interdependence between domestic markets, and strengthened economic integration. These tendencies have been accelerated in the last century, particularly after the World War II. Even in this period, the development of transport and communication technologies has been the most important vehicle of these processes, which contributed to further cost reductions in international trade (Jacks, Meissner, & Novy, 2018; Hummels, 2007; WTO, 2018).⁵ It is also notable, that the technological development affected positively not only trade, but also the whole economy (Jacks, Meissner, & Novy, 2018).⁶

In addition to this development, structural changes have also been taking place in trade. The technological advances enabled the production and distribution having been detached gradually from the domestic processes, thus creating global value chains (Baldwin, 2016). More recently, the "disruptive technologies" are bringing about even more drastic changes. According to the predictions (WTO, 2018, pp. 35–39.), three major structural changes have been apparent recently. First, online markets are spreading, operating in a global, international space, which is posing special regulatory challenges. Second, new products are emerging (media services, personalized goods and services, etc.) that are demanding an increasing share of international trade. Third, digital international markets are emerging and accompanied by a much wider range of products, and at this point, it is very important that stepping into the digital trade is much easier and also cheaper than competing in traditional trade platforms (Khan, 2019).

As this short historical introduction shows, the technology has always been going hand in hand with the trade. The trade was stimulated by technology and contributed to the development of trade. But what can we say about the role of law and legal regulation? The law has always had a place in this context. It is due to the fact that since the technological development has been an important driving factor, it was not only reflected by the trade, but also by the law itself. Not surprisingly, as the law constantly tries to follow the changing societal environment (Abbott, 1997), therefore, the law also played a major role in the development mentioned above. The new inventions in the field of transport helped in channelling products from local, national markets into international trade much more efficiently, thus the new transport technologies contributed to the expansion of the dimension of the international division of labour and the overall volume of international trade, and the law was an important catalyst in these processes. But what is highly important for the role of the law is that even today, the law could and can not only adopt to the development, but as a catalyst, the law is able to react to the technology and trade as well.

⁵ It is estimated that the overall costs of trade have fallen by 16% nominally in the period between 1950 and 2000. For instance, the introduction and spread of containers in maritime freight transport led to a significant reduction in ad valorem transport charges. The rail transport conditions will be significantly improved. The electrification of railways, the spread of high-speed trains and intermodal transport are helping to reduce rail transport costs even today. Moreover, e air freight has also been experiencing rapid growth in the second half of the last century. The communication costs have fallen even faster thanks to the satellites, optical cables, mobile communication devices, etc.

⁶ In the second half of the 20th century, the per capita GDP increased annually by 3% on average.

In other words, the connection of technology to international trade law can be described as a "dialectic relationship" (Cottier, 2017). This concept means that the relationship between these areas is shaped by mutual interaction. On the one hand, the technological development affects the law, and on the other hand, the law itself has implications on technological advance, thanks to the specific infrastructure of international trade law. The technology, however, is not only an external factor influencing the trade and law: a great proportion of products traded internationally are somewhat "technological products", i.e. products representing highly developed technological innovations at the markets. It is true not only for the trade in goods, but also for the international trade in services. It means that both the infrastructures provided by technological advances (e.g. internet) and the revolutionary technological inventions (e.g. international telecommunication services, etc.) are subjects of the trade in services. In other words, international trade law reflects on the technological developments shaping the space in which international trade is taking place, and on the other hand, the law must also respond to the challenges arising from new products and services, which have been created by the technological development.

The role of the law is more palpable, if we think of the fact that the technological progress alone does not automatically guarantee the benefits arising from the expanding trade and specifically, the larger and more predictable global value chains. Rather, the experience of the last two centuries shows that the most favourable trade effects can be achieved if the law regulates and controls the technological development.

Behind these transformations, the law mitigates the risks arising from new technologies, defines the framework for the application of new technologies by introducing technical regulations and standards, and by adopting other sectoral norms. These new norms usually appear first in national law, but differences in the domestic regulatory models and regulations may adversely affect international trade. Therefore, national regulations may constitute a barrier to trade and the international standards, possibly even through mutual recognition, and by removing regulatory barriers as non-tariff measures.

In addition to the previous characteristics, another essential feature of this dialectic relationship is that the law itself has major implications on the development of technology. In this respect, domestic norms play an important role in creating legal environment for application and development of technologies, therefore, the specific rules of commercial law, competition law, tax law, or industrial property law might determine the way technology can be applied, and in this context, the way the technology proliferates. Moreover, international trade law is also relevant in this context by setting a framework for these domestic regulations and influencing their application. In other words, an increase in trade associated with technological development is also encouraged by international trade law by extending, where appropriate, certain legal guarantees for the use of technology at global level (see, for example, the role of GATS and TRIPS, etc.). At the same time, the international trade law lays down a framework for restrictive domestic policies as well, namely assesses certain social, health or environmental risks, and says how the member states may justify and approve national restrictions on technology, narrowing down its development indirectly (see, for example, Article XX of the GATT).

It arises from the above concept of dialectic interaction that the technological development affects legal regulation as an essential factor, however, the latter is able to react and determine which technologies are accepted, in which ways these technologies can be used, or conversely, which technologies are not allowed to be adopted.

3. TECHNOLOGICAL CHALLENGES AND THE REACTION OF INTERNATIONAL COURTS

3.1. Methods and instruments of international trade law

We have seen that an interaction between technology and international trade law exists, and now there is a question, in what ways and means the international trade law has been able to respond to the challenges posed by the technological development. One of the main functions of international trade law, as mentioned in the introduction, is to reconcile differing domestic laws in order to prevent national technological standards from making restrictions in the international trade. The methods of international trade law can range from technical cooperation between states, through harmonization of standards, to the development of unified international rules.

The least intensive interaction between different regulatory regimes is recorded in technical cooperation. This type of cooperation does not affect domestic decisionmaking and regulatory autonomy, but allows for informal and formal exchange of coordination of research and other technology related knowledge, which is important in the implementation mechanisms (e.g. testing, licensing, etc.). Therefore, in practice, the regulatory cooperation means collaboration of research institutions and offices of two or more countries, and these mechanisms enable participating governments to share the data collected in the background research, as well as discuss their proposals on domestic technical regulations and standards, even before the regulations are adopted. This kind of cooperation is usually anchored in bilateral trade agreements, but also multilateral rules lay down similar mechanisms of cooperation between the contractual parties. A striking example of a multilateral mechanism is the WTO Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade (TBT) requiring the Member States to provide information and to notify the domestic rules when introducing any standard that may constitute a restriction on trade.⁷ The results of the subsequent negotiations or consultations held with other WTO Members should be considered in the course of preparation and adoption of new standards and technical rules. However, cooperation can be successful only if the states concerned are able to reconcile their regulatory priorities, which can easily lead to convergence. Without such mutual understanding, the cooperation alone will not deliver the expected results (Cottier, 1996; Pollack, 2009; Cottier, 2017).

Stronger coherence between different domestic regulatory regimes can be achieved by setting down minimum requirements. In this case, the international trade law (e.g. treaty provisions) lays down obligatory requirements concerning domestic technical regulations, standards, procedural requirements, or other technical norms, which must be adopted by the countries concerned. However, it is not the required unification, it does not limit completely the regulatory leeway of the participating countries, they may adopt additional rules concerning the technologies in question. The WTO legal framework on intellectual property rights is based on this logical setting. The TRIPS Agreement lays down a minimum level of protection and requires Member States to adopt and implement these requirements into the domestic law, but allows them to provide more comprehensive protection, i.e. a higher level of standards are fully compatible with this obligation.⁸ The advantage of this method is that the parties can find a compromise on the minimum requirements more easily than they could agree on unified standards.

⁷ See TBT 2.9. (For further analysis, see Wolfrum, Stoll, & Seibert-Fohr, 2007).

⁸ For instance, TRIPS has been providing patent protection for twenty years, but the Member States may apply stricter rules in the pharmaceutical sector. Some preferential trade agreements comprehensively complement the minimum rules of TRIPS in the so-called "TRIPS plus" provisions.

Under this process, the international trade law harmonizes directly the domestic regulations, but only to the minimum level. Therefore, the level and content of the requirements may still differ significantly from one country to another, which might pose also trade barriers between the participating countries.

Contrary to the minimum requirements that do not eliminate the risk of trade obstacles, setting down maximum requirements for technology standards operates in a different manner. The adoption of "regulatory caps" can efficiently prevent trade barriers and also support international competition. This approach is applied rarely in the WTO law, one example is the plurilateral GATS obligation on telecommunications services. This covers specific principles laid down in the "Reference Paper",⁹ which includes also good practices on the limitations of domestic technology regulations. This category of instruments can be approached also from a wider perspective. Cottier and Oesch argue that all WTO rules should be considered as a certain kind of a technology related "maximum standard" that tightens the regulatory leeway of the WTO members *vis-à-vis* the technology (2005). In this interpretation, e.g. the WTO rules on subsidies and other specific areas of WTO law are covered by this category.

As for the relevant instruments of international trade law, an attention should be paid also to the mutual recognition mechanisms of technology standards. Mutual recognition means an acceptance and application of technical norms, which have been laid down by another country. Mutual recognition can take place without explicit coordination on the basis of reciprocity, but is most often achieved through bilateral mutual recognition agreements (MRAs) (Schroder, 2011). The rules for recognizing MRAs can be assessed as preferences granted to the parties and therefore are forming an exception to the principle of most-favoured-nation treatment (MFN).¹⁰ MRAs are necessarily based on the mutual trust of the parties, in other terms, they show confidence in the certification procedures, the institutions, licensing authorities, etc. of the other contracting party. The countries accept the evidence and facts produced by the other countries' authorities, and rely upon these concerns when allowing the product arising from the other party to enter their domestic market. In practice, it means that the approval of the products by the authorities of the exporting country is accepted by the importing country. Mutual recognition can considerably facilitate the spread of new technologies in the countries covered by the agreement.

It is important, however, that the acceptance of equivalence of standards differs from the mutual recognition mechanisms. Equivalence of technical specifications means that the requirements for products or manufacturing processes approved by another state are considered to be of equal value despite existing differences. Once a product has been lawfully placed on the market in a country, the importing country recognizes the lawfulness of the marketing on the grounds that foreign rules provide a similar level of protection but are not necessarily defined in the same way. Some examples of equivalence can be found in the regional integrations (see EU internal market and trade in goods covered by the EEA Agreement), but equivalence of standards is not required by WTO law. The TBT Agreement only recommends the parties to apply equivalence, but does not oblige the parties to introduce this approach.¹¹ The principle of equivalence may also appear in free trade agreements in conjunction with regulatory cooperation between

⁹ At this time, 82 WTO Member States joined the Reference Paper. Telecommunications Services: Reference Paper 24 April 1996 Negotiating group on basic telecommunications

https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/serv_e/telecom_e/tel23_e.htm.

¹⁰ According to Article 6.3 of the TBT.

¹¹ Cottier, on the other hand, argues that this is tacitly exempting parties from the MFN that are applying the principle of equivalence (2017).

the parties, e.g. by the Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) between Canada and the European Union.

Finally, the unification can be highlighted as an important regulatory method. The unification means an adoption and implementation of uniform standards and regulations for specific technologies, which mostly take place within bilateral or multilateral agreements. As a result of the unification, the same standard will apply to all participating countries. As the applicable rules are identical, they will be able to effectively remove the trade barriers and ensuring a level playing field. As far as technologies are concerned, a unified law can also mean the uniformity of standards related to production and marketing, but this method has remained exceptional in the international trade law. The TBT Agreement refers to harmonized standards and the SPS Agreement refers to common food safety standards and provides for the application of those standards in cases where the WTO Members concerned are specifically bound by those uniform provisions (Gruszczynski, 2010).¹² It is important, however, that under WTO law, the Member States retain the power of applying stricter standards, instead of the uniform rules. It weakens the scope of the harmonized standards to certain extent, given that stricter regulation may also constitute a barrier to trade.¹³

However, there is no doubt that greater harmonization in the field of standards and the application of the harmonized standards can have an impact not only on the countries concerned. Where cooperation on standards takes place between markets with higher trade volumes, the regulatory cooperation can also have a spill-over effect, consequently the third countries will also adapt to the standard or technical norm on the basis of a voluntary decision. This process is particularly important in the field of technologies such as autonomous driving vehicles. It is expected that the key players in this sector, like the US and the EU, will be able to determine the basic technical standards that will be applied to the technology in question, and thus even bilateral cooperation can have a global impact. If technical regulations are adopted by more and more third countries, involving even larger markets, the technical rules can be formally raised to multilateral level by international standard-setting bodies, creating new, global standards.

This process is of great importance for further development of technology. The standards that are spreading globally also determine the market and the production, which will shape further directions of the technological development. There is a couple of examples in the past, where spreading technical rules generated a kind of "competition between standards", and the market was to select the standard that was finally adopted and implemented globally. This process is facilitated within the infrastructure of international trade law, therefore this experience can be considered also in the future, when new technologies come into existence. For instance, it might be specifically important to predict possible outcomes of the "competition between standards", because there are plenty of cases in the near past, where ultimately, not the most efficient, not the most consumer-friendly, etc. standard won this competition (Ciuriak & Ptashkina, 2018; Ciuriak, 2019).¹⁴

¹² Article 2.4 TBT provides that Members shall apply such regulations, where they exist domestically, and the same shall apply to the food safety standards in line with Article 3.1 of SPS Agreement.

¹³ The WTO dispute settlement ruling on hormone-treated meat between the US and the EU has explicitly confirmed this possibility, thus reducing the scope for harmonized standards for Member States. DS26: European Communities – Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products (Hormones). https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds26_e.htm.

¹⁴ We might remember the "war of the video formats" in the '70s, when VHS and BETA standards were in harsh competition, which eventually led to the proliferation of VHS, but some argued that VHS quality was below BETA. One can observe, metaphorically, the "war of standards" at the moment e.g. in the area of technologies

3.2. Specific instruments of the WTO law

After reviewing the methods of regulation, we will finally examine below the means by which the regulation of the World Trade Organization, as the basis of international trade law, can provide answers to the present technological challenges. Although the core of WTO law dates back a quarter of a century, this regulatory system is also relevant in the context of digitalisation and new technologies, so it would be an exaggeration to say that the technological revolution has been taking place in a "legal vacuum" (Aaronson & Leblond, 2018).¹⁵ These challenges, however, may include the adjustment of existing regulations and the creation of new rules in some areas.

WTO law defines the process of international trade in new technologies through a number of instruments. In this respect, the key principles of the WTO – nondiscrimination, most-favoured-nation, national treatment – are also essential in the sectors affected by new technologies, Moreover, in addition to the general rules, specific WTO agreements governing trade in goods, services and intellectual property rights, and other instruments, e.g. provisions on subsidies, technical rules, public procurement or trade facilitation also encompass a number of standards that may affect certain aspects of digital technologies (Burri, 2019).

In addition to the basic standards of the WTO, the Member States have made new commitments in some areas over the last two decades. First, the Information Technology Agreement (ITA) is chiefly relevant to our topic, as it complements the WTO rules of trade in goods in a subsidiary manner in the field of the technologies. The original agreement concluded by WTO members at the Singapore Ministerial Conference in December 1996 entered into force in 1997.¹⁶ The whole set of information technology (IT) products are covered by the agreement, it requires all participants to eliminate the applicable MFN duties. The impact of the agreement is immense, it consists of about 200 tariff groups, including computers, telephones, and other electronic devices, covering not only the IT end-products, but also a large scale of parts and components.

The tariff-free treatment introduced by ITA contributed considerably to the development of information technologies. The agreement played a major role in the expansion of trade in IT products, increasing the trade volume drastically to a four-times higher level in the last two decades.¹⁷ The higher trade and production volumes generated lower costs, which also made the prices cheaper. Even though the technological advance has significantly transformed the IT industry, the range of products covered by the ITA has remained unchanged for a longer time and slightly become obsolete. For this reason, in 2012, six countries (EU, US, Japan, Korea, Taiwan and Costa Rica) began negotiations to expand the scope of the agreement. Later, more countries joined these negotiations,

relevant for the autonomous driving. We are facing this process at the very beginning, it means that we have to overcome several technological uncertainties and problems, therefore at the moment it is still difficult to develop technical regulations that will predictably provide the most optimal regulatory framework of autonomous driving, tackling the technical challenges, questions of the safety and consumer protection, environmental problems, etc. It needs intensive multilateral cooperation of states, otherwise, there is a risk that the future standards of autonomous driving will be determined by partial strategic interests of individual countries or, where appropriate, narrower industry or corporate interests, as it happened to the video formats. ¹⁵ Aaronson and Leblond recall the development of GATS as an early example, i.e. the GATS Council on Services found that much of e-commerce falls within the GATS' scope and that GATS obligations cover measures affecting the electronic delivery of services even in 1999 (2018, p. 7). In contrast to this view, Burri and Cottier argue that no real advance has been made since the Uruguay Round in this area (2012, p. 2).

¹⁶ WTO Ministerial declaration of 16 December 2015, on the expansion of trade in information technology products (06926/2016). The agreement was originally concluded by only 29 WTO members, but now has 82 participants already.

¹⁷ 20 Years of the Information Technology Agreement. Boosting trade, innovation and digital connectivity (2017). Geneva: World Trade Organization, p. 12.

which resulted in an amendment on 24 July 2015 with a new product list covering more than two hundred additional products.¹⁸ Even the original list covered by the original agreement included already vital IT products, and the new list added other essential components and tools, e.g. new generation semiconductors, GPS navigation systems, telecommunication satellites, touch screens, optical lenses used in cameras, ultrasonic sensors, etc. The amendment aims at lifting all tariffs vis-à-vis the products covered by the new list, but not immediately, the parties were required to submit schedules for each product for a maximum 7 years-long transitional period (3 years for standard products, 5 years for sensitive products and 7 years for exceptional cases). At the end of the transitional period, most of the customs duties previously applied on the covered IT products will be abolished. Considering also the long-term commitments made by the parties, the ITA will strengthen the global value chains in the IT industry, facilitating the expansion of technological development. The more favourable environment of digital technologies will definitely contribute to the development of cutting-edge technologies, e.g. the trade of autonomous vehicles, as well (Ciuriak, 2019).

Besides the IT agreement, the ongoing negotiations on e-commerce can be mentioned as an example, where multilateral commitments are expected under the umbrella of the World Trade Organization. The negotiations began in 1998 having arrived at an intensive stage in the last few years,¹⁹ but the parties have not been able to reach a compromise, therefore the negotiations are still ongoing.²⁰

Beyond the trade in goods, the level of liberalization in other WTO trade regimes is definitely lower. Trade in services might have significance for the new technologies, but the WTO rules (GATS) still provide less impressive framework. Currently, the rules on the relevant industrial sectors, like telecommunications, computer, audiovisual and financial services differ significantly from certain types of services, which are still strictly regulated and limited in the domestic laws (e.g. content-related services). Looking at the individual commitments of the WTO Member States, it is obvious that the computer services and some related services are relatively liberalized, which might favourably imply new technologies and the development of related services. There is a striking example of the European Union that extended its concession to all IT services covered by GATS (e.g. computer consultancy services; software development; data processing services, etc.), providing wide market access. Even though these are anchored in individual concessions depending on the discretion of individual member states, and not set down in multilateral rules yet, these commitments might affect the trade significantly if key players, like the EU, are committed to open up their markets. Not less importantly, these concessions cannot be modified or recalled unilaterally, therefore leave very little room for the Member States to impose restrictions.

Consequently, certain aspects of new technologies and digitalisation have already their own place in the current structure of the WTO law, but a more common and conceptually coherent approach to the technology is still lacking. Even though the WTO is facing an institutional crisis at this time, the member states are discussing reform

¹⁸ The products on the new list are estimated to have an annual trade turnover of more than \$ 1.3 billion, accounting for about 10% of current total global trade. Source: Recommendation of the European Parliament on the draft Council decision on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Union, of an agreement in the form of the Declaration on the Expansion of Trade in Information Technology Products (ITA) (06925/2016 – C8-0141/2016 – 2016/0067(NLE)).

 ¹⁹ WTO Members Submit Proposals Aimed at Advancing Exploratory E-commerce Work. Bridges 22 (13), April 19. Retrieved from: www.ictsd.org/bridges-news/bridges/news/wto-members-submit-proposals-aimedatadvancing-exploratory-e-commerce.

²⁰ Joint Statement on Electronic Commerce. WTO press release WT/L/1056, January 25, 2019.

proposals since 2018 (Evenett, 2018; Hoekman, 2018; Schneider-Petsinger, 2019).²¹ This ongoing reform process gives also an opportunity to rethink how the WTO could react to the current technological challenges in a more appropriate way.

4. CONCLUSION

The discourse surrounding the implications of the technological development on international trade law provides a plausible understanding of the nexus between these two components of the social reality. As indicated in the above analysis, the dialectic relationship between technological development and international trade law raises regulatory needs against the latter at several points. Technology alone changes the conditions of international trade, e.g. by contributing to the reduction of trade costs or by introducing new forms of trade, e.g. promoting the creation of online trading spaces. On the other hand, technology also has an impact on the subject of trade, products and services, so it can generate a regulatory need as well. It is important to note, however, that the role of international trade law is in many cases only indirect, i.e. the regulatory needs are settled directly by the domestic law, but the leeway of the national legislator is framed and restricted by international trade law by various means. Even though its direct role is less relevant, it is still palpable, this is typically reflected in regional or bilateral trade law regulations (e.g. in EU law), but it forms rather an exception in multilateral trade law.

Within international trade law, the paper also examined the WTO law, concluding that the current legal infrastructure of the World Trade Organization can also address fundamental challenges arising from issues related to new technologies. Among these rules, it was clear that the general principles governing trade in goods, as well as certain specific standards, in particular the Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade (TBT), are of greater importance. However, other trade agreements, including agreements regulating co-operation in the field of standards (harmonization, mutual recognition, etc.) and regional trade agreements are of great importance in the field of technical regulations and standards. In this respect, WTO law therefore remains in the background, but by enforcing the WTO general obligations and commitments, it can prevent the member states from raising trade barriers that could constrain the spread of technology and also reduce competition.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- 20 Years of the Information Technology Agreement. Boosting trade, innovation and digital connectivity (2017). Geneva: World Trade Organization.
- Aaronson, S. A., & Leblond, P. (2018). Another Digital Divide: The Rise of Data Realms and its Implications for the WTO. *Journal of International Economic Law*, 21(2), 245–272. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/jiel/jgy019.
- Abbott, F. M. (1997). Public Policy and Global Technological Integration: An Introduction. *Public Policy and Global Technological Integration*, Kluwer Law International. FSU College of Law, Public Law Research Paper; FSU College of Law, Law, Business & Economics Paper. Retrieved from: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1989042.
- Baldwin, R. (2016). *The Great Convergence: Information Technology and the New Globalization*. Cambridge: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/09538259.2019.1644736.

²¹ Not unimportantly, the current WTO institutional crisis also has a connection to the technology. The current tensions has been triggered by the Chinese practice towards investors, requiring foreign businesses to share their technologies in exchange for market access. This practice called "forced technology transfer" is seen as not legal under the WTO rules. For the WTO crisis and the Chinese practice, see Evenett, (2018).

- Burri, M., & Cottier, T. (Eds.). (2012). *Trade Governance in the Digital Age*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781139136716.
- Burri, M. (2019). Understanding and Shaping Trade Rules for the Digital Era. In M. Elsig, M. Hahn, & G. Spilker (Eds.), *The Shifting Landscape of Global Trade Governance* (pp. 73–106). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108757683.004.
- Ciuriak, D. &Ptashkina, M. (2018). Started the digital trade wars have: Delineating the regulatory battlegrounds. Opinion, RTA Exchange, International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development. Retrieved from: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3098982.
- Ciuriak, D. (2018). The Digital Transformation and the Transformation of International Trade. RTA Exchange. Geneva: International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development and the Inter-American Development Bank. Retrieved from www.rtaexchange.org/; https:// papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3107811.
- Ciuriak, D. (2019). The Economics of Data: Implications for the Data-Driven Economy. 10 Policy Brief No. 152 – July 2019. *Data Governance in the Digital Age*. Waterloo: Centre for International Governance Innovation. Retrieved from: www. cigionline.org/data-governance-digital-age.
- Cottier, T. & Oesch, M (2005). International Trade Regulation: the Law and Policy of the WTO, the European Union and Switzerland. Berne, London: Cameron May and Staempfli Publishers.
- Cottier, T. (2017). Technology and the Law of International Trade Regulation. (R. Brownsword, E. Scotford, & K. Yeung, Eds.) (Vol. 1). Oxford: Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199680832.013.63.
- Cottier, T. (1996). The Impact of New Technologies on Multilateral Trade Regulation and Governance - The New Global Technology Regime. *Chicago-Kent Law Review*, 72, 415.
- Evenett, Simon: Triage? Assessing the EU's Modernisation Proposals for the WTO. Intereconomics, 2018, 53 (5): 253–256.
- Gasser, T.M. (2015). Grundlegende und spezielle Rechtsfragen f
 ür autonome Fahrzeuge. Autonomes Fahren (M. Maurer, J. Gerdes, B. Lenz, H. Winner, Eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 543. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-45854-9_25.
- Glancy, D.J. (2015). Autonomous and Automated and Connected Cars—Oh My! First Generation Autonomous Cars in the Legal Ecosystem. *Minnesota journal of law, science & technology, 16*, 619.
- Gruszczynski, L. (2010). Regulating Health and Environmental Risks under WTO Law. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199578924.001.0001.
- Hoekman, B. (2018). Revitalizing Multilateral Governance at the World Trade Organization Report of the High-Level Board of Experts on the Future of Global Trade Governance. Bertelsmann Stiftung. Retrieved from: www.bertelsmannstiftung.de/en/publications/ publication/did/revitalizing-multilateralgovernanceat-the-world-trade-organization/.
- Hummels, D. (2007). Transportation Costs and International Trade in the Second Era of Globalization. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 21(3), 131–154. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.21.3.131.
- Jacks, D. S., Meissner, C. M., & Novy, D. (2008). Trade Costs, 1870–2000. American Economic Review, 98(2), 529–534. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.98.2.529.

- Manyika, J., Chui, M., Bughin, J., Dobbs, R., Bisson, P., & Marrs, A. (2013). Disruptive technologies: Advances that will transform life, business, and the global economy. New York: McKinsey Global Institute. Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/digital-mckinsey/ourinsights/disruptive-technologies.
- Khan, L. (2019). The Separation of Platforms and Commerce. *Columbia Law Review*, 119(4), 973–1093.
- Schwab, K. (2015, December 12) The Fourth Industrial Revolution. What It Means and How to Respond. *Foreign Affairs*. Retrieved from
- https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/2015-12-12/fourth-industrial-revolution. Lundgren, N.G. (1996). Bulk trade and maritime transport costs: The evolution of global markets. *Resources Policy*, 2(1-2), 5–32.
- Pollack, M.A. & Shaffer, G.C. (2009). When Cooperation Fails: The International Law and Politics of Genetically Modified Foods. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Porter, M.E. & Heppelmann, J.E. (November 2014). How Smart, Connected Products Are Transforming Competition. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https:// hbr.org/2014/11/how-smart-connectedproducts-are-transforming-competition.
- Schneider-Petsinger, M. (2019, May 7). *The Path Forward on WTO Reform*. Chatham House. Retrieved from www.chathamhouse.org/expert/ comment/path-forward-wto-reform.
- Schrode, H.Z. (2011). Harmonization, Equivalence and Mutual Recognition of Standards in WTO Law. Alphen aan den Rijn: Wolters Kluwer.
- Wolfrum, R., Stoll, P.-T., & Seibert-Fohr, A. (Eds.). (2007). WTO Technical Barriers and SPS Measures. Leiden, Boston: Brill | Nijhoff. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1163/ej.9789004145641.i-565.
- World Trade Report 2018: The future of world trade: How digital technologies are transforming global commerce (2018). Geneva: World Trade Organization.
- General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, 55 U.N.T.S. 194.
- Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade, 1868 U.N.T.S. 120.
- Recommendation of the European Parliament on the draft Council decision on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Union, of an agreement in the form of the Declaration on the Expansion of Trade in Information Technology Products (ITA) (06925/2016 C8-0141/2016 2016/0067(NLE))
- World Trade Organization, WTO Members Submit Proposals Aimed at Advancing Exploratory E-commerce Work Bridges 22 (13), April 19, 2018. Retrieved from www.ictsd.org/bridges-news/bridges/news/ wto-members-submit-proposalsaimedat-advancing-exploratory-e-commerce.
- World Trade Organization, Joint Statement on Electronic Commerce. WTO press release WT/L/1056, January 25, 2019.
- World Trade Organization, Ministerial declaration of 16 December 2015, on the expansion of trade in information technology products (06926/2016)
- World Trade Organization, DS26: European Communities Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products (Hormones). Retrieved from

https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds26_e.htm.





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

PAYING TAXES IN THE DIGITAL AGE / Matej Kačaljak

doc. JUDr. Ing. Matej Kačaljak, PhD. Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, Department of Financial Law; Šafárikovo nám. 6; 810 00 Bratislava; Slovakia; matej.kacaljak@flaw.uniba.sk. ORCID: 000-0002-0289-1885

This article is a result of the project implementation: APVV-16-0499 'Securing the effective tax collection within the context of informatization',Zabezpečenie efektívneho výberu daní v kontexte informatizácie'. Abstract: The paper deals with new trends and new challenges for tax administrations in the digital age. A review of contemporary trends in developed economies and recent academic literature indicates there may be a visible trend of shifting the burden of collection and consolidation of data on e.g. transactions, income and wealth from the taxpayer to the tax administration. The paper identifies several particular areas in the Slovak tax law, where (omitting the factor of current technological capacity on the side of tax administration) there may exist possibility to follow this trend. Primarily doctrinal method and method of analysis of legal norms was employed.

Key words: pre-populated tax returns; tax compliance; tax administration; tax morale; tax evasion; tax law; Slovak Law

Submitted: 15 October 2020 Accepted: 11 November 2020 Published: 31 December 2020

Suggested citation:

Kačaljak, M. (2020). Paying taxes in the Digital Age. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 21-30. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.209

1. INTRODUCTION

While it is still relevant to look for an optimum tax model in theory, in practice "tax policy also has to pay attention to the administrative and compliance costs of taxation" (Glenday & Hemming, 2013, p. 417). Furthermore, it must be taken into account that though "tax administration is tax policy [it is stressed by scholars that] no single strategy is appropriate for all countries and under all circumstances" (Slemrod, 2015, p. 7). On several levels the notion of digitalisation poses a challenge for tax administration. On the substantive level new business models arise which might threaten the tax bases of countries (see Kerschner & Somare, 2017). These considerations are generally out of scope of this paper, though recently some Slovak aspects were dealt with in the academic literature (see Cibul'a & Kačaljak, 2018). On the other hand, the digitalisation provides an opportunity to rethink the existing compliance models with a potential to reduce the overall administrative and compliance costs of taxation.

Though in the past decades reform efforts have focused on the information technology, the "gains from adopting new technology, however, have often failed to reach expectations. Successful reform efforts did not simply computerize antiquated processes but re-engineered the whole system" (Bird & Zolt, 2008, p. 796). As Bird (2015, p. 36) notes, a successful reform of tax administration (to align it with the requirements and possibilities of digital age) requires "not simply computerising' existing forms and

procedures but rather rethinking, redesigning and streamlining systems and procedures for example, to eliminate unnecessary and unused information required from taxpayers." The above applies also to the tax environment of the Slovak Republic. Recent analyses aiming at, inter alia, assessment of an impact of the information technology on the effectiveness of tax administration have found that the "automation and computerisation of services of the Financial Administration of the Slovak Republic did not lead to increase in productivity of the employees and reduction of operating costs. Financial Administration of the Slovak Republic is continuously investing in computerisation of services and the reduction of operating and administrative costs would show only in the following years after necessary organisational changes are implemented" (IFP, 2016).

The focus of this paper is to identify unique features of the Slovak tax system which may provide for potential for a quick and relatively uncomplicated step up in the effectiveness of tax collection. We have disregarded implications related to the necessary organisational details, existing IT infrastructure and public procurement implications as these are relevant merely with respect to the "when" issue but not "if" or "how".

2. PROCESS IMPLICATIONS OF PAYING TAXES

Firstly, taking into account the importance of tax incomes for public budgets worldwide, it must be acknowledged that tax administration has a crucial role in generating these incomes.¹

"The standard economic approach to taxation usually ignores such key administrative issues as evasion and avoidance, administrative and compliance costs, and how the way in which taxpayers and tax officials conceptualize and carry out the process of assessing, collecting, and enforcing taxes may profoundly alter the effects of the tax system" (Bird, 2015, p. 23). Nevertheless, there have already been efforts to track the practice of tax administrations both in developed and developing countries,² and there seems to be a general consensus that "a tax agency, like other government bureaucracies, should strive to use its resources efficiently and effectively" (Slemrod, 2015, p. 6).

From a legal perspective, we acknowledge the legislators' "wide margin of appreciation in taxation matters" (Baker, 2000, p. 298) is being recognised by the European Court of Human Rights as well as by the constitutional courts.³ Furthermore, from a constitutional perspective in Slovakia, the tax related obligations are subject to a less strict "rationality test" rather than a "proportionality test" (Kačaljak, 2018). Nevertheless, from the perspective of the taxpayer, we would assume that the state should be seeking the least burdensome model.

Thus, in an ideal model from the taxpayer's perspective the single obligation imposed upon the taxpayer would be to pay an amount of tax notified to him (along with the necessary payment instructions) by the respective tax agency. It should be noted that e.g. "Singapore has taken this approach to the extreme by not only enabling most taxpayers to avoid filing anything but even debiting their bank accounts for the taxes the government calculates are due" (Bird, 2015, p. 25).

Taking into account the above, the distribution of roles between the taxpayer and the tax agency would be as follows:

¹ For general data see World Bank (2018), for more detailed data for Slovakia see IFP (2018).

² For a brief review of recent research on the subject see Bird (2015) and Slemrod (2015).

³ For the review of Slovak and Czech case law see Kačaljak (2018).

Taxpayer	Tax Agency
payment	data collection
	data processing
	assessment
	record-keeping
	enforcement

Table 1

Distribution of Roles between the Taxpayer and Tax Agency (Ideal)

Source: Author

As opposed to the above, in Slovakia, which essentially applies traditional (paper age) processes for most of the taxes, the distribution of roles is as follows:

Table 2

Distribution of Roles between the Taxpayer and Tax Agency (Paper Age)

Taxpayer	Tax Agency
data collection	verification
data processing	audit
(self-) assessment	enforcement
reporting	
record-keeping	
payment	

Source: Author

The above distribution stems from the existing reliance on self-assessment as a means of gathering tax related information by the tax agencies. "While some countries have done away with filing tax returns for certain individual taxpayers, the majority of [surveyed] countries still require the completion of tax returns or reports" (Äimä et al., 2018, p. 13).

This, however, poses several problems. In particular:

- A significant administrative burden both for the taxpayer and the tax administration. It must be also noted that the introduction of agents (such as an employer withholding tax from the employee's salary) merely shifts the burden as new compliance obligations are imposed on these agents with positive effects stemming primarily from the economies of scale. Nevertheless, it still applies that if "a tax policy change places more compliance cost on businesses one can expect that, in equilibrium, the prices they charge to their customers will be higher. Thus, both administrative and compliance costs ultimately burden citizens, although only the administrative costs show up in official budgets" (Slemrod, 2015, p. 12). In Slovakia there have already been limited scale efforts to measure the administrative burden on the side of tax administration (IFP, 2016). Furthermore, there were also academic efforts aimed at measuring the tax compliance burden (see Poláková & Kútna Želonková, 2018).
- <u>Underreporting</u>, which may have several causes, for example:
 - The income is from illicit activities where the doctrines and case law around the world differ. E.g. in the Slovak Republic the case law has come to some controversial conclusions and this has been already discussed in literature (see Galandová & Kačaljak, 2016, 2017; Šamko, 2017). The

taxpayer may then be prone not to disclose such income as he (i) may be genuinely convinced that such income is out of scope of taxation; and (ii) may claim that even the tax related data is subject to privilege against self-incrimination.

- The income is deemed "too negligible / untraceable" by the taxpayer. Nevertheless, on a mass scale a sum of such negligible incomes might have significant implications for the government revenues. Furthermore, e.g. in Germany the inability to effectively administer and tax certain income and prevent mass scale evasion presented a constitutional issue on the basis of unjust discrimination (see Masárová, 2018).⁴
- o Incorrect (self-) application of law, e.g. exemptions.
- Deliberate tax evasion, which is rather thoroughly discussed in literature (see Allingham & Sandmo, 1972; Andreoni, Erard, & Feinstein, 1998; Slemrod, 2007; for Slovak perspective see Sábo & Štrkolec, 2016). In Slovakia the effects of this "tax lottery" problem are aggravated by unreasonably generous conditions for application of the so-called "effective penitence" in criminal law which enables tax evaders to avoid criminal penalty by simply paying the underreported tax and corresponding administrative penalty even at a developed stage of the criminal prosecution proceedings.⁵ Such framework directly creates incentives for deliberate underreporting and effectively turns the criminal prosecution proceedings into the next stage of tax enforcement proceedings.
- <u>Difficult verification</u>. The tax authority may have at its disposal techniques and data to verify the amount of reported income, e.g. through the net worth method (Botha, 2009) or through an analysis of "traces of income" (Slemrod, 2015, p. 13). However, as the gap may be a result of both deliberate underreporting as well as of legitimate exemption, no clear conclusions may be drawn from such an analysis. A simple solution, express claiming of the exemption in the tax return form (as applied e.g. in the Czech Republic) causes additional compliance costs as the taxpayer must both report the exempt income and then expressly claim an exemption.

3. NEW TRENDS AND POSSIBILITIES

Though digitalisation is the principal trend discussed in this paper, its potential with respect to tax administration comes from its connection with several other trends.

Firstly, the world economies are moving away from cash transactions. "Many jurisdictions have introduced specific measures to encourage a shift away from cashbased transactions to transactions that leave an automatic audit trail, more often than not of a digital nature (such as wire settlements or electronic transfers), which can then be tapped into as a source of information and verification by taxation authorities" (Evans et al., 2018, p. 15). European Union-wide the 500 euro bank note is already being phased out, with the highest denomination remaining 200 euro (ECB, 2016). This applies also to the Slovak Republic which has imposed limitations on cash payments as from 2013.

⁴ See discussions in Germany, Federal Supreme Court, BVerfGE 84, 239 (1991).

⁵ Al Capone would literally end up a free man should the USA apply the same rules as are currently being applied in Slovakia (see Kačaljak, 2015; for recent thoughts on the topic from criminal law perspective see Hangáčová, 2018).

Furthermore, there is "a growing trend towards the partial pre-populating or prefiling of tax returns for individual taxpayers. Consequently, there is a move away from taxpayer completion and tax authority verification, to a system in which the tax authority provides the information to the taxpayer and the taxpayer verifies the correctness thereof" (Evans et al., 2018, p. 13). Similarly, late review of practices identified "several aspects of tax administrations that correlate with high performance: (1) getting taxpayers to file online, (2) pre-population for individual taxpayers and pre-certification for business taxpayers" (Slemrod, 2015, p. 6).

The electronic filing is being further enhanced through the OpenAPI initiatives (for Slovakia see Slovensko.Digital, 2018) where the respective data requirements can be incorporated directly within the ordinary business processes. In other words, the business will no longer be required to separately produce and submit a certain piece of data if this may be automatically submitted to the tax administrator by its (e.g.) accounting software.

The above then aligns with the new cooperative compliance initiatives (Kirchler, Kogler & Muehlbacher, 2014), where discussions (and arguments) between the taxpayer and a tax authority are anticipated not over the quality of records and evidence but over the core issues of interpretation and application of legal rules.

Finally, the above considerations touch upon the issue of further usefulness of forms in the administration of taxes. Taking into account the historical role of a document form as the prerequisite for mass processing of data, one must not forget that their principal role is to gather the data.

Now, as it is anticipated that the data necessary for evaluation of amount of income or other values relevant for the administration of taxes will be gathered from third parties (ideally through integrated interfaces), forms will become redundant with respect to data collection. In fact, one may reasonably assume that the use of manually filled out forms for data collection presents a significant risk of error.

On the other hand, the forms are still useful in the (self-)assessment stage where the taxpayer makes decisions on e.g. claiming exemptions.

To conclude this part, the above trends provide for redistribution of roles between the taxpayer and the tax agency as follows:

Table 3

Distribution of Roles between the Taxpayer and Tax Agency (Digital Age)

Taxpayer	Tax Agency
(self-) assessment	data collection & processing
(assisted) reporting	record-keeping
payment	audit
	enforcement
<u>I</u>	Onumer Author

Source: Author

4. SLOVAK LAW IMPLICATIONS

There are several legal implications that must be taken into account in the Slovak legal environment. These will be discussed below through the perspective of a prepopulated tax return. Potential legal obstacles as well as potential benefits will be discussed as well.

4.1 Personal Income Tax

As indicated above, pre-populated personal tax returns are becoming a standard in developed countries.

With the steady progress towards cashless economy and global initiatives aiming at automatic exchange of information on financial accounts (Evans et al., 2018, p. 17; Koroncziová, 2018) the tax administrations will shortly have better overview of the taxpayers financial assets (and indirectly of his income) than the taxpayer.

What is ironic from the Slovak law perspective is that currently the Slovak tax administration does not have at its disposal the same data with respect to Slovak tax resident individuals as (i) it receives with respect to the very same individuals from foreign tax administrations and (ii) that it provides to foreign tax administrations with respect to Slovak tax non-residents. In other words, the Slovak tax administration has at its disposal data on foreign but <u>not</u> domestic financial accounts of a Slovak tax resident individual. This presents a material barrier to implementation of pre-populated personal tax returns in Slovakia.

There does not seem to be a valid reason for this discrepancy. In the Czech Republic there has been recent discussion with respect to automated collection of data from banking institutions (Boháč, 2018), but in our view these situations are not comparable. The Czech case involved provision of data on individual transactions (not aggregates) and, further, the data was not supposed to be used for estimation of tax base of the individual making the payment but instead to verify the correctness of reports of the recipient of the payment.

Furthermore, in the Czech case the Constitutional Court did not rule that automated collection of transaction data is not permissible *per se*, it merely remarked that there does not seem to be valid justification for such a step from the proportionality perspective.

The situation seems easier if we are advocating the pre-populated tax return concept. There would be significant trade-off in the form of shifting the burden (and the risk of error / underreporting) of collection of data on income from the taxpayer on tax administration. Taking into account the economies of scale and the fact that the taxpayer is invariably required to report the same data also under current legislation, there seems to be sufficient justification even under the more strict proportionality test.

Furthermore, shifting the burden to tax administration will have implications also with respect to the exempt income (as this will have to be expressly claimed) and income from illicit sources. The main argument in the Slovak case-law against penalising taxpayers for non-disclosing income from illicit sources was that the taxpayer would be *de facto* forced to self-incrimination (see Galandová and Kačaljak, 2016). In the prepopulated tax return scenario, the situation changes significantly. The income (unclassified as to its source) would already be stated in the pre-populated tax return and the taxpayer will now face the dilemma to either (quietly) pay the tax or exclude such income and risk audit and potential criminal consequences.

Finally, along with the design of framework for pre-populated tax returns, it would be the right time to (i) rethink the existing effective penitence rules, which as was indicated above, incentivise taxpayers to evade taxes, and, instead, (ii) design suitable voluntary disclosure programs on the basis of experience from other jurisdictions (for comprehensive review see Evans et al., 2018).

4.2 Corporate Income Tax

With respect to corporate income tax, the situation is a little different. Prepopulated tax returns do not seem to bring such significant benefits as with respect to individual taxpayers because the emphasis is not on the collection of data on income (standardly the tax base is being assessed from the profit / loss statement which businesses draw up invariably) but on the application of tax related adjustments. However, the potential lies in holding the relevant book-keeping data with tax administration. In Slovakia the taxpayers are required to submit financial statements along the tax returns, which by itself presents an administrative burden. At the same time, the disclosed financial statements contain only aggregate data and so the record-keeping obligation remains with the taxpayer.

A simple solution in the age of digital communication seems to be in storing the accounting data with tax administration.

There do not seem to be significant obstacles from the legal perspective. Firstly, data on corporations are not subject to data protection rules or constitutional / international law rules regarding protection of privacy.

Secondly, businesses in Slovakia are already under an obligation to produce and maintain accounting records in line with the Slovak accounting rules or the International Financial Reporting Standards. In addition, we would refer to the required records doctrine being thoroughly developed by the US courts and literature (see Salzburg, 1986) under which even with respect to individual's certain data (mainly data generated under a statutory obligation) in principle may not be subject to rules on protection of privacy (as the data is not private in the first place).

Thus, it seems that the reasons why the accounting data was not stored with the tax administrator in the paper age were purely practical. It was less burdensome to keep the records with the taxpayer and provide unlimited access to the tax administrator in case of audit than to submit regular copies of the documentation to the tax administrator. In the digital age this needs to be reconsidered. Infinite digital copies of the entire documentation may be created and stored in multiple places. Moreover, in the age of cloud computing it is possible to access the same document from literally any place on the globe. This is a significant point in discussions regarding the integrity of data being stored in multiple places. The argument may be further developed when taking into account the technological possibilities hinted by e.g. blockchain technology, in particular the distributed ledger (for systematic review see Yli-Huumo, Ko, Choi, Park, & Smolander, 2016; for Slovak perspective see Poláková & Rakovský, 2018).

Furthermore, central digital storage of accounting records would prevent situations where the entire records were (rather conveniently) lost or destroyed.

Finally, in the future there may be potential for cross-verification of accounting records of different taxpayers, which may have implications also from the private law perspective (e.g. in disputes over the existence of certain payment claims).

4.3 Multi-stage Consumption Tax (VAT)

Similar implications as with respect to the corporate income tax apply to the VAT system *mutatis mutandis*. The EU VAT rules already regulate issuance of invoices in digital form, though at the moment the paper and digital form should be considered equal and, thus, no EU Member State may make a digital format mandatory (see Terra & Kajus, 2018, p. 1446).

Simultaneously, several EU Member States, including the Slovak Republic and following up on the Slovak experience also the Czech Republic (see Liška & Snopková, 2015) have already implemented additional reporting obligations as measures to combat VAT frauds. In Slovakia, regular VAT reconciliation statement is filed in addition to a VAT return (which in essence contains only aggregate data). Such statement currently

requires the taxpayer to report data from the invoices issued and received in the respective $\mathsf{period}^{,6}$

Again, when taking into account that the invoice is a document form in itself, what is actually relevant is the data it contains. Thus, the digital invoice does not necessarily have to be a separate document. Rather, it needs to be a consistent set of data required by the applicable law and provided to the counterparty (and to the tax administrator in the reconciliation statement).

At the European Union level, there already exists a technological framework for e-Invoicing (European Commision, n.d.) with the European Electronic invoicing standard being published under reference EN 16931 – 1:2017 and being mandatory for invoices issued as a result of performance of contracts subject to public procurement processes based on the Directive 2014/55/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on electronic invoicing in public procurement. In the Slovak Republic the act transposing the directive became effective from 1 August 2019 and the actual operation of electronic invoicing system is anticipated in 2021.

What now remains is to deliver the invoicing data to a central interface maintained by the tax administrator. Out of this data the (pre-populated) regular tax return will be generated automatically and the reconciliation statement will become obsolete.

The tax administrator would at the same time receive a benefit of crossverification in real time (rather than at the end of each tax period) and the burden on taxpayers would also be reduced as now only one taxpayer will have to actively issue the invoice with the recipient merely acknowledging its existence (save for situations when the invoice is disputed in which case it will be anticipated that the recipient actively highlights this fact in the central interface).

As is clear from the above, several crucial elements will already be in place in 2021, namely the common e-Invoicing technological standard and data infrastructure (though at first limited only to public procurement contracts). The focus should then be on designing incentives for the businesses to participate voluntarily in this new e-Invoicing infrastructure as the legislation-based approach is not feasible on the national level without the change of rules on the European Union level.

5. CONCLUSIONS

As discussed in detail above, the Slovak tax administrator may gather some low hanging fruit with the use of information technology provided it reflects recent global trends. There do not seem to be significant legal obstacles to implementation of changes. To the contrary, minor legislative changes may lead to the significant improvement on overall compliance levels. The Slovak tax administration may already build on the best practice of other tax administrations and take into account the existing case law, according to which the move to, inter alia, pre-populated tax returns seem generally feasible. Furthermore, now it seems to be the right time to contemplate the design of incentives for using the e-Invoicing format in business-to-business communication with the ultimate aim of making it a prevalent option in the near future.

BIBILOGRAPHY:

Äimä, K., Alvaréz, T., Aniyie, A. I., Balco, T., Becirovic, A., Brauner, Y., ... Zolles, S. (2018). Improving Tax Compliance in a Globalized World. (E. Chris, M. Lang, A. Rust, J.

⁶ The use of such data for identification of fraudulent behaviour has been already examined to some extent in Slovak academic literature (see Kubaščíková and Pakšiová, 2014).

Schuch, C. Staringer, P. Pistone, ... P. Schoueri Lindenberg, Eds.). Amsterdam: IBFD.

- Allingham, M. G. and Sandmo, A. (1972). Income tax evasion: a theoretical analysis. *Journal of Public Economics*, 1(3–4), 323–338. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-2727(72)90010-2
- Andreoni, J., Erard, B. and Feinstein, J. (1998). Tax Compliance. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 36(2), 818–860.
- Baker, P. (2000). Taxation and the European convention on Human Rights. *European Taxation*, 40(8), 298–374.
- Bird, R. M. (2015). Improving Tax Administration in Developing Countries. *Journal of Tax Administration*, 1(1), 23–45.
- Bird, R. M. and Zolt, E. M. (2008). Technology and Taxation in Developing Countries: From Hand to Mouse. *National Tax Journal*, 61(4), 791–821.
- Boháč, R. (2018). Evidence tržeb v České republice s ohledem na rozhodnutí Ústavního soudu. In Bratislavské právnické fórum 2018. Ústavnoprávne východiská finančného práva (pp. 6–16). Bratislava: Právnická fakulta UK.
- Botha, A. E. (2009). The Net Worth method as technique to quantify income during investigation of financial crime. University of South Africa in Pretoria.

Cibul'a, T. and Kačaljak, M. (2018). Tax treaty override in Slovakia - Digital platform permanent establishment. *Bratislava Law Review*, 2(1), 80–88. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2018.2.1.95

- ECB. (2016). ECB ends production and issuance of €500 banknote.
- European Commision. (n.d.). What is elnvoicing. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/cefdigital/wiki/display/CEFDIGITAL/What+is+elnvoicing
- Galandová, M. and Kačaljak, M. (2016). Zdaňovanie príjmov z trestnej činnosti. Trestněprávní Revue, 15(10), 231–237.
- Galandová, M. and Kačaljak, M. (2017). Do tretice k zdaňovaniu príjmov z trestnej činnosti. *Trestněprávní Revue*, 16(9), 214–217.
- Glenday, G. and Hemming, R. (2013). Tax Design from a Public Financial Management Perspective. In R. Allen, R. Hemming and B. H. Potter (Eds.), *The International Handbook of Public Financial Management* (pp. 416–434). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137315304
- Hangáčová, N. (2018). De lege ferenda návrhy využitia účinnej ľútosti s ohľadom na objektívnu stránku trestných činov daňových. In *Naděje právní vědy 2018 : právní věda v praxi* (pp. 59–69). Plzeň: Západočeská univerzita v Plzni.
- IFP. (2016). Výber ďaní z našich daní. Analýza prevádzky Finančnej spray SR. Retrieved from https://www.finance.gov.sk/files/archiv/prilohastranky/19969/53/FS_spending_review-DU-CU-20161012-final_v2.pdf
- IFP. (2018). Daňový report 2018. Retrieved from http://www.finance.gov.sk/Components/CategoryDocuments/s_LoadDocument. aspx?categoryId=11861&documentId=16725
- Kačaljak, M. (2015). Tackling Illegal Activities Through Tax Law–Al Capone Case Study. DANUBE: Law and Economics Review, 6(1), 47–56.
- Kačaljak, M. (2018). Retroaktivita daňovoprávnych noriem. In Bratislavské právnické fórum 2018. Ústavnoprávne východiská finančného práva (pp. 30–39). Bratislava: Právnická fakulta UK. Retrieved from https://www.flaw.uniba.sk/fileadmin/praf/Veda/Konferencie_a_podujatia/bpf_20 18_new/Zbornik_BPF2018_sekcia_2.pdf.
- Kerschner, I. and Somare, M. (2017). Taxation in a Global Digital Economy: Schriftenreihe IStR Band 107 (Schriftenreihe zum Internationalen Steuerrecht). (I. Kerschner and M. Somare,Eds.) (1st ed.). Linde Verlag.

Kirchler, E., Kogler, C. and Muehlbacher, S. (2014). Cooperative Tax Compliance. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 23(2), 87–92. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413516975

Koroncziová, A. (2018). Výmena daňových informácií za účelom zamedzenia daňovým únikom. In Bratislavské právnické fórum 2018. Ústavnoprávne východiská finančného práva (pp. 49–55). Bratislava: Právnická fakulta UK.

Kubaščíková, Z. and Pakšiová, R. (2014). Applying Benford´s Law. In European Financial Systems 2014. Proceedings of the 11th International Scientific Conference (pp. 359–363). Brno: Masarykova univerzita.

Liška, M. and Snopková, P. (2015). Vat Control Statement & Samp; Electronic Record of Sales. Annual Center Review, (8), 31–35. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.15290/acr.2015.08.05

Masárová, Ľ. (2018). Princípy právneho štátu a ukladanie daní. In *Bratislavské právnické fórum 2018. Ústavnoprávne východiská finančného práva* (pp. 67–73). Bratislava: Právnická fakulta UK.

Poláková, Z. and Kútna Želonková, I. (2018). Daňovo – účtovná administratívna záťaž podnikov pôsobiacich v terciárnom sektore. *Acta Facultatis luridicae Universitatis Comenianae*, 37(2), 238–252. Retrieved from https://afi.flaw.uniba.sk/index.php/AFI/issue/view/50/48.

Poláková, Z. and Rakovský, P. (2018). Blockchain technológie - regulačné výzvy a príležitosti. In Bratislavské právnické fórum 2018. Ústavnoprávne východiská finančného práva (pp. 82–89). Bratislava: Právnická fakulta UK.

Sábo, J. and Štrkolec, M. (2016). Autoaplikácia v daňovom práve (aj) ako hra o úhradu dane. In Právo, obchod, ekonomika VI.: zborník príspevkov z vedeckej konferencie: 26. - 28. októbra 2016, Vysoké Tatry. (pp. 541–550). Košice: Univerzita Pavla Jozefa Šafárika v Košiciach.

Salzburg, S. A. (1986). The Required Records Doctrine: Its Lessons for the Privilege Against Self-Incrimination. *The University of Chicago Law Review*, 53(1), 6–44.

Šamko, P. (2017). Ešte raz k posúdeniu otázky, či príjem z trestnej činnosti podlieha dani z príjmu. *Trestněprávní Revue*, 16(2), 41–46.

Slemrod, J. (2007). Cheating Ourselves: The Economics of Tax Evasion. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 21(1), 25–48. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.21.1.25

Slemrod, J. (2015). Sexing Up Tax Administration. *Journal of Tax Administration*, 1(1), 6–22. Retrieved from http://jota.website/index.php/JoTA/article/view/7/15.

Slovensko.Digital. (2018). OpenAPI Initiative. Retrieved from https://bit.ly/2DUXAhM.

Terra, B. and Kajus, J. (2018). A guide to the European VAT Directives (Vol. 1). Amsterdam: IBFD.

World Bank. (2018). *Tax revenue (% of GDP)*. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/GC.TAX.TOTL.GD.ZS

Yli-Huumo, J., Ko, D., Choi, S., Park, S. and Smolander, K. (2016). Where Is Current Research on Blockchain Technology?—A Systematic Review. *PLOS ONE*, 11(10), e0163477. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163477

Germany, Federal Supreme Court, BVerfGE 84, 239 (1991).



PUBLISHED BY THE FACULTY OF LAW, COMENIUS UNIVERSITY IN BRATISLAVA

ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

ABOUT NON-POSITIVIST PERSPECTIVE ON LEGAL VALUES IN INTERNATIONAL LAW / Mario Krešić

Mario Krešić University of Zagreb, Faculty of Law, Trg Republike Hrvatske 3, Zagreb; Croatia. mario.kresic@pravo.hr. ORCID: 0000-0002-0014-4157

The paper was originally presented at "The XIVth CEENJ Conference: Jurisprudence in Central and Eastern Europe, Bratislava, 12-13 September 2019". Abstract: The distinction between legal and non-legal values can be made from the aspect of legal system analysis. Since the content of the legal system depends on the identification of norms that establish such content, the problem of the identification is crucial for any kind of consideration of legal values. In discourse of international legal scholars, we can recognize attempts to identify values which are not dependent on the existing social practice. The purpose of this paper is to analyse such an approach to legal values as opposite to the positivistic account of the law and to analyse the main objection to this non-positivist perspective.

Key words: theory of law; international law; legal values; peace; rule of law; constitution

Suggested citation:

Submitted : 18 May 2020 Accepted : 07 August 2020 Published : 31 December 2020 Kresić, M. (2020). About Non-positivist Perspective on Legal Values in International Law. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 31-48. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.182

1. INTRODUCTION

The important conceptual problem for the international law is the determination of the axiological content of the legal system. The attempt to bring some light to this theoretical problem in this research is inspired by the practical considerations. The discourse of international actors often includes values, although it is not always clear whether these refer to the legal values or other sorts of values the implementation of which cannot be demanded by calling for legal consequences. For example, the argumentation for international intervention can, in the event of a massive human rights violation, be perceived as a form of a political discourse, if we demand intervention be taken to stop such an unjust event and political responsibility assumed. On the other hand, the argumentation could be understood as a legal discourse if it is, for example, based on legal values.

In this contribution the basic conceptual problem is divided in two parts. The first is the problem of the classification of different theoretical approaches to legal values and the second is the applicability of these theories to the international law. The analysis of these problems will be focused on two groups of non-positivist theories and, within the scope of this research, they will be addressed in the following manner: a) by applying the analytical tools as defined in this research to those discourses of legal scholars on legal values which are intuitively considered to be of a non-positivist kind and; b) by exposing this non - positivist approach to criticism based on the concepts known in the legal theory. The purpose of this research is to provide a meta-theoretical framework for the clarification of non-positivist perspective. We claim that some of these theories can be better

understood if looked through the lenses of the analytical tools of legal system, fundamental norms, the inherent values of law and the specific qualities of constitutional norms (first thesis); and that the main challenge for their applicability in the international law comes from the specific classification of different types of communities (second thesis).

The outline of the arguments is the following. The theory of the legal system enables us to define the international legal values by the membership of norms - which contain these values - in the legal system (section 2), but this approach raises a new question of the criteria for membership. The concept of inherent values and constitutional values (section 2) enables us to recognize attempts to respond to this question by elaborating legal values independently of the will of states in the theory of international law, either through the determination of international law's inherent values (sections 3 and 4) or by determination of the international constitution whose content does not depend on the actual practice of states (section 5). Among the objections to these theories (section 6), we will elaborate on the one that seems to be the most challenging. It is based on the thesis that the appropriateness of a methodology for the determination of legal values depends on the type of the community in which the methodology aspires to be applied.

2. LEGAL VALUES IN THE LEGAL SYSTEM

The distinction between legal and non-legal values can be made from the aspect of legal system analysis. We can commence from the assumptions that the concept of the legal system is applicable to international law, that demarcation between legal and non-legal norms in international law is best explained through the concept of law-applying bodies, and finally, that, at determination of its limits, the international legal system is to be considered in the legal as well as in the socio-political and self-understanding criteria perspectives (for these characteristics of the legal system analysis see Dickson, 2012).

2.1 Legal and Non-Legal Values

From the perspective of the legal system, the legal values are values contained in explicit or implicit norms enjoying specific characteristics. Those norms, which we call fundamental norms, can be defined as norms which: a) have specific structure; b) are fundamental; and c) define which legal values belong to the legal system. This stipulative definition of fundamental norms is partially based on the existing insights of legal theorists (e.g. Harašić, 2015; MacCormick & Summers, 2016, pp. 522–525; Padjen, 2006, p. 119; Visković, 1973, p. 198).¹

¹ What we call fundamental norms is close to what some authors name as "value principles". Žaklina Harašić is proposing to use this term since there is no (clear) border between principles and values. The role of general principles is to provide fundamental values according to which all other legal norms shall be interpreted. According to Nikola Visković the existence of value depends on the existence of the value-principle which defines what is desirable and serves as the measure of the proper behavior. Ivan Padjen has emphasized that principles (and this would consequently include what other authors have named as value-principles) are a kind of norms. When the structural distinction between principle and value as well as that between value and goal (value can exist as a measure of action and as an attained goal) is not important, Padjen is using these concepts interchangeably or together, connected by slash. Neil MacCormick and Robert Summers have stressed the importance of values for interpretation. These values may be considered by an interpreter as objectively belonging to the legal order (in terms of natural law or conventionalist legal positivism) and used to justify "decisions which impute to the legislature the intention to uphold fundamental values because of their fundamental character." The references to the structural difference between values, rules and principles will be exposed in the following note.

Firstly, there is a structural difference between values, rules and principles (MacCormick, 2007, p. 29; Padjen, 2006, p. 119).² The fundamental norm containing legal value X can be presented as having the following structure: "the value X ought to be protected" If the value cannot be presented as contained in such a norm but appears in the rules with more precise content as the object of that norm, than it could be more suitable to talk about such values as of a kind of legal objects of norms than as of the legal values enjoving fundamental character. Although there is obvious similarity between fundamental norms containing legal values and other principles regarding the pervasive character of both, the structure of principles will be different as long as they are clustered around the fundamental norms with the aim to help secure the value in the fundamental norm (MacCormick, 2007, p. 29). Secondly, the norm formulated in the abstract way as "the value X ought to be protected" can be perceived as fundamental for two reasons. On the one hand, it is not grounded in other norms with more determined content although some of these norms can be perceived as grounded in other fundamental norms of the same structure. On the other hand, it serves as the ground for other norms of a part or the whole legal system (Guastini, 2011, p. 74).³

In this second sense, they are perceived as connected to the identity of a part or the whole legal system, they require from legal bodies to consider legal values in any possible case, and require that all other norms should comply with the values defined by these norms. Thirdly, fundamental norms define which legal values belong to the legal system and in that sense serve as the source of information important, in the first line, for the law-applying bodies. It is generally accepted that law-applying bodies ought to seek solutions for legal problems based on the content of the legal system which, as we propose, also includes fundamental norms, especially when having in mind the question of the identity of the legal system, the values contained in these norms can be listed, systematized and presented as a separate part of the legal system which can be called the axiological content of the legal system.⁴

In the context of the legal system analysis, non-legal values can be seen as the content of other kinds of normative systems such as the moral, political, esthetic or

² Padjen stressed the following structural differences between values, rules and principles. The structure of a value: "Q is good" (where Q stands for a state of affairs), of a rule: "IP, there ought to be Qe" (where P designates and actor and fact-conditions, if any, while Qe stands for the effect of an action), of a principle: "If Pi, there ought to be Qe" (where Pi designates an actor and a condition that are less determined than conditions of a rule, while Qc stands for the consequence of an action). MacCormick has formulated the concept of value in the following way. "Since it is good to be fair, good to be wise, good to be efficient, good to be reasonable, we can recognize these concepts as naming 'values'[...] Around each we are able to cluster some normative generalizations whose observance helps to secure the value in question. [...] Since they are, like the values in question, pervasive, we do not normally find it helpful to structure them in accordance with the formula 'Whenever OF, then NC'. These are norms that bear on decision. They are what we commonly call 'principles'." Since we consider that legal values have to be normative in the legal system, we propose the structure of the fundamental norm containing legal values." The value X ought to be protected".

³ According to Guastini any set of norms presupposes some values and principles are those norms which contain such values. The only difference to this view is that we propose concept of fundamental norm (or principle) which firstly posit legal values and these values are then elaborated by (other) principles clustered around legal values. The exposition on fundamental nature of norms positing legal values is following Guastini' s exposition on fundamental character of principles.

⁴ The example of the explicit fundamental principle on values is the second article of the Treaty on the European Union: "The Union is founded on the values of respect for human dignity, freedom, democracy, equality, the rule of law and respect for human rights, including the rights of persons belonging to minorities. These values are common to the Member States in a society in which pluralism, non-discrimination, tolerance, justice, solidarity and equality between women and men prevail." (Consolidated versions of the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 2012/C 326/01)

economic system. Such values always remain outside the axiological content of the legal system, as we have described it above. Saying that, it does not mean that they cannot become legally relevant values. But they can become legally relevant only, if the legal system makes values belonging to one of the other systems applicable for resolving legal problems. Law-applying organs are not obliged to consider norms, if explicitly not directed by a legal norm to make decisions based on them (Raz, 1972, p. 844).⁵ There is a difference of what can be required from courts and what can be required from legislation (Dworkin, 2011, p. 405).⁶

2.2 Identification of Legal Values in International Law

Since the axiological content of the legal system depends on the identification of the fundamental norms on the protection of values that establish that content, from the perspective of the law as a legal system, the problem of the identification is crucial for any kind of consideration on legal values. We propose to differentiate two approaches to the identification of legal values: positivist and non-positivist.

(1) According to the positivist approach, the legal values in the legal system can be identified in two ways: a) indirect bottom-up model and b) direct up-bottom model (Raz, 1972, p. 844). The indirect bottom-up model of identification of the legal values starts with the reference to the number of particular explicit norms formulated in rules and principles which contains the same value as their object. After that, based on these particular norms of the positive legal system containing the same value, the interpreter identifies the implicit norm on protection of that value as the fundamental norm for a part of or the whole legal system. It remains up to the existing practice of the law-applying bodies whether the fundamental norm can be identified in this way. If this is not the case the identification of the value in existing particular norms serves only as reference to the object protected in those many different norms. This reference is not a legal norm and cannot be used to regulate situations not governed by those rules and principles.

The second positivist way is direct up-bottom model. It consists of direct identification of the fundamental norms of the protection of values for a part of or the whole legal system. These fundamental norms can be explicitly posited in the normative provisions or established through customs. They can also be implicitly contained in the legal system, if the reasoning of their existence is based on other explicit norms or even on doctrinal assumptions on functioning of the particular legal system. This second possibility depends on the practice of the law-applying bodies to develop implicit norms in such a way. Once fundamental norms are identified in this way, values contained in these norms ought to be protected in all cases, even in those not governed by particular rules or principles (Raz, 1972, p. 844).

Following descriptions of these two models, the most plausible way to start with the determination of the axiological content of the legal system is to identify the fundamental norms of the protection of values by researching normative documents or customs. For example, in the international law the most common sources of norms are (traditional) custom and treaties of international law. As mentioned above, the possibility of developing implicit norms depends on the existing practice of law-applying bodies. This method can be considered positivist method as it relies on the existing social practice (which has posited explicit fundamental norms, enabled doctrinal assumptions

⁵ According to Raz, courts apply the rules of the legal system, but it is also possible to apply the rules of other systems.

⁶ This differentiation of values is based on Dworkin's distinction of political and legal rights. The first relates to what citizens may require from legislation, and the second to what they can demand from the court itself.

or established relevant customs) and depends on the existing social practice (of the lawapplying bodies to practice such method).

(2) Non-positivist approach tries to respond to the problem that positivist approach cannot address. The problem is the situation when the existing social practice of the legal bodies seems insufficient for the interpreter to define the axiological content which he/she prefers. This preference can be based on the insight into values which can be identified in the normative systems commonly considered to be law, or in the legal systems of some legal communities. This is, for example, the situation of the deficit of posited fundamental norms in the international law when compared with the municipal law or, at least, some specific municipal legal systems.

In response to the identification problem, we can recognize attempts in the discourse of legal theory to avoid the method of identification of fundamental norms in the existing social practice of the legal bodies, when determining the axiological content of the legal system. In that sense, these methods can be considered as the non-positivist perspective on the legal values. The common characteristic of the non-positivist approaches to the axiological content is that the omission of or a wrong application of the legal values identified by these methods can be interpreted as a "legal error", whereby the bodies are expected to correct such mistakes.

In this research we will deal with two groups of non-positivist methods.⁷ We named the first one as the group of theories on inherent values, and the second one as the group of theories on constitutional values. Before presenting the selected discourses of legal scholars who, as we believe, belong to one of these two groups, we will briefly make some general remarks on the concepts of the inherent and constitutional values which can represent a useful analytical tool in understanding how these theories work.

2.3 Inherent Values

The inherent values of law can be defined as values stipulated by given conception of law. As they are important for the functioning of the law itself, without a necessary reference to other purposes outside the law (e.g. economic, political, moral), they can be called the inherent values of law.

The argumentation on the applicability of the inherent values to legal issues is based on the premise that law has specific characteristics (see Dickson, 2012, pp. 27– 30; cf. Schauer, 2005, p. 498).⁸ These characteristics are not dependent on the specific political, moral or social circumstances of a particular legal system, but on the relevant general practice of humans "living in a society governed by law". Once these characteristics are described, this description can be used by the interpreter in order to deduce the implicit fundamental norms belonging to the particular legal system by the very fact of the existence of the law itself. The values contained in these norms are interpreted as belonging to the axiological content of some legal systems, even if they are not explicitly expressed in any legal provision and accepted by the existing general practice of the legal bodies in a society governed by the law. The practical consideration on the content of law based on the explanatory descriptions of law is manifested in the

⁷ The third approach which can be found in some theories is to determine those political values of the international community which, under specific conditions, can be claimed to emerge as legal. The justification for such claim is not based on the existence of the legal norm directing legal application of the political value, but on the theoretical thesis of the existence of the specific political responsibility of law-applying organs to apply these as legal under specific conditions, even when the application of these norms has not yet been manifested in the practice of any law-applying organs.

⁸ At least some theorists construct concepts of law with the reference to the real experiences of those "living in a society governed by law". Besides those who prefer the concept of law as it actually exists, there are other theorists who construct the concept of law to include features of law to which a society should steer.

discussion on what is called the "general principles of law recognized by civilized nations" including the question whether these principles are to be found in the fundamental character of municipal law or in those that are common to all legal systems (Degan, 1997, p. 99; Shiner, 2005).⁹

The different kind of connections regarding these characteristics can be established in different conceptions of law.¹⁰ Some of the characteristics can be explained as necessary elements without which, according to someone's conception of law, law does not exist or at least is not distinguishable from other normative systems. Some of the examples of such characteristics of law recognized in the theory of law are the following: the existence of the norms of creation, recognition and adjudication, or, in a different version of the same idea, the existence of the norms of creation and application of other norms; the compulsory characteristic of the system; the existence of norms which require specific standards to be met by the process and the result of creation and the application of norms, the capability of the system to govern behavior. The other characteristics can be seen as the instrumental ones, contributing to the realization of the necessary characteristics of the concept of law. For example, the efficiency of law can be seen as an instrumental characteristic of law in measuring the capability of law to realize its necessary characteristics. Finally, some of the characteristics can be seen as conditioned. They are contained in the conception of law under the assumptions of the permanent or contingent, but lasting nature of subjects submitted to law. Consequently, under the assumption that humans are vulnerable and want to survive, the conception of law contains additional characteristics regarding the content of the legal norms, including the norms related to control of violence.

2.4 Constitutional Values

Legal values can relatively easily be determined in the legal system as those contained in the explicit or implicit constitutional norms (constitutional values), under the condition that the constitutional norms are ascribed specific characteristics by the legal bodies. The legal theory and doctrine have described the concept of the constitutional norms with specific characteristics based on the practice of the legal bodies in some municipal legal systems. The interpreter of the sources of some legal systems can use this concept as the premise in his argumentation to provide broader meanings of existing fundamental norms, or to stipulate that some norms are implicitly contained in the system as the fundamental norms.

Some of the specific characteristics of the constitutional norms, which are a prerequisite for argumentation on legal values, can be explained if we imagine the interpreter facing problems coming from an "inadequate" concept of the constitutional norms. The following elaboration is based on Riccardo Guastini's description of the different meanings of the constitution (Guastini, 2011, pp. 153–215).

(1) The first problem arises from the concept of the "constitutional norms" reduced only to political facts, because in that case, the existence of the norms is directly dependent on the practices of the political actors. (2) Even if the concept of "constitutional norms" is seen not as a pure political fact, but as a set of norms, the problem remains, if constitutional norms are understood as the result of the agreement between those who accept this set of norms. If "constitutional norms" are perceived as

⁹ Vladimir Đuro Degan is advocating the latter approach in which the general principles of law constitute a prerequisite for the existence and operation of a legal order.

¹⁰ The term conception of law is used for broader definitions of the different characteristics of law. The concept of law refers to the necessary characteristics. The concept of law may be included in someone's conception of law.
an agreement, they are directly related to the will and compromise of those who enter the agreement. This problem can be resolved by explaining the concept of "constitutional norms" as a set of norms which oblige its subjects, not because of the constantly confirmed consent of all subjects, but because of their membership in the community. (3) However, even that is not enough to separate "constitutional norms" from the existing social practices of its subjects, if the concept does not provide a hierarchical superiority of "constitutional norms" over other legal norms. (4) Although not a necessary element for claiming such superiority, the absence or malfunctioning of constitutional supervision as the specific social practice aimed at guaranteeing "constitutional norms", still takes us back to the dependence of the norm-values on the existing social practices. (5) Finally, when all these problems are resolved by the appropriate concept, we can still be confronted with the problem of the modest number of "constitutional norms", if the concept is reduced to the normative document or to constitutional norms" of regulation of the law-operative functions.

3. INHERENT VALUE OF INTERNATIONAL PEACE

Hersch Lauterpacht and Hans Kelsen have both elaborated on the connection between peace and international law. In this article, we will only briefly explain why we believe that they assume the value of peace as an inherent value of the law (see Krešić, 2019, pp. 485–501).

Lauterpacht refers to the value of peace in the context of his methodology of law, according to which there is no conceptual difference between the municipal and international law (1978, p. 9). The conflict of the rules of international law with the standards of (municipal) law presents the conflict with *"the general principles of law and the conception of law itself as generally recognized."* (H. Lauterpacht, 2000, p. 431). The practical consequence of his concept of law can be seen in his argumentation intended to be used by international lawyers, with the aim to make the international courts change the existing rule on compulsory adjudication (2000, p. 435). The argument includes the value of peace as *"pre-eminently a legal postulate"* (2000, p. 438).

Hans Kelsen establishes that connection through his concept of law as coercive order of behaviour. The main change in his approach to the value of peace appears in 1960 when he abandons the value of peace as the necessary element of the concept of law. It can be argued that this conceptual change refers to the stronger peace-keeping function of securing peace through the prohibition of interference into the private sphere of its subjects, while the weaker peace-keeping function of the law remains, in his concept of law, as the coercive order. The practical consequences of his concept of coerciveness can be seen in Kelsen's critique of the UN Charter. Kelsen considers the general international law, before the Charter, as containing the rule of war and reprisals as sanctions against delict. Consequently, the peace-keeping function of the primitive international law provides that any breach of the law for which war was used as sanction could be considered an international delict. The Charter's peace-keeping regime allows sanction to be taken by the UN only for the delict of threat or the use of force by states. Consequently, the Charter "has the undesirable effect of depriving of their legal character all obligations established by general international law which are not at the same time obligations under the Charter" (Kelsen, 1952, p. 58).

This problem of decreased content of the law caused by reduced concept of peace is recognized by contemporary international scholars. The solution can be found in the interpretation of the Charter in two ways: a) to interpret the Charter in such a way as to merge the value of peace and the law and b) to interpret the Charter in such a way as to broaden the scope of actions which require a reaction of the Security Council. The

first kind of interpretation can be found in the attempt of Alexander Orakhelashvili to interpret the meaning of the value of peace as based on the respect towards the fundamental principles of international law and towards international law considered as a condition of peace.

"This requires viewing peace against the structural background of international law: there will be peace when states can exercise their rights unharassed. Action for peace cannot be validly motivated by contempt for the legal rights of states. If the fundamental rights of a state are essential to peace, then their exercise cannot as such be understood as a threat to or breach of the peace; therefore, from the outset early doctrinal views on the primacy of peace over justice have been articulated inconsistently and constituted a fallacy." (Orakhelashvili, 2011, p. 19; see also Orakhelashvili, 2008, pp. 181–194).¹¹

The second kind of interpretation can be observed in Jochen Rauber's view that, based on the wording of the Resolution 794 on Somalia, the meaning of the value of peace could be broadened to include the request for *"absence of human suffering from the use of force in inter - and - intra state relations - contrary to the strict wording of the Charter."* (2009, p. 59).¹² If this position would be adopted by the law-applying bodies, the meaning of the value of international peace would be further expanded so that human rights violations represented a violation of the value of peace.

4. INHERENT VALUE OF THE INTERNATIONAL RULE OF LAW

In the theory of law, it is common to think of the rule of law value, or at least some of its parts, as an inherent value of the law, although theories differ in terms of whether they refer to its inherency as a necessity or as an instrumental kind.

4.1 Definition of the International Rule of Law

The value of the "international rule of law" can be understood as a requirement for subjecting decision-making procedures to the general standards of the international community. In the same way as with its two meanings in the national legal systems (Raz, 1979, p. 212),¹³ this requirement in international law can be understood as a limitation of arbitrary behavior. The ultimate purpose of these limitations is to enable subjects to behave in accordance with international law. For the law to be capable of guiding, it is necessary that, on the one hand, the general standards have a certain quality and that, on the other hand, they ensure a consistent and non-arbitrary implementation of such standards. These two sides of the same requirement set the two subgroups of values of

¹¹ Orakhelahvili expressed the view on the broader meaning of the value of peace in Orakhelahvili (2008): "There is thus no established meaning of peace and security, although there is consensus that this concept relates to more than just absence of war". The author refers to the value of "peace and security" as a "non-law" and seems to define this concept as something opposite to a clear norm which can produce a direct impact on the rights and obligations of states.

¹² Rauber pointed out that there is an ongoing debate on which philosophical ground of this interpretation can be based. For our purposes, it is enough to show how the value of peace can be determined as a legal value based on the conception of law as application of the international legal norms, i.e. securing the peace through law, whereby the meaning of this value can vary from the minimal to the maximum covering of the interference in the private sphere of its subjects. The justification of interpretation of the value of peace represents a separate issue.

¹³ Raz makes distinctions between the broader and the narrower meaning of the notion of the rule of law. "Taken in its broadest sense this means that people should obey the law and be ruled by it." This meaning, as Raz says, has been taken over from Jennings and his work The Law and the Constitution (London, 1933). "But in political and legal theory it has come to be read in a narrower sense, that the government shall be ruled by the law and subject to it."

the international rule of law (Raz, 1979, pp. 214–218; 2019, pp. 3, 8–9),¹⁴ that the axiological part of international law contains, if the rule of law is an inherent value of law.

The first group includes values of legality, legal certainty and legal equality that must first and foremost be met by general international standards. The second group includes values referring to the compliance of conduct with the general standards. The legal value of compulsory international adjudication allows states to protect their rights in the event of violation of the general international standards, and it guarantees the values of legal certainty, legal equality and legality.

If we accept that the inherent value of the rule of law includes the value of compulsory international adjudication and that in the international community it does not exist, there emerges an issue of explaining the existing international community as functioning based on the rule of law.

4.2 Theory of Compulsory International Adjudication

The current attitude of the international community towards the legal value of international adjudication is reflected in the omnis judex rule of international law. according to which everyone is the judge in its own cause. Both authors, Lauterpacht and Kelsen, have noticed that the rule is confirmed in the advisory opinion in the Eastern Carelia Case and both have provided a general argumentation in favour of compulsory adjudication. For the purpose of this research, it is sufficient to focus on their point that this rule is in conflict with the inherent values of peace, legal certainty and equality. For Lauterpacht, this conflict is seen as the incompatibility with "the general principles of law and the conception of law itself as generally recognized." (2000, p. 431). He looks at the value of compulsory adjudication from the aspect of efficiency of law, but also from the aspect of its unreplaceable function to preserve some other essential values of law. The omnis judex principle confirmed in the above mentioned court opinion has to be, as a matter of law, inquired into and possibly corrected by the new decisions of the courts (Lauterpacht, 2000, p. 435).¹⁵ For Kelsen, the conflict is perceived as the inconsistency with the other principles of general international law and the conception of law with his evolution thesis. He considers the value of compulsory adjudication as instrumental and as contributing to the efficiency of securing other legal values, and also proposes de lege lata solutions to replace the omnis judex principle.

¹⁴ In his 1979 elaboration on the rule of law, Raz emphasized eight principles which can be grouped in two groups as mentioned here. In his 2019 account on the rule of law principles, he explicitly mentions principles of generality, publicity, non-retroactivity, and stability which are the same as in the previous work. Among other principles mentioned in the later work, some of them (fair and unbiased process of making decisions, opportunities to consider arguments) can be connected with those mentioned in his previous work regarding application of law while few of them represent an addition to the previous considerations (decisions should be related to declared reasons, it should be made by observing the interest of the governed and by acting in the interest of governed, the doctrine of the rule of law should be part of public culture embedded in education and public discourse; Ibid.). Although the application of law by courts is not specifically mentioned as before, from the text it is obvious that Raz is still considering the principles regarding the compliance of law, among others, by courts as belonging to the rule of law. For example, when commenting Lord Bingham's list of the rule of law principles, Raz says that this list is considerably overlapping with his own with only two omissions in Raz list: protection of human rights and compliance by the state with its obligations in international law. Lord Bingham's list includes the following principles: laws should apply equally to all, a way of resolving disputes which the parties cannot themselves resolve should be established, the adjudicative procedures should be fair.

¹⁵ "The international lawyer must not regard himself as being prevented from attempting that task on the ground that the Permanent Court of International Justice has repeatedly expressed the opinion that it is a clear rule of international law that a State cannot be compelled against its will to submit its disputes with other States for international adjudication, and that its jurisdiction is strictly limited by the will of States."

Both authors consider the realization of the value of peace as connected with the realization of the value of compulsory adjudication. Kelsen believes that "nothing is more dangerous for peace than the unresolved dispute and peaceful settlement of disputes for which no binding action has been provided." (2008, p. 32). Lauterpacht points out that "the reign of law, represented by the incorporation of obligatory arbitration as a rule of positive international law, is not the only means for securing and preserving peace among nations. Nevertheless, it is an essential condition of peace." (2000, p. 437). In the third section, we have seen that both authors consider peace not only as a mere absence of violence. Peace through application of law belongs to their conception of law and compulsory adjudication contributes to the application of law.

According to Lauterpacht, the value of legal certainty is of the essence to law. It is the certainty of the final decision in a dispute by a body other than the parties to the dispute, which cannot be achieved by parties themselves. "The object of law to secure order must be defeated if a controversial rule of conduct may remain permanently a matter of a dispute. It must remain so as long as no agencies exist capable of determining existing legal rights with finality and without appeal." (2000, p. 425). Kelsen considers that the establishment of compulsory adjudication in international law "is a means, perhaps the most effective means to maintain a positive international law." (2008, p. 45). Obviously, if the law is not maintained efficiently, there arises uncertainty as to how the states should behave.

Finally, the value of equality of states loses its true meaning without international adjudication. For Kelsen, equality is both a "tautological expression of the principle of legality i.e. the principle that the general rules of law ought to be applied in all cases in which according to their contents, they ought to be applied" (2008, p. 37) and the equality of the capacity of duties subjected only to international law (2008, pp. 35-36). When he argues that compulsory adjudication is not in contradiction with the legal value of equality, he in fact provides arguments as to why compulsory adjudication can contribute to that value. More meritoriously, he emphasizes that the submission to law guarantees the coexistence of states as equal, while lack of its application leads to anarchy (2008, pp. 31, 49). According to Lauterpacht, "there is indeed a glaring contradiction in the idea that, in a society of states which are ex hypothesi independent of one another, and in relation of equality to each other, one state may legally claim the right to remain the judge in a dispute in which the rights of another state are involved." (2000, p. 429). In his view, "any doctrine which, in relations between States, postulates the individual interest of the single State as the ultimate standard of values and of legal obligation amounts to a negation of international law." (2000, p. 430).

4.3 Theory of Interactional International Law

Unlike the previously described way of justifying the value of the international rule of law, the theory of Juta Brunée and Stephen Toope on the interactional model of international law (2010) is adapted to the existing institutional gaps in the international community. The theory includes the two values described on the basis of Fuller's general theory of law. The first one is the inherent value of reciprocity, the second one being the inherent value of the rule of law which corresponds to the description provided in the previous section 4.1.

The value of reciprocity can be understood in several ways. Brunée and Toope refuse to attribute to this value the meaning in terms of mere reciprocity between states as a deduction of directly achievable interests, or as a systemic reciprocity according to which states cooperate to uphold a rule of international law only when they anticipate a long-term interaction on the issue, whereby the benefits of defection do not significantly

outweigh those of cooperation. Opposite to such views, Brunée and Toope share Fuller's idea of the value of reciprocity that has a deeper meaning as the fidelity to interaction through fulfilment of duties (2010, p. 38).

Why should international law be in conformity with the values of the rule of law? Since international law is not based on the hierarchy of norms, the criterion of formal validity cannot establish the legal obligation of states. In the international context, this is only possible when a norm a) is legitimate in the eves of addressees and b) supports the value of reciprocity. A norm is legitimate when it corresponds to the first group of values of the rule of law. The second group of values of the rule of law regarding compliance. support the value of reciprocity. Even though the emergence of the centralized legal agencies is not perceived as a necessary condition, due to the presupposed existence of the value of "reciprocity as fidelity", Brunée and Toope realize that the law must be applied in order to maintain such a value. "When explicit rules are unrelated to how states and other international actors actually behave, fidelity is destroyed." (2010, p. 35). Fuller's eighth value of the rule of law, that of congruence between law and official action, is overtaken by the authors in their own model of international law in a specific way. They interpret this value as a requirement of "congruence amongst the actions of a majority of international actors." (2010, p. 35). We can conclude that the interactional conception of international law cannot exist without the value of reciprocity as fidelity, and that that value cannot exist without accepting the content of the legal value of the rule of law. The acceptance should include both value groups of the rule of law value: a) the legal values that the general norms have to meet and b) the legal value of compliance conceived as the principle of majority.

Brunée and Toope have found their theory to have practical consequences for the existing norms of international law. After analysing the norm on the prohibition of torture in light of the eight "rule of law" standards, they found a problem with the criteria of clarity and congruence and, although they were "not comfortable with the conclusion", that the norm does not meet the rule of law standards. Even more, they stressed the possibility that "the formal existence of an absolute prohibition on torture could still become a dead letter." (2010, pp. 251, 268, 269–270). It might be argued that their analysis was purely descriptive and intended to emphasize the problems of international law. However, if their theory on international rule of law is consistent, the international judges might come to the same conclusions.

5. CONSTITUTIONAL VALUES OF INTERNATIONAL LAW

The theories of the constitutionalization of the international order enable us to find legal values in the constitution of the international community. The problem is how to prove the existence of such kind of constitution that would enable an extensive interpretation in determining legal values? The solution to the problem can be in ascribing the desirable characteristics to the constitutional norms and, subsequently, in ascribing the status of constitutional norm to those international norms for which the interpreter claims to be in line with desirable characteristics. There are two main theoretical approaches to determination of the relevant characteristics. The first one looks for the relevant forms of practices which allegedly produce constitutional norms as opposite to ordinary international norms. The second approach determines the important material content of norms which makes such norms qualified to be ascribed with the status of

constitutional norms.¹⁶ We can distinguish two versions of the second approach depending on whether the material content is the matter of theoretical thesis on what counts as the material content of any constitution, or it is the matter of interpretation of political responsibility within a specific international community (the second version is out of the scope of this research).¹⁷ Some scholars on constitutional international norms seems to combine the first approach to constitutional norms with the second version of the second approach (Kirchner, 2004, pp. 59–61).¹⁸

These different approaches can result in the different lists of constitutional international norms. The difference in determination of the constitutional international norms can also appear due to the different background context of the legal practice from which the interpreter is assessing whether or not an international norm has the relevant characteristics for the assignment of the constitutional status to that norm. The interpreter can search for the constitutional norms from the context of international order, particular regime (e. g. EU) and national order.¹⁹

We will make observations on some of the desirable characteristics of constitutional norms which can be derived from the theory of Bardo Fassbender, one of the leading advocates of the international law constitutionalization (Fassbender, 2009). We will briefly present his theory through five main features which can be compared with the model of constitutionalization as shown in section 2.3.

(1) According to Fassbender, the international constitution is not a political fact but a set of norms. He believes that there already exists a constitutional law of the

¹⁶ Some concepts such as general principles of law, *ius cogens* and *erga* omnes norms can be used by both approaches for discovering constitutional norms. These concepts can be used either by ascribing to the norm the status of *ius cogens*, erga omnes norms or general principles and, consequently, the constitutional status based on findings of the relevant "constitutional" practices (recognized for instance in the specific producing of legal texts or specific customs); or by determination of the important material content of norms (found in the legal system or in non-legal systems) which makes these norms qualified to be ascribed with the status of *ius cogens* norms, *erga omnes* norms or general principles and, consequently, with the status of constitutional norms.

¹⁷ If the second approach to constitutional norms is based on the concept of the political responsibility, we consider it as belonging to the specific non-positivist approach to legal values (see note 7) which will be presented and analyzed in the separate research.

¹⁸ For instance, according to Stefan Kirchner obligation can be considered as having constitutional status if it arises from the UN Charter, general principles of law, *ius cogens* rules and *erga omnes* rules. After that, the author distinguishes those constitutional rules determined by the rules of the international law itself (*lex lata*) and those rules depending on values which are important enough to be considered as protected by constitutional rules. In addition, the international community as a whole is constitution-making power and this power is not only limited to the community states but includes non-state actors (international organizations, NGOs, networks) which are involved in decision - making, often in informal ways and which impact the material content of international law.

¹⁹ If it is accepted that different contexts can provide different results, the first question is which context is the relevant one, and the second question is how to keep the consistency of all three kinds of legal orders (if this consistency is valued as something to be achieved) when interpretation results either in different interpretation of the constitutional international norms, or in the interpretation of different constitutional norms of international order and different constitutional norms of particular regime and/or national order. In the research of Cadi case by Juliane Kokott and Christoph Sobotta we can found how both questions in regard to the rights of the individuals can appear in practice. Firstly, the court of the regional regime has decided (Court of First Instance of the European Communities, Kadi v. Council and Commission, Case T-315/01, Judgement (21 September 2005)) the case based on its interpretation of the constitutional international norms. Lately, the court of the same regime has decided the case (Court of Justice of the European Communities (Grand Chamber), Kadi and Al Barakaat International Foundation v. Council and Commission, Joined Cases C-402/05 P and C-415/05 P, Judgment (3 September 2008)) based on the interpretation of constitutional norms of that regime. The authors provide a theoretical explanation, derived from doctrinal practice of national courts, how this, insisting on constitutional norms of the regime in the second judgement, can be concealed with the need to keep the consistency of international law and the law of that regime (Kokott & Sobotta, 2012).

international community established by the UN Charter and by core conventions around it. The problem of international practice deviating from the international constitution is solved by Fassbender's conceptual difference between the actual and the normative constitution.²⁰ The Charter, as a normative constitution, should guide and control the actual relationships of power, rather than describe or reflect them.

(2) Unlike the League of Nations' Covenant which resembles more a multilateral treaty, the UN Charter represents the constitution of an international political community within which international law operates. It is obligatory regardless of the will of states to reach an agreement, because it is based on their membership in the community. The Charter also constrains non-member states, because it is both the constitution of the UN organization, in that context procedural norms only bind UN member-states, and because it represents the constitution of the international community as a whole and, therefore, its substantive norms bind all states (Fassbender, 2009, p. 116). The constitution of the international legal community embraces international law in its entirety, and international general law cannot exist as independent of the Charter.

(3) The hierarchical superiority of the international constitution is an important feature for its separation from the will of states. According to Fassbender, it is "the highest layer in a hierarchy of norms of international law." (2009, p. 118).

(4) The shortcoming of international law is that it lacks sufficient judicial review in protection of its norms. According to Fassbender, the discrepancy between constitutional norms and practices, that is, the inefficiency of the normative constitution, is the result of the lack in judicial practice, because the function of the courts is to determine violation of the constitution and to reestablish the constitutional order (2009, pp. 100, 110).²¹ Due to lacking international adjudication, Fassbender turns his focus on states. They represent an important agency for preservation of the core of the constitution of the international community.

(5) The problem of the insufficient number of constitutional values in the Charter is facilitated by regarding the constitution not as a single written legal act, but as a substantive constitution regulating a specific type of matter that belongs to the branch of constitutional law. As mentioned before, Fassbender believes that constitutional law includes not only the UN Charter, but also the core conventions around it, such as conventions on international human rights, for example, the international human rights covenants or the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of Genocide. "[T] hese treaty and customary rules can be ascribed constitutional quality if, and to the extent that, they characterize in detail, or further develop, the constitutional law of the Charter." (2009, p. 122).

The proposed theoretical model grants us a valuable source of international legal values. Provided this theory is accepted, the legal science on international constitutional law as a subdiscipline of public international law (Fassbender, 2009, p. 1) can determine the legal values of the international order. The theory can have direct practical

²⁰ Fassbender also points to a different view of the real and the normative constitution of Karl Loewenstein (Loewensten, 1957, pp. 148–149). "[T]o be real and effective, it [a constitution] must be faithfully observed by all concerned; it must have integrated itself into the state society. If this is the case, a constitution may be spoken of as normative: its norms govern the political process, or the power process adjusts itself to the norms." (Loewensten, 1957, p. 148). Loewenstein calls the "nominal constitution" the situation when: "The factual state of affairs does not, or not yet [or, we may add, not anymore] permit the complete integration of the constitutional norms into the dynamics of political life." (1957, p. 149).

²¹ Although the judicial function of the UN is undeveloped, especially because of a lack of compulsory jurisdiction of the Court of Justice, Fassbender emphasizes the importance of the quasi-judicial function of the Security Council. "Finally, it should be mentioned that the Security Council, in spite of its prevailing political character, also performs a semi-judicial function, in particular when recommending, under Chapter VI of the Charter, terms of settlement of international disputes or situations which might lead to international friction."

consequences, for example, when assessing the Security Council's reform proposal. Fassbender wonders whether the decision on a UN reform belongs to a purely political discourse through which states decide what they want or there exist binding legal standards when states consider different solutions. Since such standards cannot be found in general international law, Fassbender finds them in the Charter in capacity of constitution of states. This theory, according to Fassbender, might be useful for solving theoretical problems and for interpreting the Charter (2009, p. 9).

6. CRITICS ON THE THEORIES ON INHERENT AND CONSTITUTIONAL VALUES OF INTERNATIONAL LAW

The critics that challenge the previously mentioned theories of the legal values of international law can be categorized into three groups: a) critics due to conflicts of values, b) critics due to different interpretations of values and c) critics due to the problematic perceptions of the nature of the international community.

The first two groups do not present an unsolvable obstacle. The conflicts of values can be interpreted, as Kelsen and Lauterpacht claim, as an argument to strengthen the thesis on the existence of values of international law: peace and the rule of law. The human rights' values do not have to be a necessary reason for rejecting the value of the international rule of law if an appropriate institutional framework for the protection of human rights is to be established. Also, different interpretations of the inherent and constitutional values of the legal order do not weaken the argument that such values exist. The main challenge for the theories on the existence depends on the presupposed features of the legal community.

Although the international law doctrine can use both methodological approaches for the determination of the international legal values - by researching inherent and constitutional values independent from the existing practice, or by determining the values exclusively through researching the practice of the legal bodies – here the question arises which of these two approaches is most suitable for describing international legal values. It seems that suitability of methodology is related to the characteristics of the community we describe. To clarify this suitability thesis, we will use Dworkin's community models.

Ronald Dworkin proposes three models of communities: *de facto* community, rulebook community and community of principles (1986, p. 208). Community models serve as the ideal types for describing the *"attitudes members of a political community would self-consciously take toward one another if they held the view of community the model expresses."* (1986, p. 209). Thus, if the states, that is, their officials and citizens, see the international community just as a factual one, they would have a different kind of expectations of and concerns for other states and for the international community, than if they look through the prism of the other two models.

In the first model, the states have no interest in each other and interaction takes place to the extent necessary to satisfy their own interests, so the possible emergence of common rules and values is limited to immediate interests rather than a long-term cooperation for everyone's benefit. In the second model, relations are established through political compromises with the aim of long-term planning of joint state activities. While in the third model, the states establish relations, not only through negotiations and political compromises like in the rulebook model, but also through common values that feel binding regardless of current compromises.

Accordingly, in the third model the existence and the content of legal values is not solely the result of a political compromise of all or majority of states or the most influential states in the community. It does not appear to be problematic to argue that in this type of a community, some values inherent to law, such as peace through law or rule of law, exist irrespective of the existing will of its members. Likewise, the argumentation on constitutionalization and international constitutional values, that might include the mentioned inherent values as well as other values important for the community, such as human rights values, can be seen as a contribution to determining the community values which oblige the states and the legal authorities, regardless of their actual practice. What about the correlation between the model of the community and the existence of inherent and constitutional values in the first and the second model?

In the first one, the frail type of community relations, questions the existence of any kind of legal obligation to respect norms, including those containing legal values. If, for example, we say that there is a value of peace in such a community, then it is disputable whether its members feel legally obliged not to cause war, or they avoid war only because they feel it is their will to do so due to political reasons. In the second model, subjects are as selfish as in the first one, but are legally obliged to respect the mutually binding rules, although only those that arise from negotiation and compromise. This general attitude could possibly have one exemption - the pacta sunt servanda principle, in which the legal nature according to some authors cannot be explained by consent of states (Franck, 1988, p. 755). Following Dworkin's description of this model, states consider that the content of the rules exhausts their obligations and that rules contain nothing more than what they explicitly agree on, whereby general rules, such as those in treaties, are created in a way that "each side has tried to give up as little in return for as much as possible" (1986, p. 210). The argumentation on inherent or constitutional values whose existence and content is not explicitly agreed on in a particular rule or recognized in the current practice, cannot be a persuasive justification for the source of legal obligations (1986, p. 210).22 Therefore, international agencies authorized for the implementation of law, if they exist at all, would be obliged to make their decisions in the way consistently reflecting the will of the states at application of standards that the states have agreed on. In this context, the order cannot be considered constitutionalized, if this means that we are to separate its norms from the will of states, and an agreement cannot become a constitution. Similarly, the inherent values of law can be disregarded in the international rulebook community as scientific, political or moral concepts but not as legal values to be protected in all cases no matter what legal provisions or practice looks like.

7. CONCLUSION

The analytical framework consisting of the following concepts – legal system, fundamental norms, inherent values and constitutional norms - can facilitate a better understanding of the non-positivist approach to legal values. The legal value can be defined through the legal system analysis. Since the legal system consists of norms, it is obvious that legal value has to be related to some norms in the legal system. This norm, named as fundamental norm, has specific structure ("the value X ought to be protected"), it is fundamental (not grounded in other norms with exception of other fundamental norms and it grounds other norms) and serves as the source of information for the cognition of the set of legal values of the system (axiological content). The non-positivist approach is described as having the following characteristics: 1) Those following this

²² According to Dworkin, the rulebook community supposes that "members of political community accept a general commitment to obey rules established in a certain way that is special to that community [...] They have no sense that the rules were negotiated out of a common commitment to underlying principles that are themselves a source of future obligation; on the contrary, they take these rules to represent a compromise between antagonistic interests or points of view."

approach try to resolve the problem they think to exist in the international law (some others may not think that this is a problem or that they have to resolve it). The problem is the gap between the existing practice of legal bodies - production of normative documents, customs of states, acts of law-applying bodies - and the axiological content which the interpreter prefers, especially when compared with the axiological content of the municipal law. 2) This gap is considered by the proponents of the non-positivist approach as a legal error which should be corrected by legal bodies. 3) The axiological content of the international law (which reflects the preferences of the interpreter) is determined by using the methods which avoid the existing social practice in the international law. Two of these methods are: a) the identification of the inherent values defined as those stipulated by the given conception of law and b) the identification of the constitutional norms ascribed with the specific characteristics. The summarized presentation of the discourse of selected legal scholars has shown that these characteristics can be recognized in their theories. Each of the theories exposed - theory of the international peace, theory of compulsory adjudication, theory of interactional international law and the theory of international constitutional values - use one of nonpositivist methods (characteristic 3); intends, as it has been shown, to have practical consequences in first line for the interpretation of the existing law (characteristic 2) and can be read as the attempt of their designers to "enrich" the axiological content with those fundamental norms which are, according to the opinion of authors, implicitly contained as such in the international legal system (characteristic 1).

In regard to the three kinds of arguments that can be developed in more detail against the presented theories, we have briefly introduced counterarguments for the two of them (interpretation of the values and conflict of the values). That leaves us with the third objection to non-positivist approach based on the idea of different types of communities: de facto community, rulebook community and community of principles. The methodology of determining legal values as independent of the existing practice is suitable only if there is a certain type of interconnection in the international community that suits the community of the principles' model. We can formulate a suitability thesis in the following way: the suitability of the methodology to be applied for the determination of legal values depends on the community model that provides the best description of the researched community. The vulnerability of the theories on the inherent and constitutional values arises from the impression that the present international community is still more suited for the rulebook model in which the existing practice of international agencies, whose decisions are binding for all states, as well as the practice of the states themselves, influenced by the most powerful ones, are the main, if not the only source for determining the existence and the content of legal values.

Even if the presented theories are not suitable for the determination of legal values in the model to which the existing international community might belong, there is no doubt that they can easily be used for *de lege ferenda* analysis.²³ We can read them as positing the scientific, moral or political goals of peace through law, rule of law and human rights whose achievement requires the following: a) the broadened definition of the peace and the Security Council's obligation to make decisions by application of law; b) international adjudication established as compulsory instrument for all international disputes and an institutional mechanism introduced for guaranteeing the compliance of states with the international law and; c) the international constitution - with the appropriate characteristics of its norms and the content which includes the values of

²³ As we have seen in the section on constitutional norms, the non-positivist approach can be useful in reforming the existing international law by explicitly formulated more advanced norms.

peace, rule of law and human rights – established as the source of law for the international law-creating and law-applying bodies.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

Consolidated versions of the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 2012/C 326/01.

Court of First Instance of the European Communities, Kadi v. Council and Commission, Case T-315/01, Judgement (21 September 2005).

Court of Justice of the European Communities (Grand Chamber), Kadi and Al Barakaat International Foundation v. Council and Commission, Joined Cases C-402/05 P and C-415/05 P, Judgment (3 September 2008).

Brunée, J., & Toope, S. J. (2010). *Legitimacy and Legality in International Law: An Interactional Account*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Degan, V. D. (1997). Sources of International Law. Hague: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.

Dickson, J. (2012). Towards a Theory of European Union Legal Systems. In J. Dickson &

P. Eleftheriadis (Eds.), *Philosophical Foundations of European Union Law.* (p. 490). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Dworkin, R. (1986). Law's Empire. Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.

Dworkin, R. (2011). Justice for Hedgehogs. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Fassbender, B. (2009). The United Nations Charter as the Constitution of the International Community. Leiden: Koninklijke Brill NV.

Franck, T. M. (1988). Legitimacy in International System. *The American Journal of International Law.*, 82(4), 705–759.

Guastini, R. (2011). La sintassi del diritto, seconda edizione. Torino: Giappichelli.

Harašić, Ž. (2015). More about teleological argumentation in law. *Pravni Vjesnik*, 31(3– 4), 23–50.

Kelsen, H. (1952). Principles of International Law. New York: Rinehart and Company.

Kelsen, H. (2008). Peace Through Law. New Jersey: The Lawbook Exchange, Ltd.

Kirchner, S. (2004). Relative Normativity and the Constitutional Dimension of International Law: A Place for Values in the International Legal System? German Law Journal., 5(1), 47–64.

Kokott, J., & Sobotta, C. (2012). The Kadi Case – Constitutional Core Values and International Law – Finding the Balance? *European Journal of International Law.*, 23(4), 1015–1024.

Krešić, M. (2019). The role of peace in Kelsen and Lauterpacht's theories of International Law. Zbornik Radova Pravnog Fakulteta u Splitu., 56(2), 485–501.

Lauterpacht, H. (2000). Functions of Law, The Function of Law in the International Community. New Jersey: The Lawbook Exchange, Ltd.

Lauterpacht, H., & Lauterpacht, E. (1978). International Law: Volume 1, The General Works: Being the Collected Papers of Hersch Lauterpacht (Elihu Lauterpacht). (E. Lauterpacht,Ed.). London: Cambridge University Press.

Loewensten, K. (1957). Political Power and the Governmental Process. Chichago: University of Chicago Press.

MacCormick, N. (2007). Institutions of Law: An Essay in Legal Theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

MacCormick, N., & Summers, R. (2016). Interpretation and Justification. In N. MacCormick & R. Summers (Eds.), *Interpreting Statutes: a comparative study*. (pp. 511–544). London, New York: Routledge.

Orakhelashvili, A. (2008). The Interpretation of Acts and Rules in Public International Law. New York: Oxford University Press. Orakhelashvili, A. (2011). Collective Security. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Padjen, I. (2006). A Policy oriented search for basic European Values. *Dignitas*, (71–72), 115–137.
- Rauber, J. (2009). The United Nations a Kantian Dream Come True? Philosophical Perspectives on the Constitutional Legitimacy of the World Organization. *Hanse Law Review.*, 5(1), 49–76.
- Raz, J. (1972). Legal Principles and the Limits of Law. *The Yale Law Journal.*, 81(5), 823–854.
- Raz, J. (1979). The authority of law: Essays on Law and Morality. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Raz, J. (2019). The Law's Own Virtue. Oxford Journal of Legal Studies., 39(1), 1–15.
- Schauer, F. (2005). The Social Construction of the Concept of Law: A Reply to Julie Dickson. Oxford Journal of Legal Studies., 25(3), 493–501.
- Shiner, R. A. (2005). Volume 3: Legal Institutions and the Sources of Law. In E. Pattaro (Ed.), A Treatise of Legal Philosophy and General Jurisprudence. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Visković, N. (1973). Legal Value and the Concept of Law: Contribution to the Theory of Legal Value. Zbornik Radova Pravnog Fakulteta Splitu., 10, 195–224.





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

INTERPRETING LAW THROUGH INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL DIALOGUE BY POLISH COURTS /

Magdalena Matusiak-Frącczak

Magdalena Matusiak-Frącczak, PhD. University of Łódź, Faculty of Law and Administration; ul. Kopcińskiego 8/12; 90-232 Łódź, Poland; mfracczak@wpia.uni.lodz.pl ORCID: 0000-0002-6736-8008

The paper was originally presented at "The XIVth CEENJ Conference: Jurisprudence in Central and Eastern Europe, Bratislava, 12-13 September 2019".

Abstract: International iudicial dialogue is a new method of law interpretation that gains popularity in analyses of legal scholars and still raises a lot of doubts both on its existence as well as its definition. This paper will deal with the application of this technique by Polish courts. In the first place, it will be explained what international judicial dialogue actually means. Afterwards, the paper will in detail discuss problems connected to the use of this method on the basis of decisions of Polish courts, first, by presenting examples of a proper, decorative and failed dialogue, and then by emphasizing complications caused by this method in the Polish jurisprudence. It will be also explored whether there exists a real dialogue, meaning that not only Polish courts receptively refer to judgments of international and foreign courts, but there is also some level of reciprocity in those references. At the end of the paper, the advantages and disadvantages of this method will be deliberated. In this part, I will suggest some solutions permitting mitigation of some adverse effects s of this technique.

Key words: dialogue; international judicial dialogue; jurisprudence; courts; case-law; globalisation; comparative constitutionalism; Polish law

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 17 May 2020 Accepted: 18 September 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Matusiak-Frącczak, M. (2020). Interpreting Law Through International Judicial Dialogue by Polish Courts. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 49-70. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.181

1. INTRODUCTION

The progressive internationalisation of every aspect of human life and relations is an undeniable fact. Living in a globalised world has its effect on economic and financial relations, communication, families and, of course, on national laws. Using various instruments, international law encroaches in different ways into domestic legal orders. Nevertheless, the efficiency of international law depends mostly on its application and interpretation by national courts. Moreover, international relations and developments also influence the domestic legal system, as they create new legal problems that need to be solved by national law or its interpretation. In these new problematic areas, national courts, lacking any previous national jurisprudence, might be tempted to look for solutions in foreign legal systems and their case-law.

And here is where the shoe pinches. It is necessary to determine how national courts find a correct and proper application and interpretation of international law, as well as accurate international sources of inspiration for interpretation of new legal problems

arising in domestic laws, especially in the area of human rights (L'Heureux-Dubé, 1998, p. 21, 24-25). It is obvious that this cannot be done by a mere reference to the text of international or foreign law, nor by decoding the text of international or foreign legal norm solely on the basis of the concepts and ideas of national laws or existing domestic jurisprudence, as this interpretation should be as far as possible consistent among courts of different states (Kirby, 2008, p. 172). This analysis requires a more profound exploration of international and foreign law, including case-law, and here is the place for international judicial dialogue as a method of interpretation, as traditional domestic ways of interpreting law do not suffice. This poses a serious question, i.e. whether national avoiding misunderstanding and misinterpretation.

As the issue at stake is very complicated and might vary among different states, this article concentrates on the practice of the Polish judiciary and its paths, as well as abilities to face new challenges stemming from international law, developments and relations. The first part of this paper will focus on presentation of some general and introductory remarks on international judicial dialogue. Next part of the paper will be dedicated to deliberations on international judicial dialogue before the Polish courts. It includes discussing examples of proper, decorative and failed dialogue performed by different instances of the Polish judiciary. Afterwards, I will assess international judicial dialogue as a method of interpretation used by the Polish courts. This comprises both correctness of this technique as applied by the Polish courts, as well as influence of the Polish case-law on jurisprudence of international and foreign courts. In conclusion, I will point out some advantages and disadvantages of the international judicial dialogue as a method of legal interpretation, as well as possible solutions of minimalizing the risk connected to the application of international judicial dialogue.

2. INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL DIALOGUE - GENERAL REMARKS

The first question to answer is how we can define international judicial dialogue. The starting point of this exploration will be definitions of dialogue contained in different dictionaries. As the term "dialogue" in all dictionaries has different meanings for diverse uses, I will focus on the definitions connected to the aim of this paper.

In Thesaurus Dictionary "dialogue" is described as "an exchange of ideas and opinions on a particular issue, especially political or religious issue, with a view to reaching and amicable agreement or settlement". Merriam-Webster Dictionary shortly defines "dialogue" as "an exchange of ideas and opinions". According to Cambridge Dictionary "dialogue" is "a serious exchange of opinion, esp. among people or groups that disagree". Another definition is presented in Collins Dictionary where "dialogue" means "a communication or discussion between people or groups of people such as governments or political parties". Finally, Oxford Learner's Dictionary, describes "dialogue" as "a formal discussion between two groups or countries, especially when they are trying to solve a problem, end a disagreement, etc."

One might also point out different definitions of international judicial dialogue in publications of legal scholars. L'Heureux-Dubé noticed that the process of international legal influence changed overtime from reception to dialogue. Reception means only that reasoning of some international and foreign jurisdictions was applied by others, namely domestic courts. Within international judicial dialogue, judges look into numerous sources when deciding how to interpret their constitutions and deal with new problems, they are reading and discussing each other's jurisprudence (1998, p. 17-18, 21).

Relying on the work of L'Heureux-Dubé, Grove defined international judicial dialogue as a possibility for domestic courts deciding on a particular substantive legal

issue to look for interpretative guidance encompassed not only in international treaties but also in decisions of supranational and foreign courts that have addressed similar legal question. This might be connected with a response of an interlocutor, if international and foreign courts facing comparable legal issues refer to domestic courts' decisions. She also underlines that the opinion of international community does not overcome domestic law, it is only a helpful source of inspiration permitting the analysis of legal development of similar issue in jurisprudence of foreign courts (2001, p. 2049, 2052).

In his paper, Kirby defines this dialogue as comparative constitutionalism, meaning invoking decisions of international and foreign courts by national courts which concern both the substance of the law and its doctrines and procedures for conducting trials. He emphasizes that international judicial dialogue does not serve incorporating foreign and international laws into domestic legal system, as it is only an interpretative tool (2008, p. 171-172, 184, 186).

We may also find an opinion that the notion "dialogue" enjoys variety of meanings, depending on circumstances or the author. On the basis of numerous definitions in legal publications, Meuwese and Snel construct their own definition of "dialogue", i.e. a sequel of implicitly or explicitly shaped communications back and forth between two or more actors characterized by the absence of a dominant actor – or at least by a bracketing of dominance -, with the shared intention of improving the practice of interpreting, reviewing, writing or amending constitutions (2013, p. 124-126). Yet it needs to be born in mind that these authors in their paper discussed "dialogue" not only between courts but also between other institutions and bodies. For the purposes of the present deliberations, it is assumed that "dialogue" is limited to judicial bodies, as the study focuses on international judicial dialogue only, other authoritative instances are excluded from the research.

Law and Chang, in general, consider that the notion "dialogue" is conceptually and empirically an inapt metaphor for the comparative analysis performed by constitutional courts. This conclusion is based on the assumption that dialogue is supposed to be inclusive and involve reciprocal engagement of interlocutors in the dispute and this element is usually missing and possible referrals are mostly made to judgments of elite courts (2011, p. 527, 531, 534). Nevertheless, the authors in their paper also included s a definition of international judicial dialogue, constructed on the basis of publications of other legal scholars.¹ According to this definition, this dialogue is the citation of foreign law by constitutional courts that both reflects and fosters the emergence of a common global enterprise of constitutional adjudication (Law and Chang, 2011, p. 523, 528).

From the above mentioned definitions, one may choose elements that might be relevant in creating a definition of international judicial dialogue. Definitely, it is an exchange of ideas and opinions serving solely interpretation of law purpose. As it concerns legal matters, high standard of seriousness is required. Yet, the deliberated issues usually are neither political nor religious, although in some specific areas there might exist political or religious elements in the background of a legal dispute. However, as it will be indicated in the following parts of the paper, it is not necessary that there occurs any disagreement between the discussing subjects, namely between international and national courts, as all of them might represent a similar attitude towards a given problem. Although the dialogue should include an exchange of opinions between interlocutors, in case of international judicial dialogue, this may not always happen. One court may refer to decisions of other courts, yet the reciprocity is not required. Despite the fact that some legal scholars limit the international judicial dialogue only to

¹ However it needs to be emphasized that Law and Chang criticise this definition.

constitutional courts, it needs to be underlined that it concerns every type and level of courts.

Therefore, in this paper, the notion "international judicial dialogue" should be understood as references and examination of judgments of international courts or domestic courts of other states with the aim of solving a legal problem. On the basis of the examples presented in the following parts of this paper, we may divide the judicial dialogue into four categories:

- 1. **proper dialogue** courts refer to accurately collected case-law of other courts and analyse it properly from the methodological point of view;
- fake or decorative dialogue courts pretend to refer to the case law of other courts but, in fact, they just decorate the reasoning by random references to inappropriately collected and inaptly analysed decisions;
- failed dialogue courts miss the opportunity to refer to the case law of other courts, where one should reasonably expect that such jurisprudence is presented;
- 4. **other types of dialogue** dialogue non-classifiable in other categories (Górski, 2017, p. 235).

A study concerning international judicial dialogue is problematic due to several factors. It is highly restricted by the availability of the research material. Although different courts issue numerous judgments every year, only a very scarce minority of them contains elements of international judicial dialogue. Moreover, not all of them are published and accessible through electronic search engines, including both general ones, like Google, etc. and those available for law professionals. That is why, as suggested by Law and Chang (2011, p. 527), it is inappropriate to use quantitative research methods, meaning statistical citations to foreign law, as they need to be supplemented with qualitative approaches. These authors recommend interviewing judges, however, this study will focus on a deep analysis of the entire texts of judicial decisions that use the technique of international judicial dialogue.

3. INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL DIALOGUE BEFORE POLISH COURTS

As it was stated at the beginning, the paper will concentrate on the use of international judicial dialogue by Polish courts as a method of interpretation of international and domestic law. The publication is not limited to constitutional dialogue, therefore, I will analyse decisions of all types and levels of the Polish judiciary. In this part of the paper, I will briefly present selected examples of proper, decorative and failed judicial dialogue.

3.1. Structure of the Polish judicial system

Before I start exploration of the application of international judicial dialogue by Polish courts, it is necessary to present, in short, the structure of the Polish judiciary.

In Poland, there are three types of jurisdiction. First of all, the Constitutional Tribunal is empowered to decide on compatibility of legal acts situated at lower levels of hierarchy of sources of Polish law with the acts situated above them (Polish Constitution, Art. 188) and on division of powers between central constitutional organs of the state (Polish Constitution, Art. 189).²

² A detailed scrutiny of judgments of the Polish Constitutional Tribunal is contained in Skomerska-Muchowska (2017).

Cases concerning criminal law and civil law, including family law, labour and social security law are decided by Polish general courts.³ A constitutional standard is that cases are decided by two instances. However, in limited areas, they might be decided by the Supreme Court, which acts as a court of cassation. Nevertheless, the Polish law does not classify the Supreme Court as a court being a part of general courts system (Polish Constitution, Art. 175 (1)). For the purposes of this analysis and taking into consideration the value of its judgments for Polish general courts, the Supreme Court shall be considered as such.⁴

Lastly, there are administrative courts, namely the Supreme Administrative Court and 16 Voivodship Administrative Courts (Polish Constitution, Art. 184). 5

Out of these courts, the Constitutional Tribunal, the Supreme Court, and the Supreme Administrative Court are predestined to use international judicial dialogue as a method of interpretation. It is worth emphasizing that this practice is not limited only to those three courts and the dialogue technique is applied by lower level courts, as well. Main areas of international judicial dialogue used by Polish courts are: human rights, customary international law, European Union law and other non-classifiable areas of law. A very specific area of international judicial dialogue is the preliminary reference procedure before the CJEU. A comprehensive study of this type of dialogue would exceedingly go beyond the scope of this paper, therefore it will not be a subject of deliberations.⁶

3.2. Proper judicial dialogue

A proper judicial dialogue takes place when courts refer to accurately collected case-law of other courts, and analyse it properly from methodological point of view. As much as this situation is the most desirable on one hand, on the other it is, unfortunately, the rarest in decision of the Polish judiciary. Taking into consideration the specificity of the proper judicial dialogue, the analysis contained in this part will be a qualitative assessment of selected judgments. This will allow to show the pattern that should be followed by other judges and courts.

The most deep and profound dialogue with foreign courts should be the domain of the Polish Constitutional Tribunal. This is due to the fact that cases decided by the Tribunal require a detailed and exact analysis of fundamental principles of the Polish Constitution which involve comparative deliberations.

In the area of human rights protection, there are several judgments of the Constitutional Tribunal that properly refer and analyse judgments of international and foreign decisions. One of them is the decision in K 23/11⁷ concerning the renegade procedure introduced into the Polish law on aviation.⁸ In short, this procedure was created after the 11 September 2001 terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center and it permitted downing of an airplane hijacked by terrorists, even with passengers on board. At the beginning of its deliberations, the Tribunal emphasized that there is no need to reinterpret human rights and freedoms for the purposes of public safety and protection

³ There are 318 district courts, 45 provincial courts and 11 appellate courts. Cf. Lista sądów powszechnych.

⁴ A detailed scrutiny of judgments of Polish ordinary courts is contained in Matusiak-Frącczak (2017).

⁵ A quantitative scrutiny of judgments of Polish administrative courts is contained in Krzemińska-Vamvaka (2017).

⁶ More on preliminary reference procedure in Czaplińska (2017).

⁷ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 23/11 (30.9.2008).

⁸ Poland, Law on aviation of 3 July 2002, Polish Official Journal 2002, no. 130/1112.

against terrorist attacks and it is a dominating opinion of case law of foreign courts.⁹ Then it made a study on the standard of protection stemming from the European Convention on Human Rights, as interpreted by the judgments of the European Court of Human Rights concerning right to life.¹⁰ Lastly, the Tribunal made referral and largely cited the decision in similar case issued by the German Federal Constitutional Court in 2006¹¹ and adopted the reasoning of its own decision to the statement of reasons delivered by the German Court, including the view that a state cannot legalise an intentional killing of innocent people – hijacked passengers, because all lives, regardless their quality, are protected by the right to life and enjoy equal value.

A very comprehensive analysis of judgments of other constitutional courts of the Member States of the European Union was made by the Polish Constitutional Tribunal in case no. K 32/09, concerning the constitutionality of the Treaty of Lisbon.¹² The Tribunal referred to the French Constitutional Council's decision of 2007¹³ in which the Council emphasized that dome solutions contained in the Treaty of Lisbon may not be sufficient to prevent transferring competences to the European Union in a manner and scope that would violate fundamental conditions of state sovereignty. Moreover, all provisions of the Treaty of Lisbon concerning areas strictly connected to state sovereignty and already present among European Union competences modifying the rules on decision-making process or replacing unanimous decisions by Qualified Majority Voting and deprive France of the possibility of a protest or transfer powers to the European Parliament that is not an emanation of national sovereignty and deprive France of its own initiative are contrary to the French Constitution. Another referral was made to the judgment of the German Federal Constitutional Court of 2009¹⁴ where the Court stated that the European Union, being a union of sovereign states, cannot lead to deprivation of states of their own political debate on Treaty changes, as it is connected with the principle of constitutional identity. The EU membership does not include an automatic acceptance of transfer of powers to the EU and the constitutional courts cannot be deprived of responsibility for warranting constitutional limits of integration authorisation and constitutional identity that is not subject of transfer of powers. After the Czech Constitutional Court,¹⁵ the Polish Tribunal repeated that after the Treaty of Lisbon the Member States still will be the Herren der Verträge (Masters of the Treaties). The Czech Parliament will be empowered only to accept laws reflecting requirements of the Czech constitutional order, as the EU remains an international organisation and the Member States keep their constitutional identity. Similarly, it was stated by the Hungarian Constitutional Court,¹⁶ which underlined that the constitutional provisions on the EU membership cannot be interpreted as depriving Hungary of its sovereignty and the democratic rule of law. EU law that is contrary to the

⁹ The Tribunal based its opinion on the analysis of: House of Lords, A v. Secretary of State for the Home Department [2005] UKHL 71; German Federal Constitutional Court [2006] 1 BvR 357/05; Israeli Supreme Court, Public Committee Against Torture on Israel v. The State of Israel et al., Case HCJ 3100/94; Israeli Supreme Court, The Context for the Defence of the Individual v. The Commander of IDF Forces in the West Bank, Case HCJ 3278/01; Israeli Supreme Court, Marab v. The Commander of IDF Forces in the West Bank, Case HCJ 3239/02; US Supreme Court, Rasul v. Bush, Case No. 03-334, 542 US 466 (2004) 321 F. 3d 1134.

¹⁰ ECtHR case-law: Aksoy v. Turkey, case no. 21987/93, judgment of 18.12.1996; Marcx v. Belgium, Young, case no. 7833/74, judgment of 13.6.1979; James and Webster v. UK, case no. 7601/76, 7806/77, judgment of 13.8.1982; Ergi v. Turkey, case no. 23818/94, judgment of 28.7.1998; Velikova v. Bulgaria, case no. 41488/98, judgment of 18.5.2000; Kelly and Others v. UK, case no. 30054/96, judgment of 4.5.2001.

¹¹ Germany, Federal Constitutional Court [2006] 1 BvR 357/05.

¹² Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 32/29 (24 November 2009).

¹³ France, Constitutional Council, 2007-560 DC (20 December 2007).

¹⁴ Germany, Federal Constitutional Court [2009] 2 BvE 2/08, 2 BvE 5/08, 2 BvR 1010/08, 2 BvR 1022/09, 2 BvR 1259/08, and 2 BvR 182/09.

¹⁵ Czechia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 19/08 (26 November 2008).

¹⁶ Hungary, Constitutional Court, 143/2010 (12 July 2010).

material constitutional identity and democratic rule of law will not be binding upon Czechia. The Polish Constitutional Tribunal only mentioned decisions of other constitutional courts declaring the Treaty of Lisbon constitutional.¹⁷ From all the enumerated judgments, the Polish Constitutional Tribunal concluded that the Treaty of Lisbon is constitutional, however, the importance of constitutions and statutes of the Member States needs to be emphasized as the membership in the European Union cannot lead to the deprivation of the constitutional identity by Member States.

The best example of a Polish decision made on customary international law is the decision on state immunity. In the 2010 Natoniewski case¹⁸ the Polish Supreme Court was to decide whether the Federal Republic of Germany is protected by state immunity in cases concerning the damage caused during the World War II. The plaintiff, Mr. Natoniewski claimed that there was no possibility to apply state immunity when the state breached jus cogens norm. At that time, there existed opinions claiming that peremptory norm is superior to rules of state immunity and it deprives the rule of state immunity of all its legal effects.¹⁹

To determine whether Germany could be sued before Polish courts, the Supreme Court referred to numerous international and foreign courts decisions and concluded that there were two opposite approaches to this issue. A lot of foreign courts still considered jurisdictional immunity of state to be absolute, whereas some of them were of the opinion that certain restrictions may apply thereto. From the international instances, the Polish Supreme Court analysed decisions of the European Court of Human Rights,²⁰ the Court of Justice of the European Union,²¹ and the International Court of Justice of 2002 in Democratic Republic of the Congo y Belgium.²² In this case, the ICJ held that even a violation of jus cogens would not enable the abolition of immunity of the Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Congo while in office. On the other hand, the House of Lords in Pinochet²³ and the French Cour de Cassation in Qaddafi²⁴ decided that in this situation, a state official is not protected by immunity. At that time, Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy: Greece Intervening) case before the ICJ²⁵ was still pending and awaiting a final decision. Therefore, the Polish Supreme Court granted state immunity to Germany and emphasized that it is up to the ICJ and not to the Polish Supreme Court to decide, whether serious violations of human rights constitute an exception to iurisdictional immunity of the state.

¹⁷ Latvia, Constitutional Tribunal of Latvia, 2008-35-01 (7 April 2009). Austria, Austrian Constitutional Tribunal, SV 2/08, G 80/08 (30 September 2008).

¹⁸ Poland, Supreme Court, IV CSK 465/09 (29 October 2010).

¹⁹ European Court Of Human Rights, Al-Adsani v. the United Kingdom, app. no. 35763/97 (21 November 2001), joint dissenting opinion of judges Rozakis and Caflish, joined by judges Wildhaber, Costa, Cabral Barreto and Vajić.

²⁰ ÉCtHR case-law: Al-Adsani v. the United Kingdom, app. no. 35763/97 (21 November 2001); McElhinney v. Ireland, app. no. 31253/96, 21 November 2001; Kalogeropoulou and Others v. Greece and Germany, app. no. 59021/00, 12 December 2002; Waite and Kennedy v. Germany, app. no. 26083/94, 18 February 1999.

²¹ CJEU case-law: judgment of 15 February 2007, Lechouritou, C-292/05, ECLI:EU:C:2007:102; judgment of 21 April 1993, Volker Sonntag, C-172/91, ECLI:EU:C:1993:144.

²² ICJ, Case concerning the arrest warrant of 11 April 2000 (Democratic Republic of the Congo v Belgium), judgment, 2002 I.C.J. Rep. 3 (14 February).

²³ United Kingdom, House of Lords, Commissioner of Police for the Metropolis and Others, Ex Parte Pinochet [1999] UKHL 17.

²⁴ France, Court of Cassation, 00-87215 Qaddafi (13 March 2001).

²⁵ International Court of Justice, Jurisdictional immunities of the State (Germany v Italy: Greece intervening, judgment, 2012 I.C.J. Rep. 99, (3 February).

The Supreme Court examined also decisions of the courts of other states, i.e. of: the United Kingdom,²⁶ the United States,²⁷ Italy,²⁸ and Greece.²⁹ It is worth an appreciation that the Court did not limit the scope of its research only to decisions of international bodies, but it made a detailed scrutiny of various foreign courts' case law. Such practice is indispensable when deciding a case based on international customary law.

The Supreme Court concluded that the Polish judicial practice grants to foreign states jurisdictional immunity as a part of customary international law, applicable on the basis of Art. 9 of the Polish Constitution. A violation of jus cogens norms does not mean impliedly that a state renounces its own protection granted by immunity.³⁰ The court accentuated that jus cogens exception is not commonly recognized by the international community.³¹

As it was mentioned at the beginning, international judicial dialogue can be used by domestic courts in cases in which they face a new legal problem, e.g. in the field of financial instruments. As an example, we may point out the decision of the Bialystok Appellate Court,³² which concerned the contract of the currency option. The Appellate Court started its reasoning by comparing Polish and German laws on the currency option contracts. It found many similarities and decided to analyse in detail the German case law, especially in the area of the bank's informative obligations towards its clients. The Appellate Court found German case-law relevant for interpretation of the Polish regulations and applied the German interpretation to the Polish regulations on currency option contracts.³³

²⁶ United Kingdom, House of Lords, Jones v. Saudi Arabia [2006] UKHL 26.

²⁷ United States of America, United States Court of Appeals, 9TH Circuit, Liu v. Republic of China [1989] 892 F.2d 1419. United States of America, Supreme Court of the United States, Republic of Austria v. Altmann [2004] 03-13, 541 U.S. 677 (2004) 327 F.3d 1246. United States of America, DC Circuit Court of Appeals, Von Dardel v. Union of Soviet Socialist Republics [1985] 623 F. Supp. 246 (D.D.C. 1985).

²⁸ Italy, Court of Cassation, Ferrini v. Germany, 5044/2004 (11 March 2004); Civitella, 1072/08 (21 October 2008).

²⁹ Gréece, Special Supreme Court, Perfectory Voiotia v. Germany (Distomo), 111/2000 (4 May 2000); Margellos v. Germany, 6/2002 (17 September 2002).

³⁰ United States of America, United States Court of Appeals, 9TH Circuit, Liu v. Republic of China [1989] 892 F.2d 1419. United States of America, DC Circuit Court of Appeals, Von Dardel v. Union of Soviet Socialist Republics [1985] 23 F. Supp. 246 (D.D.C. 1985). Greece, Special Supreme Court, Perfectory Voiotia v. Germany (Distomo), 111/2000 (4 May 2000). Italy, Court of Cassation, Ferrini v. Germany, 5044/2004 (11 March 2004); Civitella, 1072/08 (21 October 2008).

³¹ United States of America, DC Circuit Court of Appeals, Princz v. Federal Republic of Germany [1994] 26 F.3d 1166; United States of America, District Court (New York), Hirsch v State of Israel and State of Germany [1997] 962 F. Supp. 377; United States of America, United States Court of Appeals, 2ND Circuit, Smith v. Socialist People's Libyan Arab Jamahiriya [1996] 101 F.3d 239; United Kingdom, House of Lords, Jones v. Saudi Arabia [2006] UKHL 26; European Court Of Human Rights, Al-Adsani v. the United Kingdom, app. no. 35763/97, 21 November 2001; McElhinney v. Ireland, app. no. 31253/96, 21 November 2001; Kalogeropoulou and Others v. Greece and Germany, app. no. 59021/00, 12 December 2002; Waite and Kennedy v. Germany, app. no. 26083/94, 18 February 1999.

³² Poland, Białystok Appellate Court, I ACa 833/12 (21 January 2013). The Court referred to Germany, Federal Tribunal [2011] XI ZR 33/10.

³³ "It must be added that it results from the judgment of the German Federal Tribunal [2011] XI ZR 33/10, which concerns the scope of information and loyalty obligations of banks towards its clients in connection with contracts of derivate transactions, that a bank should question its client on the investment risk that the client is able to undertake – regardless of client's economic education. The bank should also explain the risk of a 'product', so that the client has the same level of knowledge of a 'product' as a bank itself, it should inform the client about a negative (from their stance), initial pricing of a product, as this pricing itself shows a serious conflict of interests of bank and its client, inform client about the conflict of interests, if the structure of the 'product's' risk is wilfully shifted by bank to the disadvantage of its client. The Federal Tribunal did not connect the information obligations of a bank with a consumer status of its client. Running a business activity by a client

To sum up this sub-chapter, it needs to be emphasized that a proper judicial dialogue requires profound research into decisions of international and foreign courts. It is not a mere citing, it requires deep analysis and a proper comparison of similarities and differences between foreign laws and Polish law in order to make a decision whether this international and foreign jurisprudence can be a source of inspiration on judging a domestic case. A superficial and trivial examination might lead to simplified and wrong conclusions on the interpretation of domestic law. In the above-mentioned cases, Polish courts managed to fulfil these requirements. Those judgments are extremely exceptional, as mostly, courts do no more than simply cite international and foreign judgments without any further deliberations on their content or even their connection to the case at hand administrative courts also need to interpret international law or EU law. One of the examples of a proper judicial dialogue are judgments on the interpretation of the Model Tax Convention on Income and Capital.³⁴ Administrative courts needed to interpret the notion of "industrial, commercial or scientific equipment". In numerous judgments³⁵ the Supreme Administrative Court referred to the report of the Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters and cited numerous judgments that interpret the notion of "industrial equipment".³⁶ Then, the Court compared them with the factual background of the cases to make a decision on taxes.

3.3. Decorative judicial dialogue

A decorative dialogue means that courts pretend to refer to the case law of other courts, but in fact, they just decorate the reasoning with random references to inappropriately collected and inaptly analysed decisions. They neither analyse this case-law, nor indicate what kind of connection of this international and foreign jurisprudence exists with the domestic case at stake.

has no influence on bank's information obligations. The crucial aspect for bank information obligations is the lack of sufficient client's knowledge on the evaluation of risks of transaction to the level fundamentally close to bank's knowledge, as far as it concerns given transaction. Client's professional skills are principally of no importance. The Federal Tribunal noted that client's professional experience should be actually connected to preparation and conclusion of derivate transactions, so that the client had practical knowledge on the effects of a given transaction, comparable to the bank's knowledge. A general knowledge on transaction is not enough. Assuming that the client was knowledgeable of risks caused by transaction only on this ground, that client had contracts with other bank, lacks justification. A client's experience, justifying resignation from exhausting information about properties and possible effects of transaction should concern exactly the same transactions, but it does not mean only the type or subtype of it. The remarks of the Federal Tribunal are applicable in Polish reality, as the Tribunal solved the case actually on the basis of general rules of liability for damages ex contractu (§ 280 of the German Civil Code), and partially on the basis of the German statute on securities trading (§ 31.1.2 of the German statute on securities trading), which correspond to Art. 471 of the Polish Civil Code and § 6(1) of the regulation of the Ministry of Finance of 28 December 2005 on the terms and procedures for investment firms and trust banks (0.J. 2006.2.8)."

³⁴ OECD Model Tax Convention on Income and Capital, Paris, 30.7.1963.

³⁵ Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1395/16 (18 May 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1477/16 (5 June 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1540/16 (6 June 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1773/16 (6 June 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 170/17 (22 January 2019).

³⁶ Singapore, Supreme Administrative Court, E.2011/1367, K.2013/1281 re DTC Turkey/USA (10 April 2013). Malaysia, decision in Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, judgment of 30.5.1996, OA Pte Ltd v. DGIR, case no. PKR 651, IFBD Case Law re DTC Malaysia/Singapore. India, Income Tax Appellate Tribunal Chennai, West Asia Maritime Ltd. v. DIT [2008] 111 ITD 155, judgment of 19.5.2006. Mexico Décimo Tercer Tribunal Colegiado En Materia Administrativa Del Primer Circuito, case no. D.A. 562/2011-9995, re DTC México/Canada, judgment of 20.8.2012.

It this area, the decision of the Polish Constitutional Tribunal in K 33/99³⁷ can be mentioned. This judgment concerned law on road traffic,³⁸ namely Art. 65 (7), transferring to the ministry the power to decide on the rules on road safety during public assemblies. The Tribunal made only a decorative reference to the ECtHR judgment in *Platform Ärzte für das Leben*,³⁹ repeating only that states are obliged to take actions to safeguard safety during legal assemblies. It is impossible to say why the Constitutional Tribunal recognized this case as having importance for the legal problem that was placed before the CT, what similarities and differences of this case exist in relation to the domestic case adjudicated by the Tribunal. A mere mentioning of the case by its name did not make the reasoning of the Tribunal any richer and more profound.

Another example of a decorative dialogue of Polish courts was the reference to the Human Rights Committee (HRC) in a decision which concerned family law and the state's obligation to respect one's private and family life, as enshrined e.g. in Art. 17 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR).⁴⁰ In its ruling in case no. II CKN 321/99,⁴¹ the Supreme Court made solely a superficial remark, that according to the HRC, the prohibition of unlawful interference in one's private life means that no intrusion is permissible, except for the situations strictly regulated by law. The Court did not indicate any specific decision of the Human Rights Committee on Art. 17 ICCPR relevant to the case at stake. The only purpose of this general reference was to add value to its own reasoning. The Court also shortly mentioned Art. 8 ECHR (the right to respect private and family life) and the Polish Constitution (Art. 31⁴² and Art. 47),⁴³ indicating neither decisions of the ECtHR, nor of the Polish Constitutional Tribunal.

This practice is, of course, incorrect and undesirable Courts refer to randomly selected judgments without justifying their choice, sometimes only by mentioning the name of international or foreign court, without indicating its specific judgment. Judgments of domestic courts would be of the same value, if they had no such a mention at all, as it serves no purpose. It is only a useless decoration of courts' reasoning, without any major improvement as to the merits of the case.

3.4. Failed judicial dialogue

A failed judicial dialogue takes place if courts miss the opportunity to refer to the case law of other courts all over, where one should reasonably expect that such jurisprudence is presented. This means that there is no dialogue at all in the instances in which, without a doubt, it should be applied. Although it is not a desirable situation, it is extremely difficult to recognize such cases of missed chances, as in order to do that one must know that there exists international and foreign case-law that should be cited in a case in issue, yet this jurisprudence was omitted by a court. This can also be portrayed by the following examples.

The Wroclaw Appellate Court's decision⁴⁴ on lustration proceedings carefully analysed the decisions of the Supreme Court and of the Constitutional Tribunal. It examined the nature of lustration proceedings to determine whether it is of a criminal character, despite the fact that this issue has been already decided by the ECtHR in

³⁷ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 34/99 (28 June 2000).

³⁸ Poland, Law on road traffic of 20 June 1997, Polish Official Journal 1997, no. 98/602.

³⁹ European Court of Human Rights, Platform Ärzte für das Leben v. Austria, app. no. 10126/82, 21 June 1988.

⁴⁰ International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 999 UNTS 171, 16 December 1966. (ICCPR).

⁴¹ Poland, Supreme Court, II CKN 321/99 (18 August 1999).

⁴² The principle of proportionality.

⁴³ The right to respect for private and family life.

⁴⁴ Poland, Wroclaw Appellate Court, II AKz 542/10 (26 October 2010).

Moczulski v. Poland,⁴⁵ and the Appellate Court barely observed that both the Constitutional Tribunal and the ECtHR consider this procedure to be a criminal one.

Although it would seem natural to refer to judgments of foreign courts on Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction,⁴⁶ as it represents a frequent subject of their holdings, including cases against Poland,⁴⁷ the Polish general courts seem to decide on the cases based on this convention by interpreting its provisions solely on the basis of domestic law and case-law.

For example, in I CKN 776/00,⁴⁸ the Polish Supreme Court interpreted the notion of the habitual residence of the child with no reference to any case-law at all. In II Ca 217/16⁴⁹ the Bialystok Provincial Court made a detailed scrutiny of the judgments of the Polish Supreme Court, whereas, as to the international case law, it made only a decorative reference to the ECtHR's judgment in *Neulinger and Shuruk v. Switzerland*⁵⁰ stating that the Hague Convention should be interpreted also taking into consideration the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.⁵¹ It has to be borne in mind that the meaning of the notion of habitual residence is still being developed. It is a concept taken from an international convention, requiring an analysis to be made on the basis of its international roots, and not solely on the basis of the linguistic interpretation derived from national law. Those Polish courts had a chance to deliberate on the notion of the habitual residence from the perspective of international law, to enter into a dialogue with other courts, especially the European Court of Human Rights, and to participate in the elaboration of principles governing application and understanding of this institution. However, they simply missed the opportunity.

A proper use of international and foreign case-law in domestic judgments requires a higher level of knowledge of the same. This knowledge has to be updated by relevant research. Taking into consideration a variety of material issues that might be decided by a single judge, this requirement can exceed their abilities.

4. ASSESSMENT OF INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL DIALOGUE AS A METHOD OF INTERPRETATION USED BY POLISH COURTS

Polish courts are learning how to participate in international judicial dialogue. Some of them make use of their chance to contribute to the discourse, while others simply miss the opportunity Even the very citing of foreign jurisprudence is problematic. In this chapter, I will first evaluate the accuracy in referring to the international and foreign case-law, and, subsequently, I will discuss the issue whether or not the Polish courts have any influence on the international and foreign judiciary.

4.1. Correctness

To be accurate, international judicial dialogue needs to fulfil certain criteria. As one can deduct from the previous part, this can be neither a decorative dialogue, nor a failed one.

⁴⁵ ECtHR, case no. 49974/08 Moczulski v Poland, judgment of 19.11.2011.

⁴⁶ Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, Hague, 25.10.1980.

⁴⁷ ECtHR case-law: Oller Kamińska v. Poland, app. no. 28481/12, 18 January 2018; G.N. v. Poland, app. no. 2171/14, 19 July 2016; K.J. v. Poland, app. no. 30813/14, 1 March 2016; R.S. v. Poland, app. no. 63777/09, 21 July 2015; Rouiller v. Switzerland, app. no. 3592/08, 22 July 2014; Özgür Uyanik v. Turkey, app. no. 11068/04, 23 March 2010.

⁴⁸ Poland, Supreme Court, I CKN 776/00 (26 September 2000).

⁴⁹ Poland, Białystok Provincial Court, II Ca 217/16, 15 April 2016.

⁵⁰ European Court of Human Rights, Neulinger and Shuruk v. Switzerland, app. no. 41615/17, 6 July 2010.

⁵¹ United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, New York, 20.11.1989.

Moreover, if a court decides to use the method of legal interpretation, references to international case-law should be exact and precise. Unfortunately, very often this is not the case. For the Polish courts, the most visible problem rests with the adequate citation of international and foreign rulings, sometimes causing even humorous results. The most remarkable example is naming the ECtHR as "the European Court of Human Rights in S." where "S." stands for "Strasbourg" or "the Court of Justice in L." with "L." meaning "Luxembourg".⁵² The citation often lacks dates of judgments, case numbers or names of parties, although there are legal systems worldwide that commonly apply distinction of cases by parties' names.⁵³ These imprecisions, although they can be easily noticed and corrected, may clearly hamper the judicial discourse.

There is no uniformity in references to international and foreign case-law as there are no general rules of citation. On the one hand, courts use original name of the court in foreign language, on the other, they try to translate courts' names into Polish which sometimes produces disputable effect. The most obvious example of this infamous practice is represented by the names of German courts. Here, e.g. the German Constitutional Court (Bundesverfassungsgericht) is described both as a "Court" and as a "Tribunal", although in German language "Gericht" states for a "Court" while "Tribunal" in German reads "Gerichtshof".

The above-mentioned problems make it sometimes impossible to decipher which judgment exactly a Polish court wanted to address. Subsequently, the verification of correctness of a specific reference might become disputable, even impossible. In consequence, this practice might lead to uncontrolled arbitrariness.

4.2. Influence of Polish case-law on jurisprudence of international and foreign courts

International judicial dialogue as opposed to monologue represents the core subject of this paper. It requires some level of reciprocity in references to international and foreign case-law. One of the aims of international judicial dialogue is participation of domestic courts in the process of formation of international legal rules and standards. Domestic courts should play not only a passive, receptive role in this dialogue. They should also influence interpretation of law made by international and foreign courts. This part is devoted to influence of Polish judgments on case-law of other courts. First, it will be discussed whether Polish jurisprudence had any effect on customary international law, and then it will be presented that it also was a source of inspiration for courts of Central and Eastern Europe.

⁵² Łódź Appellate Court, I ACa 931/14 (30 December 2014): "Wprawdzie w orzecznictwie <u>Europejskiego</u> <u>Trybunału Praw Człowieka w S.</u> oraz Sądu Najwyższego, język i forma wypowiedzi prasowych podlegają ochronie, ale jednak w granicach prawa do czci tak jak swoboda wypowiedzi". Białystok Appellate Court, I ACa 617/13 (20 December 2013): "<u>Orzecznictwo Europejskiego Trybunału w S.</u>"

⁵³ For example: Łódź Appellate Court, I ACa 662/12 (1 October 2012): "orzeczenie z dnia 26 kwietnia 1979 r. w sprawie [..] v. Wielka Brytania (I), skarga [..], LEX nr 80817; orzeczenie z dnia 23 maja 1991 r. w sprawie O. v. Austria, skarga [...], LEX nr 81177; orzeczenie z dnia 8 lipca 1986 r. w sprawie L. v. Austria, skarga [...], LEX nr 81177; orzeczenie z dnia 8 lipca 1986 r. w sprawie L. v. Austria, skarga [...], LEX nr 81177; orzeczenie z dnia 8 lipca 1986 r. w sprawie L. v. Austria, skarga [...], LEX nr 81012". Supreme Court, IV CS 202/13 (28.2.2014): "Sprawa mieści się więc w pojęciu sprawy cywilnej i handlowej, rozumianej w sposób ugruntowany w orzecznictwie Trybunału Sprawiedliwości (por. np. wyrok ETS z dnia 14 listopada 2002 r., C-271/00 Slg. 2002, I-10489)". Warsaw Appelate Court, I ACa 1166/13 (11 March 2014): "tak m.in. wyrok Trybunału Sprawiedliwości z 10 kwietnia 1984 r. w sprawie C-106/89 M., pkt 8; wyrok z 5 października 2004 r. w połączonych sprawach C-397/01 do C-403/01 P. i in., pkt 113 i 115". It is worth noticing that "wyrok Trybunału Sprawiedliwości z 10 kwietnia 1984 r. w sprawie 14/83 von C." means the CJEU case 14/83 Von Colson and Kamann v. Land Nordrhein-Westfalen, judgment of 10.4.1984, which is a very well-known and recognizable judgment of the CJEU.

4.2.1. Customary international law

Polish jurisprudence had influence on customary international law in the area of state immunity, as this matter is mostly regulated by international custom.

The previously mentioned Supreme Court's judgment in *Natoniewski* was noticed by the International Court of Justice in its decision in *Jurisdictional Immunities of the State* (*Germany v Italy: Greece Intervening*)⁵⁴ and by the European Court of Human Rights in *Jones and Others v the United Kingdom*.⁵⁵ The ICJ in its ruling agreed with the Polish Supreme Court that the Basel Convention⁵⁶ does not cover the immunity of a state for the acts of its armed forces. Afterwards, the ICJ described in detail the reasons, why the Polish Supreme Court decided that Germany had jurisdictional immunity in cases concerning the acts committed during World War II. The ICJ emphasized that the Polish Supreme Court was one of the bodies presenting opinion that state immunity does not depend on the gravity of the act of which it is accused, or the peremptory nature of the rule which it is alleged to have violated.

The judgment of the ECtHR concerned the right to a fair trial (Art. 6 ECHR). The applicants claimed they had been tortured in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia by its officials, what constitutes a violation of a peremptory norm, and brought civil claims before the courts of the United Kingdom. The ECtHR was provided by the applicants and the United Kingdom with a comparative material on the practice of 21 Members of the Council of Europe, including also the decision in *Natoniewski*. Yet, for the ECtHR, the decisive factor was the judgment of the ICJ in *Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy: Greece Intervening)*.

However, this is not the first Polish judgment on state immunity referred to by foreign courts. In its judgment in 2 BmV $1/62^{57}$ the German Federal Constitutional Court, in determining customary international law on state immunity, cited the decisions of the Polish Supreme Court in R 133/26,⁵⁸ in II C 413/37,⁵⁹ in C 365/48,⁶⁰ and in II CR 172/56.⁶¹

4.2.2. Influence on courts of Central and Eastern Europe

Among courts of other states of Central and Eastern Europe Polish courts were referred to by Czech and Slovak Constitutional Courts.

In case concerning judicial review of security clearances,⁶² the Czech Constitutional Court analysed the decision of the Polish Constitutional Tribunal in K. 21/99⁶³ in a very detailed and meticulous way. The Czech court referred to specific paragraphs of the Polish judgment, to the norms of the Polish Constitution, and to the Polish statutory regulations in the investigated area. It came to the result that the right to a fair trial should be also granted to persons subject to security clearance, and those persons cannot be deprived of their right of access to courts.

⁵⁴ International Court of Justice, Jurisdictional immunities of the State (Germany v Italy: Greece intervening, judgment, 2012 I.C.J. Rep. 99, (3 February).

 ⁵⁵ ECtHR, case no. 34356/06 and 40528/06 Jones and Others v the United Kingdom, judgment of 14.1.2014.
⁵⁶ European Convention on State immunity, Basel, 16.5.1972.

⁵⁷ Germany, Federal Constitutional Court [1963] 2 BmV 1/62.

⁵⁸ Polish Supreme Court, R 133/16 (2 March 1926), translated into German in Zeitschrift für Ostrecht 1927, p. 275.

⁵⁹ Polish Supreme Court, II C 413/37 (31 August 1937).

⁶⁰ Polish Supreme Court, C 365/48 (14 December 1948), translated into English in International Law Review 1957, p. 223.

⁶¹ Polish Supreme Court, II CR 172/56 (26 March 1958), translated into English in International Law Review, Bd. 26 (1958 – II), p. 178.

⁶² Czechia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 11/04, (26 April 2005).

⁶³ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 21/99 (10 May 2000).

Polish constitutional jurisprudence was also noticed by the Czech Constitutional Court in its judgment on judges' salaries.⁶⁴ From the decisions of the Polish Constitutional Tribunal in P 1/94,65 K 13/94,66 P 1/9567 and P 8/00,68 the Czech Court deduced that iudges' salaries must correspond with the dignity of their office and ensure fulfilment of their obligations. Moreover, if the state has budget difficulties, judges' salaries are to be protected from "excessive unfavourable fluctuation" and it is impermissible to lower the pay of judges, which, according to the court, is "exceptionally strongly protected by the Constitution". As a conclusion, the Czech Court noticed that an interference in the material security of judges guaranteed by law may not be an expression of arbitrariness by the legislature, but must be, based on the principle of proportionality, justified by extraordinary circumstances, e.g. by the state's difficult financial situation, and even if this condition is met, account must be taken of the different function of judges and that of representatives of the legislative and executive branches, especially the state administration. Such interference may not create grounds for concerns that it may limit the dignity of judges, or that it may be an expression of constitutionally unacceptable pressure by the legislative and executive branches on the judicial branch.

In case concerning the Treaty of Lisbon I,⁶⁹ the Czech Constitutional Court referred to the decision of the Polish Constitutional Court in K 18/04,⁷⁰ to the extent that it analysed the limits of the conferral of powers to the European Union. The Czech Court made a critical examination of the Polish judgment and concluded that the Polish Constitutional Tribunal expressly rules out the jurisdiction of the CJEU to evaluate the limits of conferral of competences on the EU. According to the Polish Tribunal, that is a question of interpretation of domestic constitutional law. The Czech Court agreed with this opinion in terms of the dogmatics of domestic constitutional law and to a certain extent. However, according to the Czech Constitutional Tribunal, it is questionable whether it is necessary to formulate this opinion as sharply as the Polish Tribunal did.

Another court of Central and Eastern Europe that makes references to Polish case-law is the Slovak Constitutional Court.⁷¹ Just as the Czech Court, it had to decide on regulations of judges' salaries. In the comparative part, citing the US Constitution, the Court stated that in the Slovak Constitution there is no explicit guarantee of judges' remuneration. In comparison, the Slovak Court emphasized that the Polish Constitution has a more explicit guarantee in Art. 178(2) than the Slovak Constitution, yet the Polish Constitutional Tribunal has accepted, in a limited scope, some modifications of judges' remuneration in decisions in K 12/03,⁷² in K 1/12,⁷³ in K 13/94⁷⁴ and in P 8/00.⁷⁵

To sum up this part of the paper, it is worth underlining that international judicial dialogue between states in Central and Eastern Europe may be a way to influence regional and international case-law. These states usually have similar historical background, they have their own experience with socialism. By mutual references between courts of these states, their common voice is more likely to be noticed and taken into consideration by the international community. This would permit Central and Eastern Europe courts to

⁶⁴ Czechia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 11/04, (26 April 2005).

⁶⁵ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 1/94 (8 November 1994).

⁶⁶ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 13/94 (14 March 1995).

⁶⁷ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 1/95 (11 September 1995).

⁶⁸ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 8/00 (4 October 2000).

⁶⁹ Czechia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 19/08 (26 November 2011).

⁷⁰ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 18/04 (11 May 2005).

⁷¹ Slovakia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 99/11 (11 December 2013).

⁷² Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 12/03 (18 February 2004).

⁷³ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 1/12 (12 December 2012).

 ⁷⁴ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 1/12 (12 December 2012).
⁷⁵ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 13/94 (14 March 1995).

change their position among courts of the world from receptive into affecting jurisprudence of other judicial bodies.

5. CONCLUSION

Undoubtedly, international judicial dialogue is a tempting method of interpreting international and national law as it brings new and attractive ideas to national courts. On the other hand, there are characteristics of this method that make its application quite problematic and require solutions permitting minimalizing the risks connected thereto.

First, it needs to be indicated what the advantages of this interpretive method are, as they make it worth a further development and may make courts more inclined to apply international judicial dialogue. This technique can be used by all types and levels of judiciary, including civil, penal and administrative courts, from the lowest level (in Poland district courts or voivodship administrative courts) to the highest one (in Poland: the Constitutional Tribunal, the Supreme Court and the Supreme Administrative Court). International judicial dialogue permits a multidimensional analysis of law and verification and critical analysis of national courts' own views. One needs to remember that it is not always necessary to look forcibly for some new interpretation only to permit national courts to be original in their application of law. If a wheel has already been invented, so if there exists a logical and verified solution to a given legal problem, the best way to solve a problem within the national law framework might be to apply the confirmed international patterns.⁷⁶

Therefore, international judicial dialogue might protect a state from its responsibility at the international level (e.g. before the European Court of Human Rights for violations of fundamental rights enshrined in the European Convention of Human Rights), as it permits verification and application of common standard of interpretation. It also strengthens the rule of law and international cooperation, as well as mutual trust between different jurisdictions, what, on its side, facilitates international commerce and international relations by creating commonly accepted rules.

By taking part in the international judicial dialogue, national courts can equally shape customary international law, interpretation of international agreements and human rights law standards. That reflects a desire of domestic courts to play an authoritative role in the formation of international legal rules and standards (Grove, 2001, p. 2061, 2071). If a court fails to take part in international judicial dialogue, it risks a growing isolation and diminished influence. According to L'Heureux-Dubé, this is exactly the case of U.S. courts, as they situate themselves outside international debates and discussions (1998, p. 37-38).

Nevertheless, drawbacks of this method might seriously hamper its application by national courts. It must be noticed that not all foreign solutions can be adapted to national law standards due to differences in political and social realties, values and traditions (L'Heureux-Dubé, 1998, p. 26). Therefore, solutions stemming from common law countries cannot always be applied in states that have legal systems based on Roman law. Legal solutions existing in Europe might be unsuitable for states in other parts of the world. There are also legal differences between law systems of states in Central and Eastern Europe, formerly having socialist laws, and other European states.

Probably the major weakness of international judicial dialogue is national judges' insufficient knowledge of international law and case-law, and sometimes even of foreign languages (L'Heureux-Dubé, 1998, p. 21). This may lead to very serious consequences, including the inability to verify laws, opinions and interpretations of different jurisdictions

⁷⁶ As Kirby noted, good ideas are not necessarily home grown (Kirby, 2008, p. 184).

and also to misinterpretation of foreign case-law. Since nowadays in the international community, English is the most widely spoken language, both as mother tongue and foreign language, there exists an increased level of probability that common law judgments and interpretations of law will dominate this technique. Moreover, there might occur instances of cherry-picking application of foreign judgments either by a selective choice of national judges, restricted by their knowledge of foreign law and languages, or by a selective choice of foreign judgments made by foreign authorities that decide to translate particular case-law in the most commonly spoken languages like English, French, Spanish, Russian or German. One of the minor consequences hampering international judicial dialogue and verification of information is also an improper citation of foreign judgments which hinders one from finding an adequate source of confirmation of text of foreign case-law, namely the judgments themselves.

One disadvantage is typical for states of Central and Eastern Europe or other states with reliably smaller importance in international community of states. Their own case-law has a very limited influence on international and foreign judgments, whereas the judgments of their own courts are rather receptive,⁷⁷ meaning that they adapt their interpretation to the one made by foreign instances. This problem is slightly mitigated, if international and foreign case-law is ample and even a common standard of interpretation has been already established.

Yet, in relation to specific legal problem, the examples of international and foreign solutions might be scarce, as the issue is relatively new and it still needs to be examined. The very first opinions might neither be correct nor contain a profound analysis of the question in question. If there are more of them, they might be unknown to international community simply because of their non-existent translation into commonly used languages. This raises some serious doubts whether these few opinions known to international community should be followed by national courts.

The Polish Constitutional Tribunal pointed at some of the above-mentioned problems in its judgment in K 38/07: "The need for references to foreign judicial decisions results from the fact of approximation of contemporary legal systems, however, it must be done with the reservation that it requires fulfilment of different conditions and awareness of different context. Extra-linguistic methods of interpretation are subsidiary to linguistic and logical interpretation of law. For the proper interpretation of domestic legislation with the use of interpretation of flaw. For the prolish law. There needs to exist an extreme caution in choosing a legal system to which a reference is made."⁷⁸

Some of these problems might be partially softened, however, not totally eliminated. One of the solutions is a unification of citing, in the meaning of creation common international rules of citing of international and national judgments, as currently this problem is dependent totally on states, their courts and ways of publications used by legal scholars.⁷⁹ There exist attempts to create such common system, one of them is OSCOLA system (Nolan and Meredith, 2012), another is the Bluebook (Miles Prince, 2015). Germany has its own citation system in a form of an ISO norm.⁸⁰

Another important way, especially for states like Central and Eastern European states, is to create collections of translations of high quality domestic judgments on significant issues into world languages. For example, the Constitutional Court of Slovenia

⁷⁷ Whereas the dialogue and its influence should be reciprocal (L'Heureux-Dubé, 1998, p. 27).

⁷⁸ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 38/07 (3 July 2008).

⁷⁹ New York University School of Law. (2006). Guide to foreign and international legal citations.

⁸⁰ Deutsches Institut für Normung E. V. Information und Dokumentation - Richtlinien für Titelangaben und Zitierung von Informationsressourcen (ISO 690:2010).

prepared such collection.⁸¹ More attention should be put to judicial comparativism during legal studies and lawyers' professional training as well, including not only judges but also prosecutors and attorneys. Moreover, it is also a task for legal doctrine to create more comparative analyses with proper citation of judgments, as the publications of legal scholars are commonly used by national judges as a source of information about foreign case-law.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Biuletyn Informacji Publicznej. Lista sądów powszechnych. Retrieved from: https://dane.gov.pl/dataset/985,lista-sadow
 - powszechnych/resource/3873/table (31.12.2019).
- Cambridge Dictionary. Definition of "dialogue" Retrieved from:
- https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/dialogue (31.12.2019). Collins Dictionary. Definition of "dialogue" Retrieved from:
- https://www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/dialogue (31.12.2019).
- Czaplińska, A. (2017). The Preliminary Reference Procedure as an Instrument of Judicial Dialogue in the EU – the CEE Perspective. In A. Wyrozumska (Ed.), *Transnational Judicial Dialogue on International Law in Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 297– 332). Łódź: Łódź University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18778/8088-707-7.06.
- Constitutional Court of the Republic of Slovenia. (2016). *Selected Decisions 1991-2015.* Ljubljana: Constitutional Court of the Republic of Slovenia. ISBN: 978-961-90589-5-4.
- Deutsches Institut Für Normung E. V. Information und Dokumentation Richtlinien für Titelangaben und Zitierung von Informationsressourcen (ISO 690:2010).
- Górski, M. (2017). The Dialogue between Selected CEE Courts and the ECtHR. In A. Wyrozumska (Ed.), *Transnational Judicial Dialogue on International Law in Central and Eastern Europe* (p. 503). Łódź: Łódź University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18778/8088-707-7.05.
- Grove, T.L. (2001). The International Judicial Dialogue: When Domestic Constitutional Courts Join the Conversation. *Harvard Law Review*, Vol. 114 (1), 2049-2073.
- L'Heureux-Dubé, C. (1998). The Importance of Dialogue: Globalization and the International Impact of the Rehnquist Court. *Tulsa Law Review*, Vol. 34 (1), 15-40.
- Matusiak-Frącczak, M. (2017). The Polish Ordinary Courts in Dialogue on International Law. In A. Wyrozumska (Ed.), *Transnational Judicial Dialogue on International Law* in Central and Eastern Europe (pp. 333–364). Łódź: Łódź University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18778/8088-707-7.07.
- Kirby, M. (2008). Transnational judicial dialogue, internationalisation of law and Australian judges. *Melbourne Journal of International Law*, Vol. 9 (6), 171-189.
- Krzemińska-Vamvaka, J. (2017). Administrative Courts and Judicial Comparativism in Central and Eastern Europe. In A. Wyrozumska (Ed.), *Transnational Judicial Dialogue on International Law in Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 197–232). Łódź: Łódź University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18778/8088-707-7.04.
- Law, D.S. and Chang, W.-C. (2011). The limits of global judicial dialogue. *Washington Law Review*, Vol. 86, 523-577.

⁸¹ Constitutional Court of the Republic of Slovenia. Constitutional Court of the Republic of Slovenia: Selected Decisions 1991-2015. Ljubljana: The Constitutional Court of the Republic of Slovenia 2016.

Merriam-Webster Dictionary. Definition of "dialogue" Retrieved from: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/dialogue (31.12.2019). Meuwese, A. and Snel, M. (2013). 'Constitutional Dialogue': An Overview. Utrecht Law Review, Vol. 9 (2), 123-140, Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.18352/ulr.231 Miles Prince, M. (Ed.). (2015). The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citation. 20th edition. Harvard: Harvard Law Review Association. New York University School Of Law. (2006). Guide to foreign and international legal citations. Retrieved from: https://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/upload_documents/Final_GFILC_pdf .pdf (31.12.2019). Nolan, D. and Meredith, S. (2012). OSCOLA: Oxford University Standard for the Citation of Legal Authorities, 4th edition, Oxford; Hart, Oxford Learner's Dictionary. Definition of "dialogue" Retrieved from: https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/definition/english/dialogue (31.12.2019). Skomerska-Muchowska, I. (2017). The Dialogue of CEE Constitutional Courts in the Era of Constitutional Pluralism. In A. Wyrozumska (Ed.), Transnational Judicial Dialogue on International Law in Central and Eastern Europe (pp. 103–196). Łódź: Łódź University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18778/8088-707-7.03. Thesaurus Dictionary. Definition of "dialogue" Retrieved from: https://www.dictionary.com/browse/dialogue (31.12.2019). Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, Hague, 25.10.1980. European Convention on State immunity. Basel. 16.5.1972. International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 16 December 1966. OECD Model Tax Convention on Income and Capital, Paris, 30.7.1963. United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, New York, 20.11.1989. International Court of Justice, Case concerning the arrest warrant of 11 April 2000 (Democratic Republic of the Congo v Belgium), judgment, 2002 I.C.J. Rep. 3 (14 February). International Court of Justice, Jurisdictional immunities of the State (Germany v Italy: Greece intervening, judgment, 2012 I.C.J. Rep. 99, (3 February). Court of Justice of the European Union, judgment of 15 February 2007, Lechouritou, C-292/05, ECLI:EU:C:2007:102. Court of Justice of the European Union, judgment of 21 April 1993, Volker Sonntag, C-172/91, ECLI:EU:C:1993:144. European Court of Human Rights, Aksoy v. Turkey, app. no. 21987/93, 18 December 1996. European Court Of Human Rights, Al-Adsani v. the United Kingdom, app. no. 35763/97, 21 November 2001. European Court Of Human Rights, Al-Adsani v. the United Kingdom, app. no. 35763/97, 21 November 2001, joint dissenting opinion of judges Rozakis and Caflish, joined by judges Wildhaber, Costa, Cabral Barreto and Vajić. European Court of Human Rights, Ergi v. Turkey, app. no. 23818/94, 28 July 1998. European Court of Human Rights, G.N. v. Poland, app. no. 2171/14, 19 July 2016. European Court of Human Rights, James and Webster v. United Kingdom, app. no. 7601/76, 7806/77, 13 August 1982. European Court of Human Rights, Jones and others v. United Kingdom, app. nos. 34356/06 and 40528/06, 14 January 2014. European Court of Human Rights, Kalogeropoulou and Others v. Greece and Germany, app. no. 59021/00, 12 December 2002.

European Court of Human Rights, Kelly and Others v. UK, app. no. 30054/96, 4 May 2001 European Court of Human Rights, K.J. v. Poland, app. no. 30813/14, 1 March 2016. European Court of Human Rights. Marcx v. Belgium, app. no. 6833/74, 13 June 1979. European Court of Human Rights, McElhinney v. Ireland, app. no. 31253/96, 21 November 2001. European Court of Human Rights, Moczulski v. Poland, app. no. 49974/08, 19 November 2011. European Court of Human Rights, Neulinger and Shuruk v. Switzerland, app. no. 41615/17.6 July 2010. European Court of Human Rights, Oller Kamińska v. Poland, app. no. 28481/12, 18 January 2018. European Court of Human Rights, Özgür Uyanik v. Turkey, app. no. 11068/04, 23 March 2010. European Court of Human Rights, Platform Ärzte für das Leben v. Austria, app. no. 10126/82. 21 June 1988. European Court of Human Rights, Rouiller v. Switzerland, app. no. 3592/08, 22 July 2014 European Court of Human Rights, R.S. v. Poland, app. no. 63777/09, 21 July 2015. European Court of Human Rights, Velikova v. Bulgaria, app. no. 41488/98, 18 May 2000. European Court of Human Rights, Waite and Kennedy v. Germany, app. no. 26083/94, 18 February 1999. Austria, Austrian Constitutional Tribunal, SV 2/08, G 80/08 (30 September 2008). Czechia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 11/04, (26 April 2005). Czechia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 19/08 (26 November 2011). France, Constitutional Council, 2007-560 DC (20 December 2007). France, Court of Cassation, 00-87215 Oaddafi (13 March 2001). Germany, Federal Tribunal [2011] XI ZR 33/10. Germany, Federal Constitutional Court [1963] 2 BmV 1/62. Germany, Federal Constitutional Court [2006] 1 BvR 357/05. Germany, Federal Constitutional Court [2009] 2 BvE 2/08, 2 BvE 5/08, 2 BvR 1010/08, 2 BvR 1022/09. 2 BvR 1259/08. and 2 BvR 182/09. Greece, Special Supreme Court, Perfectory Voiotia v. Germany (Distomo), 111/2000 (4 May 2000). Greece, Special Supreme Court, Margellos v. Germany, 6/2002 (17 September 2002). Hungary, Constitutional Court, 143/2010 (12 July 2010). India, Income Tax Appellate Tribunal Chennai, West Asia Maritime Ltd. v. DIT [2008] 111 ITD 155. Israel, Supreme Court, Public Committee Against Torture on Israel v. The State of Israel et al., Case HCJ 5100/94. Israel, Supreme Court, The Center for the Defence of the Individual v. The Commander of IDF Forces in the West Bank, Case HCJ 3278/01. Israel, Supreme Court, Marab v. The Commander of IDF Forces in the West Bank, Case HCJ 3239/02. Italy, Court of Cassation, Ferrini v. Germany, 5044/2004 (11 March 2004). Italy, Court of Cassation, Civitella, 1072/08 (21 October 2008). Latvia, Constitutional Tribunal of Latvia, 2008-35-01 (7 April 2009). Malaysia, decision in Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, OA Pte Ltd v. DGIR, case no. PKR 651, IFBD Case Law re DTC Malaysia/Singapore (30 May 1996).

Mexico Décimo Tercer Tribunal Colegiado En Materia Administrativa Del Primer Circuito, D.A. 562/2011-9995, re DTC México/Canada (20 August 2012). Poland, Law on aviation of 3 July 2002, Polish Official Journal 2002, no. 130/1112. Poland, Law on road traffic of 20 June 1997. Polish Official Journal 1997, no. 98/602. Poland, Białystok Provincial Court, II Ca 217/16, 15 April 2016. Poland, Białystok Appellate Court, I ACa 833/12 (21 January 2013). Poland, Białystok Appellate Court, I ACa 617/13 (20 December 2013). Poland, Łódź Appellate Court, I ACa 662/12 (1 October 2012) Poland, Łódź Appellate Court, I ACa 931/14 (30 December 2014). Poland, Warsaw Appelate Court, I ACa 1166/13 (11 March 2014). Poland, Wroclaw Appellate Court, II AKz 542/10 (26 October 2010). Poland, Supreme Court, R 133/16 (2 March 1926). Poland, Supreme Court, II C 413/37 (31 August 1937). Poland, Supreme Court, C 365/48 (14 December 1948). Poland, Supreme Court, II CR 172/56 (26 March 1958). Poland, Supreme Court, II CKN 321/99 (18 August 1999). Poland, Supreme Court, I CKN 776/00 (26 September 2000). Poland, Supreme Court, IV CS 202/13 (28.2.2014). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1395/16 (18 May 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1477/16 (5 June 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1540/16 (6 June 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 1773/16 (6 June 2018). Poland, Supreme Administrative Court, II FSK 170/17 (22 January 2019). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 1/94 (8 November 1994). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 13/94 (14 March 1995). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 1/95 (11 September 1995). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 21/99 (10 May 2000). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 34/99 (28 June 2000). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 8/00 (4 October 2000). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 12/03 (18 February 2004). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 18/04 (11 May 2005). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 38/07 (3 July 2008). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 23/11 (30 September 2008). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 32/29 (24 November 2009). Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 1/12 (12 December 2012). Slovakia, Constitutional Court, Pl. ÚS 99/11 (11 December 2013). Singapore, Supreme Administrative Court, E.2011/1367, K.2013/1281 re DTC Turkey/USA (10 April 2013). United Kingdom, House of Lords, Commissioner of Police for the Metropolis and Others, Ex Parte Pinochet [1999] UKHL 17. United Kingdom, House of Lords, Av, Secretary of State for the Home Department [2005] UKHL 71. United Kingdom, House of Lords, Jones v. Saudi Arabia [2006] UKHL 26. United States of America, District Court (New York), Hirsch v State of Israel and State of Germany [1997] 962 F. Supp. 377. United States of America, DC Circuit Court of Appeals, Von Dardel v. Union of Soviet Socialist Republics [1985] 623 F. Supp. 246 (D.D.C. 1985). United States of America, DC Circuit Court of Appeals, Princz v. Federal Republic of Germany [1994] 26 F.3d 1166. United States of America, United States Court of Appeals, 2ND Circuit, Smith v. Socialist People's Libyan Arab Jamahiriya [1995] 886 F. Supp. 306.

- United States of America, United States Court of Appeals, 9TH Circuit, Liu v. Republic of China [1989] 892 F.2d 1419.
- United States of America, Supreme Court of the United States, Republic of Austria v. Altmann [2004] 03-13, 541 U.S. 677 (2004) 327 F.3d 1246.
- United States of America, Supreme Court of the Únited States, Rasul v. Bush [2004] 03-334, 542 US 466 (2004) 321 F. 3d 1134.

bratislava LAW REVIEW

PUBLISHED BY THE FACULTY OF LAW, COMENIUS UNIVERSITY IN BRATISLAVA

ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

GUILTY OF NOT DOING THAT! / Marco Mazzocca

Marco Mazzocca Pavol Jozef Šafárik University, Faculty of Law Kováčska 26, Košice: Slovakia marco.mazzocca@upjs.sk. ORCID: 0000-0001-7395-1331

The paper was originally presented at 'The XIVth CEENJ Conference: Jurisprudence in Central and Eastern Europe, Bratislava, 12-13 September 2019'. Abstract: Since ancient times, many legal constructions regarding blame or responsibility require subjects to be deemed accountable for their actions as well as for their omissions. The primary purpose of this work is to account for some legal and philosophical issues regarding the so-called negative events (i.e., events that have not occurred) through the development of two simple ideas. The first idea is to consider that, in most cases, a negative event is simply a normal positive event described negatively. The other idea is to distinguish the causal explanations of an event from the causal reports of an event. In this sense, it is shown how these two ideas not only clarify some fundamental philosophical issues, but they are also an excellent starting point for the interpretation and the application of some legal rules concerning omission.

Key words: event-based perspective of law; events; negative events; omission; causal omission; simple omission; omission in law

Submitted : 24 May 2020 Accepted : 27 September 2020 Published : 31 December 2020

Suggested citation:

Mazzocca, M. (2020). Guilty of Not Doing That! *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 71-80. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.185

1. INTRODUCTION

The world we live in is extremely complicated. If someone is asked to write a catalogue of all that is in the world, that person will likely include not only the objects or persons who inhabit our planet but also anything that happens to these objects and people (see e.g. Broad, 1923, p. 242).¹ If then this individual is a lawyer, he or she will likely tell us more than just what happens in the world: He or she might tell us also what ought to happen in the world.

In the Law School, indeed, jurists learn to distinguish between what the case is and what the case ought to be. In this sense, suppose that a car is parked above the yellow lines. In that case, even if it is the case that the vehicle is parked on the yellow lines, that ought not to be the case according to the law. Similarly, for example, even if it is not the case that a tenant paid the rent, he or she ought to have paid for it according to the

¹ This "catalogue" is a simple list of what is around us and to which we usually refer when we speak or when we plan our actions. It is, in other words, a catalogue of everything that exists, has existed, and also of what, perhaps, may exist in the future. In this regard, the first author to use this metaphor was likely Charlie Broad.

law (and the contract she signed) (see e.g. Bix, 2000, pp. 1613–1624; Evans & Elqayam, 2018; Sinha, 1976, pp. 839–859).²

The two cases just mentioned – the parking on the yellow line and the nonpayment of the rent – although similar, are different. While the first is an event that the law forbids, the second is an event that the law prescribes. But there is more: as the careful reader has already noticed, while in the first case the event seems like it happened, in the second the event did not occur. It should have happened, but it did not. And it is precisely on these particular not-occurred events that this brief essay focuses.

Indeed, the main objective of this work is to outline some of the most important philosophical issues related to the so-called negative events (i.e., events that did not happen) while showing their legal relevance. Specifically, after briefly outlining the concept of "event" and explaining why it is crucial even in the legal field, this paper focuses on two kinds of legally relevant omissions. Finally, in order to address some legally relevant issues related to the omissions, some philosophical strategies are suggested.

2. EVENT

Once one takes seriously the hypothesis that certain actions and events should be included in the catalogue of what there is in the world, the variety certainly would not be lacking: there are voluntary events (such as the stabbing of Caesar by Brutus) and involuntary events (such as the manoeuvre with which Jess hit a pedestrian), simple events (such as a shot) and complex events (such as the shareholders' meeting of a public limited company), positive events (such as the signing of a contract) and negative events (such as the non-payment of taxes). It is a list that could go on for a long time (cf. Varzi, 2001, pp. 39–40).

Of course, the variety of events just considered is not just about legal events. However, before going any further it is necessary to clarify what is meant by the word "event." In this regard, it should be noticed how some philosophers argue that events should be treated as concrete entities that occupy a specific space-time region. According to Quine (1960, p. 131), indeed: "Physical objects [...] are not to be distinguished from events [...] Each comprises simply the content, however heterogeneous, of some portion of space-time, however disconnected or gerrymandered."

Thus, according to this conception, the objects themselves would be nothing more than "long event[s]." (Broad, 1923, p. 393; cf. Varzi, 2001, p. 45).³ Sometimes it certainly seems not so easy to locate the spatial-temporal boundaries of an event. However, we must not let ourselves be deceived: these are semantic problems, not metaphysical ones. If we cannot be precise about an event, this does not mean that the event itself is vague, but simply that we are talking vaguely (maybe because we have a vague idea of what happened). We are often unable to be precise, but that does not mean that the responsibility for this lies with the things we are talking about (Varzi, 2001, p. 47).

According to other philosophers, on the contrary, it is possible to characterize events in a pluralistic way rather than a monistic way – without using, at the same time, the semantics of possible worlds. In this regard, for example, the philosopher Jaegwon

² The bibliography on the distinction between *is* and *ought to* in legal philosophy is enormous. Since it is not possible to account for all this considerable bibliography which, starting from Hume's *Treatise of Human Nature* (1739), has been constantly enriched with new contributions, I only mention the works of Sinha, Bix, and Evans and Elqayam. These works could be considered as a valid starting point for the study of such a topic.

³ It should be noted, however, that even if we support a philosophical position of this kind, we could still maintain a certain difference between events and object, being the first entities that *protract* over time, while the second are entities that *persist* over time.
Kim (1973, p. 222) suggested to characterize an event in the following way: "We think of an event as a concrete object (or n-tuple of objects) exemplifying a property (or n-adic relation) at a time."

In this sense, it might seem like a reductionist conception according to which events are related to other entities. However, at a closer look the properties mentioned in Kim's formulation would correspond to events understood as universal and, consequently, the individual events would be nothing more than recurrences of such universals. To explain this point, let us imagine a material object such as an apple. Suppose that after we perceive its shape, colour, weight, and all its other properties, we notice that its colour is precisely the same red as the bicycle parked outside the Empire State Building. The apple and the bicycle would then have a common property. Obviously, the red of the apple and the red of the bicycle are two distinct things: they are examples of the same property but in two different places and times and as such, they are particulars. Moreover, since they are properties that can be exemplified, in this case, by two different objects (an apple and a bicycle) (Varzi, 2001, p. 51) which, in turn, simultaneously exemplify other properties, we can conclude that they are abstract – and not concrete – particulars. They are what Donald Williams (1953) calls "tropes."

According to this last conception, thus, all events are tropes. Therefore, if exemplifications of different properties are different tropes, then exemplifications of different "event-proprieties" are different events. In this sense, for instance, "killing" is different from "killing violently" which, in turn, is different from "killing violently with premeditation".

These two different positions on events, the radical "unifiers" position (the monistic one) and the radical "multipliers" position (the pluralistic one), provide us with two different perspectives on what happens in the world. Both, however, tend to consider events as particular entities placed in a specific time and space. Both positions, in other words, are inclined to consider events as particular entities that can occur but not recur – in other words, an event may happen one time and one time only. But when it comes to examining events from a legal perspective, the legal philosophies seem to confuse matters.

In this sense, for instance, those who adopt a philosophy of natural law might be comfortable with Kim's position. They probably would say that legal events, after all, are nothing more than exemplifications of property-events plus one legal propriety: being against (or in accordance) with the natural law. Slightly different would be the response of the legal positivists. For the latter, legal rules would be nothing more than a long list of abstract event-properties which, if exemplified by an event, might trigger some legal consequences. In the first case, therefore, the task of the natural law theorists would be to understand if an event exemplifies all properties (including the legal one). In the second case, on the other hand, the task of the scholars of the legal positivism is to discover if some properties exemplified by an event appear in a legal norm – there are no legal properties.

The position of the theorists of legal realism (or of some of its derived theories) is also different. Of course, since both legal realism and legal positivism consider law as a human construct, they do not differ so much – in certain respects. However, unlike the positivists, realists think that the law does not provide determinate guidance to the solution of concrete legal cases. That is precisely the point for legal realists: "statutes and the like may be law, but [...] Because the law is indeterminate, judges actually decide cases on the basis of nonlegal considerations." (Green, 2005, p. 1918) For this reason, in the opinion of legal realists, the task of lawyers should be to convince a judge (or a jury) that a specific event is (or is not) a specific legal event – using even non-legal arguments.

In any case, whatever legal-philosophical position one adopts, when something that ought not to happen occurs, a good lawyer should at least be able to recognize the difference between what the case is and what the case ought to be according to the law. It seems more problematic, instead, to solve those cases in which something that, according to the law, ought to have occurred does not happen.

3. OMISSION

As everyone knows, in our ordinary world events happen or do not happen. It happened that the sun rose this morning at 5:01 a.m. in Košice, just as it happened that someone shot John F. Kennedy in Dallas on November 22, 1963, at 12:30 p.m. However, many events have not happened: some of them could have happened, but they have not happened – they are somewhat "unactualized possible" (Quine, 1948, p. 22) events. Some other events, on the other hand, could never have happened – they are "impossible events".

The problem, as Davidson (1985, p. 175) rightly explained, is that we "often count among the things an agent does things he does not do". In this moment, for example, I am not drinking coffee, I am not riding a bike, and I am definitely not dancing. Of course, if someone asked me what I am doing, I can simply answer that I am writing this short essay, but the answer may vary depending on the context. Suppose, for example, that my doctor, worried about my health, calls me and asks me what I am doing. I would likely say to him that I am not drinking coffee. This is because in that context my doctor would not be interested in what I am doing but in knowing if I am overdosing on caffeine.

In this sense, many philosophers argue that talking about events that do not happen is like talking about objects or people that do not exist. Of course, no one can forbid us to say that "the present king of France is bald," but that would be a bizarre statement since, as far as I know, there is no king in France today (see Quine, 1948; Varzi, 2001, pp. 22–23; cf. Russell, 1905, pp. 479–493; Berto, 2010; Meinong, 1904, pp. 1–50).⁴ Therefore, although we often talk referring to things that do not exist, it is likely that we do not want to make any ontological commitment when we do that. Similarly, it is likely that when we talk about events that did not occur, we do not want to say that a non-event such as "the walk I did not take" really occurs. Nevertheless, often the language practices we use to indicate specific events in the legal discourse seem to refer precisely to negative (legal) events such as the following:

(1) Charlie's non-performance of the contract

(2) Gordon's non-payment of taxes

(3) Dr. House's failure to provide medical care caused the death of the patient

(4) Johnny's failure to turn off the gas caused an explosion (Varzi, 2007, pp. 155–167).⁵

These are just some of the examples of negative events that we should take seriously at least with regard to the legal field.

3.1 Simple Omission

In the legal field, when we talk about a negative event, we often refer to an ordinary, positive event under a negative description.

⁴ The issue presented here in a maybe too simplistic way is actually well studied. For Bertram Russell, for example, this statement does not say anything about a specific individual who is currently the king of France and is bald. That statement, instead, says that a particular individual is currently the king of France and is bald. ⁵ The event (4) proposed here is one of the events provided in Varzi.

Indeed, it is not difficult to imagine several possible descriptions for a single event. An event description often depends on the context one is speaking about and on what they want to describe. Nevertheless, this must not lead us to conclude that in the same spatiotemporal portion two or more different events have occurred. More simply, the same event may have different descriptions. Thus, why could we not describe an event also in negative terms?

Obviously, when we talk about events such as (1) or (2), we are not referring to negative actions; we are referring to what Charlie and Gordon actually did "by mentioning a salient property that it lacked" (Varzi, 2006, p. 136). A negative description, indeed, "has a negative sense, not a negative referent" (Varzi, 2006, p. 136). After all, in a legal context what is missing could be the only noteworthy information. Charlie, for example, may not have performed his contract because he went to a pub instead of showing up for work. Likewise, Gordon may have spent his money on an expensive car rather than paying taxes.

In cases like (1) and (2), no matter what people did; what matters is what they did not do. And it is important precisely because in those cases it seems legitimate to expect the occurrence of a particular event - which, instead, did not occur. If we assume that something happens just because a legal rule imposes it - thus, it ought to happen - then the non-occurrence of such an event will undoubtedly be legally relevant. The problem is precisely this expectation that something will happen just because a legal rule prescribes it to happen. The latter is such a pervasive problem that it cannot be adequately addressed here. In this paper it is sufficient to note how stating that an event should happen because it is prescribed by law does not mean that it will occur because of that law. Events happen or do not happen regardless of the law. Indeed, if one believes that a rule can physically prevent the occurrence of an event, he or she could have some trouble demonstrating the direct physical influence of a rule on the flow of events. Of course, a rule could influence people's behaviour and prevent them from acting against the law, but it is not the rule itself that makes it impossible;⁶ it is the rule's observance. In this sense, then, it would make no sense to assume that just because a certain rule prohibiting a certain action exists, this action will not occur. The prohibited action could still occur: it would "only" be unlawful. The law, indeed, does not act in the domain of what is possible but in the domain of what is lawful (cf. Zanetti, 2017). In other words, events such as murders, robberies or theft will continue to happen even if prohibited by law.

It can sometimes happen that we want to make certain events happen so that we can consider them as legal events – and thus benefit from their legal effects. To put it more clearly, we often regard certain actions as having a particular legal significance because we wish to benefit from their legal consequences. Let us consider, once again, the first example. Both Charlie and his employer concluded the contract in all likelihood to enjoy its legal effects. It is because of that contract (and contract law applied to it) that it was legitimate to expect specific behaviour from Charlie (such as, for instance, showing up at work). Behaviour that, unfortunately, did not occur. Charlie did something different (such as, for example, going to the pub) from what, according to the employment agreement he signed, he was supposed to do (going to work). Nevertheless, it is useful to repeat that neither Charlie nor Gordon performed "negative actions". They simply performed other "positive actions" which, in both cases, lacked an expected property: respectively, fulfilling a contract and paying taxes.

⁶ In this regard, it is important to distinguish between motivation and causation, even in the legal field. A person could be driven to cause a specific event by certain motives (including legal ones such as, for example, the willingness to follow a rule). However, the motivation does not cause an event; at most, it justifies it.

These types of omissions – i.e., positive events under a negative description – are legally relevant precisely because of the positive event that occurred is not the positive event required by law. They are, in other words, what can be called simple omissions. In this case, it is possible to use the term "simple" to refer to such omissions precisely because, after all, their "complexity" seems to be linked to the way we speak. In that sense, then, although we often say that, for example, someone has not paid taxes or has not fulfilled a contract, we probably do not want to claim that actions they committed are non-actions. No one can perform a non-action, such as not paying taxes or not fulfilling contracts. What one can do instead is to take actions other than what should happen under the law. Once that is clarified, it should be easy to reason about such types of negative events.

3.2 Causal Omission

There is at least another type of omission that seems to be significant in a legal context. Indeed, while events like (1) and (2) appear to be legally significant because of the expected event did not occur, other events, such as (3) and (4) seem to be legally significant because they appear to have caused a legally relevant event. In other words, in these last cases one is not blamed for not having done something, but they are blamed for causing legally relevant events through his or her omission. For this reason, one might call this second type of omission causal omission.

Now, to think that the failure of an event may have caused another event seems to be challenging our "robust sense of reality" (see Bonino, 2014, p. 376; cf. Russell, 1919, pp. 169–170).⁷ That is because we are generally used to think that a) omissions are negative actions, and b) causation depends only on positive action. Thus, it seems contradictory to state that c) omissions have a causal role (Tuzet, 2013).

It should also be stressed how the English language, using the word "failure" to refer to omission, tries to solve the problem upstream. It is a kind of linguistic fiction which, far from simplifying problems, seems to complicate them. When, in fact, we say that "someone fails to do something", we could mean two different things: that someone did not do something that they should do (i.e. a negative event), or that someone did not succeed in what he or she was trying to do (i.e. a failed positive event). However, even in the second case, although it may appear to be a failed positive event). However, even in the second case, although it may appear to be a failed positive event. Indeed, even if a person had tried to do something, it would still be an omission precisely because the attempt is failed (Varzi, 2006, pp. 146–149).⁸ In this sense, if, for example, at the last inning of a baseball game the third batter of the losing team is called as being out, it is quite evident that he failed to hit the ball even though he tried. In other words, although he tried, the positive event "batter hitting the ball" did not occur. Further, it is also possible that the hitter does not even try to hit the ball. In both cases, however, the event "batter hitting the ball" would not have happened. Are we willing to say that the winning team won because the last batter of the losing team did not hit the ball?

⁷ This is a reference to Russell's robust sense of reality, which, according to Bonino, can be defined as "a philosophical attitude close to a sort of common sense empiricism."

⁸ In this regard, as Varzi rightly explains, "The notion of trying, however, is itself troublesome. For we can try to do something just as we can try not to do something. In the first case, the something we are trying to do is an action of some sort (turning off the gas, for instance). But what about the second case? Shall we say that when we try not to do something, our trying is directed towards a negative action of some sort? [...] I think this is another case where our intuitions and linguistic practices are seriously misleading. [...] For when we try to do something, we are striving for there to be some event of a certain kind. When we try not to do something, however, our endeavours admit of two different construals: one can push the analogy and say that we are again striving for there to be some event of a certain (negative) kind; but one can also say that we are striving for there to be no event of a certain (positive) kind."

We can assume that no one is willing to argue that the winning team won because of the points not made by the losing team. On the contrary, anyone could agree that the winning team won because of the points it earned.

Naturally, one could argue that this approach applies perfectly to baseball and not to the law. Yet, in legal discourse we often tend to blame those who are held liable for having caused something by their failure to act. However, exactly like the "batter's failure to hit the ball" did not cause the victory of the opposing team, "Dr. House's failure to provide medical care" did not cause the death of the patient and "Johnny's failure to turn off the gas" did not cause an explosion. In truth, the death of the patient was likely caused by his or her disease, and the explosion was caused by the one who switched on the gas.⁹

Therefore, assuming that no omissions have a causal role, all that remains is to understand how to assess causal omissions correctly. Indeed, since it was not Dr. House who caused the patient's disease in (3), and it was not Johnny who, turning on the light, caused the explosion in (4), one may wonder what would have happened if Dr. House had provided medical care and Johnny had turned off the gas.

The patient would probably not have died and there would certainly not have been an explosion. In other words, Dr. House and Johnny's failure to act did not cause anything: their failure did not stop the occurrence of something. We could then rephrase (3) and (4) as follows:

 $(3)^{\prime}\ \mathrm{Dr}.$ House's failure to provide medical care did not stop the death of the patient

(4)' Johnny's failure to turn off the gas did not stop an explosion

In other words, according to events (3)' and (4)', one is not blamed for causing something but for not preventing that something occurred.¹⁰ This last consideration, however, could easily lead to bizarre conclusions. As an example, consider the case of the event (4)': "not only does the causal history that led to the explosion include no event of Johnny's turning off the gas, it includes no event of my turning off the gas, either. Still, had I turned off the gas, there would have been no explosion," (Varzi, 2007, p. 164).

So, why should I not be blamed?

The answer is both spatial-temporal and legal in nature. This is because not everyone can stop an event from occurring. It is true that neither Johnny nor I – and nor you – turned off the gas. Nobody did it. However, unlike Johnny, I was not there at that time. I do not know who this Johnny is, I do not know where he lives, and I do not even know when the explosion happened, so why blame me?

To prevent the occurrence of an event, it is, therefore, necessary at least to be spatiotemporally close to it.¹¹ But it may not be enough. In some cases, in fact, to be

⁹ It is also worth noting how it is not even useful to consider events like (3) and (4) only as negative descriptions of positive events as we previously did with simple ornissions. Probably both Dr. House and Johnny did something else besides what they were supposed to do. However, those ornissions are not legally relevant itself. They are legally relevant only because it seems to have caused something else. Thus, if the patient had recovered or the house had not exploded, no one would have had anything to complain about Dr. House and Johnny's failures.

¹⁰ On closer inspection, indeed, some legal systems provide this kind of reading of what I call causal omissions. The Italian Criminal Code, for example, is explicit: In Article 40(2), it states that "where someone has the legal obligation to impede a crime, failing to prevent that crime is the same as committing such crime". In short, for the Italian penal code causal omissions are nothing more than a *fictio iuris*.

¹¹ A minimum of attention must be paid to what is meant by "being spatiotemporally close to an event". Imagine, for example, that there is a fire a few kilometres from where I am. If I see smoke out of the window or I smell burning in the air, then I am probably close enough to the event to perceive it directly. If, on the contrary, the fire is on another continent and I would hear about it only because someone told me over the phone, then I am not close enough to the event to be blamed for not stopping it. This was for two simple

spatiotemporally close to the event is not sufficient to prevent the occurrence of that event.

Consider, for example, the event (3). Even if I had been there, in that hospital room at the exact moment the patient was being examined, what could I have done? Not being a physician, I would not have known how to prevent the patient's condition from deteriorating. In that case, therefore, only a person with the right skills and who was spatiotemporally close to the patient could have prevented the patient's death. Hence, to prevent an event it seems necessary at least a) to be close in space and time to the event and b) to be able to prevent it – in other words, to have the "qualities" to prevent it. But be careful: "necessary" does not mean "sufficient." Often, for example, the law requires an additional criterion: c) the existence of a legal duty to prevent such an event.

Now, since it is not a task of this work to explain what is meant by, and from what this legal duty derives – each philosophy of law, in truth, is potentially able to give a different response to these issues – in the last part of this section, two further brief considerations on causal omissions are presented.

In this regard, it should first be emphasized, once again, how what this work calls causal omissions are not causal at all. In this sense, they are not true causal reports since they do not express any cause of any event. But if causal omissions are not true causal reports, what are they?

Sure, omissions like (3) or (4) explicitly involve the word "caused" and this might lead us to think they are speaking of causes and effects. However, as Beebee rightly pointed out, to explain the cause of an event does not imply that the cause of the event should be identified precisely. Indeed, "the way in which causal facts enter into an explanation can be more complicated than that. One can give information about an event's causal history in all sorts of other ways – by saying, for instance, that certain events or kinds of event do not figure in its causal history, or by saying that an event of such-and-such kind occurred, rather than that some particular event occurred. The moral here, then, is that something can be the explanand of a causal explanation without itself being a cause of the event cited in the explanandum" (2004, p. 302).

Therefore, it is for this reason that causal omissions should not be considered as causal reports but rather as a causal explanation. The difference between them is, at this point, quite simple to understand: While causal reports make explicit the cause of an event, causal explanations explain why an event occurred. Of course, sometimes it is possible to produce a causal explanation of a certain event that explicitly mentions its causes. Other times, this is not possible and, as in (3) and (4), one can simply highlight how a particular event, which could have prevented specific effects, did not occur.

"In such cases, we have a causal explanation that cannot be matched by a genuine causal report. [...] And although we can always switch from the 'cause' language to its 'because' counterpart, the converse does not hold. Every causal report translates directly into a causal explanation, but not vice versa," (Varzi, 2006, p. 144).

On closer inspection, it appears that this last distinction – between causal reports and causal explanations – might have enormous influence on jurists' reasoning. Indeed,

reasons: 1) whoever made me aware of the fire could prevent it from spreading (for example, by calling the fire brigade) 2) I was not close enough to the event to make sure that it happened. The question of time is a little different. Suppose a person confesses to me that he intends to commit a crime. If I stopped him or her at that moment, I would not precisely prevent a criminal action because expressing the intention to do something is not the same as doing it. Perhaps blocking him or her before he starts doing the action is tantamount to preventing him or her from committing it in the future, but this could lead to adverse consequences. Think, in fact, what would happen if we imprisoned people just for thinking of committing a criminal act. Thus, "temporal proximity to the event" means to be close to an event taking place or about to take place.

if one of the aims of the law is to prevent the occurrence of an event – of course, not "physically"– then it is interesting to note how it seems more useful to declare unlawful not stopping it, rather than to declare unlawful causing it. This is because a ban that "contemplates" only the causes of an event fails to impose anything on those who, despite not having contributed to causing it, were in the condition to stop it from occurring – while, on the contrary, to impose on someone to stop an event from occurring also implies prohibiting that person from causing it.

To be honest, everything that happens has not been stopped before it happened. In this sense, then, even simple omissions such as (1) or (2) might be considered problematic. After all, no one prevented Charlie from not fulfilling the contract, nor did someone prevent Gordon from not paying taxes. So, why has nobody – except Gordon and Charlie – been blamed for such events?

The answer probably lies in the choices made by the lawmaker. Choices that, whichever way one looks at them, appear to be not unproblematic.

4. CONCLUSION

Providing an overview of everything that happens in the world is certainly not an easy task. Doing it from a legally conscious perspective seems to be even more difficult. This is because such a perspective seems to have to take into account, alongside what happens, even what does not happen. For this reason, if we adopt a point of view that considers not only what the case is but also what the case ought to be, then our image of the world could become more complex.

Taking seriously what does not happen (i.e. the negative events) may seem an unnecessary effort by our legal systems. We could, indeed, build legal systems based only on positive events. In that case, however, we should also be prepared to deal with rather strange rules. This is because, for example, we would no longer punish the "non-performance of a contract" as in the case (1), but the "doing something instead of fulfilling the contract", updating, from time to time, the catalogue of possible positive events which cannot be performed instead of the fulfillment of the contract.

On the other hand, even the opposite solution does not sound tempting. Indeed, if it is true that one can refer to a positive event (such as the "killing of a person") through the description of a negative event (such as the "failure to preserve that person's life"), it is also true that such a solution could make legal reasoning much more complicated.

It is not the task of this work to outline such perspectives. What is most interesting here is to provide some food for thought about negative events. Speaking of omissions, we have seen how a sort of ontological confusion on the so-called negative events could lead to a consequent confusion concerning how to address them legally. The law, as this paper tried to illustrate, does not seem able to solve this kind of issue unless we clarify first what an omission is and how to deal with it from an ontological point of view.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

Beebee, H. (2004). Causing, and Nothingness. In J. Collins, N. Hall, & L. A. Paul (Eds.), Causation and Counterfactuals. (pp. 291–308). Cambridge: MIT Press.

- Berto, F. (2010). L'esistenza non è logica. Dal quadrato rotondo ai mondi impossibili. Rome: Laterza.
- Bix, B. (2000). On the Dividing Line between Natural Law Theory and Legal Positivism. Notre Dame Law Review., 75(5), 1613–1624.

Bonino, G. (2014). On Russell's Robust sense of Reality. In G. Bonino, G. Jesson, & J.

Cumpa (Eds.), *Defending realism: ontological and epistemological investigations.* (pp. 363–378). Boston: De Gruyter.

Broad, C. D. (1923). Scientific Thought. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

- Davidson, D. (1985). Reply to Bruce Vermazen. In B. Vermazen & M. B. Hintikka (Eds.), Essays on Davidson: Actions and Events. (pp. 172–176). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Evans, J. S. B. T., & Elqayam, S. (2018). How and why we reason from is to ought. Synthese, 197(4), 1429–1446. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-018-02041-4
- Green, M. S. (2005). Legal Realism as Theory of Law. William & Mary Law Review., 46(6), 1915–2000.
- Kim, J. (1973). Causation, Nomic Subsumption, and the Concept of Event. The Journal of Philosophy., 70(8), 217–236.

Meinong, A. (1904). Über Gegenstandstheorie. In A. Meinong (Ed.), *Untersuchungen zur Gegenstandstheorie und Psychologie*. (pp. 1–50). Barth: Leipzing.

Quine, W. V. (1948). On What There Is. Review of Metaphysics., 2(5), 21–38.

- Quine, W. V. (1960). Word and Object. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Russell, B. (1905). On denoting. Mind., 14(56), 479-493.
- Russell, B. (1919). Introduction to Mathematical Philosophy. London: George Allen & Unwin.
- Sinha, S. P. (1976). The Fission and Fusion of Is-Ought in Legal Philosophy. *Villanova Law Review.*, 21(5), 839–859.
- Tuzet, G. (2013). The Omission Dilemma. SSRN Electronic Journal. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2887393
- Varzi, A. C. (2001). Parole, oggetti, eventi e altri argomenti di metafisica. Rome: Carocci.
- Varzi, A. C. (2006). The Talk I was Supposed to Give.... In A. Bottani & R. Davies (Eds.), Modes of Existence. Papers in Ontology and Philosophical Logic. (pp. 131–152). Frankfurt: Ontos.
- Varzi, A. C. (2007). Omissions, and Causal Explanations. In F. Castellani & J. Quitterer (Eds.), Agency and Causation in the Human Sciences. (pp. 155–167). Paderborn: Mentis Verlag.
- Williams, D. C. (1953). On the Elements of Being. Review of Metaphysics., 7(1), 3-18.
- Zanetti, G. (2017). I limiti del diritto. Aspetti del dibattito contemporaneo. *Rivista Di Filosofia Del Diritto.*, 6(Special Issue), 25–40. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.4477/88290

Italy, Criminal Code





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

APPLY OR NOT TO APPLY? A COMPARATIVE VIEW ON TERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF CCPA AND GDPR / Matúš Mesarčík

JUDr. Matúš Mesarčík, PhD., LL.M; Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, Institute of Information Technology Law and Intellectual Property Law; Šafárikovo nám. 6; 810 00 Bratislava; Slovakia; matus mesarcik@flaw.uniba.sk. ORCID: 0000-0003-3311-5333.

The article was drafted with the support from the project Jean Monet Module n. 611579-EPP-1-2019-1SK-EPPJMO-MODULE 'Digital Single Market as a New Dimension of EU Law.'

Abstract: A new era of data protection laws arises after the adoption of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union. One of the newly adopted regulations of processing of personal data is Californian Consumer Privacy Act commonly referred to as CCPA. The article aims to fill the gap considering a deep analysis of the territorial scope of both acts and practical consequences of the application. The article starts with a brief overview of privacy regulation in the EU and USA. Introduction to GDPR and CCPA follows focusing on the territorial scope of respective legislation. Three scenarios of applicability are derived in the following part including practical examples.

Key words: data protection; privacy; GDPR; CCPA; territorial scope

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 21 March 2020 Accepted: 15 November 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Mesarčík, M. (2020). Apply or not to Apply? A Comparative View on Territorial Application of CCPA and GDPR. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 81-94. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.171

1. INTRODUCTION

The area of data protection is one of the most discussed subjects in the current public debate. Traditional conservatism of law is slowly adapting to a new technological reality. Impact of technology on privacy may be enormous, therefore new legislation is needed to regulate and reflect the latest development (Andraško, 2017). New laws attempting to regulate the area of data have been adopted on both sides of the Atlantic Ocean and although the approach to legal protection of privacy is different, the fundamentals are similar.

The article examines two core legislative developments within the European Union and the United States of America considering the protection of privacy (or informational privacy) in regards to territorial scope. The emphasis is put on General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and California Consumer Protection Act (CCPA). The questions discussed in the article are of essential importance as cross-border commerce is one of the fundamental pillars of the world economy. The controllers in the EU and the USA shall carefully assess if data protection legislation is applicable especially in regards to territorial scope of laws. The in-depth research on the specific issue of the territorial applicability is generally absent (see Kessler, 2019 or Umhoefer, 2019). The second part

of the article is focused on the comparison of different backgrounds and approaches to the regulation of informational privacy in the EU and the USA. The third part deals with analysis of respective provisions of GDPR and CCPA related to territorial scope. The fourth part provides a brief overview of practical examples when laws are applicable or non-applicable to companies based on their residence.

2. FOUNDATIONS OF EU & US PRIVACY LAWS

It is of the essence to outline different background of EU and US privacy protection. First of all, each model of protection of privacy should be founded on several basic principles drafted by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). The principles are stated in OECD Guidelines¹ and include collection limitation principle, data quality principle, purpose specification principle, use limitation principle, security safeguards principle, openness principle, individual participation principle and accountability principle. Each party of the OECD (including most of the member states of the EU and USA) shall implement the principles into their privacy regulations.² It is therefore important to emphasize that many systems of protection of privacy are governed by same or similar principles although the approach itself may vary. These principles are implemented into different models of protection of privacy.

Kuner (2013) differentiates among four models of protection of privacy: complex, sectoral, self-regulating model and co-regulating model. Complex model represents a system with general regulation applicable to private and public sector with independent data protection authority responsible for ensuring compliance with data protection rules in the territory of the state. General regulation is often supplemented by specific sectoral regulation. An example of this approach is the European Union's GDPR and specific regulations (e.g. ePrivacy directive).³ The second model of implementation is sectoral model. General regulation is absent, and each sector is regulated by specific tailor-made legislation. This is the case of the USA where many acts regulating privacy or data protection exist for different sectors (e.g. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 for processing of personal information related to health). The self-regulating model is very similar to sectoral model, but regulation is not represented by specific acts rather by codes of conducts or sectoral codes drafted and adopted by market players from specific sectors. The co-regulating model is a combination of sectoral and selfregulating models. Specific legal framework adopted by legislator exists and the framework is complemented by sectoral rules developed by sectors. The latter is represented in Indonesia.

As highlighted above, the implementation of OECD principles is different in the EU and the US resulting in complex and sectoral model of regulation. However, some authors argue that the implementation of the OECD principles achieves the same results with different processes (see Bennett, 1988). It may be added that protection of privacy as such is approached differently in these countries from the human rights perspective. Within the European Union the right to data protection exists and is a fundamental part of the Charter of fundamental rights of EU (hereinafter known as "the Charter"). However European legislation differentiates between right to privacy and right to data protection and treats them like two separate rights. Article 7 of the Charter states that "everyone has"

¹ Annex to the Recommendation of the Council of 23rd September 1980: Guidelines governing the protection of privacy and transborder flows of personal data.

² See e.g. Article 5 GDPR or Convention 108.

³ Directive 2002/58/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 July 2002 concerning the processing of personal data and the protection of privacy in the electronic communications sector. OJ L 201, 31.7.2002, pp. 37–47.

the right to respect for his or her private and family life, home and communications." Proposal of the new ePrivacy Regulation⁴ explicitly refers to the Article 7 in proposed Recital 1.⁵ Article 8 of the Charter confers right to data protection according to which "everyone has the right to the protection of personal data concerning him or her."⁶ Furthermore the Charter states fundamentals of processing of personal data in section 2 of the pertinent article: "Personal data must be processed fairly for specified purposes and on the basis of the consent of the person concerned or some other legitimate basis laid down by law." Supervision over the data protection area shall be deemed by independent supervisory authorities.⁷ The specification of Article 8 is represented by General Data Protection.⁸

Protection of (information) privacy in the United States of America is not derived from human rights legislation. The protection of privacy has evolved throughout the years in different sectors. Absence of general privacy regulation is often criticized by many authors (Bignami, 2007). It has to be also noted that federal legislation is often supported by specific state legislation.

From the historical point of view (see Solove, 2016) the most notable cornerstone was the publication of Warren and Brandeis's article The Right to Privacy emphasizing the importance of having a remedy in privacy-related cases (Warren & Brandeis, 1890). In 1960 William Prosser created a typology of privacy torts based on the above-mentioned article (Prosser, 1960). Supreme Court of the United States continually developed protection of privacy based on the fourth amendment of the US Constitution reading: "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, [a] against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized."9 However, the provision protects only US citizens against unreasonable searches and seizure and does not constitute general privacy protection as in the Convention or the Charter (see Zanfir, 2012). US government in its developed legislation tackled contemporary issues of privacy protection.¹⁰ Privacy laws are widely fragmented in common law, federal legislation, state law and state constitutions (Levin & Nicholson, 2005). Wide range of privacy rules are set forth as consumer protection and sector specific. These acts include The Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act 2003 or the CAN-SPAM Act 2003 (see more in Pernot-LePlay, 2020a). The protection of consumers is closely related to enforcement of rights of data subjects similar to the ones provided by GDPR. The latter is a reason for comparing consumer privacy protection in the selected state with legislation adopted in

⁴ Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL concerning the respect for private life and the protection of personal data in electronic communications and repealing Directive 2002/58/EC (Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications).

⁵ Article 7 of the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union ("the Charter") protects the fundamental right of everyone to the respect for his or her private and family life, home and communications. Respect for the privacy of one's communications is an essential dimension of this right. Confidentiality of electronic communications, neurose that information exchanged between parties and the external elements of such communication, including when the information has been sent, from where, to whom, is not to be revealed to anyone other than to the parties involved in a communication. The principle of confidentiality should apply to current and future means of communication, including calls, internet access, instant messaging applications, email, internet phone callsand personal messaging provided through social media."

⁶ Article 8 sec. 1 of the Charter.

⁷ Article 8 sec. 3 of the Charter.

⁸ Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation). OJ L 119, 4.5.2016, pp. 1–88. ⁹ E.g. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967).

¹⁰ See e.g. Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991 or Driver's Privacy Protection Act of 1994.

the EU. The US legislator attempted to adopt comprehensive privacy legislation in the form of The Consumer Privacy Bill of Rights in 2012, however the bill never became a law. On the other hand, several states show convergence of EU data protection laws into their state legislation (Pernot-LePlay, 2020b). One of such laws is CCPA.

From the point of view of future development, it shall be emphasized that the USA plans to adopt general privacy regulation on the federal level. This aim is supported by the fact that the USA declared that the country may become a party to the Council of Europe's Convention 108.¹¹

3. TERRITORIAL SCOPE

3.1. Territorial scope of the GDPR

GDPR is comprehensive data protection law applicable in the EU. Based on the material scope the regulation applies to the processing of personal data¹² wholly or partly by automated means and to the processing other than by automated means of personal data which form part of a filing system or are intended to form part of a filing system.¹³ The material scope of the GDPR is broad and is not limited only to some processing operations like sale, erasure or analysis of personal data.

Territorial scope of GDPR is set out in Article 3. The Article states three regimes of applicability of GDPR considering territorial aspects of processing of personal data. The first regime applies "to the processing of personal data in the context of the activities of an establishment of a controller or a processor in the Union, regardless of whether the processing takes place in the Union or not."¹⁴ The second regime is applicable when controller or processor is established outside EU but processes personal data of data subjects located in the EU with regard to (i) the offering of goods and services regardless requirement of payment or (ii) monitoring of behaviour.¹⁵ The third regime is applicable to entities outside of EU by virtue of public international law.¹⁶ Territorial scope of GDPR has been explained in published Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR¹⁷ drafted by European Data Protection Board (EDPB) and provides valuable guidance to applicability of the Article 3 GDPR.

1. First regime - application of establishment criterion

Application of establishment criterion regime is composed of three criteria that have to be assessed: (a) if an establishment is in the EU, (b) if processing of personal data is carried out in the context of the activities of an establishment and (c) if it is applicable regardless of whether the processing takes place in the EU or not. Such threefold approach is also preferred by EDPB. All criteria shall be fulfilled cumulatively.

¹¹ REPORT FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL on the second annual review of the functioning of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/report_on_the_second_annual_review_of_the_eu-us_privacy_shield_2018.pdf, p. 7 (accessed on 20.03.2020).

¹² Personal data being identified as *any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person ('data subject').*" Article 4 (1) GDPR.

¹³ Article 2 (1) GDPR.

¹⁴ Article 3 (1) GDPR.

¹⁵ Article 3 (2) GDPR.

¹⁶ Article 3 (3) GDPR.

¹⁷ European Data Protection Board. *Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3).* Available at: <u>https://edpb.europa.eu/our-work-tools/public-consultations/2018/guidelines-32018-territorial-scope-gdpr-article-3_en</u> (accessed on 20.03.2020).

The first criterion to be taken into account is whether processing activities are conducted by "an establishment in the EU." GDPR does not define what an establishment is. However, recital 22 GDPR states that "Any processing of personal data in the context of the activities of an establishment of a controller or a processor in the Union should be carried out in accordance with this Regulation, regardless of whether the processing itself takes place within the Union. Establishment implies the effective and real exercise of activity through stable arrangements. The legal form of such arrangements, whether through a branch or a subsidiary with a legal personality, is not the determining factor in that respect." The notion of establishment has been further clarified by the Court of Justice of European Union (hereinafter known as the "CJEU") in cases Weltimmo¹⁸ and Google Spain.¹⁹ In Weltimmo CJEU noted that establishment within the meaning of the law "extends to any real and effective activity - even a minimal one - exercised through stable arrangements."20 In terms of exercise through stable arrangements the CJEU added that "both the degree of stability of the arrangements and the effective exercise of activities in that other Member State must be interpreted in the light of the specific nature of the economic activities and the provision of services concerned."²¹ In terms of services provided via internet the threshold for stable arrangement may be guite low.²²

An example of application of the first regime might be when US-based company has a branch in the European Union acting as "EU Headquarters."

Context of the activities of an establishment is the second criterion to be considered. EDPB emphasizes case-by-case analysis and approach.²³ The criterion shall be assessed via relationship between a data controller or processor outside the EU and revenue raised in the EU. An inextricable link is a prerequisite as per the decision of CJEU in the *Google Spain* case.²⁴ If the inextricable link between a company established outside EU and EU establishment is found, processing activities of the EU establishment shall fulfil the criterion in question. According to the older opinion of Article 29 Working Party (former EDPB) the revenue may also present evidence of an inextricable link.²⁵ "The EDPB recommends that non-EU organisations undertake an assessment of their processing activities, first by determining whether personal data are being processed, and secondly by identifying potential links between the activity for which the data is being processed and the activities of any presence of the organisation in the Union."²⁶

An example of this situation may be when a US-based company establishes a subsidiary in the territory of EU and the establishment conducts marketing activity in the EU. This is the case when inextricable link is clear as processing of personal data is directly connected to the US-based company and EU subsidiary. The same shall be held towards mutual profitability of activities of aforementioned entities.

¹⁸ CJEU decision in Weltimmo v NAIH (C-230/14).

¹⁹ CJEU decision Google Spain SL, Google Inc. v ÁEPD, Mario Costeja González (C-131/12).

²⁰ Weltimmo, para 31.

²¹ Weltimmo, para 29.

²² EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, p. 6.

²³ EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, p. 7.
²⁴ Google Spain, para 56 "the activities of the operator of the search engine and those of its establishment situated in the Member State concerned are inextricably linked since the activities relating to the advertising space constitute the means of rendering the search engine at issue economically profitable and that engine is, at the same time, the means enabling those activities to be performed."

²⁵ Article 29 Data Protection Working Party Update of Opinion 8/2010 on applicable law in light of the CJEU judgement in Google Spain: "In addition, the judgement suggests that other business models, and different forms of activity (including revenueraising) in an EU Member State may also trigger the applicability of EU law, although the assessment must be made on a case by case basis."

²⁶ EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, p. 8.

The third criterion is that the regime under Article 3 (1) is applicable regardless of whether the processing takes place in the EU or not. The emphasis is therefore put on irrelevancy of place of processing activities after fulfilling the first two criteria. After the fulfilment of the two previous conditions the place of processing itself is not an essential feature of applicability GDPR in regards to territorial scope. The case may be illustrated by a US company that collects personal data of data subjects residing in the United States, Mexico and Panama but the processing of datasets is conducted within a branch located in Paris. Although the collection of personal data takes place outside of the EU, the processing of person data takes place in the EU and therefore GDPR is applicable. The same shall be held towards a Paris company that has a legally indistinct branch in the USA that processes personal data. In this case, while the processing activities are taking place in the USA, that processing is carried out in the context of the activities of the company in Paris and thus GDPR is applicable.

2. Second regime – targeting criterion (extra-territorial scope of GDPR)

GDPR is applicable also in cases where an establishment is not located in the territory of the EU. Article 3(2) of the GDPR provides that "this Regulation applies to the processing of personal data of data subjects who are in the Union by a controller or processor not established in the Union, where the processing activities are related to: (a) the offering of goods or services, irrespective of whether a payment of the data subject is required, to such data subjects in the Union; or (b) the monitoring of their behaviour as far as their behaviour takes place within the Union." The common criterion for both alternative targeting criterions is that it relates to data subjects who are in the Union. The scope is thus not limited by citizenship or residence and the broad application is derived from human rights aspects as founding pillars of the European Union and EU society. The latter is explicitly confirmed by Recital 14 GDPR: "the protection afforded by this Regulation should apply to natural persons, whatever their nationality or place of residence, in relation to the processing of their personal data". An example may be a US company without an establishment in the EU that is a provider of a social network mobile app available and directed to consumers from the EU. Processing of personal data of data subjects using this app in Rome or Paris would fall under the territorial scope of GDPR. The situation would be different if the app would be intended only for the US market and not available for download in the European Union.

The first targeting criterion is the offering of goods and services. The offering of services also includes the offering of information society services, defined in point (b) of Article 1(1) of Directive (EU) 2015/1535 as "any Information Society service, that is to say, any service normally provided for remuneration, at a distance, by electronic means and at the individual request of a recipient of services".²⁷ Whether the payment has been provided is not of the essence while evaluating the criterion.²⁸ For fulfilling the criterion the goods or services shall be intentionally offered to data subjects in the EU. The latter confirms Recital 23 GDPR stating that "in order to determine whether such a controller or processor is offering goods or services to data subjects who are in the Union, it should be ascertained whether it is apparent that the controller or processor envisages offering services to data subjects in one or more Member States in the Union." However, it is not sufficient to trigger the criterion if website is accessible as such in the territory of EU. More indicating factors include language of the website, delivery to the EU, references of customers from EU or currency used within EU. Interpretation of notion of "directing activity" within the meaning

 ²⁷ EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, p. 14.
 ²⁸ See more in particular, CJEU, C-352/85, *Bond van Adverteerders and Others vs. The Netherlands State*, 26 April 1988, par. 16, and CJEU, C-109/92, Wirth [1993] Racc. I-6447, par. 15.

of Article 15(1)(c) of Regulation 44/2001 (Brussels I) may be of the essence when determining intention to sell goods and services. The guidance on the notion of directing activity is provided in the CJEU case *Pammer v Reederei Karl Schlüter GmbH & Co* and *Hotel Alpenhof v Heller* (joined cases C-585/08 and C-144/09).²⁹ Naturally, specific circumstance of each case have to be carefully evaluated and taken into account.

GDPR would be applicable in the situation when a US company without any branches or other establishments in the EU area has a website for selling books and magazines with possible delivery to the EU countries. The website also allows to make a payment in euros and contains references from customers from the EU that have bought books in the past. Those three aspects are strong indications that offering of goods is directed towards EU customers.

The second targeting criterion is monitoring of data subjects' behaviour. Recital 24 GDPR provides clarification of the latter: "in order to determine whether a processing activity can be considered to monitor the behaviour of data subjects, it should be ascertained whether natural persons are tracked on the internet including potential subsequent use of personal data processing techniques which consist of profiling a natural person, particularly in order to take decisions concerning her or him or for analysing or predicting her or his personal preferences, behaviours and attitudes." As EDPB notices, the scope of Article 3 (2) b) is broader than targeting as such. The article shall be triggered by various monitoring activities including processing personal data via wearables or smart devices.³⁰ Taking into account the guidance monitoring in line with Article 3 (2) b) may be encompassed within behavioural advertisement; geo-localization activities, in particular for marketing purposes; online tracking through the use of cookies or other tracking techniques such as fingerprinting; personalized diet and health analytics services online; CCTV; market surveys and other behavioural studies based on individual profiles or monitoring or regular reporting on an individual's health status.

An example of targeting criterion in this case would be a US company without establishment in the EU that analyses the data of customers in a shopping mall located in Berlin for the purpose of marketing analysis.

3. Third regime – public international law

Article 3 (3) GDPR constitutes specific legal regime of processing of personal data governed by virtue of public international law. The provision states that "this Regulation applies to the processing of personal data by a controller not established in the Union, but in a place where Member State law applies by virtue of public international law". This regime applies to embassies, consulates and diplomatic missions in general. Respected definitions and statuses of aforementioned entities are governed by the

²⁹ One or more of the following factors shall be considered: The EU or at least one Member State is designated by name with reference to the good or service offered; The data controller or processor pays a search engine operator for an internet referencing service in order to facilitate access to its site by consumers in the Union; or the controller or processor has launched marketing and advertisement campaigns directed at an EU country audience; The international nature of the activity at issue, such as certain tourist activities; The mention of dedicated addresses or phone numbers to be reached from an EU country; The use of a top-level domain name other than that of the third country in which the controller or processor is established, for example "de", or the use of neutral top-level domain names such as "eu"; The description of travel instructions from one or more other EU Member States to the place where the service is provided; The mention of an international clientele composed of customers; The use of a language or a currency other than that generally used in the trader's country, especially a language or currency of one or more EU Member states; The data controller offers the delivery of goods in EU Member States.

³⁰ EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, p. 19.

Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations of 1961 and the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations of 1963.

3.2. Territorial scope of the CCPA

Discussion of territorial scope of the CCPA shall start with several notes regarding the applicability of the legislation itself. It shall be noted that this is not a federal law applicable to the United States of America as a whole but only to one state -California. Deriving from the name of the act itself, CCPA relates to consumers. The Consumer is defined as a natural person who is a California resident.³¹ Based on the California Code of Regulations a California resident is understood to be every individual who is in the State for other than a temporary or transitory purpose and every individual who is domiciled in the State who is outside the State for a temporary or transitory purpose. All other individuals are non-residents in light of California Code of Regulations.³² Obligations in CCPA do not apply to every organization residing in California, CCPA applies under five conditions. The first condition is that the organization conducts business for profit. Secondly, the organization collects consumer's personal information. Third condition is that the organization determines the purposes and means of the processing of consumer's personal information. The fourth condition is related to territorial applicability - the company must conduct business in California. The fifth condition is that the company shall meet one of the following conditions: (i) has annual gross revenues in excess of twenty-five million dollars (\$25,000,000); and/or (ii) alone or in combination, annually buys, receives for the business' commercial purposes, sells, or shares for commercial purposes, alone or in combination, the personal information of 50,000 or more consumers, households, or devices; and/or (iii) derives 50 percent or more of its annual revenues from selling consumers' personal information.33 Furthermore, the applicability of CCPA is not limited to the processing of personal information on the Internet (Goldman, 2018).

In regard to territorial applicability, CCPA applies to organizations doing business in California.³⁴ However, what exactly constitutes doing business in California is not defined in CCPA and may trigger application for companies not having establishment in the territory of the USA. The possibility of extra-territorial applicability of CCPA is also recognized by some authors (Pernot-LePlay, 2020b). Certain aid is provided by California Franchise Tax Board stating that: "doing business in California if it actively engages in any transaction for the purpose of financial or pecuniary gain or profit in California or if any of the conditions (in law) are satisfied." These conditions are explicitly stated in section 23101 of the Revenue and Taxation Code of the California, (ii) sales, as defined in subdivision (e) or (f) of R&TC 25120, of the taxpayer in California, including sales by the taxpayer's agents and independent contractors, exceed the lesser of \$500,000 or 25 percent of the taxpayer's total sales. For purposes of R&TC Section 23101, sales in California shall be determined using the rules for assigning sales under R&TC 25135,

³¹ Section 1798.140. 7 (G) CCPA.

³² Section 17014 of Title 18 of the California Code of Regulations.

³³ Section 1798.140.

³⁴ Section 1789.140 (c) (1): "Business means...A sole proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, association, or other legal entity that is organized or operated for the profit or financial benefit of its shareholders or other owners, that collects consumers' personal information, or on the behalf of which such information is collected and that alone, or jointly with others, determines the purposes and means of the processing of consumers' personal information, **that does business in the State of California**, and that satisfies one or more..."

R&TC 25136(b) and the regulations thereunder, as modified by regulations under Section 25137; (iii) real and tangible personal property of the taxpayer in California exceed the lesser of \$50,000 or 25 percent of the taxpayer's total real and tangible personal property; (iv) the amount paid in California by the taxpayer for compensation, as defined in subdivision (c) of R&TC 25120, exceeds the lesser of \$50,000 or 25 percent of the total compensation paid by the taxpayer; or (v) for the conditions above, the sales, property, and payroll of the taxpayer include the taxpayer's pro rata or distributive share of pass-through entities. "Pass-through entities" means partnerships, LLCs treated as partnerships, or S corporations.³⁵

Furthermore, CCPA states that the obligations imposed on businesses shall not restrict a business's ability to collect or sell a consumer's personal information if every aspect of that commercial conduct takes place wholly outside of California. For purposes of CCPA, commercial conduct takes place wholly outside of California if the business collected that information while the consumer was outside of California, no part of the sale of the consumer's personal information occurred in California, and no personal information collected while the consumer was in California is sold.³⁶

4. COMPARISON AND SCENARIOS OF APPLICABILITY

Taking into account aforementioned findings, the comparison may be drafted and potential scenarios of applicability for companies doing business in the EU and California may be analysed.

In line with distinction of Article 3 GDPR the assessment shall reflect intraterritorial application and extra-territorial application. Taking into account provisions of GDPR and CCPA related to intra-territorial application, both acts are clear on that matter. GDPR applies to processing of personal data conducted within the context of activities of establishment in the European Union. As highlighted above, the interpretation of what the terms "establishment" and "context of activities" mean is very broad and also minimum activity may qualify to fulfil the criterion. CCPA states the criterion as "doing business in California." The term shall be interpreted in line with California Franchise Tax Board. Therefore, the criterion is closely connected to domicile (similarly to establishment) or revenue in the context of taxpaying in California.

Extra-territorial application of GDPR is stated in Article 3 (2) and applies processing of personal data related to offering of goods and services or monitoring of data subjects' behaviour located in the European Union. Two specific criteria are set out to establish extra-territorial applicability of GDPR. The terms are interpreted by recitals and guidelines mentioned above. It is not yet clear if CCPA has extra-territorial application at all as the act remains silent on the issue. However, the rational view is that CCPA should be applicable also to companies not domiciled in California fulfilling other criteria. Especially, out-of-California entity may be caught by CCPA when it meets one of the conditions stated in 23101 of the Revenue and Taxation Code of California.

³⁵ Section 23101 of the Revenue and Taxation Code of California.

³⁶ Section 1798.145 (a) (6) CCPA.

	GDPR	CCPA
Intra-territorial application	- Establishment in the EU criterion (broadly interpreted)	- Doing business in California criterion (domicile or revenue)
Extra-territorial application	 Offering goods or services or monitoring behaviour of data subjects in the EU International public law applicability 	 Probably yes (see criteria in section 23101 of the Revenue and Taxation Code of California)

Figure 1: Comparison of territorial application of GDPR and CCPA. Source: Author

There are three basic scenarios of applicability of GDPR and CCPA considering the above comparison. First scenario is that GDPR and CCPA will be both applicable to the company. Second scenario is when only GDPR will be applicable to the company. Third scenario is when only CCPA will be applicable to the company.

First scenario: Application of both acts (GDPR & CCPA)

The first scenario with applicability of both GDPR and CCPA may be split based on the geolocation of the company.

If we have a company A based in Warsaw or in territory of another EU Member State and the company A process personal data, GDPR applies as per Article 3 (1). It is not essential whether data subjects are located in the EU or not.³⁷ CCPA would be applicable if the company A did business in California (please see considerations above).

If we have a company B located in California with direct application of CCPA, GDPR would be also applicable in two cases. The first case is when company B has an establishment in the EU that is processing personal data in the context of its activities. Second case is when company B does not have establishments in the EU but directs offering of goods or services or monitor behaviour of data subjects located in the EU.

Two subsequent notes have to be made towards the issue of applicability of both acts with regard to the personal applicability of GDPR. GDPR differentiates between controller and processor.³⁸ Without any further elaboration on the notions, controller is defined as "the natural or legal person, public authority, agency or other body which, alone or jointly with others, determines the purposes and means of the processing of personal data; where the purposes and means of such processing are determined by Union or

³⁷ EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, p. 9.

³⁸ Similarly CCPA differentiates between "businesses" and "service providers" in section 1798.140. Business "means...A sole proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, association, or other legal entity that is organized or operated for the profit or financial benefit of its shareholders or other owners, that collects consumers' personal information, or on the behalf of which such information is collected and that alone, or jointly with others, determines the purposes and means of the processing of consumers' personal information, that does business in the State of California, and that satisfies..." Service provider means "a sole proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, association, or other legal entity that is organized or operated for the profit or financial benefit of its shareholders or other owners, that processes information on behalf of a business and to which the business discloses a consumer's personal information for a business purpose pursuant to a written contract, provided that the contract prohibits the entity receiving the information from retaining, using, or disclosing the personal information for any purpose other than for the specific purpose of performing the services specified in the contract for the business, or as otherwise permitted by this title, including retaining, using, or disclosing the personal information for a commercial purpose other than providing the services specified in the contract with the business."

Member State law, the controller or the specific criteria for its nomination may be provided for by Union or Member State law."³⁹ On the other hand, a processor means "a natural or legal person, public authority, agency or other body which processes personal data on behalf of the controller." The basic difference is that a controller determines purposes (and means) of processing of personal data and a processor shall have authorization to process personal data on behalf of the controller (see more in Berthoty et al., 2018, p. 163 et seq.).

In case that a company with the establishment in the EU (GDPR is applicable) appointed a processor in California, the processor would be bound by several obligations laid down directly by GDPR.⁴⁰ The processor not subject to the GDPR will therefore become indirectly subject to some obligations imposed by controllers while CCPA would be applicable as well after fulfilling thresholds set out by law would be applicable as well.

The reverse situation is less clear from the legal point of view. In case that a company established in California (subject to CCPA) is not covered by Article 3 (2) GDPR and appoints processor located in the EU, it would require more in-depth analysis of relationship between the companies. There is a probability that a processor in the EU (not subject to establishment criterion based on Article 3 (1) GDPR) would still be covered by processor obligations laid down by GDPR. However, this is without prejudice to applicability of GDPR to a controller established in California.⁴¹

In case of applicability of both data protection regimes, various obligations are triggered. On the one hand, compliance with basic principles of processing personal data and subsequent obligations is required in terms of GDPR. On the other hand, CCPA entails individual rights of consumers that go beyond the rights enshrined in GDPR e.g. right to opt out from the sale of personal data. Both acts include severe sanctions for the violation of respective data protection laws (for further comparison see Kessler, 2019).

Second scenario: Application of GDPR

As stated above, GDPR distinguishes between intra-territorial application and extra-territorial application. A company is bound by the provisions of Article 3 when it is established in the territory of the EU or directs sale of goods and services or monitors behaviour of data subjects in the EU. A situation when only GDPR applies would be a company established in Warsaw processing personal data of customers in the EU without being domiciled or paying taxes in California (see respective thresholds above). Another example would be a company domiciled in Seattle providing application to customers in the EU and directing its sale there. The same conclusion towards business in California shall be applicable as in the previous case.

Third scenario: Application of CCPA

The third scenario is for a company that is not caught by the applicability of Article 3 GDPR and only CCPA applies. This is for example the company that is doing business in California for profit and other conditions laid down by CCPA are applicable e.g. a start-up AC ltd. selling autonomous vehicles only in the territory of California and only to residents of California based on special trial regime established by Californian government. AC ltd collects and processes personal data about its customers and users of autonomous vehicles. However, the company shall limit its activities with regard to the EU. It must not have establishment in the EU processing personal data or direct its

³⁹ GDPR, Article 4 (7)

⁴⁰ See Article 28 GDPR.

⁴¹ Please see discussion in EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November, pp. 11-13.

activities towards data subjects in the EU with regard to offering goods or services or monitoring of the behaviour. This would not be the case if a customer drives an autonomous vehicle in the territory of the EU.

5. CONCLUSION

Protection of information privacy is fairly different in the European Union and the United States of America especially in terms of legislative approach. EU adopts general legislation dealing with data protection issues for public and private sector respectively. USA prefers sectoral approach with a wide range of specific-aimed legislation on the federal level and state-level.

Comparing territorial scope of GDPR and CCPA it may be concluded that GDPR explicitly set forth for conditions of intra-territorial and extra-territorial activity. CCPA is not that clear in wording of the legislation although it is widely presumed that it may apply also on companies not established in California. The article analyses three possible scenarios of applicability of GDPR and CCPA. It shall be concluded that it is possible for both acts to be applicable for one company taking into account territorial scope of the legislation. If this is the case, several obligations arising from GDPR and CCPA respectively are triggered and "burden" the entity processing of personal data.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Andraško, J. (2017). Theoretical aspects of public administration electronic services. Bratislava Law Review, 1(2), 119-128, DOI: https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2017.1.2.76.
- Bennett, J. C. (1988). Different processes, One result: The Convergence of Data Protection Policy in Europe and the United States. In Governance: International Journal of Policy and Administration, 1(4), 415-441, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.1988.tb00073.x.
- Berthoty, J. et al. (2018). Všeobecné nariadenie o ochrane osobných údajov. Praha: C.H. Beck.
- Bignami, F. (2007). European Versus American Liberty: A Comparative Privacy Analysis of Antiterrorism Data Mining. *Boston College Law Review*, 48 (3), 609-698. Available at http://lawdigitalcommons.bc.edu/bclr/vol48/iss3/ (accessed on 20.03.2020).
- Goldman, E. (2018). An Introduction to the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA). Available at https://www.ssrn.com/abstract=3211013 (accessed on 20.03.2020).
- Kessler, J. (2019). Data Protection in the Wake of the GDPR: California's Solution for Protecting "the World's Most Valuable Resource." *Southern California Law Review*, 93 (1), 99-128.
- Kuner, Ch. (2013). *Transborder Data Flow Regulation and Data Privacy Law*. First edition. Oxford: University Press.
- Levin, A. & Nicholson, M. (2005). Privacy law in the United States, the EU and Canada: The Allure of the Middle Ground. *University of Ottawa Law and Technology Journal*, 2(2), 357-395.
- Solove, D. (2016). A Brief History of Information Privacy Law. In PROSKAUER ON PRIVACY, PLI, 2016 GWU Law School Public Law Research Paper No. 215.

Available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=914271 (accessed on 20.03.2020).

- Pernot-LePlay, E. (2020a). China's Approach on Data Privacy Law: A Third Way Between the U.S. and the EU? *Penn State Journal of Law & International Affairs*, 8(1), 49-117.
- Pernot-LePlay (2020b). EU Influence on Data Privacy Laws: Is the U.S. Approach Converging with the EU Model? *Colorado Technology Law Journal*, 18(1), 101-124.
- Prosser, W. (1960). Privacy. *California Law Review*, 48 (3), 383-423, DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/3478805.

Umhoefer, C. (2019). CCPA vs. GDPR: the same, only different. *Intellectual Property and Technology News*. April 11, 2020. Available at: https://www.dlapiper.com/en/us/insights/publications/2019/04/ipt-news-q1-2019/ccpa-vs-qdpr/ (accessed on 20.03.2020).

Zanfir, G. (2012). EU and US Data Protection Reforms. A Comparative View. *European Integration Realities and Perspectives*, the 7th Edition of the International Conference, 217-223. Available at: http://www.proceedings.univdanubius.ro/index.php/eirp/article/viewFile/1305/1182 (accessed on 20.03.2020).

- Warren, S. & Brandeis, L. (1890). The Right to Privacy. *Harvard Law Review*, 4(5), 193-220.
- Annex to the Recommendation of the Council of 23rd September 1980: Guidelines governing the protection of privacy and transborder flows of personal data.
- Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL concerning the respect for private life and the protection of personal data in electronic communications and repealing Directive 2002/58/EC (Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications).

REPORT FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL on the second annual review of the functioning of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/report_on_the_second_annual_review_ of_the_eu-us_privacy_shield_2018.pdf (accessed on 20.03.2020).

- CJEU decision in Weltimmo v NAIH (C-230/14).
- CJEU decision Google Spain SL, Google Inc. v AEPD, Mario Costeja González (C-131/12).
- EDPB Guidelines 3/2018 on the territorial scope of the GDPR (Article 3) Adopted on 16 November.
- Article 29 Data Protection Working Party Update of Opinion 8/2010 on applicable law in light of the CJEU judgement in Google Spain.





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

DO THE NEW PEACE AGREEMENTS BETWEEN ISRAEL AND THE GULF STATES SET A "HONEY TRAP" FOR ISRAEL? / Nellie Munin

Nellie Munin LLD, Advocate; Associate Professor and member of the founding faculty, the law school, Zefat Academic College, Israel. Former Minister of Economic Affairs in the Israeli Mission to the EU. Former Chief Legal Advisor, State Revenue Administration, the Israeli Ministry of Finance; Nelliemunin@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-9383-9037 Abstract: This article examines whether the recent peace agreements, signed between Israel and the Gulf states: The United Arab Emirates and Bahrain in September 2020, form a 'honey trap', meant to use the economic benefits they offer as leverage to affect Israel's political position towards the Middle East conflict. Recalling that the EU exercises such an approach for many years, the article tries to assess its current and potential effectiveness to the parties involved.

Key words: Israel; EU; Gulf states; economic benefits; Israeli-Palestinian conflict; Public International Law

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 24 September 2020 Accepted: 17 October 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Munin, N. (2020). Do The New Peace Agreements Between Israel and the Gulf States Set a "Honey Trap" for Israel? *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 95-110. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.206

1. INTRODUCTION

Back in 2003 I wrote an article titled "the honey trap" (see Munin, 2003), suggesting that the EU uses its economic importance to Israel and the latter's keenness to deepen their economic bond, as leverage to try changing Israel's approach regarding its ongoing conflict with the Palestinian people.

This EU approach is not applied only to Israel. It is part of its broader "normative power" approach, or "carrot and stickism" (Manners, 2002) well established in literature, aiming at positioning the EU as a global political and economic player.

Theoretically, Israel should be particularly sensitive to this approach, due to its situs and market's unique characteristics. Pragmatically, however, this EU approach towards Israel seems to yield only limited results.

Since Israel's establishment, in 1948, the Arab states opted for a different approach to the Middle East conflict, refraining from any political or economic contact with Israel, at least formally, believing that this is an effective way to support the Palestinian side of the conflict. Throughout the years, this approach proved to be ineffective,¹ neither making Israel change its position regarding the conflict, nor

¹ UAE's minister of state, Anwar Gargash, openly admitted in a Zoom discussion with the American Jewish Committee (AJC) that the detachment approach led the Arab states nowhere (see Shery, 2020).

contributing to its ending. In the 1990's Egypt² and Jordan³ changed their positions, concluding peace agreements with Israel. Although peace with both these states is still considered to be "cold", it facilitates certain necessary regional political and economic collaboration,⁴ offering Egypt and Jordan some leverage for interference in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. It also sends an indirect message to the Palestinian people that they are expected to follow the same path.

Egypt and Jordan - as well as Syria and Lebanon which did not sign peace agreements with Israel – share with it mutual borders. Attempting to help Palestinians, all participated in previous wars and lost territories which were captured by Israel. Their interest to conclude peace agreements with Israel thus involved (in the cases of Egypt and Jordan) or still involves (in the cases of Syria and Lebanon) a desire to regain these territories. Consequently, the terms of such peace agreements are subject to strong political domestic controversies in these countries, and even more so in Israel, which is expected to withdraw these territories in return for peace.

This consideration is irrelevant to the Gulf states situated thousands of kilometres away from the territories in conflict. They were never directly involved in hostilities emanating from the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. They refrained from official relations with Israel, not to protect their own interests, but rather to express identification with the Palestinians. Unofficially, limited economic and political relations between Israel and these states have been in existence for many years. Consequently, formal peace made with them does not face strong domestic political objections in any of the parties to these peace agreements.⁵

In recent years, the Gulf states' motivation to refrain from official connections with Israel was eroded in two major aspects:

- A growing *domestic* need to enhance economic collaboration with Israel known as a global leader in high tech and advanced technologies - realizing the ongoing decline in economic importance of the Gulf states' major source of capital: oil (Rapier, 2020), broadly replaced with solar, wind and other environment-friendly sources of energy.
- The growing frustration from the stagnant Palestinian position and the abuse for hostile purposes of huge amounts of money (e.g., Pardos and Blanchard, 2004; FATF, 2020),⁶ including sums contributed by the Gulf states and others to develop the Palestinian economy.

Both these aspects, enhanced by some US's incentives,⁷ partly explain the recent shift of position which led to a conclusion of two new peace agreements, one between Israel and the United Arab Emirates (UAE) and the other between Israel and Bahrein, in

² See the full text of the agreement in Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2013a).

³ See the full text of the agreement in Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2013b).

⁴ In 2018 the total scope of Israeli imports from Egypt was 111 million § and the total scope of Israeli exports to it was 72 million \$ (Tel Aviv and Center Chambers of Commerce, 2019). In 2019, the total scope of Israeli imports from Jordan was 99.2 million \$ and the total scope of Israeli exports to it was 8.8 million \$. Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics, 2020).

⁵ In Israel, it did not encounter any objection. In the Gulf states, some public protest was witnessed, but its scale was quite limited (Frisch, 2020).

⁶ See also Official NGO Monitor website, available at: https://www.ngo-

monitor.org.il/search/?q=+terror+financing (accessed on 22.11.2020).

⁷ US's president Donald Trump promised in his first election campaign to bring peace to the Middle East. In January 2020 his administration initiated a peace plan for the region, titled Peace to Prosperity. See the full text in WhiteHouse.gov (2020). However, since this program did not seem to be accepted by the Palestinians, and Trump has an urgent need to "deliver" before the coming elections Trump, who was interested to enhance alternative peace agreements, suggested the Gulf states incentives such as the sale of F-35 jet airplanes to the United Arab Emirates (Globes, 2020).

September 15, 2020. According to US's President Trump, some five other Gulf states are expected to follow soon (Harkov 2020).

While this change of approach bears obvious political implications, it also opens the way for enhanced economic collaboration between Israel and the Gulf states, which was not possible previously. This collaboration might lead to a growing dependence of the Israeli economy⁸ on these states, implying a political leverage over Israel, which did not exist hitherto.

This article examines whether, or to what extent, the new Gulf states' approach corresponds to EU's long-lasting "honey trap" approach towards Israel. Analysing the merits and limits of EU's approach during the years it is applied to Israel, the article tries to assess the potential leverage created by the new Gulf states' approach towards Israel, in both economic and political terms. The first section explains why Israel is potentially so sensitive to subjecting economic benefits to political dictation by its trade partners. The second section introduces EU's "normative power" and 'soft power' approaches, and their application to Israel. The third section analyses the new peace agreements between Israel, the UAE and Bahrein, assessing the potential economic leverage they suggest in comparison to that of the EU. The fourth section concludes.

2. ISRAEL'S VULNERABLE POSITION AS A GLOBAL TRADER

Israel is a relatively small country,⁹ situated in a hostile neighbourhood. Although mostly surrounded by land, it effectively feels like an island: land transportation in and out of it is very limited, due to its conflict with most of its neighbouring countries. For the same reason, its major trade and political partners are geographically remote.

Due to Israel's small size and problematic situs, the Israeli economy heavily relies on international trade,¹⁰ to exhaust its comparative advantages¹¹ and economies of scale¹² benefits. Moreover, Israel's geographical distance from many potential trade partners dictates its reliance on the EU – its geographically closest¹³ trade partner outside the region – to save expensive shipment costs to remote destinations, and enable trade in perishable goods, such as fresh foods, flowers and livestock as well as in fragile goods, that could barely last long shipments.

Israel's major economic partners are the EU¹⁴ and the US.¹⁵

The Israeli market is thus very vulnerable to lack or decline of external trade, emanating either from global drawbacks such as the current COVID-19 pandemic, or from potential political pressures assumed by its trade partners.

^eIsraeli politicians who commented on these agreements expressed hopes for intensive investments from these Gulf states in the Israeli market, to help it recover the current economic crisis caused by COVID-19. See, e.g. Odenheimer (2020).

⁹ Israel's territory spreads over 21,640 Square KM (see Worldmeter, 2020). It is ranked 153 in terms of territory's size globally. Its population comprises some 9.2 million citizens (Israel Today, 2020).

¹⁰ Imports and exports form almost 60% of Israel's GDP (Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics, 2020a).

¹¹ Comparative advantage is a notion attributed to the economist David Ricardo who, in the 19th century, suggested that each country should expertise in producing goods or services which it can produce in the lowest comparative cost, and buy other products and services from countries producing them in the cheapest comparative cost, to maximize its profits.

¹² Economies of scale is an economic principle suggesting that the cost per unit of output decreases as the scale of production (and sales) increases.

¹³ The Cypriot border, serving as an EU gate, is only 300 km far from Israel.

¹⁴ In 2019, Israeli exports to the EU exceeded 17.3 bn \$ while its imports from the EU exceeded 27.6 bn \$ (Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics, 2020b).

¹⁵ In 2019, Israeli exports to the US exceeded 15.9 bn \$ while its imports from the US exceeded 11.7 bn \$ (Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics, 2020c).

Until the 1990's, Israel tended towards a protectionist approach, to allow its infant industries to grow. In recent decades the decisiveness of international trade to the development of the Israeli mature economy is broadly realized.

Over the years, Israel took unilateral, regional and multilateral steps to facilitate international trade. In the multilateral sphere, it joined the GATT¹⁶ in 1961 and the WTO¹⁷ upon its establishment, in 1995.

Israel established a network of regional and bilateral trade agreements,¹⁸ complementing the multilateral setting by allowing more specific, custom-made adjustments between their parties. Unilateral measures are taken from time to time, to fine-tune the balance between the Israeli market's domestic needs and its external trade.¹⁹

In previous decades Israeli decision makers believed that the WTO system would suffice to cover most Israel's trade concerns. Thus, insufficient efforts were invested in the bilateral and regional spheres. The deadlock the WTO experiences in recent years²⁰ illuminated the limits of Israel's relatively small bilateral and regional network of agreements. In recent years more efforts have been invested in broadening this network, but being time and effort consuming processes, negotiations advance slowly. Moreover, while trade in services is the source for more than 70% of Israel's GDP, it is yet uncovered by most of Israel's regional and bilateral trade agreements.²¹

The time and effort consuming processes of negotiating international trade agreements implies that Israeli decision makers have to prioritise their limited resources. That process is further slowed down by Israeli leaders' hesitation between reinforcing relations with the "old world" giants, i.e. the US and the EU which are Israel's major current trade – and political²² – partners, and opting for new, promising domains by intensifying Israel's trade contacts with "new world" players, i.e. Far East emerging powers, such as China and India. This hesitation is also reflected in the public and business community discourse in Israel. However, Israel's list of the currently negotiated trade agreements seems to mark a growing realization of such variety's importance.

The recent COVID-19 pandemic offered an interesting setting to test another feature underlining (and limiting) Israel's global trade policy. Israeli decision makers

¹⁶ GATT – the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade. See full text in: https://www.wto.org/english/docs_e/legal_e/gatt47.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).

¹⁷ WTO - the World Trade Organization, now encompassing 164 member states. See more details in: www.wto.org (accessed on 22.11.2020).

¹⁸ Israel has regional trade agreements with the US, Canada, Mexico, MERCOSUR, Columbia, Panama, the EU, EFTA, the UK (to be effectuated after the Brexit), Turkey, Ukraine, Egypt and Jordan. Currently, Israel negotiates additional trade agreements with South Korea, India, Vietnam, China, the Euro-Asian Union and Guatemala (The Israeli Ministry of Economy, 2020).

¹⁹ In 1991 Israel unilaterally liberalized trade in certain sectors, including lumber wood, shoes and textiles. Since then, unilateral liberalization was used to enhance competition and reduce prices, e.g. regarding certain cheeses in recent years, or to relieve seasonal lacks of certain products, e.g. eggs in spring 2020.

²⁰ WTO's stagnation in recent years emanates from several reasons, including disagreement between the US and other member states on nominations of Appellate Body members, and an ongoing disagreement between developed and developing member states on the desired WTO agenda. Consequently, the "Doha Round" that started in 2001 does not reach an end (see Pakpahan, N.D.).

²¹ A chapter on trade in services is included in the free trade area agreement concluded with Panama in 2018 (Free Trade Agreement between the State of Israel and the Republic of Panama, 2018). One reason for that situation is, again, Israel's reliance on the multilateral sphere that disappointed: the TISA initiative, which was an attempt that failed to establish a complementary multilateral agreement on trade in services outside the GATS (see European Commission, 2017a). The other reason is a combination of the considerable efforts it requires from Israel and the reluctance of Israel's trade partners to push for it, due to the relatively small size of the Israeli market.

²² Politically, Israel tends to rely more on the US than on the EU. The public opinion in Israel perceives EU's political position as biased in favour of the Palestinians. Thus, it perceives the US as a more honest broker.

believe that since it is surrounded by hostile neighbours it should maintain some - even uncompetitive - domestic industries, to ensure the supply of basic foods and products in cases of temporary international supplies cut offs. Unfortunately, one such regulated and protected industry: the domestic eggs industry, failed to deliver during the first COVID-19 wave in spring 2020 (see Munin, 2020).

Currently, Israel is thus a country situated in a hostile neighbourhood that could find itself isolated in terms of international trade in no time, due to political hostilities or international crises such as COVID-19. To exhaust its economic potential, it heavily relies on international trade. Due to years of strategic miscalculation, its current network of regional and bilateral trade agreements is quite limited. Consequently, the Israeli economy heavily relies on the EU and the US, its major trade partners. This reliance is further reinforced by Israel's political reliance on these two "old world's" superpowers.

These facts may explain Israel's vulnerability to political pressures from its trade partners.

3. THE EU AND THE "HONEY TRAP" IT SETS

The EU, the world's largest trade block, has been long using its economic power to affect the political agenda of its partners, by exercising what is broadly recognized by the literature as 'normative power' (see for example Duchêne, 1972; Galtung, 1073; Diez, 2013; Gordon and Pardo, 2015) – the 'export' of EU *legal norms* to other countries, e.g. by mutual international agreements, and other forms of "soft power" (e. g., Nye, 2009; Smith, 2006; Ociepka, 2013) – the power to *politically convince* the others to adopt behaviour, positions, norms or agendas shared by the EU.

In the Mediterranean region context, this policy has been reinforced since mid-1990's, with the conclusion of Association agreements between the EU and the Mediterranean countries. These agreements are rooted in the Barcelona Process,²³ launched at the euphoric time when the "Oslo Agreements"²⁴ between Israel and the PLO where concluded, and peace in the region seemed to be within reach. The Barcelona process envisioned an adjusted application of the EU model to the Mediterranean region, aiming to establish a network of international trade agreements among the Mediterranean countries, and a complementary network of agreements between them and the EU. While the potential parties where quite reluctant to establish the anticipated regional network of agreements,²⁵ most of them (including Israel) concluded Association agreements with the EU.

The EU aims to strengthen its position as a global political and economic player, competing with other global powers, such as the US and China (see European Commission, 2017b, pp. 8-10). It thus desires to portray an international image of a power that could potentially change the position of other players, as well as a guardian of public international law rules and basic rights of the relatively weak parties in international conflicts. The EU is interested in affecting the Middle East, due to its global political and

²³ Nowadays, the process has melted into the EU's Union for the Mediterranean (UFM) program. See more details in: The Barcelona Process or Euro-Mediterranean Partnership. Available at: https://www.barcelona.com/barcelona_news/the_barcelona_process_or_euro_mediterranean_partnership (accessed on 22.11.2020).

²⁴ The "Oslo Agreements", concluded between Israel and the PLO in 1993 and in 1995, provided for a gradual process of peace building in the region. The process was never completed due the political assassination of the Israeli Prime minister Yitzhak Rabin and the Palestinian hostilities that followed (see Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2013c).

²⁵ In some cases, due to regional conflicts. In other cases, due to low volumes of trade that did not justify the necessary efforts.

economic importance and geographic proximity (see, e. g., Gomez, 2003; Wolf, 2009; Bicchi, 2010; Pierini, 2020). The Association agreements with the Mediterranean countries facilitate EU's exercise of "normative power" to that extent.

Reflecting EU's vision, all these Association agreements include political references. In the EU-Israel association agreement,²⁶ they are embodied in Article 2, subjecting the agreement to mutual respect of shared values, such as democracy and the rule of law, and in Article 3 providing for an ongoing political dialogue between the parties.²⁷

Since their conclusion, these Association agreements have underlined EU's attempts to apply its political agenda to the Mediterranean countries including, inter alia, territorial disputes between Turkey and Cyprus over North Cyprus,²⁸ Morocco and Spain over Western Sahara,²⁹ and Israel and the Palestinian Authority over the 'occupied territories'.

In the latter case, after the conclusion of the Association agreements with Israel (1995) and with the PLO (1997)³⁰ the EU started to exclude the territories Israel captured during regional wars from the former Association Agreement's scope of application, contending that these territories are not part of "Israel".³¹ The CJEU addressed this legal and political controversy in two³² controversial³³ rulings, reinforcing this position. Since the CJEU holds the supreme power to interpret EU law, EU member states and institutions follow these rulings closely, applying this interpretation to EU legislation and administrative practices across the board.³⁴

This EU approach certainly deprives the disputed territories off the economic benefits embodied in the EU-Israel Association agreement. Attempts to quantify its exact economic effect fail because the situation on the ground is dynamic, but the overall assessment is bearable for Israel. Concerns that other countries may be inspired by the EU to adopt a similar position towards the territories, or rather towards the entire Israeli economy (e.g., Kofman, 2014) did not turn into a broad-scale reality, in the meantime.

While the EU may have drawn some international attention and considerable academic and media attention for taking these steps, reinforcing its desirable international image, they did not change the Israeli position towards the territories.

²⁹ Case C-104/16 Council v. Front Polisario, judgment of 21 December 2016. Available at:

²⁶ Euro-Mediterranean Agreement Establishing an Association between the European Communities and their Member States, of the one part, and the State of Israel, of the other part, OJ L 147/3 21.06.2000. Available at: https://eeas.europa.eu/archives/delegations/israel/documents/eu_israel/asso_agree_en.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).

²⁷ Such references were not included in the previous free trade area agreement between Israel and the EU of 1975, which the Association agreement replaced.

²⁸ Case C-219/98 Regina v. Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, ex parte S.P. Anastasiou (Pissouri) Ltd. & Others, EU:C:2000:360 (re North Cyprus). Available at:

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?language=en&num=C-219/98 (accessed on 22.11.2020).

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?language=en&num=C-104/16 (accessed on 22.11.2020).

³⁰ See full text in Treaties Office Database (2012).

³¹ Simultaneously, they are unable to enjoy the benefits of the EU-PLO Association agreements, since these territories are effectively captured by Israel, exercising its sovereignty on them until the end of the conflict. ³² C-386/08 Brita GmbH v. Hauptzollamt Hamburg-Hafen, available at:

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=72406&pageIndex=0&doclang=EN&mode =Ist&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=4196248 (accessed on 22.11.2020); and Case C-363/18 Organization juive Europeenne, Vignoble Psagot LTD v. Ministre de l'Economie et des Finances, available at: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste_jsf?num=C-363/(accessed on 22.11.2020).

³³ For details on the development of this controversy and the conflicting arguments by the parties, as well as criticism over EU's approach, see: Munin (2011); Munin (2015); Munin and Sitbon (2020).

³⁴ Brita judgment refers to import duties. Psagot judgment refers to consumer protection. Other fields are covered by EU regulation, e.g., European Commission (2011); European Commission (2013a); European Commission (2013b).

Another way by which the EU assumes pressure on Israel involves its refrainment from updating their Association agreement. The EU-Israel Association agreement was drafted more than 25 years ago. It definitely needs some updating. Thus, for example, it does not cover services, forming source for more than 70% of both parties GDP. Many provisions in it, allowing for potential collaboration in fields such as transportation, energy, education, immigration etc., that could have yielded economic advantages to both parties, are not realized, or fully exhausted, for political reasons. Although it is hard to assess the economic damage of this reality, it undoubtedly implies substantial economic losses, particularly to the Israeli economy, considerably depending on the EU as its major trade partner. Nevertheless, even this does not persuade Israel to change its approach towards the regional conflict.

In times of regional hostilities, e.g. military operations Israel conducted to put a stop to constant rocket shooting from Gaza Strip, some EU members suggested to rely on Article 2 of EU-Israel Association agreement, referring to mutual shared values, to suspend the entire agreement with Israel, for allegedly not respecting these values. A similar suggestion was recently invoked in the context of Israel's unilateral annexation plan (e.g., European Coordination of Committees and Associations for Palestine, 2015; European Parliament, 2014). Eventually, other member states undermined these initiatives, but this is another pending potential EU threat.³⁵

The reason Israel does not change its position despite these strong pressures is that the territories' status is a core issue in Israeli politics, with some believing that it may affect Israel's very existence. Namely, it is too substantial to be given up for any economic benefits at stake.

Thus, the 'honey trap' the EU created has only a limited effect.

Yet another limit to EU's 'honey trap' lies in its own economic interests: when these are at stake, the EU would enhance connections with Israel, ignoring differences in their political positions. One good example is the ongoing collaboration between Israel and the EU regarding R&D ventures, now under the auspice of Horizon 2020.³⁶ Israel's ongoing active participation in this programme and in its preceding "Framework Programmes" was never threatened by the EU, because it serves well EU's interests.³⁷

4. DO THE GULF STATES CREATE THEIR OWN "HONEY TRAP"?

4.1 The Negotiations: Assuming "Soft Power"?

According to negotiators, the peace agreements recently concluded between Israel, the UAE and Bahrein result from long years' efforts (Eichner, 2020). Moreover, the agreements bring into the open unofficial security and intelligence, economic and trade collaboration as well as a public inter-religious dialogue including Jews, Christians and Muslims that has already been taking place between Israel and these states.

In January 2020, the US published its peace initiative for the Mediterranean region. The plan supported the application of Israeli sovereignty to 30% of Judea and Samaria (part of the territories occupied in 1967). In return, Israel was required to agree

³⁵ Recently, this threat was invoked regarding the planned annexation of territories. According to the press, Sweden, Luxembourg and Ireland supported this initiative, while Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria and the Czech Republic where ready to Block it (Kahana and ILH Staff, 2020).

³⁶ See details and statistics about the Israeli participation in this program in Israel-Europe Research & Innovation Directorate (2020).

³⁷ On the contrary: in one of the outbursts of controversy between the EU and Israel, in 2013, Israeli Prime Minister Netanyahu threatened that due to EU's approach regarding the territories Israel would not join Horizon 2020. This threat was later removed after mutual negotiations (European Commission, 2013c).

to the establishment of a Palestinian state with limited sovereign powers, supposing the Palestinians meet certain terms such as dealing with terror, giving up the right of return, stopping activities against Israel in international forums, recognizing Israel as a Jewish state that has a right to exist, etc. The programme did not subject the annexation of the territories by Israel to Palestinian agreement. Following explicit Palestinian rejection of this plan, the Israeli Prime Minister Netanyahu announced that Israel considers unilateral annexation of captured territories in the West Bank.³⁸ The deadline for this annexation was set for July 1st, 2020. This announcement triggered a broad public discourse in Israel, both in the media and in academic channels (e.g., Dekel and Shusterman, 2020; Commanders for Israel's Security in partnership with Israel Policy Forum, 2018). In June 2020 Netanyahu announced that to avoid broad global opposition, following thorough examination by domestic expert teams nominated to recommend further steps, the Israeli government considered to unilaterally annex only part of the originally planned territories. It was estimated that EU warnings contributed to this shift of position (Bersky and Kutz, 2020). Finally, Israel agreed to refrain from unilateral annexation altogether, at least for the time being, in return to the peace agreements with the UAE and Bahrein. This sequence of events, reported by the media, cannot indicate whether, or to what extent, the intention for unilateral annexation of all or part of the West Bank territories was serious, or rather a well-planned, coordinated device of misinformation, intended to draw the global and local attention from the last phase of the negotiations, or to create the impression of an American/Arab political achievement.

If Israel swaps a serious intention to unilaterally annex the territories with the peace agreements, the potential economic and political benefits such agreements offer may have served as "honey traps" for Israel, set either by the Gulf states,³⁹ the US or both. However, lack of sufficient information makes it hard to draw an evident conclusion. The political spin option cannot be completely ruled out, taking into account Israeli leaders' awareness of the possible far-reaching international and domestic political statuses of such steps, on the one hand, and the contemporary shaky political statuses of President Trump and Prime Minister Netanyahu, on the other.

Gulf states leaders contend that in the negotiations process they succeeded to convince Israel to opt for normalization rather than annexation that would lead to severe regional, and maybe global, results. If this is true, these states exercised on Israel "soft power", obviously encouraged by the US - that was reinforced by the Israeli expectation for the political and economic benefits this move may yield, in its relations with the Gulf states and the US, as well as for a broader scale positive effects on its status in the region as well as on its global image.

4.2 The Agreements

4.2.1 UAE-Israel Agreement

The UAE is an emerging player in the Arab world. In recent years it plays a dominant role in regional politics. Its small army, considered to be the most skilled and

³⁸ Of the territories Israel has captured, some were withdrawn due to the peace agreements with Jordan and Egypt. The Gaza strip was unilaterally withdrawn while East Jerusalem and the Golan Heights were unilaterally annexed by Israeli laws. The territories Netanyahu addressed are situated in Judea and Samaria.

³⁹ Yousef Él Otaiba, UAE's secretary of State and its Ambassador to the US described, in an interview he gave, a process by which the Gulf states convinced Israel to give up annexation and opt for normalization in the region, explaining to its leaders the destructive potential of this step, exercising trust-building gestures such as establishing "Abraham Family's House" in Abu Dabi, which would include a church, a musk and a synagogue; establishing a kosher catering in Dubai, and offering Israel more security and direct connections.

equipped army among the Arab states, is involved in fighting in Yamen, Libya and Afghanistan. The ratio between its small population (only one million nationals, nine million citizens) and its great oil reserves (about 100 million proved barrels) turns it into one of the richest countries in the world. Experts assess that UAE's motivation to conclude the agreement with Israel lies in its leader's desire to improve its international image, eroded by UAE's military involvement in Yamen, and strengthen its relations with the US, which offers the UAE certain guarantees and access to advanced weapons. Indirectly, this step supported US's president Trump in the last elections, an interest shared by UAE's leader Bin Zaid (Gozansky, 2020). This opinion may raise a doubt regarding UAE's "honey trap" motivation, suggesting that its major motivation to sign this agreement barely involves Israel (with which economic and political relations existed anyway). At the same time, however, affecting the Israeli position regarding the conflict may contribute to UAE's regional and global image restoration.

The Agreement's Text:

The Treaty of Peace, Diplomatic Relations and Full Normalization Between the United Arab Emirates and the State of Israel, concluded in September 15, 2020 (see full text in TOI STAFF, 2020), includes some elements that may indicate a "honey trap".

Similarly to EU-Israel Association agreement, it includes a political context, obtained by references to the Charter of the United Nations (Article 2), a mutual commitment to peace and stability in the entire Middle East, a commitment for regular mutual dialogue (Article 4), and a mutual commitment to cooperate with the US and others to launch a "strategic agenda for the Middle East" (Article 7).

Another resemblance to the EU-Israel Association agreement lies in a list of *potential* fields of economic collaboration, which should be developed into detailed agreements (Article 5). This list includes finance and investment; civil aviation; visas and consular services; innovation, trade and economic relations; healthcare – science, technology and peaceful uses of outer-space; tourism, culture and sport; energy – environment- education; maritime arrangements; telecommunications and post; agriculture and food security; water; legal cooperation.

The language of this framework agreement indicates that the parties expect to develop these specific economic collaboration agreements that would turn peace into a detailed reality, as soon as possible, providing: "Any such agreements concluded <u>before</u> the entry into force of this Treaty shall enter into effect with the entry into force of this Treaty unless otherwise stipulated therein. Agreed principles for cooperation in specific spheres are annexed to this Treaty and form an integral part thereof." [Emphasis added].

However, bearing in mind the fact that similar potential provisions, included in EU-Israel Association agreement 25 years ago are still not realized due to political disagreement about the Middle East conflict, and the 'cold' peace with Egypt and Jordan, one may foresee how such provisions may function as a "honey trap", either by immediate realization leading to greater economic dependence or by avoiding it, on political grounds. The Horizon 2020 example illustrates that the choice between these two alternatives might depend on the urgency of the Gulf states' need to enjoy connections with Israel and the fields in which such urgency exists.

Yediot Aharonot, 12 June 2020. Available at: https://www.ynet.co.il/articles/0,7340,L-5746959,00.html (accessed on 22.11.2020). Some assess that without a determinant declaration by UAE's leader, Sheikh Mohammed *bin Zayed*, supporting Jordan's position against the annexation, this normalization process would not have been launched at this timing (see Gozansky, 2020).

4.2.2 Bahrein-Israel Agreement

Bahrein is a tiny country, with a territory of only 780 Square KM. Nevertheless, in terms of richness it is graded 33 in the world. 85% of its incomes emanate from oil. Bahrein also enjoys very strong connections with the US, equipping its army with modern weapons. This is particularly important due to constant threats it suffers from neighbouring Iran (Gozansky, 2012). Bahrein lifted its boycott on Israel back in 2005 and since then held unofficial, visible political connections with Israel.

Bahrein seems to have joined the peace initiative in the last moment. Thus, at the time this article was written the parties signed only a declaration of peace, $^{\rm 40}$ rather than an agreement.

This declaration also reflects an equilibrium between, on the one hand, a mutual commitment to peace and security in the region, including an explicit commitment to continue "the efforts to achieve a just, comprehensive, and enduring resolution of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict." On the other hand – the "carrot": a mutual commitment to "seek agreement in the coming weeks regarding investment, tourism, direct flights, security, telecommunications, technology, energy, healthcare, culture, the environment, and other areas of mutual benefit, as well as reaching agreement on the reciprocal reopening of embassies."

Such future detailed agreements could shed more light on the balance of interests the parties would choose to adopt, and the leverage of political influence it might create. In this case, too, it remains to be seen how quickly detailed agreements would be signed, to conclude whether their very signature is used as a means of political pressure on Israel.

5. CONCLUSION

This article examined the presumption that the new peace agreements concluded between Israel and two Gulf states: UAE and Bahrein, form "honey traps" meant to give the latter a leverage to change Israel's approach towards its ongoing conflict with the Palestinians, in return to economic and political benefits. This presumption was inspired by UAE leaders' admissions that they changed their position towards Israel since the detachment approach did not yield the expected fruits.

However, a thorough analysis of the current available texts which were signed in Washington in September 15, 2020, and the surrounding circumstances does not seem to lead to a clear conclusion.

In terms of motivation, it is unclear whether the Gulf states at stake share EU's motivation. Their willingness to engage in these agreements could be totally different, as suggested. In addition, some open ends make it difficult to complete the assessment at this point in time:

Trade volume and essence: one open question refers to the potential economic effect of these new alliances on the Israeli economy. While the EU, exercising such a 'honey trap' on Israel, is its major trade partner, it is yet unclear to what extent the Israeli economy may find itself depending on Gulf states' investments or on trade with these countries. 'Honey traps' effectiveness rely on substantial trade/investments volumes or on unique, indispensable aspects of trade associated with a certain trade partner.

Lack of Details: the details of any future agreement between the parties are yet unknown. The current documents signed only form frameworks for the mutual working out of such future, detailed agreements.

⁴⁰ See full text of the declaration in Landau (2020).

The time frame is also decisive: if detailed agreements, covering all listed issues, are signed in a short while, the potential of delaying them for decades to assume pressure, as done by the EU, would be undermined. However, suspending the trade they would facilitate may serve as an alternative leverage.

Time will thus tell what the effect of these agreements would be. If other Gulf states would join this initiative, they might become part of a more decisive trade block, bearing a greater economic potential – and consequently a greater potential political power which could assume pressure on Israel to change its approach towards the conflict.

The fact that even EU's real effect on the Israeli position towards the conflict is quite limited, could indicate the limits of any intended "honey trap" the Gulf states may expect. Having said that, Israel should not, however, rule out the possibility that the EU, the US and Gulf states may in the future join hands to change Israel's political position towards the conflict, imposing on it joined economic pressure.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Bersky, A. R. and Kutz, G. (2020). The Upcoming Plan: Applying Israeli Sovereignty Only to Jewish Settlements in Judea and Samaria. Maariv, 12 June 2020 [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.maariv.co.il/news/politics/Article-770949 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Bicchi, F. (2010). Dilemmas of Implementation: EU Democracy Assistance in the Mediterranean. Democratization, 17(5), 976-996. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13510347.2010.501181.
- Case C-104/16 Council v. Front Polisario, judgment of 21 December 2016. Available at: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?language=en&num=C-104/16 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Case C-219/98 Regina v. Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, ex parte S.P. Anastasiou (Pissouri) Ltd. & Others, EU:C:2000:360 (re North Cyprus). Available at: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?language=en&num=C-219/98 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Case C-363/18 Organization juive Europeenne, Vignoble Psagot LTD v. Ministre de l'Economie et des Finances. Available at:

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?num=C-363/l (accessed on 22.11.2020).

- Case C-386/08 Brita GmbH v. Hauptzollamt Hamburg-Hafen. Available at: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=72406&pagel ndex=0&doclang=EN&mode=Ist&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=4196248 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Commanders for Israel's Security in partnership with Israel Policy Forum (2018). Ramifications of West Bank Annexation: Security and Beyond. Available at: https://israelpolicyforum.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/Annexation-Summary-English-V1.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Dekel, U. and Shusterman, N. (2020). Annexing Judea and Samaria: Where Would it Lead? INSS, 10 June 2020. [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.inss.org.il/he/publication/annexation-convention-summary/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Diez, T. (2013). Normative Power as Hegemony. Cooperation and Conflict, 48(2), special Issue on Normative Power Europe (June 2013), 194-210. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836713485387.
- Duchêne, F. (1972). Europe's Role in World Peace. In: Mayne, R. (ed.) Europe Tomorrow: Sixteen Europeans Look Ahead (pp. 32–47). London: Fontana.

Eichner, I. (2020). Head of the Mosad will Soon Fly to UAE to Discuss the Peace Agreement's Details. Ynet, 14 August 2020 [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.ynet.co.il/news/article/rJCLcn7GD (accessed on 22.11.2020).

European Commission (2011). Commission decision of 31 January 2011 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequate protection of personal data by the State of Israel with regard to automated processing of personal data. (OJ L 27/39), Brussels, Belgium.

European Commission (2013a). 2013/C205/05 Guidelines on the Eligibility of Israeli Entities in the territories Occupied by Israel since June 1967 for grants, prizes, and financial instruments funded by the EU from 2014 onwards. (OJ C 205/5), Brussels, Belgium.

European Commission (2013b). Commission implementing regulation (EU) No. 594/2013 of 21 June 2013 amending implementing regulation (EU) No. 543/2011 as regards marketing standards in the fruit and vegetables sector and correcting that implementing regulation, 22 June 2013 (OJ L 170/43), Brussels, Belgium.

- European Commission (2013c). Israel Will Take Part in Horizon 2020. Available at: https://cordis.europa.eu/article/id/36298-israel-will-take-part-in-horizon-2020 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- European Commission (2017a). Trade in Services Agreement (TiSA). Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/trade/policy/in-focus/tisa/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- European Commission (2017b). The White Paper on the Future of Europe: Reflections and Scenarios for the EU27 by 2025. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/betapolitical/files/white_paper_on_the_future_of_europe_en.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- European Coordination of Committees and Associations for Palestine (2015). Suspend EU-Israel Treaty, 63 MEPs Say. Available at: http://www.eccpalestine.org/suspend-eu-israel-treaty-63-meps-say/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- European Parliament (2014). Parliamentary Questions: 23 October 2014. Subject: Suspension of the EU-Israel Association Agreement. Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document//E-8-2014-008366_EN.html (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- FATF (2020). Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financial Measures United Arab Emirates, Mutual Evaluation Report, April 2020. Available at: https://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/mer4/Mutual-Evaluation-Report-United-Arab-Emirates-2020.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Free Trade Agreement between the State of Israel and the Republic of Panama (2018). Available at:

http://www.economy.gov.il/InternationalAffairs/TradePolicyAndAgreements/Bila teralAgreementsDivision/Panama/FreeTrade/israel-panama-agreement.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).

- Frisch, H. (2020). The Israel UAE Agreement's Greatest Achievement: Little Arab Protest. The Begin-Sadat (BESA) Center for Strategic Studies, BESA Center Perspectives Paper No. 1,729, September 3, 2020. Available at: https://besacenter.org/perspectives-papers/israel-uae-peace-protest/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Galtung, J. (1973). The European Community: A Superpower in the Making. London: Allen & Unwin.

- GATT the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (1986). Available at: https://www.wto.org/english/docs_e/legal_e/gatt47.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Globes (2020). US to Sell F-35 to UAE as Part of Israel Deal. Available at: https://en.globes.co.il/en/article-us-to-sell-f-35-jets-to-uae-as-part-of-israel-deal-1001339722 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Gomez, R. (2003). Negotiating the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership: Strategic Action in EU Foreign Policy?. New York: Routledge. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315199771.
- Gordon, N. and Pardo, S. (2015). Normative Power Europe and the Power of the Local, Journal of Common Market Studies, 52(2), 416-427. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jcms.12162.
- Gozansky, Y. (2012). The Gulf States in a Changing Strategic Environment. INSS Memo no. 116 [Hebrew], 65-70.
- Gozansky, Y. (2020). UAE: Proactive in War and Peace. INSS, 19 August 2020 [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.inss.org.il/he/publication/uae-proactive-in-war-andpeace/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Harkov, L. (2020). The Peace Treaties Between the UAE, Bahrein and Israel are Signed. The Jerusalem Post, 16 September 2020. Available at: https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/israel-uae-bahrain-sign-game-changingnormalization-deal-watch-live-642368 (accessed on 22.11.2020).

- Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2013a). Israel-Egypt Peace Treaty. Available at: https://mfa.gov.il/mfa/foreignpolicy/peace/guide/pages/israeleqvpt%20peace%20treaty.aspx (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2013b). Israel-Jordan Peace Treaty. Available at: https://mfa.gov.il/mfa/foreignpolicy/peace/guide/pages/israeljordan%20peace%20treaty.aspx (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2013c). Israel-PLO Interim Agreements since 1993. Available at: https://mfa.gov.il/MFA/AboutIsrael/Maps/Pages/Israel-PLO-Interim-Agreements-since-1993.aspx (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Israel Today (2020), 18.9.2020 [Hebrew] Available at: https://www.israelhavom.co.il/article/801621 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Israel-Europe Research & Innovation Directorate (2020). Israel Participation in Horizon 2020. Available at: https://www.innovationisrael.org.il/ISERD/contentpage/israel-participation-horizon-2020 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics (2020). Table D. 4 Imports and Exports, by Commodity Groups – Jordan. Available at:

https://old.cbs.gov.il/www/fr_trade/d4t41.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics (2020a). Gross Domestic Product and Uses of Resources. Available at:

https://old.cbs.gov.il/reader/cw_usr_view_SHTML?ID=342 (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics (2020b). Table D. 4 - Imports and Exports, by Commodity Groups - Total E.U. Available at:

https://old.cbs.gov.il/www/fr_trade/d4t2.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics (2020c). Table D. 4 - Imports and Exports, by Commodity Groups – USA. Available at:

https://old.cbs.gov.il/www/fr_trade/d4t27.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Kahana A. and ILH Staff (2020). Will EU Sanction Israel Over Annexation Plan? Israel Hayom, 5 October 2020. Available at: https://www.israelhayom.com/2020/05/10/will-eu-sanction-israel-over-annexation-plan/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).

- Kofman, E. (2014). Analysis of potential implication of an economic boycott on Israel [Hebrew]. The Knesset's Center for Information and Research. Available at: https://fs.knesset.gov.il/globaldocs/MMM/ff4e6b58-e9f7-e411-80c8-00155d010977/2_ff4e6b58-e9f7-e411-80c8-00155d010977_11_10368.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Landau, N. (2020). FULL TEXT: The Israel-UAE-Bahrain Abraham Accords Peace Agreement. HAARETZ, 16 September 2020. Available at: https://www.haaretz.com/middle-east-news/.premium-full-text-the-israel-uaebahrain-abraham-accords-declaration-1.9159509 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Manners, I. (2002). Normative Power Europe: A Contradiction in Terms? Journal of Common Market Studies, 40(2), 235-58.
- Munin, N. (2003). The Honey Trap: use of international trade benefits as triggers for political achievements. State Revenue Administration Report (2002-2003), pp. 467-489. [Hebrew].
- Munin, N. (2011). Can Customs Rules Solve Difficulties Created by Public International Law? - Thoughts on the ECJ's Judgment in Brita Case (C-368/08). The Global Trade and Customs Journal, 6(4), 193-207.
- Munin, N. (2015). EU Measures Towards Israeli Activities in the Occupied Territories and the BDS: A Diplomatic Achievement or a Pyrrhic Victory?. The Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies, St. Tomas University, Florida, 7(3), 55-75.
- Munin, N. (2020). Does Israel Have Eggs? Outbreak, Sapir College's Electronic Journal, 13 April 2020 [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.sapir-outbreakjournal.org/copy-of-1 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Munin, N. and Sitbon, O. (2020). Between Normative Power and Soft Power: the Psagot Case Prism, forthcoming.
- Nye, J. S. (2009). Get smart: Combining Hard and Soft Power. Foreign affairs, 88(4), 160-163.
- Ociepka, B. (2013). New Members' Public Diplomacy. In: Davis Cross, M. K. and Melissen, J. (eds.), European Public Diplomacy: Soft Power at Work (chap. 3, pp. 39–56). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Odenheimer, A. (2020). Netanyahu Says UAE Wealth Fund Interested in Investing in Israel. Bloomberg, 19 August 2020. Available at: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-08-19/netanyahu-says-uaewealth-fund-interested-in-investing-in-israel (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Official NGO Monitor website (2020). Available at: https://www.ngomonitor.org.il/search/?q=+terror+financing (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Official website of the World Trade Organization (2020), available at: www.wto.org (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- OJ L 147/3 21.6.2000. Available at: https://eeas.europa.eu/archives/delegations/israel/documents/eu_israel/asso_a gree_en.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Pakpahan, B. (N.D.). Deadlock in the WTO: What is Next? Available at: https://www.wto.org/english/forums_e/public_forum12_e/art_pf12_e/art19.htm (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Pardos, A. B. and Blanchard, C. M. (2004). CRS Report for Congress: Saudi Arabia Terrorist Financing Issues, 1-25, Available at: https://fas.org/irp/crs/RL32499.pdf (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Pierini, M. (2020). New Power Struggles in the Mediterranean. Carnegie Europe, 30 July 2020. Available at: https://carnegieeurope.eu/2020/07/30/new-power-strugglesin-mediterranean-pub-82403 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Rapier R. (2020). The Oil & Gas Sector Could Already be in Terminal Decline. Oilprice.com, 17 June 2020. Available at: https://oilprice.com/Energy/Crude-Oil/The-Oil-Gas-Sector-Could-Already-Be-In-Terminal-Decline.html (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Shery, N. (2020). UAE: Not Being in Touch with Israel Lead Nowhere. DFN, 17 June 2020. [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.dfn.co.il/article/5509/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Smith, M. P. (2006). Soft Power Rising: Romantic Europe in the Service of Practical Europe. World Literature Today, 80(1), 20-23. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/40159018.
- Tel Aviv and Center Chambers of Commerce (2019). For the First Time we had in Kairo a Seminar to Promote Trade with Egypt. [Hebrew]. Available at: https://www.chamber.org.il/foreigntrade/1094/1100/98041/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- The Barcelona Process or Euro-Mediterranean Partnership. Available at: https://www.barcelona.com/barcelona_news/the_barcelona_process_or_euro_m editerranean_partnership (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- The Israeli Ministry of Economy (2020). Available at: http://www.economy.gov.il/InternationalAffairs/TradePolicyAndAgreements/Bila teralAgreementsDivision/Pages/AgreementsInNegotiations.aspx (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- TOI STAFF (2020). Full text of the 'Treaty of Peace' signed by Israel and the United Arab Emirates. Available at: https://www.timesofisrael.com/full-text-of-the-treaty-of-peace-signed-by-israel-and-the-united-arab-emirates/#gs.g7hb03 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- Treaties Office Database (2012). Euro-Mediterranean Interim Association Agreement on trade and cooperation between the European Community, of the one part, and the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO) for the benefit of the Palestinian Authority of the West Bank and the Gaza Strip, of the other part. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/world/agreements/prepareCreateTreatiesWorkspace/treati esGeneralData.do?step=0&redirect=true&treatyId=254 (accessed on 22.11.2020).
- WhiteHouse.gov (2020). PEACE TO PROSPERITY. A Vision to Improve the Lives of the Palestinian and Israeli People. Available at:

https://www.whitehouse.gov/peacetoprosperity/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Wolf, S. (2009). The Mediterranean Dimension of EU Counter-Terrorism. Journal of European Integration, 31(1), 137-156. DOI:

https://doi.org/10.1080/07036330802504013.

Worldmeter (2020). Available at: https://www.worldometers.info/worldpopulation/israel-population/ (accessed on 22.11.2020).

Yediot Aharonot, 12 June 2020. Available at: https://www.ynet.co.il/articles/0,7340,L-5746959,00.html (accessed on 22.11.2020).





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

SCHREMS II: WILL IT REALLY INCREASE THE LEVEL OF PRIVACY PROTECTION AGAINST MASS SURVEILLANCE? / Lusine Vardanyan, Václav Stehlík

Lusine Vardanyan

Ph.D. researcher at Palacky University in Olomouc, Law Faculty, Department of International and European Law, 17. listopadu 8, 779 00 Olomouc, Czech Republic; Iucyrossetti77@gmail.com ORCID: 0000-0002-2981-0520

doc. JUDr. Václav Stehlík, LL.M. Ph.D. Associate Professor of EU law, at Palacky University in Olomouc, Law Faculty, Department of International and European Law, 17. listopadu 8, 779 00 Olomouc, Czech Republic; vaclav.stehlik@upol.cz ORCID: 0000-0003-1997-7965

The paper was prepared under project no. 20-27227S "The Advent, Pitfalls and Limits of Digital Sovereignty of the European Union" funded by the Czech Science Foundation (GAČR) Abstract: An important event that once again brought to the forefront issues related to mass surveillance was the judgment of the Court of Justice of the European Union (hereafter referred as CJEU) delivered on July 16. 2020 in the case of Data Protection Commissioner v. Facebook Ireland Ltd. and Maximilian Schrems (Schrems II). It can be considered as the first serious precedent in the field of surveillance, which is aimed at ensuring privacy in the field of national security. Therefore, it becomes an important issue to assess its impact on the legal framework of international transfers of personal data and on the level of privacy protection. The impact of the judgment on the level of privacy protection and mass surveillance is particularly important now that COVID-19 contact tracing programs are being widely used. In this research we try to trace the formation of the approach to mass surveillance in the case-law of CJEU before and after the Schrems II. We also try to point out some of the difficulties that the process of cross-border data transfer will face after the Schrems II. The main question of the study is whether the approach of the CJEU developed in the Schrems II will actually increase the privacy protection against mass surveillance. We conclude that the Schrems II is an important decision with serious consequences that go beyond the direct impact on data transfer between the EU and the US. It can have controversial influence of the level of privacy protection. Together with the positive trend of formation of more harmonized global data protection standards it can create many unresolved problems in the field of international data transfer and in economic dimension.

Key words: Court of Justice, privacy, mass surveillance, Schrems I, Schrems II., EU Law

Suggested citation:

Vardanyan, L., Stehlík, V. (2020). Schrems II: will it really increase the level of privacy protection against mass surveillance? *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 111-128. https://doi.org/10.46282/bir.2020.4.2.215

Submitted : 18 November 2020 Accepted : 04 December 2020 Published : 31 December 2020

1. INTRODUCTION

The issues of "mass surveillance" have again become relevant in connection with the COVID-19 and the choice of contact tracking apps to combat it, which also give an opportunity to collect and store personal data.

On March 23, 2020, the European Commission met with Telecom operators to discuss the issue of data collection and processing. This is a consequence of the fact

that on March 19, 2020, the European Data Protection Supervisor (further referred as EDPS) suspended a ban on the processing and exchange of personal information of European citizens. In his statement EDPS confirmed, with reference to the General Data Protection Regulation (hereinafter - GDPR), that this is now allowed for "competent public health authorities and employers to process personal data in the context of an epidemic, in accordance with national law and within the conditions set therein" (European Data Protection Board, 2020), Relving on this legal relief, the Internal Market Commissioner Thierry Breton contacted eight phone operators¹ and received the approval of all companies, thus, paying the way for an unprecedented project at the European level. The Commission will collect, combine and analyse personal data to ensure European coordination in the fight against Covid-19 and only the Commission will be responsible for any possible violation. As Breton said "Digital technologies, mobile applications and mobility data have enormous potential to help understand how the virus spreads and to respond effectively" (European Commission, 2020c). The Thierry Breton's Office wants to simulate the spread of the epidemic in the territory in real time and check the "(...) link between containment measures and the spread of the virus" (Untersinger, 2020) to assess the effectiveness of this containment. The European Data Protection Supervisor Wojciech Wiewiórowski in an open letter to Roberto Viola, the Director-General of DG CNECT, states that "...the data protection rules currently in force in Europe are flexible enough to allow for various measures taken in the fight against pandemics" (2020).

Another important event that updated the problems associated with mass surveillance was the decision of the Court of Justice of the European Union (hereafter referred as CJEU) on July 16, 2020 in the case of Data Protection Commissioner v. Facebook Ireland Ltd. and Maximilian Schrems.² At first glance, this ruling is considered to be continuation of the case Maximilian Schrems v. Data Protection Commissioner,³ which invalidated the Safe Harbor (Decision 2000/520).⁴ But despite the fact that in both cases the problem was to ensure the proper level of confidentiality when transferring personal data to EU countries, it is worth noting that the decision on Schrems II was made in a different political situation, in particular Brexit. Moreover, it was made against the background of the existence of extensive national surveillance laws and the legitimization of mass surveillance in the case law of the ECtHR. It seems that the CJEU itself takes into account the above factors when making a decision on the Schrems II.

Schrems II can be considered the first serious precedent in the field of surveillance, which is aimed at ensuring confidentiality in the field of national security. Therefore, it becomes an important issue to assess its impact on the legal framework of international transfers of personal data.

In this research, we will try to trace the formation of the approach to mass surveillance in the practice of CJEU before and after the Schrems II. We will also try to identify the factors that influenced the formation of the approach expressed in Schrems II, and show some of the difficulties that the process of cross-border data transfer will face after Schrems II. This will give us an opportunity to answer the question whether the

¹ Orange, Telecom Italia, Telefonica, Deutsche Telekom, Telia, Vodafone, Telenor and A1 Telekom Austria.

² Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559.

³ Schrems I: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 06 October 2015, Maximillian Schrems v Data Protection Commissioner, Case C-362/14, ECLI:EU:C:2015:650.

⁴ 2000/520/EC: Commission Decision of 26 July 2000 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequacy of the protection provided by the safe harbor privacy principles and related frequently asked questions issued by the US Department of Commerce (notified under document number C(2000) 2441) (Text with EEA relevance.), Official Journal L 215, 25/08/2000, p. 0007 – 0047 (hereafter referred as Commission Decision of 26 July 2000 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC).

CJEU's approach developed in Schrems II really increases the level of the privacy protection against mass surveillance.

2. THE CASE LAW OF THE CJEU: BEFORE THE SCHREMS II

The development of the approach to mass surveillance in the EU begins with Decision 2000/520/EC, adopted on the basis of DPD.⁵ Article 25 (1) of the DPD established the principle that the transfer of personal data to a third country is only possible if the relevant third country provides an adequate level of protection for such data, which may be established by a decision of the Commission. Article 57 of the DPD provided for the possibility of prohibiting the transfer of personal data to a third country when the latter did not provide this level of protection, although article 26 of the DPD knew many exceptions that allowed such transfer to a country that did not provide such protection. To achieve the objective of the DPD to facilitate the free movement of data flows the Commission approved the "Safe Harbor Principles", believing that they would provide "adequate" protection for EU citizens whose data was transferred to the US.⁶ Annex I to Decision 2000/520 stated that the obligations imposed by these principles do not apply if justified by "national security, public interest, and compliance with US law" and legislative, administrative, or judicial decisions, create conflicting obligations, or grant" explicit authorizations", provided that organizations can then demonstrate that noncompliance with the principles is limited to "measures necessary to safeguard the legitimate interests that the authorization is intended to serve."⁷ It is clear that Safe Harbor member organizations had a duty to cooperate with intelligence agencies to identify potential violations of national security, and this obligation took priority over respect for the right to protect the personal data. This system was subsequently reviewed by the European Commission in 2002 and 2004. The European Commission issued an official criticism of this Decision⁸

In October 2015 the CJEU in the case **Schrems I** declared invalid the "Safe Harbor" and concluded that the non-discriminatory nature of surveillance programs conducted by US intelligence services made it impossible to ensure that the personal data of EU citizens is properly protected when shared with US companies. The CJEU noted that "interference with the right to privacy and the protection of personal data guaranteed by articles 7 and 8 of the EU Charter must ... lay down clear and precise rules governing the scope and application of a measure and imposing minimum safeguards"⁹ and "derogations and limitations in relation to the protection of personal data to apply only in so far as is strictly necessary".¹⁰ Also the right to effective judicial protection must be respected.¹¹

⁵ Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data; OJ L 281, 23.11.1995, pp. 31–50.

⁶ Commission Decision of 26 July 2000 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC, pp. 7-47.

⁷ Annex I Safe Harbor Privacy Principles issued by the US Department of Commerce on 21 July 2000/, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32000D0520:EN:HTML (accessed on 18.11.2020).

⁸ V. Commission Européenne. Communication au parlement européen et au conseil relative au fonctionnement de la sphère de sécurité du point de vue des citoyens de l'union et des entreprises établies sur son territoire, COM(2013) 847 final, 27 novembre 2013.

⁹ Schrems ¹: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 06 October 2015, Maximillian Schrems v Data Protection Commissioner, Case C-362/14, ECLI:EU:C:2015:650, p. 91.

¹⁰ Ibid., p. 92.

¹¹ See ibid., p. 95.

CJEU highlighted the extraterritorial effect of the right to protect personal data (see also Scott, 2014) strengthening the CJEU's control over the "adequate" level of personal data protection in third countries. While recognizing that the term "adequate" implies that such a country cannot be required to provide a level of protection strictly identical to that guaranteed in the EU legal order, the Court nevertheless found that it must be "substantially equivalent to that guaranteed in the Union."¹² The Court also noted that the means used by third country should be read "in accordance with fundamental rights", which means that checks are carried out in accordance with the maximum requirements of the Directive.¹³ Consequently, the foreign law in guestion must have an external control mechanism in the form of an independent body, which is a necessary element of any system aimed at ensuring compliance with the rules relating to the protection of personal data. This decision establishes a situation where the Court analyses the foreign law using external standards for it becoming the "new constitutional court" for the right to privacy in third country legislation, but in practice it does not have the authority to enforce its decisions.

The case of Digital Rights Ireland is also significant for the topic under consideration,¹⁴ although many EU Member States either did not comply or partially complied with the decision (PRIVACY INTERNATIONAL, 2017, p. 12). In this case the CJEU considered the question of compliance with the EU Charter and Directive 2006/24/EC, which imposed an obligation on providers of electronic communications services to preserve data transmitted through them or generated by them. The CJEU declared this Directive invalid, considering its measures as a disproportionate invasion into the right to privacy and protection of personal data.¹⁵ The main argument was that the goal of fighting organized crime and terrorism does not in itself justify general measures to preserve data; restrictions on the right to privacy and the right to protect personal data should be "strictly necessary".¹⁶

The CJEU criticized the general scope of the data interception obligation: this measure applied to "all persons and all means of electronic communication as well as all traffic data without any differentiation, limitation or exception being made in the light of the objective of fighting against serious crime"¹⁷ or for the prevention of "a threat to public security".¹⁸ The Court then pointed out that the Directive did not specify any objective material or procedural conditions limiting the access of national authorities to this data and established the need for a monitoring procedure by a court or an independent executive authority.¹⁹ Finally, the period of prescribed data storage was not made dependent on an objective criterion that allowed it to be limited only to what was strictly necessary.20

114

¹² Schrems I: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 06 October 2015, Maximillian Schrems v Data Protection Commissioner, Case C-362/14, ECLI:EU:C:2015:650, p. 73.

¹³ lbid., p. 74.

¹⁴ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 8 April 2014, Digital Rights Ireland Ltd v Minister for Communications, Marine and Natural Resources and Others and Kärntner Landesregierung and Others, joined cases C-293/12 and C-594/12, ECLI:EU:C:2014:238.

¹⁵ Ibid., p. 69, 71.

¹⁶ Ibid., p.51, 52,

¹⁷ Ibid., p. 57. 18 Ibid., p. 59.

¹⁹ Ibid., p. 60-62.

²⁰ lbid., p. 63-64.

The CJEU specified that there is not a ban on states using metadata interception as a preventive measure, but this interception should be targeted²¹ and meet a number of requirements. The purpose of data interception should be limited to the fight against "serious crimes"; the principle of strict necessity should be observed when choosing the subject matter, means of communication, data types and time of application of this measure. In particular, national legislation should be based on objective evidence that can convince the public that there is at least an indirect link between intercepted data and the fight against serious crimes.²²

The conclusions of this case were developed in the case of **Tele2 Sverige AB**,²³ which dealt with requests for the interpretation of article 15 (1) of Directive 2002/58/EC.²⁴ The principle of strict necessity, according to the Tele2 judgment, should also be observed at the stage of regulating the conditions for national authorities to obtain access to intercepted data: they should only pursue such a goal as the fight against serious crimes.²⁵ Among the requirements to be met by national legislation the CJEU also indicated prior control by courts or independent executive authorities; intercepted data must be stored within the EU and be permanently destroyed at the end of the storage period; citizens who have been subjected to surveillance must be notified of the operations that have been carried out and a remedy must be available to them.²⁶ Finally, Member States should ensure that the national legal regime meets the level of protection guaranteed by EU law.

Despite the progressiveness of this decision did not affect the purpose of protecting public safety. Except this, the text of Directive 2002/58/EC itself excludes from its scope of application "activities concerning public security, defence, state security (including the economic well-being of the State when the activities relate to State security matters) and the activities of the State in areas of criminal law".²⁷ The CJEU only recognized that Directive 2002/58/EC applied to both the interception and access stages of data, and interpreted its provisions in the light of the Digital Rights Ireland decision. However, this decision, in turn, was also limited to the purpose of fighting crime.

And if in case Tele2 Sverige AB the CJEU believed that only the fight against serious crimes can justify the retention of data, in the case of **Ministerio Fiscal**.²⁸ it found that limited access to this data can be provided even for the fight against non-serious

²¹ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 21 December 2016, Tele2 Sverige AB v Post- och telestyrelsen and Secretary of State for the Home Department v Tom Watson and Others, joined cases C-203/15 and C-698/15, ECLI:EU:C:2016:970, p. 108.

²² CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 8 April 2014, Digital Rights Ireland Ltd v Minister for Communications, Marine and Natural Resources and Others and Kärntner Landesregierung and Others, joined cases C-293/12 and C-594/12, ECLI:EU:C:2014:238, p. 57.

²³ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 21 December 2016, Tele2 Sverige AB v Post- och telestyrelsen and Secretary of State for the Home Department v Tom Watson and Others, joined cases C-203/15 and C-698/15, ECLI:EU:C:2016:970.

²⁴ Directive 2002/58/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 July 2002 concerning the processing of personal data and the protection of privacy in the electronic communications sector (Directive on privacy and electronic communications) OJ L 201, 31.7.2002, p. 37–47.

²⁵ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 21 December 2016, Tele2 Sverige AB v Post- och telestyrelsen and Secretary of State for the Home Department v Tom Watson and Others, joined cases C-203/15 and C-698/15, ECLI:EU:C:2016:970, p. 103.

²⁶ See, for example, in the cases: ECtHR, Weber and Salavia against Germany, app. no. 54934/00, 29 June 2006, p. 95; and ECtHR, Zacharov v. Russia, app. no. 47143/06, 04 December 2015, p. 231.

²⁷ Article 3(2) of the Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data.

²⁸ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 2 October 2018, proceedings brought by Ministerio Fiscal. Request for a preliminary ruling from the Audiencia Provincial de Tarragona, Case C-207/16, ECLI:EU:C:2018:788.

crimes. The CJEU clarified that the main threshold is that "access must be proportionate to the seriousness of the interference with the fundamental rights in question that that access entails"²⁹ and "when the interference that such access entails is not serious, that access is capable of being justified by the objective of preventing, investigating, detecting and prosecuting 'criminal offences' generally".³⁰

So, for the CJEU, the indiscriminate nature of the collection and processing of personal data, even if it is intended to protect the society from serious crimes, violates the content of the fundamental right to respect for privacy and entails significant risks to rights and freedoms and requires that the exceptions to the protection of personal data and their restrictions were applied to the extent strictly necessary. The WP 29, which unites European personal data control authorities, published its first report on the "Privacy Shield", in which it "recalls its long-standing position that massive and indiscriminate surveillance of individuals can never be considered as proportionate and strictly necessary in a democratic society, as is required under the protection offered by the applicable fundamental rights".³¹

However, despite the fact that the Tele2 ruling deals only with measures taken to fight against crimes, the CJEU's general position on mass surveillance carried out for other purposes can also be drawn from the text of the judgment. Emphasizing that data interception should be restricted to persons suspected of planning or committing a serious crime or otherwise involved in it, the CJEU stated: "[h]owever, in particular situations, where for example vital national security, defence or public security interests are threatened by terrorist activities, access to the data of other persons might also be granted where there is objective evidence from which it can be deduced that that data might, in a specific case, make an effective contribution to combating such activities".³²

The position of the CJEU based on these rulings strengthened the guarantees provided against the abuse of surveillance, and in the discourse of the need to ensure supervision over the excess of laws, since any system of mass surveillance is itself considered a violation of private life. Despite the noted shortcomings the significance of the CJEU's approach in terms of expanding access to courts for citizens, strengthening their procedural guarantees, and condemning the very possibility of mass surveillance should be highly assessed.

After the judgment in case Schrems I Safe Harbor was replaced by the Privacy Shield in accordance with the Decision 2016/1250.³³ But little has changed in terms of surveillance. This enabled Mr. Schrems to continue his campaign. In the new complaint Schrems argued that the US does not provide adequate protection because the US law requires Facebook Inc. to allow access to the transferred personal data of the NSA and the FBI. This means that data is used in a way that is incompatible with the right to privacy, and therefore data transfers via Facebook should be suspended. This became the subject of the Schrems II.

²⁹ Ibid., p. 55.

³⁰ Ibid., p. 57.

³¹ Statement of the Article 29 Working Party on the Opinion on the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, Brussels, 13 April 2016. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/justice/article-29/press-material/press-

release/art29_press_material/2016/press_release_shield_en.pdf (accessed on 18.11.2020).

³² CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 21 December 2016, Tele2 Sverige AB v Post- och telestyrelsen and Secretary of State for the Home Department v Tom Watson and Others, joined cases C-203/15 and C-698/15, ECLI:EU:C:2016:970, p. 119.

³³ Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2016/1250 of 12 July 2016 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequacy of the protection provided by the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield (notified under document C(2016) 4176), C/2016/4176.

3. SCHREMS II: OLD SOLUTIONS AND NEW PROBLEMS

3.1 GDPR: further expansion of the external scope

The desire of expanding the scope of GDPR is not new for the case law of CJEU. In the case Google v CNIL,³⁴ there were some attempts to address the issue of the territorial scope of the right to be forgotten. The decision was made during the period when the GDPR came into force and the Court did not miss the opportunity to outline the scope of its practical application. At first glance, it can be concluded that the Court held that there is no obligation under Directive 95/46/EC to apply right to be forgotten globally.³⁵ However, the analysis of the decision allows us to see its other feature: the absence of a fundamental ban on the possibility of recognizing the universal application of the right to be forgotten and the GDPR. Having decided that Google "must be regarded as carrying out a single act of personal data processing", the Court subordinates the processing of data by Google on all its domains to the GDPR jurisdiction. The Court rules that GDPR applies to all Google, not just Google France.³⁶

The CJEU also allows for further steps to be taken to ensure such universal application, for example by pointing to existence of a competence on the part of the EU law to lay down the obligation to carry out de-referencing globally.³⁷ In addition, the Court emphasizes that EU law does not prohibit the practice of global de-referencing. It tries to preserve the possibility of such application.³⁸ And this approach is due to the awareness that a categorical refusal of non-universal application of the right to be forgotten, as well as the GDPR, may make impossible to achieve the EU goal of ensuring a high level of personal data protection. The legalisation of the universal application of the right to be forgotten and the GDPR has set a vector for the case-law of the CJEU in the field of EU data protection, which is also further developed in the Schrems II case.

The Schrems II does not question US surveillance powers as such: personal data of EU data subjects "transferred between two economic operators for commercial purposes might undergo, at the time of the transfer or thereafter, processing for the purposes of public security, defense and state security by the authorities of that third country".³⁹ Rather, it highlights the lack of effective legal remedies for EU data subjects in the US. And this is how the Schrems II differs from the Schrems I. In the latter case the criticism of surveillance is more pronounced: "legislation permitting the public authorities to have access on a generalized basis to the content of electronic communications must be regarded as compromising the essence of the fundamental right to respect for private life, as guaranteed by article 7 of the Charter".⁴⁰ Perhaps this is an indirect recognition of the position of the ECtHR, which stated that "the decision to operate a bulk interception regime in order to identify hitherto unknown threats to national security is one which continues to fall within States' margin of appreciation", adding that such regimes are "valuable means to achieve the legitimate aims pursued, particularly given the current

³⁴ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 24 September 2019, Google Inc v Commision nationale de l'informatique et des libertés (CNIL), C-507/17, ECLI:EU:C:2019:772.

³⁵ Ibid., p. 64.

³⁶ Ibid., p. 37

³⁷ Ibid., p. 58.

³⁸ Ibid., p.72.

³⁹ Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559, p. 86.

⁴⁰ Schrems I: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 06 October 2015, Maximillian Schrems v Data Protection Commissioner, Case C-362/14, ECLI:EU:C:2015:650, p. 94.

threat level from both global terrorism and serious crime".⁴¹ However, this does not mean that the negative attitude towards mass surveillance is easing. On the contrary, the CJEU once again asserts its commitment to the "strict necessity" of conducting surveillance.

The CJEU further states that "the Authorities of this third country cannot exclude this transfer from the scope of the GDPR in accordance with article 2 (2) of the GDPR^{*,42}. The justification for this approach is that article 4(2) of GDPR defines "processing" as "any operation or set of operations which is performed on personal data or on sets of personal data, whether or not by automated means" and mentions, by way of example, "disclosure by transmission, dissemination or otherwise making available", but does not distinguish between operations which take place within the European Union and those which are connected with a third country. Furthermore, the GDPR subjects transfers of personal data to third countries to specific rules in Chapter V thereof, entitled "Transfers of powers on the supervisory authorities for purpose, which are set out in article 58(2)(j) GDPR.⁴³

Simultaneously the CJEU argues that article 4 (2) of the TEU, which removes national security competence from the scope of EU law, applies only to the EU Member States.⁴⁴ Each EU Member State can balance national security needs with the right to data privacy at its own discretion, but this does not apply to third countries where EU data is transmitted.

In fact, the CJEU ones again turns the GDPR into a legal act of influence to countries outside the EU. European Commission assesses the GDPR "as a catalyst for many countries around the world to consider introducing modern privacy rules" (2020a, p. 12). The Court extends the rights and obligations stated by the GDPR to third states that receives personal data from the EU. This aspiration has quite noble goals: through the globalization of its privacy standards, to counter the dangers that arise from the increasing access of international data flows for national security agencies and to increase the level of privacy protection. This approach increases the discrepancy between the application of the GDPR within the EU and beyond, in effect deepening the already existing double standards for the protection. This contradicts the EU's clear desire to create global standards for the protection of the privacy.

3.2 The CJEU's repeated insistence on independent courts as the essential guarantors of privacy

In the case Schrems II the CJEU held that Section 702 of the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act (FISA) is not covered by requirements ensuring, subject to the principle of proportionality, a level of protection essentially equivalent to that guaranteed by the second sentence of Article 52(1) of the EU Charter⁴⁵ for reasons that this Section "does not indicate any limitations on the power it confers to implement surveillance programs for the purposes of foreign intelligence or the existence of guarantees for non-US persons potentially targeted by those programs".⁴⁶ In addition as a supervisory mechanism "PPD-

⁴¹ ECtHR, Big Brother Watch and Others v. United Kingdom, app. no. 58170/13, 62322/14 and 24960/15, 13 September 2018, p. 386.

⁴² Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559, p. 86.

⁴³ lbid., p. 82.

⁴⁴ lbid., p. 81.

⁴⁵ Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559, p. 178.

⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 180.

28 does not grant data subjects actionable rights before the courts against the US authorities".⁴⁷ The Court also rejects Executive Order 12333, which allows access to data transmitted in the US without this access being subject to judicial review.⁴⁸ In *Schrems II*, the absence of an independent court assessed as a big disadvantage for US privacy protection. Judicial redress has always been essential to the case law of CJEU in the field of data protection. And in the Privacy Shield, an Ombudsman within the State Department was supposed to serve as the institutional alternative to courts. But the Ombudsman has no guarantees of independence from the US Executive branch⁴⁹ or "the power to adopt decisions that are binding on those intelligence services and does not mention any legal safeguards that would accompany that political commitment on which data subjects could rely".⁵⁰ And the CJEU considers it as an important omission. It concludes that the Commission's decision on the adequate level of protection provided by the Agreement between the EU and the US is untenable.

Note that this is practically the criterion that was mentioned as an important guarantee in in the case Szabó and Vissy v. Hungary.⁵¹ But this is also the criterion that was "abolished" as a result of the easing of the ECtHR's approach to mass surveillance in the case of Big Brothers Watch v. the United Kingdom. Here the ECtHR states that although in the United Kingdom permission to conduct mass surveillance was not issued by either a judge or an independent administrative authority, there are no problems because several indications show that there is no abuse of executive power.⁵² Reemphasizing the importance of the specified guarantee in the Schrems II is another step towards fragmentation of the judicial practice of the two European Courts. Can this be considered an increase in the level of privacy protection? Yes, if we take into account the same legitimization of mass surveillance in the practice of the ECtHR and the need to resist it. We will discuss it below.

3.3 Assessment of compliance of foreign laws by private companies

The CJEU repeated its position from the Schrems I and in determining the level of protection required by the GDPR. It ruled that the level of protection should be "practically equivalent" to the level of protection in the EU. However, the GDPR should be understood in the light of the EU Charter. The Court also stated that the assessment of the level of protection afforded in the context of such a transfer must, in particular, take into consideration both the contractual clauses agreed between the controller or processor established in the EU and the recipient of the transfer established in the third country concerned and, as regards any access by the public authorities of that third country to the personal data transferred, the relevant aspects of the legal system of that third country, in particular those set out, in a non-exhaustive manner, in Article 45(2) of GDPR.⁵³ The CJEU ruled that the use of SCC is required in a third country which "guarantees the ensuring an adequate level of protection essentially equivalent to that ensured within the Union".⁵⁴ The court interprets articles 46 (1) and (2) (c) in relation to article 45 (2) of the GDPR so that economic operators, when transferring personal data

⁴⁷ lbid., p. 181.

⁴⁸ Ibid., p. 183.

⁴⁹ See ibid., p. 195.

⁵⁰ lbid., p. 196.

⁵¹ ECtHR, Szabó and Vissy v. Hungary, app. no. 37138/14, 12 January 2016, p. 77, 80, 81.

⁵² ECtHR, Big Brother Watch and Others v. United Kingdom, app. no. 58170/13, 62322/14 and 24960/15, 13 September 2018, p. 381.

^{ss} Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559, p. 105.

⁵⁴ Ibid., p. 104.

on the basis of SCC, must take into account the relevant aspects of the legal system of this third country, including national security, in relation to any access by public authorities of this third country to the transferred personal data.⁵⁵ The burden of verifying that a data recipient in the destination country can meet the level of protection required by EU law is borne by economic operators that use SSC and are supervised by the competent data protection authority of an EU Member State.⁵⁶

The content of such legal examination of foreign laws by private companies is unclear. Is it enough just to compare the requirements of foreign laws and GDPR requirements? Is it necessary to compare the GDPR with the practice of national security agencies of third countries? The latter seems difficult, if not impossible. Of course, this position is related to the desire to ensure the priority of fundamental rights over economic development. But this desire is almost impossible to implement in practice. However, companies in this case find themselves in the middle of two fires. On the one hand, when transferring data to a country that laws do not provide the level of protection required by EU law, they may face penalties, on the other hand, if they refuse such transfer, they may be subject to material sanctions within the framework of, for example, contractual relations.

Schrems II, which indicates the invalidity of the EU-US Privacy Agreement, may significantly reduce the flow of personal data from the EU to the US and have a negative impact on the development of international trade and information technology, given that the US is one of the leading powers in the digital economy. Enthusiasm for the GDPR as "a key reference point at international level" (European Commission, 2020a, p. 12) may be overshadowed by difficulty data flows after Schrems II. As mentioned in the European strategy for data: "Today's European companies operate in a connected environment that goes beyond the EU's borders, so that international data flows are indispensable for their competitiveness" (European Commission, 2020b, p. 23). Therefore, the consequences of the Schrems II can also be reflected in the decline in the competitiveness of European companies. Was this the purpose of the CJEU?

Also note that the Commission itself considers the promoting convergence of data protection standards "as a way to facilitate data flows and thus trade" (2020b, p. 23) and does not consider this promotion as an end in itself. The goal of prioritizing the protection of fundamental rights and creating more harmonized global data protection standards should not be achieved through complete disregard of economic factors; otherwise there may be a rebound effect on the same fundamental rights.

3.4 Schrems II: impetus for the development of constitutional law

One of the reasons for the CJEU's criticism of US legislation was a gap in US constitutional law for non-US persons. The Fourth amendment to the US Constitution provides different levels of legal protection to people in the US compared to those outside the US, including access to US courts. In some European countries, the level of privacy protection in national security surveillance may also depend on the nationality and residence of the data subject. This situation allows for a sharp decrease in the level of protection of privacy, since theoretically it allows surveillance by foreign intelligence agencies of all States whose citizen or resident data subject is not. The condemnation in Schrems II of a similar approach in US law may serve as a signal for many EU Member States to review their similar provisions and a new round in the development of constitutional law. Although according to article 4 (2) of the EU Treaty "national security"

⁵⁵ lbid., p. 105.

⁵⁶ lbid., p. 135, 137, 142, 146.

remains the exclusive responsibility of each member state", according to the AG Manuel Campos Sánchez-Bordona "this provision does not exclude that EU data protection rules may have direct consequences for national security".⁵⁷

Note that the Federal Constitutional Court of Germany is somewhat ahead of the CJEU in this regard. Federal Intelligence Service Act (BND Law BNDG) involves different types of surveillance depending on the nationality of citizens. It allows strategic intelligence by means of communication abroad. The Federal Intelligence Service (BND) does not have the right to such control over the communication of German citizens, as well as within its own borders: such surveillance is a violation of Article 10 of the German Basic Law, which protects the freedom of communications. The legal basis for such activities in relation to foreigners appeared in the security service in 2017 after the amendments to the above-mentioned law. The Federal Constitutional Court of Germany in its decision on 19 May 2020⁵⁸ explained that the protection provided by the German Constitution (Basic Law) in relation to German public authorities is not limited to the territory of Germany and protects foreigners in other countries, in this case, in the context of foreign telecommunications surveillance conducted by the BND.

The ruling of the Federal Constitutional Court of Germany is also notable for the fact that it may be a kind of response to some delay in the formation of adequate international standards governing the processing of personal data. National jurisdiction is trying to implement rules with global influence and spread their own privacy standards everywhere. In this aspect the Schrems II are the landmark decision, which mark the beginning of an important stage in creating standards for "extraterritorial" and universal privacy protection by the fact that it will strengthen the role of the GDPR in setting international data protection standards. It undoubtedly will also have an effect the surveillance activities of third countries' intelligence services. It is not yet possible to assess this effect, but we can definitely say that it will increase the level of privacy protection.

3.5 Problematic adequacy decisions after Schrems II

The EU seeks to maintain a high degree of privacy, while at the same time seeking to strengthen its role as a decisive actor in the digital economy. However, the current application of GDPR also introduces some obstacles to achieving these goals. The GDPR is used as a "lash" to force reform of third-country security services. However, this may not have the necessary effect, for example, in the case of those regimes that are not as democratic. Actually if the EU hopes that the approaches of the Schrems II can "force" the US to become more "adequate" due to the damage to its national security due to the economic bonuses from the use of EU personal data, this is in our opinion somewhat naive. After Snowden revelations, US tried to convince the EU that the surveillance of non-US persons was protected although there was no provision for it in US statutory law. The result of this attempt was the Presidential Policy Directive (The White House; Office of the Press Secretary, 2014). But Trump's policies are not so smooth. So perhaps those are

⁵⁷ Advocate General's Opinions in case C-623/17 Privacy International, joined cases C-511/18 La Quadrature du Net and Others and C-512/18 French Data Network and Others, and Case C-520/18 Ordre des barreauxfrancophones et germanophone and Others, Press release No 4/20, 15 January 2020. Available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2020-01/cp200004en.pdf (accessed on 18.11.2020).

^{se} Entscheidung des Bundesverfassungsgerichts - 1 BvR 2835/17 - (zu den §§ 6, 7, 13 bis 15, 19 Absatz 1, § 24 Absatz 1 Satz 1, Absatz 2 Satz 1, Absatz 3 des Gesetzes über den Bundesnachrichtendienst) (BVerfGE20200519 k.a.Abk.), 19.05.2020. AVAILABLE AT: https://www.buzer.de/gesetz/13986/index.htm (accessed on 18.11.2020).

right who after the Schrems II began to doubt that the US will allow to change the US law and to reduce the expense of surveillance

There is another consequence that may possibly occur - it is challenging already existing adequacy decisions. As it is known, the European Commission also deals with a number of other countries.⁵⁹ None of these decisions is secured from judicial challenge after the Schrems II. The problem is that the Commission also makes an adequacy decision on taking into account the economic and commercial component of personal data transfers. This is a broader area for assessing adequacy than the one the CJEU considers and evaluates: ensuring a level of privacy protection consistent with the EU Charter

As we have already noted, the CJEU in Schrems II subordinates economic interests to basic human rights, which means that if the adequacy assessment was carried out by the Commission based on the priority of the economic factor or taking into account the possible negative consequences of stopping transfers of personal data, then there is a potential possibility of challenge of any of the Commission's decisions on adequacy. Time will tell whether such a scenario will be implemented to review existing decisions.

3.6 GDPR: different consequences for different states

Schrems II does not smooth out the discrepancy between the external (international) and internal (in-European) consequences of applying the GDPR in the field of national security. The CJEU once again makes itself the arbiter of other countries' approaches to data access for national security purposes⁶⁰ and formulates requirements for national security agencies of third countries that it cannot impose on its own national security agencies.61

Disputes about the limitations of EU legislation in the field of national security become an object of attention of the Court in the rulings, issued on October 6, 2020.62 The Court tries to answer the question of whether the EU law is applied in the context of the activities of security agencies of Member States. The CJEU found that EU privacy laws, such as the Directive on privacy and electronic communications⁶³ and the GDPR. cannot be overridden by national security agencies to allow for regular bulk data collection, and the protection mechanisms provided for data processing in the EU Charter are fully applicable in this area as well.

⁵⁹ For example: 2003/490/EC: Commission Decision of 30 June 2003 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequate protection of personal data in Argentina (Text with EEA relevance); 2002/2/EC: Commission Decision of 20 December 2001 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequate protection of personal data provided by the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (notified under document number C(2001) 4539).

⁶⁰ Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559, p. 178.

⁶¹ European Agency for Fundamental Rights 2015. "Surveillance by Intelligence Services: fundamental rights, safeguards and remedies in the EU"; Sidley Austin 2016. "Essentially Equivalent -A comparison of the legal orders for privacy and data protection in the European Union and the United States", January 2016; Opinion of Geoffrey Robertson QC, 14th January 2016.

⁶² CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020, The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (United Kingdom), in the proceedings Privacy International Case C-623/17, ECLI:EU:C:2020:790; CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020. La Ouadrature du Net and Others v Premier ministre and Others, joined cases C-511/18, C-512/18 and C-520/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:791.

⁶³ Directive 2002/58/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 July 2002 concerning the processing of personal data and the protection of privacy in the electronic communications sector (Directive on privacy and electronic communications), OJ L 201, 31.7.2002, p. 37.

In case La Quadrature du Net the Court states, that all operations processing personal data carried out by providers of electronic communications services fall within the scope of Directive 2002/58, including processing operations resulting from obligations imposed on those providers by the public authorities.⁶⁴ In case Privacy International the Court states: "...national legislation enabling a State authority to require providers of electronic communications services to forward traffic data and location data to the security and intelligence agencies for the purpose of safeguarding national security falls within the scope of [Directive 2002/58]".⁶⁵ Article 4 TEU actually exclude national security from the scope of application of the EU legislation. However, this is narrowly applicable to the activities of intelligence agencies for service providers where requested or obliged, by national laws adopted in the implementation of Article 23 GDPR and/or Article 15 of Directive 2002/58, to restrict a number of individuals' rights for the purposes of protection of national security.

This is a step in gradually extending the requirements of EU law to the national security sphere of the EU Member States. The position of the CJEU reflected in the rulings of October 6, 2020, makes it possible to clarify the external boundaries of government access to "metadata", leaving them under a high level of protection in the EU, even if it is used for national security purposes. These decisions provide more detailed guidance on the standards that national security laws must meet. And together with Schrems II, they lay the groundwork for the upcoming decisions of the European Commission on the adequacy of a third country in relation to the transfer of personal data from the EU under the GDPR.

Note that in the case La Quadrature du Net and Others⁶⁶ the Court still allows general and indiscriminate storage of traffic and location data, in the event of a "serious threat to national security". The Court provides an opportunity for Member States to reform their laws by circumventing the position expressed in Tele 2. The ambiguity of concepts, describing the presence of threat to national security and identification of activities that pose a threat to national security by the Member State itself may lower the level of protection of the right to privacy. The equalization the external (international) and internal (in-European) consequences of applying the GDPR in this situation may also lower the level of protection in the field of international data flows, established by the Court in Schrems II. Anyway, it is clear that at the time of making a decision on the case Schrems II, the Court has shown a determination to continue fighting unjustifiably broad surveillance laws.

4. SOME FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO THE FORMATION OF APPROACHES IN SCHREMS II

4.1 Brexit

Despite many provisions in Schrems II are repeating the provisions of Schrems I, Schrems II is not a complete continuation of Schrems I: it appears in a very different legal

⁶⁴ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020, La Quadrature du Net and Others v Premier ministre and Others, joined cases C-511/18, C-512/18 and C-520/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:791, p. 94-97, 101.

⁶⁵ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020, The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (United Kingdom), in the proceedings Privacy International Case C-623/17, ECLI:EU::2020:790, p. 49, 60 OCLI - 40 October 2020 - 40 October 2020

⁶⁶ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020, La Quadrature du Net and Others v Premier ministre and Others, joined cases C-511/18, C-512/18 and C-520/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:791, p. 141.

and political discourse. Moreover, it seems that the Court itself also proceeded from these events. Among such facts: Brexit; the existence of extensive national surveillance laws; the legitimizing mass surveillance in case law of the ECtHR.

An indirect consequence of Schrems II may be a complication of the future EU and UK compliance decision. In the UK, as in the US, there is a mass surveillance system. As an EU Member State, the UK's national security surveillance practices did not fall within the scope of EU law, and the country was free to receive and transmit personal data within the digital single market. After Brexit, when the UK becomes a third country, data transfers will be regulated by Chapter V of the GDPR and the UK legal system, including national security, must provide a level of protection almost equivalent to that guaranteed in the EU. The Court's attitude to mass surveillance in Schrems II case indirectly endorses this approach to the UK. The CJEU makes it clear that after Brexit, all aspects of the UK's privacy regime, including national security, are subject to the adequacy requirement. Whether the existing supervision and an independent court will be sufficient for this is unknown.

Moreover, the CJEU stated that the third-country adequacy analysis is entirely based on the GDPR, whose requirements must be understood in the light of the EU Charter as interpreted by the Court itself⁶⁷ not the ECtHR. It may be reminded that the ECtHR sets more lenient criteria for surveillance, but even in this case, the ECtHR has repeatedly condemned UK laws for non-compliance with the ECHR standards.⁶⁸ The new UK law on intelligence services is now also being challenged in the ECtHR. If the ECtHR again finds that the new law does not comply with the ECHR standards, the European Commission cannot approve the adequacy of UK laws to EU legislation standards that are stricter than the ECHR standards. The threat of legal challenge in the CJEU is almost guaranteed. In light of this, getting an agreement on adequacy for the UK may be a difficult task for a long time to come.

4.2 Legitimation of mass surveillance in the case law of the ECtHR and opposition to it by the CJEU

After terrorist attacks since 2015, most European countries have adopted new, almost identical laws that allow mass surveillance on broad grounds. Thus, many laws allow extensive opportunities for mass surveillance of foreigners, where the victims of potential abuse are non-citizens with few legal protections for redress. The ECtHR has almost come to terms with this state, which cannot be said about the CJEU.

For the CJEU this issue can have two directions of decision: either the adoption of the position of the ECtHR as a determining weather vane through the use of potential of article 52(3) of the CFR, or deepening the existing fragmentation of case laws. As it is known, the CJEU is trying to minimize the effect of article 52(3) of the EU Charter.⁶⁹ The CJEU has shown that the autonomy of the EU's legal order is an absolute priority for it. It seems that the second direction will be preferable for the CJEU and Schrems II showed that the CJEU supported its already expressed position based on its previous case law. Today we have a fragmentation of the case law of the ECtHR and the CJEU. The Schrems II deepens it.

⁶⁷ Schrems II: CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559, p. 98-99.

⁶⁸ In the case Big Brothers the Court found that the methods of mass interception of communications practiced by the British Intelligence Agency violated article 8 and article 10 of the ECHR.

⁶⁹ CJEU, Júdgment of the Court (Fourth Chamber) of 28 July 2016, JZ v Prokuratura Rejonowa Łódź – Śródmieście, Case C-294/16 PPU, ECLI:EU:C:2016:610.

How the ECtHR will respond to this, is not yet known, but the case Centrum för Rättvisa⁷⁰ and the case Big Brother Watch are challenged in the Grand Chamber now.

An assessment of the impact of the Schrems II on privacy protection is necessary in the scope of case law ECtHR, since all EU Member States are members of the Council of Europe and have signed the ECHR. The insufficiency in the dialogue of Courts hinders the formation of a coherent picture of protection in this area. In case of Digital Rights Ireland⁷¹ the CJEU states the invalidity of the Directive 2006/24/EC. Referring to the case law of the ECtHR, the CJEU proceeded from the need for clear and precise rules governing the scope and application of the measure in question and imposing minimum safeguards.⁷² In the Schrems II there are no references to the case law of the ECtHR, and this is not accidental.

First, it is a response to the case Centrum and the case Big Brother Watch, which marked a certain departure from the "strict necessity" standard, recognizing the broad discretion of national authorities and approving the mass surveillance policy as a "valuable tool" for protecting national security.

Second, the EU through Schrems II shows itself as a strong actor in the sphere of human rights in the world. It shows that in this aspect, it is not very "bound" by the judicial practice of the ECtHR and can take the initiative in creating standards for the protection of human rights.

5. CONCLUSIONS

The judgment of the Schrems II case is not a mere continuation of the CJEU's approach about the legal standards of international data transfer and "extraterritoriality" of GDPR, which has already been expressed in Schrems I. Schrems II is an important decision with serious consequences that go beyond the direct impact on data transfer between the EU and the US. It is aimed at protecting EU data subjects from exceeding the national security powers of third countries, but it can also create many unresolved problems in the field of international data transfer. The Schrems II shows that the EU has an impetus for the development of a unique case law of CJEU regardless of the modern approach developed in the ECtHR.

The EU takes the initiative to protect human rights to privacy from state surveillance setting the tone with GDPR. But to protect people from mass surveillance, much more needs to be done. It is primarily a formulation of more harmonized global data protection standards, finding a balance between privacy and security, privacy and the economic dimension of international data transfer and so on. The modern case law of the CJEU can have important implications for strengthening the protection of human rights in Europe and curbing potentially dangerous changes for both human rights and economic situation. Perhaps in the future, the CJEU will be forced to develop a more balanced approach to the relationship between national security, privacy and economics. This is what the Schrems II lacks to create reliable legal instruments for international data transfer and harmonized global data protection standards.

We can conclude that the Schrems II is an important decision with serious consequences and can have controversial influence in the level of privacy protection in global level.

⁷⁰ ECtHR, Centrum v. Sweden, app. no. 35252/08, 19 June 2018.

⁷¹ CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 8 April 2014, Digital Rights Ireland Ltd v. Minister for Communications, Marine and Natural Resources, Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform, The Commissioner of the Garda Siochána, Ireland and the Attorney General, and KärntnerLandesregierung, Michael Seitlinger, ChristofTschohl and Others, joined cases C-293/12 and C-594/12, ECLI:EU:C:2014:238. ⁷¹ Ibid, p. 54.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Advocate General's Opinions in case C-623/17 Privacy International, Joined Cases C-511/18 La Quadrature du Net and Others and C-512/18 French Data Network and Others, and Case C-520/18 Ordre des barreauxfrancophones et germanophone and Others, Press release No 4/20, 15 January 2020. Available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2020-01/cp200004en.pdf (accessed on 18.11.2020).
- European Commission. (2020a). Communication from the Commission to the European Parlament and the Council. Data protection as a pillar of citizens' empowerment and the EU's approach to the digital transition - two years of application of the General Data Protection Regulation. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0264&from=EN.

- European Commission. (2020b). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. A European strategy for data. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0066&from=EN.
- European Commission. (2020c). Coronavirus: EU global response to fight the pandemic. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/mex_20_631. European Data Protection Board. (2020). Statement on the processing of personal data

- in the context of the COVID-19 outbreak. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://edpb.europa.eu/sites/edpb/files/files/file1/edpb_statement_2020_proces singpersonaldataandcovid-19_en.pdf.
- PRIVACY INTERNATIONAL. (2017). National Data Retention Laws since the CJEU's Tele-2/Watson Judgment. A Concerning State of Play for the Right to Privacy in Europe/ Privacy International. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://privacyinternational.org/sites/default/files/2017-10/Data Retention_2017_0.pdf.
- Scott, J. (2014). The new EU "extraterritoriality". Common Market Law Review, 51(5), 1343 1380.

The White House; Office of the Press Secretary. (2014). Presidential Policy Directive -Signals Intelligence Activities. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-

office/2014/01/17/presidential-policy-directive-signals-intelligence-activities.

- Untersinger, M. (2020). Europe requests data from telephone operators to assess the effect of containment measures. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://www.archyde.com/europe-requests-data-from-telephone-operators-to-assess-the-effect-of-containment-measures/.
- Wiewiórowski, W. R. (2020). Monitoring spread of COVID-19. Retrieved 18 November 2020, from https://edps.europa.eu/sites/edp/files/publication/20-03-25_edps_comments_concerning_covid-19_monitoring_of_spread_en.pdf.

Annex I Safe Harbor Privacy Principles issued by the US Department of Commerce on 21 July 2000/, available at: https://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32000D0520:EN:HTML (accessed on 18.11.2020).

- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 16 July 2020, Data Protection Commissioner v Facebook Ireland Ltd, Maximillian Schrems, Case C-311/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:559.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 8 April 2014, Digital Rights Ireland Ltd v Minister for Communications, Marine and Natural Resources and Others and Kärntner Landesregierung and Others, joined cases C-293/12 and C-594/12, ECLI:EU:C:2014:238.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 24 September 2019, Google Inc v Commision nationale de l'informatique et des libertés (CNIL), C-507/17, ECLI:EU:C:2019:772.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Fourth Chamber) of 28 July 2016, JZ v Prokuratura Rejonowa Łódź – Śródmieście, Case C-294/16 PPU, ECLI:EU:C:2016:610.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020, La Quadrature du Net and Others v Premier ministre and Others, joined cases C-511/18, C-512/18 and C-520/18, ECLI:EU:C:2020:791.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 06 October 2015, Maximillian Schrems v Data Protection Commissioner, Case C-362/14, ECLI:EU:C:2015:650.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 21 December 2016, Tele2 Sverige AB v Post- och telestyrelsen and Secretary of State for the Home Department v Tom Watson and Others, joined cases C-203/15 and C-698/15, ECLI:EU:C:2016:970
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 2 October 2018, proceedings brought by Ministerio Fiscal. Request for a preliminary ruling from the Audiencia Provincial de Tarragona, Case C-207/16, ECLI:EU:C:2018:788.
- CJEU, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 October 2020, The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (United Kingdom), in the proceedings Privacy International Case C-623/17, ECLI:EU:C:2020:790.
- Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2016/1250 of 12 July 2016 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequacy of the protection provided by the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield (notified under document C(2016) 4176), C/2016/4176.
- Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data; OJ L 281, 23.11.1995, p. 31–50.
- Directive 2002/58/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 July 2002 concerning the processing of personal data and the protection of privacy in the electronic communications sector (Directive on privacy and electronic communications) OJ L 201, 31.7.2002, p. 37–47.
- ECtHR, Big Brother Watch and Others v. United Kingdom, app. no. 58170/13, 62322/14 and 24960/15, 13 September 2018.
- ECtHR, Centrum v. Sweden, app. no. 35252/08, 19 June 2018.
- ECtHR, Szabó and Vissy v. Hungary, app. no. 37138/14, 12 January 2016.
- ECtHR, Weber and Salavia against Germany, app. no. 54934/00, 29 June 2006.
- ECtHR, Zacharov v. Russia, app. no. 47143/06, 04 December 2015.
- Entscheidung des Bundesverfassungsgerichts 1 BvR 2835/17 (zu den §§ 6, 7, 13 bis 15, 19 Absatz 1, § 24 Absatz 1 Satz 1, Absatz 2 Satz 1, Absatz 3 des Gesetzes über den Bundesnachrichtendienst) (BVerfGE20200519 k.a.Abk.), 19.05.2020. Available at: https://www.buzer.de/gesetz/13986/index.htm (accessed on 18.11.2020).
- Statement of the Article 29 Working Party on the Opinion on the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, Brussels, 13 April 2016. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/justice/article-

29/press-material/press-release/art29_press_material/2016/press_release_ shield_en.pdf (accessed on 18.11.2020).

- Communication from the Commission to the Éuropean Parliament and the Council on the Functioning of the Safe Harbour from the Perspective of EU Citizens and Companies Established in the EU, COM(2013) 847 final, 27.11.2013
- 2000/520/EC: Commission Decision of 26 July 2000 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequacy of the protection provided by the safe harbor privacy principles and related frequently asked questions issued by the US Department of Commerce (notified under document number C(2000) 2441) (Text with EEA relevance.), Official Journal L 215, 25/08/2000, p. 0007 – 0047.
- 2002/2/EC: Commission Decision of 20 December 2001 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequate protection of personal data provided by the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (notified under document number C(2001) 4539).
- 2003/490/EC: Commission Decision of 30 June 2003 pursuant to Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the adequate protection of personal data in Argentina (Text with EEA relevance)





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

SCANDINAVIAN LEGAL REALISM AND THE CHALLENGE OF RECOGNIZING EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICE AS A LEGAL NORM / Jenna Uusitalo

Jenna Uusitalo, M.A. in Law; PhD. student, Faculty of Law, University of Helsinki, P.O. Box 4, 00014 University of Helsinki, Finland; jenna.uusitalo@helsinki.fi; ORCID: 0000-0002-7799-7289. Abstract: Emergency medical service (EMS) forms a sub-category of the internationally recognized right to health. However, despite the codification of the right to health in various human rights conventions which have been implemented in national legislation, EMS still seems to be regarded as an economic expense or a political decision rather than a legal norm or a human right. This paper evaluates the causes for such a misunderstanding, primarily through Scandinavian Legal Realism which emphasizes the social contextualization of law. Supplementary scholarly views, as well as a history of human rights, are also applied to support the main arguments. Essentially, the paper claims that the challenge of recognizing EMS as a legal norm is associated with the relatively abstract and impersonalized nature of emergency care.

Key words: Emergency Medical Service; Human Rights; Legal Philosophy; Scandinavian Legal Realism

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 06 July 2020 Accepted: 07 September 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Uusitalo, J. (2020). Scandinavian Legal Realism and the Challenge of Recognizing Emergency Medical Service as a Legal Norm. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 129-146. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.192

1. INTRODUCTION

In 2015, the Parliamentary Ombudsman of Finland published a decision according to which equal access to emergency medical care in Finland was compromised because of dead zones within the emergency medical service helicopters' (HEMS) geographical area of operation.¹ Despite the explicit constitutional references in the decision, the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, as a responsible authority on the matter, was of the opinion that the issue was solely a political one and could not be resolved without due consideration of the budget (Mansikka, 2018; Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 2018). Therefore, the new HEMS bases cannot be established until 2022 at the earliest, i.e., seven years after the Parliamentary Ombudsman's observations.

Contrary to the Ministry's perception, emergency medical service (EMS) is not merely a political or economic decision, but a legal norm which has a strong basis in international human rights law. While no international or regional human rights document refers to EMS specifically, it forms a *de jure* sub-category of the right to health, which

¹ The Decision of the Parliamentary Ombudsman of Finland (2015). En Jämlik Tillgänglighet av Läkarhelikoptrar. Dnro 1989/4/14.

itself has been recognized by international human rights law.² An additional human rights aspect is found in the definition of EMS which has traditionally provided urgent treatment to patients who suffer from injuries or sudden onset of illness.³ In other words, the core function of EMS is to safeguard one of the most fundamental human right to life. By ratifying the international and regional human rights documents, Finland for instance, has accepted to be bound by the legal norms obligating it to protect life and to guarantee the highest standard of health care available within its resources. These norms have then been transferred in the Constitution and clarified in detail by substantive legislation such as in the Health Care Act (*Terveydenhuoltolaki*, 1326/2010) and the Decree on Emergency Medical Service (*Asetus Ensihoitopalvelusta*, 585/2017).

Considering that EMS has a relatively strong legal basis in Finnish law, it seems inevitable to ask why EMS faces challenges in becoming recognized as a legal norm enshrined in the international human rights law. This paper answers the aforementioned auestion primarily through the Scandinavian way of legal thinking, frequently referred to as Scandinavian Legal Realism or the Scandinavian School of Thought. This approach has been selected because the traditional distinction between natural and positivist legal theories seems rather insufficient to provide a comprehensive answer to the research question. Despite being a legal norm, EMS is nevertheless attached inter alia with economic, societal and political aspects (Uusitalo, 2018a, p. 405; Uusitalo, 2018b, p. 206). Therefore, Scandinavian Legal Realism, which perceives law as a social phenomenon that cannot be isolated from the social context, seems to offer the most compatible and practically oriented grounds for the present analysis (Jorgensen, 1984; Hart, 1959). However, as no single legal theory can comprehensively explain the functions of legal norms, ideas emerging from Scandinavian Realism are supplemented with additional scholarly views and the historical aspects of human rights that can de facto enhance the understanding of Scandinavian legal thinking.

Essentially, this paper argues that the main reason that EMS fails to be recognized as a legal (human right) norm is because of its impersonalized nature. To clarify this hypothesis, EMS is generally of no concern to an individual until emergency medical care is needed. It is only after a personal experience that a person starts to consider the importance of EMS and to evaluate the compatibility of existing legal frameworks with personal and societal values. Actions to change the prevailing societal understanding of EMS are initiated when the current legislative basis is no longer perceived to correspond with what individuals perceive as fair and just. The aim of the paper is to clarify the theoretical background and the challenges of legal (human rights) norms, primarily through concrete examples, in order to better understand how the law and human rights operate in society. The analysis is applied both at a national level and in the international arena.

This paper is structured as follows. After the introduction, section two explains the main perceptions and the position of Scandinavian Legal Realism with respect to other legal theories regarding the question of what law is. Section three examines how Scandinavian legal thinkers perceive human rights in general. Elected examples of human rights issues are presented and analysed. Section four applies the theoretical observations from the previous sections to analyse the primary research question: why

² See, for example, Article 25 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights; Article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; Article 13 of the Revised European Social Charter.

³ According to the Finnish law EMS is defined as "urgent treatment of patients who have suffered an injury or a sudden onset of an illness primarily outside of health care treatment facilities" (Terveydenhuoltolaki 1326/2010, art. 40(1))

does EMS faces challenges to be regarded as a legal norm? Finally, section five summarizes the findings and offers concluding remarks.

2. SCANDINAVIAN LEGAL REALISM ON THE DEFINITION OF LAW

The guestions of what law is, how legal norms operate and why individuals follow laws are by no means straightforward. Historically, discussions have evolved around the question of the interactions between sovereign and subservient, evaluating inter alia whether people must unquestioningly obey laws in every circumstance, or whether the governing power is in fact vested on people (see Kant, 1793; Rousseau, 1762). Regarding the essential nature of law, legal positivists such as Hans Kelsen perceived law as an isolated phenomenon which should be distinguished from any form of moral sentiment or politics, and is followed simply by virtue of being a norm that imposes negative sanctions (Somek, 2007, pp. 411-414; Kammerhofer, 2009, pp. 227-228). Others, such as H.L.A. Hart, drew a distinction between rules imposing legal obligations and rules conferring legal power. He understood that not all legal provisions are coercive in nature. but still believed in the ultimate rule of the legal system (Hart, 1986; Lon Fuller, 1964, p. 385; Payandeh, 2011, p. 974). Arguments against what can be referred to as "pure and isolated law" were presented by natural law theorists such as John Rawls and Jürgen Habermas. They understood law to stem from moral values and a moral sense of justice that human beings have by nature (Weithman, 2009, pp. 117-118; Khan, 2012, pp. 153-154; Leeper, 1996, p. 139). This implies that a legal norm which does not reflect morality has de facto no legal value, and cannot even be a legal norm. The political theorist Carl Schmitt on the other hand, perceived law as nothing more than politics in which the monopoly has been granted to a lawmaker (Schmitt, 1929, pp. 19-25; Schmitt, 1932, p. 23; Berkmanas, 2010, p. 107). This represents a rather sceptical view with no positive validation in law. In this chaotic battle of contradictory views, the Scandinavian Legal Realism seems to offer a balancing settlement by combining differing perceptions of the law

The Scandinavian Legal Realism, which is also frequently referred to as the Scandinavian School of Thought, was founded at the beginning of the 20th century and is traditionally associated with four scholars. Axel Hägerström (1868 – 1939), a Swedish philosopher and Alf Ross (1899 – 1979), a Danish lawyer, are generally regarded as the founders of the Scandinavian way of legal thinking. Working with them were Hägerström's students, Anders Vilhelm Lundstedt (1882 – 1955) and Karl Olivecrona (1897 – 1980) (Bjarup, 2005, pp. 1-2; Eliasz and Jakubiec, 2016, pp. 107-109). Whilst each of these philosophers has slightly different interpretations of the metaphysics of law, the essential elements for understanding the law are more or less in agreement.

What makes this Scandinavian line of legal thinking appealing is its practical orientation. For Scandinavian thinkers, law is a socially constructed fact, and therefore needs to be interpreted in the societal context (Jorgensen, 1984, p. 2; Baaz, 2009, pp. 10-11; Hart, 1959, p. 234).⁴ Interestingly, despite the fact that Scandinavian realists aimed to challenge the distorted perception of law represented by both positivist and natural legal theories, they ultimately reflected the elements from both schools of thought and from other political and moral philosophers (Bjarup, 2005, pp. 1-2; Eliazs and Jakubiec, 2016, p. 107). However, such concessions towards other theories do not decrease the

⁴ It should be noted that American legal realism shares the same understanding of law being dependent on social factors. However, representing legal theory in a common law jurisdiction, American realism is more focused on courts and socio-economic factors affecting to them, whereas Scandinavian legal realists reflect civil law jurisdiction (see Pihlajamäki, 2004, pp. 470-472).

importance of the Scandinavian Realism but rather they allow Scandinavians to offer a clearer perception of the law by combining various viewpoints and forming their own interpretations.

The main arguments and line of logic represented by Scandinavian Legal Realism can be summarized as follows:

- It is not that a norm itself that has much value in reality. Instead, the importance is vested in the *idea of the norm* existing in people's minds (Schmidt, 1978, p. 10; Pattaro, 2009, pp. 540-542; Niemi, 2016, p. 34). It follows that a legal norm is only an abstract matter (*an idea*), having no practical meaning for an individual until it becomes a reality for them.
- 2. Individuals follow (the idea of) a legal norm because of their own moral sentiment of duty, fear of moral disapproval or sanctions, or because there is not sufficient motive to break the law (Schmidt, 1978, pp. 9-10; Jorgensen, 1984, pp. 2-5; Carty, 2003, pp. 822-824). Therefore the essential purpose of law is to direct a person's behaviour, and a mere feeling of being bound by law is sufficient to hinder illegal actions and make individuals comply with what is expected of them (Schmidt, 1978, pp. 13-20; Eng, 2011, p. 223; Holtermann, 2017, p. 30).
- 3. Those in power have a certain authority to influence a sense of right and wrong. A preference for security and a fear of the unknown can restrain individuals from the challenging legislation (Schmidt, 1978, pp. 16-18; Spaak, 2014). However, because norms do not have a reality of their own but are constructed in the minds of individuals to reflect the feelings of society, it follows that in order for a norm to have legal validity, it must correspond with what is perceived as fair and just by the public (Jorgensen, 1984, p. 5; Carty, 2003, p. 826; Pattero, 2009, pp. 540-542; Holtermann, 2017, p. 30). Therefore the power of a lawmaker is not absolute, but must *de facto* represent the societal values.

The foundation of Scandinavian Legal Realism is therefore human beings and human conduct in society. In a sense, such a philosophical approach is not inherently unique. It has, for instance, been admitted that even in the sphere of egoism, each individual citizen is nevertheless a member of society (Marx, 1844, pp. 128-131). Therefore, every individual decision and action should be reflected in a societal context, i.e., how actions affect others and how others perceive one's actions (Mill, 1849, p. 145; Sartre, 1945, pp. 30-31; Parekh, 2004, p. 47). However, what differentiates Scandinavian legal realists from these (political) philosophers, is that instead of engaging merely in a socio-political analysis, Scandinavians sought to explain the *functions of law* and legal norms by utilizing moral perceptions and socio-political evaluations.

Interestingly enough, Scandinavian Realism reflects, at least to some extent, legal positivism by acknowledging the existence of legal norms (or the *idea of a legal norm* that binds us). However, by claiming that individuals do not follow the norm simply because it exists, but because the public has accepted it, Scandinavians concede towards a natural theory of law as well as moral philosophers. In fact, such a notion can be seen to reflect an *inter alia* utilitarian approach according to which, law itself cannot be a synonym for justice due to the possible existence of unjust laws, even though the ultimate goal of law should be to promote happiness (Mill, 1861, p. 139; Hayden, 2001, p. 118). Consequently, Scandinavian Realism combines legal positivism that emphasize the existence of (some form of) norm, with moral (utilitarian) philosophers and natural law theorists appraising an individual's sense of righteousness and morality, i.e., personal feelings contributing to individual's decision on obeisance of the law.

Essentially, whether a norm is followed because it has been codified in the legislation or because we merely feel a moral sense to comply with it, is irrelevant for Scandinavian realists. Instead, what is important is the collective understanding among

individuals of what is regarded valuable enough to be followed. In contrast to natural law theorists, Scandinavian realists perceived law as more of an intangible phenomenon which has little importance to individuals in ordinary circumstances. In other words, what Scandinavians claim, is that individuals comply with the law more or less automatically. without any further moral appraisal, until they face injustice. What is regarded as injustice, on the other hand, derives from an individual's own values, attitudes, morals and prejudices (see Tamanaha, 2006, p. 1267). These factors, then, have a basis in historical and cultural heritage, which essentially explains why similar rules have different implementations depending on social context (Picker, 2011, p. 88; Eberle, 2011, p. 52). The similar logic of feeling bound, cultural context and the fear of moral disapproval, in fact applies equally at the national level among individuals and in the international arena to explain states' behaviour. Some states are more concerned about their international reputation and choose to comply with international norms simply to avoid "bad publicity" and because they perceive compliance to be the right thing to do. However, for some states, the feeling of being bound by common rules does not constitute sufficient grounds to adjust their conduct to correspond with international law. Thus, Scandinavian Legal Realism offers a practically oriented theory on law, according to which non-judicial determinants (and human factors) cannot be overlooked in the legal analysis of both national and international law.

3. SCANDINAVIAN LEGAL REALISM APPLIED TO HUMAN RIGHTS

Human rights form a branch of contemporary international law and are binding upon states either through ratification and implementation of international human rights treaties in accordance with the 1969 Vienna Convention on Law of Treaties, or because of customary international law. International human rights law, as we currently understand it, has its foundations in the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) which was established in the aftermath of the terrible events of World War II. However, instead of being a mere codification of legal norms, human rights are de facto a formation of collective power representing our moral and political conceptions (see Lefort, 1986, pp. 261-263; Bagatur, 2014, p. 11; Keedus, 2011, p. 192). Human rights have a much longer history than conventional human rights law implies. Indeed, the rights that are currently guaranteed by the UDHR and other human rights treaties, in fact represent inter alia continuous historical failures to protect minorities as well as inhumane conditions and treatment of human beings.⁵ Throughout history, human beings have taken actions to demand changes when they have found something that does not comply with their understanding of rightness. In other words, our awareness of the right to have rights, as Hannah Arendt presents it, as well as our membership of a political society, have enabled the development of (contemporary) human rights law (Arendt, 1958, p. 296; Oman, 2010, pp. 285-286). It is therefore fair to say that human rights law has evolved not only through our attempts to reconcile ourselves with historical guilt, but also through dissatisfaction and feelings of injustice.

It should be noted that, since there is no consensus on what law actually is, no agreement on the philosophical basis of human rights has been reached (Payandeh, 2011, p. 969; Cambell, 2011, p. 455; Bittner, 2015, pp. 73-74). Human beings are, of course, regarded as possessing rights simply by virtue of being human (Tasioulas, 2015, p. 50;

⁵ In fact, the 13th century King of England limited his powers to infringe the rights of his sub servants by signing the Magna Carta. The anti-slavery movement, for instance, took place from the 17th century to the 19th century. Similarly, the French revolution (1789) and its American equivalent (1776) are classical examples of events in which the people were unsatisfied with how they were treated (see more in Neier, 2012, p. 2012; Moyn, 2008, pp. 22-25; Charvet and Kaczynska-Nay, 2008, pp. 72-74; Parekh, 2004, pp. 43-44).

Pogge, 1995, pp. 187-191). However, at the same time the extent to which human rights have expanded, challenges human rights to be perceived purely as a source of natural law. Surely it is fair to claim that we should preserve the right to life by refraining from killing each other because of our moral perception, regardless of the existence or absence of a written criminal code. However, the assumption that individuals have a right to highly professional medical assistance and access to in vitro fertilization (IVF) treatment simply by virtue of our humanity, seems rather far-reaching, even though new technologies have enabled such rights (Tasioulas, 2015, p. 61). Thus, by simply applying the natural legal theory to human rights, the scope of our rights would be deemed much narrower than we have become accustomed to. The codification of rights allows us to expand our perceptions alongside the developments in our societies. However, even written legal provisions are meaningless without social contextualization.

Whilst Scandinavian legal realists have not discussed human rights per se, the concept of a "legal right" has been analysed, in particular by Olivecrona and Ross. Olivecrona, for example, regarded a right to be nothing more than an imaginary power, whereas for Ross, a right was merely "a technical tool of presentation" (see Spaak, 2014, p. 265; Bix, 2009, p. 112). However, despite their noble characterization of representing our historical guilt and dissatisfactions, human rights are essentially comparable to any other legislative norm, and can thus be analysed by applying the general notions of law presented by Scandinavian legal realists. The fact that human rights do not possess any magical characteristics over other legal rules can be explained by the idea that whilst international human rights today form an integral part of our legal systems, such norms have (generally) no legal validation at a national level without implementation (Meckled-Garcia, 2015, p. 304). The rules of international treaty law are not limited to international human rights per se but they apply de jure equally to all international agreements. Consequently, the nature of legal provision guaranteeing freedom of expression under Article 19 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966) does not inherently differ from the norm conferring ships the right to innocent passage through the territorial sea in accordance with Article 17 of the United Nations 1982 Convention on Law of the Sea

However, it is important to note the difference between international human rights law and human rights at national level. The former is universal at the theoretical level as all international and regional human right treaties are *de facto* attributable to the UDHR, declaring equal and inalienable rights to all and reflecting the language of moral philosophy (Tesón, 1985, p. 382; Li, 1996, pp. 397-408; Buchanan, 2015, p. 244). However, international human rights without any social contextualization are simply too abstract and vague to have any practical legal validation and can be no more than a moral framework which helps to value states' conduct in the international arena (Renzo, 2015, pp. 570-576; Monshipouri, 2001, p. 372; Nelken, 1984, p. 170). Therefore, from the perspective of ordinary individuals, human rights gain their legal power through implementation, but at the same time they seem to lose their legal importance of being human rights as they are being transferred to mere legal norms. To clarify such a hypothesis, under normal circumstances people in Finland, for example, do not wake every morning thinking that they have the right to life and personal integrity - despite its constitutional protection which has been expanded further in the criminal code (39/1889) criminalizing inter alia homicides and bodily injuries. Instead, it is only after one's life has been endangered by a perpetrator, either directly or indirectly, that an individual becomes concerned with such a right.

What Scandinavian Legal Realism contributes to the explanation of human rights is the recognition of legal norms (or *ideas* of legal norms) being social factors which reflect an individual's perception of rightness. People do not respect the norms merely

because they are written laws, but because compliance is expected from them by other members of society, and because the public perceives no value in not obeying them. In a sense, human rights, even at the national level, appear to be more or less abstract or self-evident norms. These norms are of no concern to people until the *idea of a norm*, such as the right to life, actualizes in reality, e.g. surviving a car accident. Furthermore, due to social contextualization, or cultural diversity, human rights have different effects in different societies (Raz, 2015, p. 229). That is why gender-neutral marriages, for instance, are accepted in every Nordic country, while same-sex relationships are still illegal in Uganda and even carry the death penalty in Sudan (Amnesty International, 2018a). Similarly, wearing the burga in Muslim countries reflects a religious and cultural context whereas prohibiting them in Denmark represents a different social environment (Margolis, 2018; The Independent, 2018). Such examples not only illustrate how cultural diversity affects the implementation of human rights, but also elucidate the Scandinavian legal realists' perceptions on the de facto way that the law functions.

As Scandinavians explain it, law is by no means an absolute and unchallengeable representation of sovereign will. Rather it is the existence of norms (in people's minds; i.e. an idea of a norm) that confers authorities the *de facto* power (Pattero, 2009, p. 542; Spaak, 2014, pp. 267-268). Actions are thus initiated when the idea of how law should be does not correspond with what law is. For example, a successful campaign promoting gender-neutral marriage in Finland was launched in 2013. An act permitting same-sex couples to register their partnerships, but not to enter into marriage, was perceived by the public as discriminatory and unjust (Tahdon2013, 2013a; Hallituksen esitys, 2015). In addition to the general public, a large number of organizations, companies and celebrities stated their support for the campaign (Tahdon2013, 2013b). The enhanced Marriage Act came into force in March 2017. The campaign proves the Scandinavian theory of the importance of values in social context since not everyone who supported the campaign was personally directly affected by the unjust law (i.e. a discriminatory Marriage Act). Instead, it was a sense that the legislation in force contradicted one's inner value judgment and understanding of equality that enabled both natural and legal persons to act.

The Scandinavian legal realists' perceptions on how the law functions and why (human rights) legislation is changed can be seen in the philosophy of Hannah Arendt (1906-1975) and Jacques Ranciére (b. 1940). Similarly to Scandinavian realists who valued the socially constructed idea of a norm, Arendt and Ranciére also focused on social contextualization and the power of a group in their explanation of human rights. For them, human rights do not belong to everyone simply by virtue of humanity, but because rights are demanded and fought for by those who lack those rights (Arendt, 1958, pp. 279, 301-302; Ranciére, 2010, pp. 67-68; Van der Hemel, 2008, p. 18). In other words, what Arendt and Ranciére essentially claim is that we have an idea of a norm (i.e. an idea of the right to have rights), something that we perceive to have a right to because that right corresponds with our feelings of justice and fairness, e.g. gender-neutral marriage. When our idea of rightness does not correspond with the rights that we have (our de jure rights), we engage in actions to cause what Ranciére referred as dissensus in order to achieve the change that reflects our understanding of the rights we believe we are entitled to. Legislators respond to our demands because they represent a formation of our social power and ability to cause political struggle, and/or because lawmakers share similar perceptions (Lefort, 1986, pp. 261-263; Bagatur, 2014, p. 11; Oman, 2010, p. 287; McLoughlin, 2016, pp. 315-316).

In this regard, banning burqas in Denmark cannot be regarded wrong *per se* as this Scandinavian country does not have an intensive religious or cultural attachment with Islam. What matters more is the notion that Scandinavia has always been regarded

among the safest regions in the world,⁶ and therefore security has been more or less selfevident for the Scandinavians. However, terrorist attacks such as the 2017 Stockholm car attack or the stabbing in Turku (Finland) four months later⁷ have demonstrated the fact that security is not an intangible and absolute value which cannot be interfered with. However, it is precisely because this long-existing societal feeling of security was in danger of being lost that Danish people felt compelled to act. Since Islam is not a widely represented religion in Scandinavia, the public security was valued over the freedom of religion (and expression). Notably, Denmark did not restrict or prohibit freedom of religion, but merely modified it to fit and reflect better Danish societal values of security.⁸ Similarly, at the international level, the Denmark's idea of security exceeds moral approval to which it was subjected to by international human right organizations (Margolis, 2018; Amnesty International, 2018b). Essentially, such a situation authenticates the perception according to which human rights gain their validation at the national level.

4. SCANDINAVIAN LEGAL REALISM EXPLAINS WHY EMS FACES CHALLENGES

One of the main reasons for EMS facing challenges in being recognized as a legal human rights norm, is linked to the overall problem of international law being subject to power politics and state interests. While the UDHR is repeatedly referred to as a basis for modern human rights, in practice the document lacks judicial effect. The legally binding international human rights law created a distorted perception of socio-economic rights primarily associated with communism (Tomuschat, 2003, p. 1). This led to an artificial, unnecessary and impractical categorization of human rights (see Gould, 2015, p. 189; Clayes, 2015, pp. 233-234). This misperception, according to which social and economic rights should be separated from civil and political ones (since no interconnection is understood to exist between them), has unfortunately been repeated time after time at the national level.

It is true that not all human rights are equal in their meaning. For example, unlike the traditional perception of the right to life including the prohibition to kill,⁹ the right to EMS does not *per se* demand any actions from right holders. Human beings refrain from killing each other either because of the legal norm that has already been codified in the national law and/or because it is (morally) expected that we should not kill each other. Similarly, the right to marry a same-sex partner or the preservation of one's security, are concerns that have more or less a direct and concrete effect on individuals. EMS, on the other hand, is a right which imposes duties on the state, but roughly speaking does not provoke or confer any behavioural norms to individuals. Therefore, the explanation that Scandinavian legal realists would give to the question of why EMS fails to be recognized

⁶ The most recent Global Peace Index report placed Denmark the 5th safest country in the world, Iceland holding the first place and other Scandinavian countries (i.e., Finland, Sweden and Norway) accommodating the positions of 14, 15 and 17 (see Institute for Economics & Peace, 2020).

⁷ In the 2017 Stockholm car attack, the perpetrator hijacked a van and drove into the public killing five and injuring tens of bystanders. In Turku, a perpetrator stabbed two victims to death and injured several others. In both cases the perpetrators had expressed their support to ISIS (Islamic State in Iraq and Syria), and were initially found guilty of terrorist crimes. See more in Stockholms Tingsrätt (District Court of Stockholm), Dnro B 4708-17, 7 July 2018; Varsinais-Suomen käräjäoikeus (District Court of Southwest Finland), Dnro 18/125884, 15 June 2018.

⁸ It should also be noted that according to the international human rights law, the freedom of religion and freedom of expression are not absolute rights but can *de jure* be subject to limitations *inter alia* on the grounds of public safety or national security. See, for example, Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (1950), art. 9(2) & 10(2); International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966), art. 18(3) & 19(3).

⁹ See, for example, the cases of ECtHR Osman vs United Kingdom, app. no. 23452/94, 28 October 1998, and ECtHR, Mahmut Kaya v. Turkey, app. no. 22535/93, 28 March 2000.

as a legal (human rights) norm is that, as important as EMS is in safeguarding the right to life, under normal circumstances individuals are not cornered with EMS because they lack any personal attachment to it. In other words, when individuals have not been associated with EMS in practice, the abstract right (an idea of having a right) to EMS has not materialized or become personalized for them.¹⁰ It is only after an individual faces the need for, or becomes aware of emergency medical care, that the abstract idea of the right to EMS actualizes in reality and invokes an evaluation of whether the existing legal framework corresponds with the individual's perception of how the law should be.

In this regard, it is irrelevant that socio-economic rights have a different nature from civil and political ones, because the Scandinavian logic applies to all human rights and legal norms in the same way. Instead, it is the perception of individuals that diverts rights from each other. For example, the right to education, despite being a socioeconomic right, touches upon every family with children, whereas an individual may never exercise the right to peaceful assembly even though it is one of the core first-category human rights. The failure to perceive EMS as a human right, or even a legal norm, occurs precisely because it is too abstract in appearance for individuals to be concerned with. This Scandinavian notion applies to politicians and legislators as well. For instance, Article 2(1) of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), lays down the core minimum requirements that the state must undertake in order to guarantee the right to health under Article 12 of the Covenant. However, Article 12 has been drafted in a rather abstract way calling for the right of everyone to enjoy the highest attainable standards of health and obliging the state to take progressive steps to ensure availability of all medical services and medical attention in the event of sickness. but the article is nevertheless silent regarding an explicit right to EMS. Indeed, the right to health and health care as enshrined in Article 12 of ICESCR, has been described as incoherent and unspecific (Wolff, 2015, pp. 491-492; Brownlee, 2015, p. 502). Because of a generalized wording of the said article, and an absence of a specific reference to EMS, it is understandable that the legislators and politicians may fail to acknowledge the essential importance of EMS as being a human right (or even a legal norm) since the right to EMS is only an abstract idea to them, with no practical meaning in reality.

The above-mentioned claim is well-illustrated in the judgment issued by the Administrative Court of North Finland in which two applicants unsuccessfully challenged the legality of the Hospital District's decision to remove two ambulances from sparsely populated areas.¹¹ The applicants filed the claim because they lived in the affected areas and were therefore affected by the decision despite the absence of an actual incident. Applying Scandinavian Legal Realism to explain these actions, the rearrangement of the location of ambulances made the applicants realize that their sense of security (i.e. the idea of EMS being able to respond without undue delays) was compromised. Actions were eventually initiated because the Hospital District's new plan did not reflect the applicants' feelings of justice and fairness. From the legal point of view, the failure of the claim, on the other hand, resulted from the applicants' failure to argue the case from a constitutional (human rights) perspective which would have enabled a stronger emphasis on a properly functioning EMS system (i.e. the right to EMS) and the right to life.¹² Another significant factor contributing to the unsatisfactory result for the applicants was the fact that neither the Hospital District nor the general populate logitation recognized the importance of

¹⁰ In fact, health care in general is perceived as a need-based right which is exercised only when there is a medical problem (Nickel, 2015, p. 159).

¹¹ See Oulun hallinto-oikeus (2014). Päätös dnro 14/00053/1; and Administarive Court of Oulu (2014). Decision dnro 14/00053/1.

¹² The case was sought to challenge the administrative laws, including the Health Care Act and Local Governmental Act, and made no references to human rights.

the issue because the removal of ambulances from these areas had no direct effect on them. Reasoning, placing a wide emphasis on economic determinants and costeffectiveness was in accordance with the Administrative Court's jurisdiction, and the judgment *per se* contained no legal deficiencies. However, the case might have reached a different judgment if it had been litigated from a different perspective in a different court, or if the applicants had generalized the issue and invoked a wider population to acknowledge injustice of the Hospital District's decision.

By establishing some legal provisions concerning EMS at the national level, Finland has de jure satisfied its obligations under international treaty law, even though the extent of the implementation can be debated. From the Scandinavian perspective, legislators have exercised their power not only to comply with international law, but also to influence the sense of right and wrong. Because of the generally impersonalized nature of EMS (i.e. the fact that not everyone needs to invoke their right to EMS), the majority of individuals are satisfied with the existing legal framework (the idea of EMS) without facing the need to further evaluate that idea. However, as Scandinavians and scholars like Jacques Ranciére and Alain Badiou believe, law is not a representation of an absolute sovereign power, but rather a creation of on-going negotiations which result inter alia from people's feelings (Blechman, Chari and Hasan, 2012, pp. 163-164; Pettersson, 2011, p. 265; Banaker, 2010, p. 24). It follows that EMS becomes a defendable human right when it receives a personalized interest, when someone's idea of EMS does not match with the reality. A change therefore occurs as a result of our actions (Gündogdu, 2014, p. 370). Since the law is inherently a social phenomenon, a sole individual has relatively little chance to affect a change, the chosen actions depend on the position and perception of others as well. Therefore, in order to ensure the availability of ambulances in sparsely populated areas, or to abolish dead zones in the EMS helicopters' operational areas, one must transfer the abstract idea of EMS to the societal reality through personalization by appealing to peoples' emotions (Rorty, 1993, pp. 254-255; Hunt, 2007, p. 26; Faralli, 2014, p. 59). When the legal norm of EMS is no longer a mere abstract idea but has a personal attachment, either through one's own experience of injustice or as a result of becoming aware of existing unfairness, individuals no longer fear sanctions or moral disapproval from others while engaging in actions (of negotiations, disturbances, demonstrations etc.) to change the prevailing system. This is because their actions reflect the wider societal values.

The equivalent logic of an impersonalized idea of EMS applies to the state as well. The state is not concerned with EMS if no self-interest is at stake (Uusitalo, 2018c, pp. 101-102). As long as the state has implemented at least some health care provisions and has some form of EMS in place, the international community, the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural rights for example, should have no reason to interfere with the state's internal affairs in that regard or express any moral disapproval. When individuals perceive EMS more as an abstract idea rather than an actual norm, no dissatisfaction from the public would be expected either. It follows that Finland, for example, could postpone the establishment of new HEMS bases because their absence is not regarded to have any (wide) capability of disturbing those in power. However, just as a legislator has the power to direct our behaviour, the Scandinavian Legal Realists would identify with the claim that it should be in public interest to promote fairness, and prevent any dissatisfaction that might escalate (Finnis, 2011, pp. 33-34). In relation to the Scandinavian logic, it is important to note that it is not the injustice itself that is capable of causing disturbances, but rather the feeling (an idea) of injustice. It follows that EMS and the right to it is a matter of collective will - a form of a traditional social contract enabling those in power to maintain power because the public perceives no reason to dethrone them (Bagatur, 2014, p. 11; Rousseau, 1762). Furthermore, in the globalized and highly interconnected world where states are expected to hold certain moral standards in relation to human rights, the feeling of injustice can emerge externally (Monshipouri and Welch, 2001, p. 372; Kistner, 2014, p. 122). This can cause dissensus in the international arena if other states or human rights organizations express their moral disapproval of Finland's failures regarding EMS. Finland may then comply with these external influences if it regards them to have valid grounds, or it may disregard them due to differences in opinion on the idea of EMS.

Since the government wishes to stay in power and it is in the state's interest to avoid any external influence, implementation of EMS legislation (and of any laws) should essentially reflect the moral standards and evaluations of what is perceived as fair and just. In this regard, the determining factor is not whether the right to EMS is actually and explicitly codified in the international human rights treaties, but how its implementation and actualization from an abstract idea into reality is understood to correspond with the values of a specific society.

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Scandinavian Legal Realism was founded at the beginning of the 20th century to challenge the distorted battle on the metaphysics of law between natural law theorists and legal positivists. Whereas (roughly speaking) natural theorists emphasize our moral consciousness as a directing factor to explain the essence of law, and legal positivists believe only in the written norms, for Scandinavian thinkers the validity of the legal norm does not rely on the norm itself, but on the idea of a norm. Essentially, Scandinavian Legal Realism perceives law as an abstract phenomenon which gains its value through actualization. This occurs either when the matter touches upon us directly, or when the existing legal norm is perceived not to correspond with our idea of what the public regards to be just and fair. What primarily distinguishes Scandinavian Legal Realism from natural or positivists legal theorists, is the incorporation and greater emphasis of human feelings to explain the legal metaphysics.

The Scandinavian way of legal thinking is in fact quite successful in explaining the problems of contemporary human rights law, Since human rights are now codified in international conventions and implemented in national legislation, it is irrelevant to engage in the discussion about the essential metaphysics of the rights. Instead, what Scandinavian perception offers to current human rights law is the notion that the law and its implementation is always affected by societal determinants. Because of these societal variations, the same human rights have different meanings at national levels. This explains why gender-neutral marriage, for instance, is legalized in one state and criminalized in another. Furthermore, as the Scandinavian thinkers would explain it, as long as human rights are implemented to correspond with the general perceptions of rightness, justice and fairness in the given society, these legal norms are regarded more or less as abstract (or self-evident) ideas which, under normal circumstances, do not impose concerns on human beings. However, individuals start to evaluate the validity of a legal norm when it is, for some reason, transferred into reality. This line of logic is also applicable to rationalize why emergency medical service (EMS) faces challenges to be recognized as a legal norm.

Despite being a sub-category of the internationally recognized human right to health and thereby enjoying some form of implementation at the national level, EMS still seems to be perceived as an economic expense or a political question rather than a legal norm. Applying the Scandinavian Legal Realism, this misperception is caused by the impersonalized nature of EMS – an abstract idea of the right to EMS that has not been actualized. In other words, even though EMS is essentially designed to safeguard the

fundamental human right to life by ensuring urgent treatment in life-threatening situations, individuals are not concerned about the placement of ambulances or EMS helicopters until they actually face the need of emergency care. It follows that EMS becomes a defendable legal norm only when it receives a personalized interest from someone and that person can convince others of the existing injustice.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Amnesty International (2018a). *Mapping Anti-Gay Laws in Africa*. Retrieved from: https://www.amnesty.org.uk/lgbti-lgbt-gay-human-rights-law-africa-ugandakenya-nigeria-cameroon (accessed on 03.07.2020).
- Amnesty International. (2018b). Face Veil Ban Discriminatory Violation of Women's Rights. Retrieved from:

https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2018/08/denmark-face-veil-ban-adiscriminatory-violation-of-womens-rights/ (accessed on 03.07.2020).

- Arendt, H. (1958). The Origin of Totalitarism. London: A Harvest Book, Harcourt Brace & Company.
- Baaz, M. (2009). Introducing Scandinavian Legal Realism to the English School of International Relations. BISA's Annual Conference 2009.
- Bagatur, S. (2014). Towards a Democratic Conception of Human Rights. *Theoria and Praxis*, 2(1). ISSN: 2291-1286.
- Banaker, R. (2010). Law, Rights and Justice in Late Modern Society: a Tentative Theoretical Framework. In: Banakar, R. (ed.), Rights in Context: Law and Justice in Late Modern Society (2010, pp. 19-37). Surrey: Ashgate. ISBN-13: 978-1-4094-0740-9.
- Berkmanas, T. (2010). Schmitt v. (?) Kelsen: The Total State of Exception Posited for Total Regulation of Life. *Baltic Journal of Law and Politics*, 3(2), 98-111. DOI: 10.2478/v10076-010-0012-x.
- Bix, B. H. (2009). Ross and Olivecrona on Rights. *Australian Journal of Legal Philosophy*, 34, 103-119.
- Bittner, B. (2015). On Invoking Human Rights When There Aren't Any. In Kaul, S. and Kim, D. (eds.), *Imaging Human Rights* (2015, pp. 69-81), Berlin: De Gruyter, Berlin. ISBN: 978-3110376197.
- Bjarup, J. (2005). The Philosophy of Scandinavian Legal Realism. *Ratio Juris*, 18(1), 1-15.

DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9337.2005.00282.x.

- Blechman, M., Chari, Á., and Hasan, R. (2012). Human Rights are the Rights of Infinite: An Interview with Alain Badiou. *Historical Materialism*, 20(4), 162-186. DOI: 10.1163/1569206X-12341235.
- Brownlee, K. (2015). Do We Have a Human Right to the Political Determinants of Health?. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 502-514).New York: Oxfrod University Press. ISBN 9780199688623.
- Buchanan, A. (2015). Why International Legal Human Rights?. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights (2015, pp. 244-262). New York: Oxford University Press.

DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688623.003.0014.

Cambell, T. (2011). Parliamentary Review with Democratic Charter of Rights. In: Cambell, T., Ewing, K. D., and Tomkins, A. (eds.), *The Legal Protection of Human Rights: Sceptical Essays* (2011, pp. 453-471), New York: Oxford University Press. DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199606078.003.0022.

- Carty, A. (2003). Scandinavian Realism and Phenomenological Approaches to Statehood and General Custom in International Law. European Journal of International Law, 14(4), 817-841. DOI: 10.1093/ejil/14.4.817.
- Charvet, J. and Kaczynska-Nay, E. (2008). The Liberal Project and Human Rights: The Theory and Practice of a New World Order. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511755972.

- Clayes, G. (2015). Socialism and the Language of the Rights: the Origins and Implications of Economic Rights. In: Slotte, P. and Halme-Tuomisaari, M. (eds.), *Revisiting the Origins of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 206-234). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. ISBN: 978-1-107-10764-9.
- Eberle, E. J. (2011). The Methodology of Comparative Law. *Roger Williams Law Review*, 16(51), 51-72.
- Eliasz, K., and Jakubiec, M. (2016). The Vienna Circle and Uppsala School of Philosophical Inspiration for the Scandinavian Legal Realism. *Semina Scientarium*, 15, 107-123. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15633/ss.1771.
- Eng, S. (2011). Lost in the System or Lost in Translation? The Exchanges between Hart and Ross. *Ratio Juris*, 24(2), 194-246. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9337.2011.00482.x.
- Faralli, C. (2014). Law as Fact. *Revus*, 24, 57-67. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4000/revus.3001.
- Finnis, J. (2011). Human Rights and Common Good: Collected Essays, Volume III. New York: Oxford University Press.
 - DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199580071.001.0001.
- Fredman, S. (2008). *Human Rights Transformed: Positive Rights and Positive Duties*. New York: Oxford University Press.

DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199272761.001.0001.

Gould, C. C. (2015). A Social Ontology of Human Rights. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 177-195). New York:

Oxford University Press. DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688623.003.0010.

Gündogdu, A. (2014). A Revolution in Rights: Reflections on Democratic Invention of the Rights of Man. *Law, Culture and Humanities*, 10(3), 367-379.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1743872112459034.

- Hallituksen esitys eduskunnalle eräiksi avioliittolain muutoksen edellyttämiksi lainmuutoksiksi (2015). (Government's Proposal for the Parliament to Change the Marriage Law), HE 65/2015.
- Hart, H.L.A. (1959). Scandinavian Realism. *Cambridge Law Journal*, 17(2), 133-140. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0008197300007650.
- Hart, H.L.A. (1983). Essays in Jurisprudence and Philosophy. Oxford: Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780198253884.
- Hayden, P. (2001). The Philosophy of Human Rights. St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- Holtermann, J.V.H. (2017). A Straw Man Revisited: Resettling the Score between H. L. A. Hart and Scandinavian Legal Realism. *Santa Clara Law Review*, 57(1), 1-41.
- Hunt, L. (2007). Inventing Human Rights: A History. New York: W.W. Norton & Company. ISBN-13: 978-0393331998.
- Institute for Economics & Peace. (2020). *Global Peace Index 2020: Measuring Peace in a Complex World*. Sydney. Retrieved from: http://visionofhumanity.org/reports (accessed on 03.07.2020).

- Jorgensen, S. (1984). Scandinavian Legal Philosophy. Bulletin of the Australian Society of Legal Thinking, 8(2), 2-18.
- Kammerhofer, J. (2009). Kelsen Which Kelsen? A Reapplication of the Pure Theory to International Law. *Leiden Journal of International Law*, 22, 225-249.
- Kant, I. (1793). The Principles of Political Right. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), The Philosophy of Human Rights (2001, pp. 110-117). St. Paul: Paragon, 112-113. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- Keedus, L. (2011). 'Human and Nothing But Human': How Schmittian is Hannah Arendt's Critique of Human Rights and International Law?, *History of European Studies*, 37(2), 190-196. ISSN: SSN0191-6599.
- Khan, G. (2012). Politics and Morality in Habermas' Discourse of Ethics. *Philosophy and Social Criticism*, 38(2), 149-168. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/101145072114072514
 - https://doi.org/10.1177/0191453711427254.
- Kistner, U. (2014). A Politics of Human Rights the Right to Rights as Universal Right to Politics?, *Acta Academica*, 46(3), 122-133, p. 122. ISSN 0587-2405.
- Leeper, R. V. (1996). Moral Objectivity, Jürgen Habermas's Discourse Ethics, and Public Relations. *Public Relations Review*, 22(2), 133-150. ISSN: ISSN-0363-8111.
- Lefort, C. (1986). The Political Forms of Modern Society: Bureaucracy, Democracy and Totalitarism. The MITT Press. ISBN: 9780262620543
- Li, X. (1996). Asian Values and Universality of Human Rights. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), *The Philosophy of Human Rights* (2001, pp. 397-408). St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 9781557787903.
- Lon Fuller, L. (1964). The Morality and Law. In: Hart, H.L.A. (ed.), *Essays in Jurisprudence* and Philosophy (1983, pp. 343-364). New York: Oxford University Press. DOI:10.1093/aprof:oso/9780198253884.001.0001.
- Mansikka, H. (2018). Sote-uudistus saattaa tuoda lääkärihelikopterin myös Kaakkois-Suomeen, nyt tilanne perustuslain vastainen. *Etelä-Saimaa*, 24 March 2018.
- Margolis, H. (2018). Denmark's Face Veil Ban Latest in Harmful Trend: Restrictions Discriminate against Muslim Women. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from: https://www.hrw.org/news/2018/06/01/denmarks-face-veil-ban-latest-harmfultrend (accessed on 03.07.2020).
- Marx, K. (1844). On the Jewish Question. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), *The Philosophy of Human Rights* (2001, pp. 127-135), St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- McLoughlin, D. (2016). Post-Marxism and the Politics of Human Rights: Lefort, Badiou, Agamben, Ranciére. *Law Critique*, 27, 303-321. DOI: 10.1007/s10978-016-9177-0.
- Meckled-Garcia, S. (2015). Specifying Human Rights. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 300-315), New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780199688630.
- Mill, J. S. (1859). On Liberty. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), *The Philosophy of Human Rights* (2001, pp. 143-146), St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- Mill, J. S. (1861). Utilitarism. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), *The Philosophy of Human Rights* (2001, pp. 137-143), St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- Monshipouri, M. and Welch, C. E. (2001). The Search for International Human Rights and Justice: Coming to Terms with New Global Realities. *Human Rights Quarterly*, 23(2), 370-401. DOI: 10.1353/hrq.2001.0020.
- Moyn, M. (2008). *The Last Utopia: Human Rights in History*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. ISBN 9780674064348.
- Neier, A. (2012). *The International Human Rights Movement: A History*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, Princeton. ISBN: 9780691135151.

- Nelken, D. (1984). Law in Action or Living Law? Back to the Beginning in Sociology of Law. Legal Studies, 4(2), 157-174. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-121X.1984.tb00439.x.
- Nickel, J. W. (2015). Personal Desert and Human Rights. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 153-165). New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780199688630.
- Niemi, M. (2015). The Influence of Jurisprudential Theories on Legal Dogmatics in Finland in the Area of Civil Law. *Revista Direito Mackenzie*, 9(1), 27-45. ISSN: 2317-2622.
- Oman, N. (2010). Hannah Arendt's Right to Have Rights: A Philosophical Context of Human Security. *Journal of Human Rights*, 9(3), 279-302. DOI: 10.1080/14754835.2010.501262.
- Parekh, S. (2004). A Meaningful Place in the World: Hannah Arendt on the Nature of Human Rights. *Journal of Human Rights*, 3(1), 41-52. DOI: 10.1080/1475483042000185215.
- Pattaro, E. (2009). From Hägerström to Ross and Hart. *Ratio Juris*, 22(4), 532-548. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9337.2009.00439.x.
- Pettersson, J. (2011). Rethinking Political Subjectification: Equality Beyond a Community of Sameness. *Distinction: Scandinavian Journal of Social Theory*, 12(3), 255-269.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1600910X.2011.614814.

- Payandeh, M. (2011). The Concept of International Law in the Jurisprudence of H. L. A. Hart. *The European Journal of International Law*, 21(4), 967-995. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ejil/chq065.
- Picker, C. B. (2011). Comparative Law Methodology & American Legal Culture: Obstacles and Opportunities. *Roger Williams University Law Review*, 16(86), 86-99.
- Pihlajamäki, H. (2004). Against Metaphysics in Law: the Historical Background of American and Scandinavian Legal Realism Compared. *The American Journal of Comparative Law*, 52 469-488. ISSN: 0002-919X.
- Pogge, T.W. (1995). How Should Human Rights Be Conceived?. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), *The Philosophy of Human Rights*, (2001, pp. 187-211), St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- Ranciére, J. (2010). *Dissensus on Politics and Aesthetics*. London: Continuum International Publication Group, London. ISBN-13: 978-1472583550.
- Raz, J. (2015) Human Rights in the Emerging New World Order. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 217-231). New York: Oxford University Press. DOI:10.1002/compress. DOI:10.1002/compress.

DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688623.003.0012.

Renzo, M. (2015). Human Needs, Human Rights. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 570-587). New

York: Oxford University Press.

DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688623.003.0033.

- Rorty, R. (1993). Human Rights, Rationality and Sentimentality. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), The Philosophy of Human Rights (2001, pp. 241-257). St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- Rousseau, J-J. (1762). The Social Contract. New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780199538966.
- Sartre, J-P. (1945). Existentialism & Humanism. London: Methuen. ISBN-13: 978-0413776396.
- Spaak, T. (2014). A Critical Appraisal of Karl Olivecrona's Legal Philosophy. Basel: Springer. ISBN 978-3-319-06167-2.
- Schmidt, F. (1978). The Uppsala School of Legal Thinking. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International.
- Schmitt, C. (1929). *The Concept of Political*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. ISBN-13: 978-0226738925.
- Schmitt, C. (1932). Legality and Legitimacy. Durham: Duke University Press. ISBN: 978-0-8223-3174-2.
- Somek, A. (2007). Kelsen Lives. *The European Journal of International Law*, 18(3), 409-451,

p. 411-414. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ejil/chm028.

- Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö (2018). Työryhmä Selvittää Lääkärihelikopterien Uusien Tukikohtien Sijoituspaikkakunnat. Helsinki: Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. (Ministry of Social Welfare and Health. (2018). Working Group Established to Determine the Geographical Bases for New HEMSs). Retrieved from: https://stm.fi/-/tyoryhma-selvittaa-laakarihelikopterien-uusien-tukikohtiensijoituspaikkakunnat (06.07.2020).
- Tahdon 2013 (2013a). Kansalaisaloite Tasa-arvoisen Avioliittolain Puolesta (Citizen's Initiative for Equal Marriage Law). Retrieved from: http://www.tahdon2013.fi/ (accessed on 03.07.2020).
- Tahdon 2013. (2013b). *Citizen's initiative*. Retrieved from: http://www.tahdon2013.fi/inenglish/why-a-citizens-initiative/ (accessed on 03.07.2020)
- Tamanaha, B. Z. (2006). A Socio-Legal Methodology for the Internal/External Distinction: Jurisprudential Implications. *Fordham Law Review*, 75(3), 1255-1274.
- Tasioulas, J. (2015). On the Foundation of Human Rights. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Right* (2015, pp. 45-70), New York: Oxford University Press.
 - DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688623.003.0002.
- Tesón, F. R. (1985). International Human Rights and Cultural Relativism. In: Hayden, P. (ed.), *The Philosophy of Human Rights* (2001, pp. 379-396). St. Paul: Paragon. ISBN-13: 978-1557787903.
- The Independent. (2018). Denmark becomes latest European country to ban burgas and niqabs. Retrieved from:

https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/denmark-burqa-baneurope-muslim-women-face-veil-niqab-islam-a8377586.html (accessed on 03.07.2020).

- Tomuschat, C. (2003). *Human Rights: Between Idealism and Realism.* New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780199683734.
- Uusitalo, J. (2018a). From Legislative Shortcomings towards Better Protection of Human Rights: Analysis of Legislation on the Emergency Medical Service in
Finland and Estonia. *European Journal of Health Law*, 25(4), 389-406. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/15718093-12540387.

- Uusitalo, J. (2018b). Protecting Economic Interests or the Right to Life? Perception of the European Court of Justice on Emergency Medical Services. *Baltic Journal of European Studies*, 8(1), 197-209. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1515/bjes-2018-0011.
- Uusitalo, J. (2018c). Responsibility to Protect and Human Security: Doctrines Destroying or Strengthening the Sovereignty?. *International and Comparative Law Review*, 18(1), 93-107. DOI: 10.2478/iclr-2018-0027.
- Van der Hemel, E. (2008). Included but not Belonging: Badiou and Ranciére on Human Rights. *Krisis/Journal of Contemporary Philosophy*, 2008(3), 16-30.
- Weithman, P. (2009). John Rawls and the Task of Political Philosophy. *The Review of Politics*, 71(1), 113-125.
- Wolff, J. (2015). The Content of the Right to Health. In: Cruft, R., Liao, M. and Renzo, M. (eds.), *Philosophical Foundation of Human Rights* (2015, pp. 491-501). New York: Oxford University Press.

DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199688623.003.0028.





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

PRIVATE ANTITRUST ENFORCEMENT IN DIGITAL MARKET / Dominik Wolski

Dr Dominik Wolski Faculty of Law and Administration, Katowice Business University; Harcerzy-Wrzesnia 3, 40-659 Katowice, Poland; dominik.wolski@gwsh.pl; ORCID: 0000-0003-0721-4573 Abstract: The increasing popularity of private antitrust enforcement in the EU is reflected by number of antitrust damages claims in the member states, following the transposition of the Damages Directive. Meanwhile, rapid growth of digitization in every aspect of social and economic life, particularly in business like commerce and services, has taken place. Recently, the above phenomenon was intensified by COVID-19. This paper aims at discussing private antitrust enforcement and antitrust damages claims in the context of digital transformation of the market. To this extent, there are several main characteristics of the market (e.g. multi-sided platforms, the role of third-party sellers, etc.), that have to be taken into consideration in the above discussion.

Key words: Private antitrust enforcement; digital market; on-line platforms; networks; third-party sellers; market characteristics; antitrust damages claims

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 25 October 2020 Accepted: 02 December 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Wolski, D. (2020). Private antitrust enforcement in digital market. Bratislava Law Review, 4(2), 147-160. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.210

1. INTRODUCTORY REMARKS

For the last few years private antitrust¹ enforcement has becoming increasingly popular in the European Union (EU). Nevertheless, its birthplace is the United States (US), where private enforcement has been dominating the whole enforcement of antitrust law for the last approximately hundred years.² The underlying idea of private enforcement is to compensate parties injured by infringement of competition law (both businesses and consumers) as well as discourage actual or potential perpetrators from infringing competition law rules in the future (so called deterrence effect).³ In the EU, the increasing popularity of private antitrust enforcement reflects number of antitrust damages claims

¹ The term "antitrust" is of an American origin being a contradiction of "trust" (see Jones, 1999, pp. 7-8), whereas 'competition' has more in common with the European Union (EU) legal settings. Since this paper discusses private enforcement mainly referring to American and the EU legal environments, both terms are used interchangeably with no difference in meaning.

² See more about the US model of private antitrust enforcement Jones (1999, pp. 3-22) and Floyd and Sullivan (1996).

³ It is worth noting that discussion of the primary goals of private enforcement seems to be never ending. As interesting examples of the debate see Lande, (2004; 2006); Dunne (2014) and Lande and Davis (2010).

in the member states⁴ that follows the transposition of the Damages Directive⁵ to the legal systems of the latter. The antitrust claims can be issued based both on the EU and national competition laws. Thus after years of hesitation towards private enforcement of competition law (contrary to the above mentioned US legal tradition), it eventually found its place on the EU agenda.

In order to successfully pursue antitrust damages claim, it is necessary to ascertain, that any infringement of antitrust law occurred (e.g. collusion, abuse of dominance, foreclosure, etc.). This in turn, to be an effective legal ground of both public and private intervention, must occur in the market, namely as it is called in competition law 'relevant market'. The latter constitutes a part of the whole market and it is denoted for the needs of a particular case upon certain criteria laid down in competition law.⁶

Meanwhile, rapid growth of digitization in every aspect of social and economic life, particularly in business like commerce and services, has taken place. This resulted in digital transformation of the market, sometimes even called "digital revolution" (see Bundeskartellamt, 2019, p. 1), which profoundly changed the way businesses run their economic activity (see also Bundeskartellamt, 2016, p. 1). Both digitization and business becoming increasingly global create new opportunities, however, at the same, time big digital companies can have ability to drive competition out (see Vestager, 2019). In the wake of the above transformation, an infringement of competition law is no longer the same infringement as it was in the traditional market, as the market is not the same as it was a couple of decades ago, at least seen from its technical structure. This change is also reflected in antitrust proceedings and decisions of the EU and national competition authorities, relating to digital market in various aspects of business operations (banking, e-commerce, travel bookings, etc.).⁷ The examples mentioned in the footnote, taken mostly from the EU market but having usually global reach are not the targets, but they are used in order to portray the chief competition issues in digital market. This is also to

⁴ This conclusion is based on data accessible in legal literature, case-law, court records, press releases, etc. collected by the author. It is however worth emphasizing that no comprehensive report is publicly accessible in any of the member states, at least to the best of author's knowledge.

⁵ Directive 2014/104/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 November 2014 on certain rules governing actions for damages under national law for infringements of the competition law provisions of the Member States and of the European Union (OJ L 349, 5.12.2014, p. 1–19).

⁶ See in the EU Commission Notice on the definition of relevant market for the purposes of Community competition law (97/C 372 /03). Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/ALL/?uri=celex%3A31997Y1209%2801%29 (accessed on 04.12.2020).

⁷ See e.g. the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to Ebook MFNs and related matters (case no. AT 40153); another Amazon case relating to possible anticompetitive conduct initiated by the EC on 17 July 2019, case no. AT.40462, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_19_4291 (accessed on 04.12.2020); Mastercard and Visa inter-regional interchange fee cases (cases no. AT.39398 and no. AT.40049), eventually ending in commitments accepted bv the EC on 29 April 2019. available at: https://ec.europa.eu/competition/elojade/isef/case_details.cfm?proc_code=1_40049 (accessed on 04.12.2020); Polish Allegro case (marketplace company) initiated by the Polish Office of Competition and Consumer Protection on 10 December 2019 (Procedure against Allegro. A new platform for whistle-blowers, 10 December 2019, available at: https://www.uokik.gov.pl/news.php?news_id=16014 (accessed on 04.12.2020); and another Allegro case initiated on 3 September 2020 by the same authority (see official website of the Polish competition authority, available at: https://www.uokik.gov.pl/ (accessed on 04.12.2020); Booking commitments accepted on 21 April 2015 by the French Competition Authority (FCA), the Italian Competition Authority (ICA) and the Swedish Competition Authority (SCA) that have coordinated their investigations [The French. Italian and Swedish Competition Authorities Accept the Commitments Offered by Booking.com, available at: https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/multisite/ecn-brief/en/content/french-italian-andswedish-competition-authorities-accept-commitments-offered-bookingcom (accessed on 04.12.2020)]; Lithuanian Eturas case (online booking platform): CJEU the preliminary ruling of 21 January 2016, Eturas UAB and Others v Lietuvos Respublikos konkurencijos taryba, C-74/14, ECLI:EU:C:2016:42.

illustrate how complex relationships among businesses operating in the same market can be.

Digital platforms are in the scope of the interest of many stakeholders. For example, the double role of the platforms (owning a marketplace and selling out on it simultaneously) was the subject of the intervention of one of the US Senators, Elizabeth Warren, advocating for a law preventing large companies doing so (Magana, 2019). In the EU, the German Competition Authority (Bundeskartellamt) conducted extensive, in-depth analysis of digital market and its characteristics in order to know, if competition law methodology applicable to traditional market should change or not (Bundeskartellamt, 2016).

Digital transformation of the market was sharply intensified by COVID-19, which resulted in a massive shift of many consumers from traditional, brick and mortar market of commerce and services, to e-commerce and e-services. Many consumers who have switched online, simultaneously have changed their purchasing habits. For the latter reason many of them are not expected to return to the traditional market in the future.

Having said that, this paper aims at discussing private antitrust enforcement in the context of complexity of a digital market. Does antitrust damages claims environment has significantly changed or it has not as a result of the above mentioned "digital revolution"? Are the main elements of antitrust damages claim, such as determining an infringement, identifying a perpetrator, quantifying harm or causal link between the infringement and damage different in digital market? These are among other things questions that this paper tries to address against the background of changes that have taken place in the market and recent case-law, in particular cases pertaining to big digital companies. On top of that, there is a meaningful question of whether and to what extent, the application of private antitrust law should change due to the above mentioned digitization of the market.

2. ANTITRUST PRIVATE ENFORCEMENT IN THE "NEW ERA"

As already mentioned, private antitrust enforcement in the US has come a long way having more than a hundred-year legacy. This also means that the market at that time, when subsequently Sherman Act (1890) and Clayton Act (1914) were adopted (see Jones, 1999, pp. 6-13), was substantially different from nowadays. Overall, the legal settings, the economic and market environment significantly differ as well, comparing to the legal and economic environment at the end of the twentieth century, not to say the beginning of the twenty-first. However, interestingly enough, the idea of technological giants and their skirmishes with regulators and competition authorities is not a new one, at least in the US. There is a noticeable similarity between current digital platforms that can under certain circumstances dominate the market and Vail's idea of communication's empire, who valued more monopoly than competition (Wu, 2011, p. 8).

Even though, the history of private enforcement in the EU is shorter, reaching back the beginning of 2000s, the first case which is recognized as a pivotal point in this history, namely landmark decision in *Courage Crehan* case, was set in the traditional market (the exclusive purchase obligation - beer tie).⁸ This means in turn, that private enforcement also in the EU, usually following public one, must be adopted to the new market reality.

Meanwhile not only the market has changed as a result of "digital revolution" bolstered by spread of COVID-19, but the application of the law to the new environment

⁸ See CJEU, judgment of 20 September 2001, Courage Ltd v Bernard Crehan and Bernard Crehan v Courage Ltd and Others, C-453/99, ECLI:EU:C:2001:465.

had to be adjusted at least in some areas (e.g. data protection, privacy, IP and copyrights in the Internet, etc.). Did antitrust private enforcement change as well following the above mentioned changes of legal and business environment?

The above question needs to be addressed considering two separate preliminary assumptions that are discussed in the following parts of this paper. Firstly, from the legal perspective, the main principles of private antitrust enforcement remain unchanged. The party that suffered damage as a result of competition law infringement, irrespectively of whether in traditional or digital market, is entitled to sue the infringer under civil procedure and to seek remedy. The latter, usually monetary compensation, includes actual damages, lost profits, interests and other reasonable costs of litigation (e.g. legal service).

Considering recent, one of the most known private enforcement cases from digital market (Visa/Master Card 'multilateral interchange fees' case in the United Kingdom (UK)⁹ or Amazon 'price parity' and 'fair pricing' case¹⁰), we can fairly realize, that the above mentioned elements did not change in digital market. In respect to quantum of damages, what we can learn from the above cases, it is how the court dealt with so called passing on defense and in this respect the "broad axe issue". It should be also noticed, that after the implementation of the Damages Directive, the overall rules do not significantly differ in the US and the EU member states, subject to some particularities of given legal settings (e.g. treble damages in the US or costs of litigation rules, see Floyd and Sullivan, 1996, p. 1047 et seq.; Jones, 1999, pp. 80-84).

As already mentioned, in spite of the above revolutionary change of the market, the overall principles of private antitrust enforcement have been remaining unchanged, not only since their implementation in the legal systems of the EU member states, but subject to some particularities, ever since the outset of private enforcement in the US. However, what could or should change is the application of the above principles to the new market environment (big digital platforms, big data, new market definition, etc.).

3. DIGITAL MARKET CHARACTERISTICS

Having considered the year 2001 (the Court's ruling in *Courage Crehan* case) as the beginning of an increasing role of private enforcement in the EU, thus not so much distant past, the market to which private enforcement rules apply substantially changed. As a consequence of the change, several features of the current digital market have to be borne in mind when applying such rules. First of all, a great part of the market of commerce and services that before the market transformation had been operating in a traditional, brick and mortar mode (independent shops and retailers, shopping centres, merchants, travel agents, cash transactions, etc.) moved to on-line platforms of various kinds. This shift pertains to goods and services, including home equipment, furniture, food including essentials, books, e-books, holidays, travel bookings, insurances, and many others. The list is obviously not exhausted. Recently, this on-line shift was bolstered and intensified by COVID-19. In fact, a great part of social, professional and commercial life moved on to "digital reality".

⁹ See UK Supreme Court gives important judgement in the Visa/Marstercard 'interchange fee' litigation, Sherman & Sterling, 23 June 2020, available at: https://www.shearman.com/perspectives/2020/06/uksupreme-court-gives-important-judgment-in-the-visa-mastercard-interchange-fee-litigation (accessed on 04.12.2020) and the judgement of the Supreme Court of 17 June 2020: United Kingdom, Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd v Visa Europe Services LLC and others; Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd and others v Mastercard Incorporated and others [2020] UKSC 24. available at: https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/docs/uksc-2018-0154-judgment.pdf (accessed on 04.12.2020) ¹⁰ See the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424).

Seemingly, the above process could only up competition game creating new opportunities ("New companies, with millions or even billions of users, have emerged from nowhere ...", Vestager, 2019). This is because as a result of less actual and technological barriers (e.g. lower entry costs), it gives easier, quicker and cheaper access to the market of all players, namely producers, suppliers, retailers and customers. Theoretically, on the supply side, almost everyone is able to place his offer on-line, as on the demand side everyone having access to the internet, can buy or use services on-line. Whether traditional or digital market, there is nothing better for competition than quick, open, cheap and equal access to it for all participants.

From the above perspective (an open, easily accessible market), nothing better could have ever happened for the economy, but digitization. As a consequence, had this ideal world existed, neither public intervention of competition authorities nor antitrust damages claims of private claimants would have been needed. Nonetheless, at least since1626, the year when 'New Atlantis' by Francua Bacon was published we know, that ideal world exists only in books and thinkers' minds. So it is in case of the digital transformation of the market. The openness of the digital market, that gives many opportunities and is sometimes expressed also in so-called net neutrality, is in some aspects not so obvious. The natural temptation to build an empire and close the market was in place as early as the first communication monopoly, namely the Bell system, was established in the US (Wu, 2011, pp. 50-51).

What is clear from merely a few interventions of competition authorities as well as private antitrust claims recalled in this paper, both in the US and the EU, in an open digital market, a few "digital giants" arose. As the worldwide scale examples can serve Amazon, Booking, Visa, MasterCard or Google. Only to give a picture of such scale, Amazon.com, Inc. is the world's largest online retailer and its sales account for almost half of all retail e-commerce in the United States.¹¹ In the E-book market, Amazon acting upstream as a publisher and downstream as an E-book retailer controls a big part of the market as well.¹² In 2017 Mastercard and Visa, based on purchase transactions, accounted together for above 75% of the market share globally (Szmigiera, 2019). Also big, but nationwide, operating locally, are *Eturas* (Lithuania) or *Allegro* (Poland), other respectively). Allegro is the most popular online shopping platform in Poland (in 2019 79% of customers came to buy new items online on this platform).¹³

The above numbers reflect the market reality, which in some cases brings about the dominant position of companies insofar as they are able to control the market they operate. For the sake of the access to the great number of customers, from the third-party sellers' perspective, to be able to sell online through the platform is like Hotel California (*"lovely place to expand an online retail business"*).¹⁴ However, on the other side, in many cases the dominant position (or almost dominant) of big digital companies causes a situation, in which open, cheap and easy-accessible market for all participants can exist only in theory. From the practical point of view, the position of big digital platforms can under certain circumstances result in a big market power, on both supply

¹¹ See the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 1.

¹² See the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to Ebook MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), p. 7.

¹³ Procedure against Allegro. A new platform for whistle-blowers, 10 December 2019, available at: https://www.uokik.gov.pl/news.php?news_id=16014 (accessed on 04.12.2020).

¹⁴ The Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 17.

and demand side. On the demand side, the most important from the customers' perspective is to find an offer at good quality and price.

Therefore, having in mind massive information flow and a number of offers attracting customers' attention every day and hour, the consumer is overwhelmed. For obvious reasons, a real challenge of every retailer is not to place the offer but to do it in the most efficient way. Here the possibility given by digital platforms becomes a key factor. For the consumer living in a fast moving world and having limited time at disposal but at the same time persistently looking for the best offer possible (goods or services), it is easier to visit one of the well-known digital platforms, instead of searching smaller, independent retailers or marketplaces. On the supply side, occupying a big part of the market and having a great number of loyal customers, it is easier for a big digital platform to reach out consumer and attract him the offer, than for the above smaller businesses. As said, they have a great competitive advantage of holding a big market share and giving a number of smaller businesses opportunity to offer their goods and services, and eventually reach out customers.

Another characteristic of the digital market of great importance for private antitrust enforcement is complexity. As arises out of the above-mentioned cases of big digital platforms, most of them pursue many functions, at least two. They provide smaller businesses (retailers and service providers) with an opportunity to put up their offers on the platform, operating as a marketplace. At the same time, big digital operators offer their own goods and services on the same platform. This brings about the double role of digital platforms being the same time marketplace's owners and retailers. They are called "two-sided platforms" providing services to two different groups (third-party sellers and their customers).¹⁵ Here is the complexity. It means that the platform. As a result, a potential limitation of freedom in offering goods and services set up between the platform and retailer (e.g. in respect to prices, discounts, innovations, alternative distribution channels, etc.) can lead to restraints of competition. This effect is bolstered by the fact that most of the big digital platforms have the dominant position in the market or at least have attempted to monopolize it.¹⁶

How complex the digital market dominated by big digital platforms and networks is (matching platforms, advertising platforms, etc.) we can also see in the study conducted by the German Competition Authority (Bundeskartellamt, 2016). No less important from the perspective of the above complexity is using algorithms by many undertakings running their businesses online, in particular those big ones. It is also another subject under the scrutiny of competition authorities (see Bundeskartellamt, 2019).

Bearing in mind the complexity of the digital market, what is of great importance in the context of competition law infringement and potential private antitrust claims, it is the notion of 'relevant market.' In order to prove competition law infringement and to successfully pursue private damages claim following such finding, it is necessary to

¹⁵ See the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 1; the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to E-book MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), p. 7, and Procedure against Allegro. A new platform for whistle-blowers, 10 December 2019, available at: https://www.uokik.gov.pl/news.php?news_id=16014 (accessed on 04.12.2020), p. 1.

¹⁶ See The French, Italian and Swedish Competition Authorities Accept the Commitments Offered by Booking.com, available at: https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/multisite/ecn-brief/en/content/french-italian-andswedish-competition-authorities-accept-commitments-offered-bookingcom (accessed on 04.12.2020); the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), pp. 32-33; see the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to E-book MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), p. 17.

ascertain that competition law infringement had occurred in the 'relevant market'. In the traditional market, this notion in the EU law was denoted by two elements, namely geographical scope and product substitutability.¹⁷ Thus "defining" markets is to study the complex interplay between product characteristics, customer and supplier behaviour, firms' substitution decisions and regulation" (Vestager, 2019). The complexity of digital market causes a situation where neither of the above criteria would allow easily to denote 'relevant market', when needed in order to find competition law infringement. Considering online business reality, in particular fact that online platform is accessible even from the farthest corner of our globe, the geographical criteria are not sufficient enough. even considering shipping barriers, customs and other costs related with online shopping. As a consequence, the question of the geographical scope of the market translates in the auestion where the market's boundaries lie. For example, in telecom cases the market covers at least the EU single market or even the whole world (Vestager, 2019). Therefore, it is very often difficult to denote 'relevant market' based on the geographical dimension. Not better with substitutability criterion. Having considered products and services offers' complex characteristics as well as the whole range of different areas where big digital platforms operate (e-books and many accompanying functionalities accessible on the platform, ecosystem of services designed to work together, etc.) as well as customers' choices and habits, it is very difficult to find fully substitutive product. Moreover, in many cases it can be difficult for the customer to switch from one ecosystem to another (Vestager, 2019). These factors often result in a situation, in which even for businesses is difficult to find who is a competitor of whom, not to say about competition authority (Vestager, 2019).

In the wake of digital market transformation and due to its complexity and shortcomings of the current definition of the relevant market,¹⁸ the EC following the 2019 speech of M. Vestager, in 2020 decided to launch public consultations aiming at the evaluation of the definition of the relevant market for the purposes of competition law.¹⁹ On the other hand, the Bundeskartellamt concluded, that "the current antitrust tools are in principle also suitable for the assessment of digital platforms and networks" (2016, Results and Recommendations, p. 4).

4. WHO DOES HARM, WHO IS HARMED?

As mentioned in the beginning, there are two main functions of private antitrust enforcement, compensation and deterrence, sometimes supplemented by public sector savings due to less number of interventions of state authorities. As in each part of the tort liability regime, social costs have to be taken into consideration as well (see e.g. Givati and Kaplan, 2020). Nevertheless, it goes without saying, that from the practical perspective of parties to antitrust litigation, the compensatory function is of the biggest significance and the others hardly matter. As a result, bearing in mind the above characteristics and complexity of the digital market, it is vital to realize which party did cause damage (and should pay compensation) and which party suffered it (and should be awarded of damages). There is however not an easy answer to this question, at least from a certain perspective.

¹⁷ See Commission Notice on the definition of relevant market for the purposes of Community competition law (OJ C 372, 9.12.1997, pp. 5–13).

¹⁸ Commission Notice on the definition of relevant market for the purposes of Community competition law (OJ C 372, 9.12.1997).

¹⁹ Competition: Commission consults stakeholders on the Market Definition Notice, 26 June 2020. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_20_1187 (accessed on 04.12.2020).

To start with the claimant perspective, bearing in mind merely few cases recalled in this paper, the consumer usually can claim that he suffered damage. This is, however, only viable provided that other conditions of liability for damage caused by competition law infringement are fulfilled. For example, the consumer can claim that his damage equals price overpaid as a result of the infringement. Had an anti-competitive practice or prohibited agreement not occurred, the overprice (including overcharge²⁰), would have not been paid by a consumer. As stated in one of the complaints, due to pricing policy one of the platforms, the sellers were forced to maintain supracompetitive prices paid by customers.²¹ Anti-competitive practice can also result in a lack of choice or limited choice (which in the end raises prices as well), less innovative products or services, etc.²² As we can see in one of the studies, in the digital market, innovation potential and data sources matter a big deal as well (Bundeskartellamt, pp. 16-19).

Therefore, despite some particularities of the digital market, the consumer's perspective towards damage he can suffer in the digital market, as a result of competition law infringement, does not substantially differ from that one in the traditional market. Additionally, the consumer himself can neither infringe competition law nor cause harm or contribute to it. The latter situation in relation to the claimant other than the consumer can differ in some cases outlined below.

In respect to businesses other than the big digital platforms, they can also suffer damage resulting from infringement of competition. Said can pertain to retailers who do not want to use or are not allowed to use a given platform due to their lack of consent for conditions set forth by the platform. Obviously, this can be a case only if the above conditions are not consistent with competition law. The damage can consist of losses (more likely lost profits) caused by no entry in the market, higher entry costs, lack of opportunity to launch innovative product attracting consumers, etc.

The harm-related matters are more complicated in relation to other parties, usually businesses, operating in the digital market. This issue mostly concerns businesses that under certain circumstances can also suffer damage, namely third-party sellers or service providers (e.g. book or e-book sellers, hotels, travel agents, tourist apartments' owners, etc.) cooperating with one of the big digital platforms and placing their offers on it. The above smaller businesses, not necessarily small, but having significantly smaller market power, cooperate with the platform under the contract. Thus they have a legal relationship with the platform. They also to the great extent constitute the platform's business being an inherent part of it. On the other hand, considering the market share of big online platforms, the latter is big enough to be desired by the third-party sellers and service providers. This in turn allows online platform in a better position comparing to other, smaller independent platforms and own channels of third-party sellers.

Based upon case-law recalled in this paper, typical anti-competitive clauses used by big online platforms are "price parity" (also "best price" clauses)²³ or platform most

²⁰ According to Article 2 clause 20 of the Damages Directive 'overcharge' means the difference between the price actually paid and the price that would otherwise have prevailed in the absence of an infringement of competition law.

²¹ See the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 5.

²² See e.g. the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to E-book MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), p. 22.

²³ See The French, Italian and Swedish Competition Authorities Accept the Commitments Offered by Booking.com, available at: https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/multisite/ecn-brief/en/content/french-italian-and-

favoured nation or "PMFN"²⁴ and "fair pricing" policy.²⁵ Conduct of online platform based upon contractual clause can also consist of data collection (competitively sensitive information, e.g. about marketplace sellers, their products and transactions on the marketplace) and its analysis in order to restrain competition.²⁶ As the above-mentioned study points out, data source becomes an important factor in the digital market (Bundeskartellamt, 2016, pp. 16-17). There are other non-price-related, though competitively sensitive clauses (e.g. "Notification Provisions").²⁷

As a result of the above, there are two basic types of competition law infringements that can cause damage. The first, bearing in mind the market power of the biggest online platforms can be an abuse of a dominant position. It can occur by imposing on the smaller businesses (e.g. third-party sellers) conditions that both limit their ability to sell products and services at a lower price than on the platform (price-related provisions) and set forth actual constrains in switching to other, independent platforms or sale through the third-party's own channels. A typical example is the above-mentioned contractual clause constraining retailers from offering their products at better (i.e. lower) price on other than a big online platform. The other one set up barriers for retailers (e.g. e-book sellers) prone to use more innovative solutions or functionalities, throughout obligatory noticing of the big online platform about the solution, that the retailer is about to use on a competing platform or third-party seller's own distribution channel. Innovation potential is also another factor well pointed by Bundeskartellamt as relevant when assessing the digital market from a competition law perspective (Bundeskartellamt, 2016, pp. 16-17).

Notwithstanding, the above clauses as integrated into the contract between the online platform and third-party seller, can under certain conditions be construed from an antitrust perspective as a collusion (e.g. price fixing), concerted practices or any other type of agreement that restrains competition. In this case, a retailer (booksellers, hotel, travel agency, etc.) is deemed as the party to the anti-competitive agreement in question.

Having said that, two types of relationships of a potential wrongdoer and injured party have to be analysed at length. Firstly, in case of the usually less complicated scheme, the stronger party abuses its dominant position over the other parties (e.g. retailers or service providers). Secondly, in a more complex situation arising under the above-mentioned contractual anti-competitive clause, a third-party seller and an online platform can be the parties to the contract including an anti-competitive clause. As we can see from the examples mentioned in this paper, in both typical cases (abuse of dominance and contractual constraints) damage suffered by an injured party, if proved under the conditions of civil proceedings, is considered the same way. It usually can result from the lack of ability of sale at a higher price on the independent platform or third-party's own channel (e.g. lost profits) as well as from the lack (or constrained) ability of

swedish-competition-authorities-accept-commitments-offered-bookingcom (accessed on 04.12.2020); and the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to E-book MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), p. 9.

²⁴ It reads "the purchase price and every other term of sale ... is at least as favorable to Amazon Site users as the most favorable terms via Your Sales Channels", see the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 3.

²⁵ See the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 3; and the European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to E-book MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), p. 9.

²⁶ European Commission (2019). Antitrust: Commission opens investigation into possible anti-competitive conduct of Amazon, 17 July 2019. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_19_4291 (accessed on 04.12.2020).

²⁷ The European Commission (EC) decision of 4 May 2017 on Amazon's commitments in relation to E-book MFNs and related matters (case no. AT.40153), pp. 11-12.

implementation more innovative solutions or functionalities due to obligatory noticing of the big platform. The occurrence of damage on the part of the retailer or service provider in the above cases is possible. However, in the second case (contractual clause restraining competition) two types of issues have to be discussed at length in order to ascertain if in a particular case, a perpetrator is liable for damage on the part of an injured party. The first issue pertains to the liability, namely is the party to an anti-competitive agreement liable for damage caused to the party to the same agreement? The second issue is relating to the quantification of harm suffered by a retailer or service provider.

The first of the above-mentioned issues was the subject of the landmark decision in *Courage Crehan* case. In its ruling, the Court ascertained eligibility of the party to the agreement infringing competition (prohibited agreement) to seek compensation from another party to the same agreement. As stated in the Court's judgement, the latter party infringed competition by forcing another party to integrate an anti-competitive clause in the agreement.²⁸ However, it is important that the litigant should not profit from his own unlawful conduct. The bargaining power of the party enabling to impose an anti-competitive condition on a weaker party has to be taken into account as well. The same rules apply to contractual relationships between the online platform and the retailer.

In relation to the second issue, namely quantification of harm suffered by an injured party in the aforementioned relationships, the answer seems to be even more complicated. This is because the quantum of harm in antitrust damages cases is based upon the economic and market analysis. It is usually a result of many factors, namely losses and profits of the injured party. Consequently, the question is not only to what extent the injured party suffered due to the anti-competitive practice but also whether the injured party has benefited from the infringement. Additionally, guantification of harm must answer to the question if the injured party passed the loss on to its customers.²⁹ In cases discussed in this paper it will be the question if a given retailer (e.g. book or e-book third-party seller) or service provider, as a consequence of the limitations arising under the contract with the online platform, benefited to any extent. For example, if case analysis allows to make the assumption, that if the seller had used an alternative platform to sell its products at a higher price or if it had applied in its operations more innovative solution or functionalities, it would have benefited more than it did when using one of the big online platforms. In relation to above-mentioned 'pass on defence', there is another guestion whether the claimant passed its actual or potential loss on to its clients or suppliers downstream or upstream. The result of this profound and complex analysis can show the actual damage and lost profits of the party seeking compensation from the perpetrator. Eventually, the compensation should be reduced by a part of the damage covered by benefits of an injured party or damage that was passed on to its clients or suppliers.

Bearing in mind the above, it seems that the simplest possible (not simple) calculation of damage suffered by the injured party applies to B2C transactions. It is the case of one of the recent class actions in the US concerning losses suffered by

²⁸ See CJEU, judgment of 20 September 2001, Courage Ltd v Bernard Crehan and Bernard Crehan v Courage Ltd and Others, C-453/99, ECLI:EU:C:2001:465.

²⁹ See e.g. UK Supreme Court gives important judgement in the Visa/Marstercard 'interchange fee' litigation, Sherman & Sterling, 23 June 2020, available at: https://www.shearman.com/perspectives/2020/06/uksupreme-court-gives-important-judgment-in-the-visa-mastercard-interchange-fee-litigation (accessed on 04.12.2020) and the judgement of the Supreme Court of 17 June 2020: United Kingdom, Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd v Visa Europe Services LLC and others; Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd and others v Mastercard Incorporated and others [2020] UKSC 24, available at: https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/docs/uksc-2018-0154-judgment.pdf (accessed on 04.12.2020).

consumers, resulting from abusive practices of a big online platform.³⁰ However, even though this calculation is seemingly not complicated being based upon so-called overcharge (i.e. supra-competitive prices paid by consumers), as well as less choice and less innovative solutions available for consumers, it is still at least in part based on estimated losses.³¹ The exact calculation is hardly possible.

In the second case of a party to the contract suffering damage as a result of abusive practice of a bigger party, calculation of damage, considering all the abovementioned factors, is even more challenging and complex. Both examples, however, well demonstrate the complexity of quantification of harm in antitrust damages claims that becomes even more complex when applying private enforcement rules to cases related to the digital market. The "double role" of mostly dominant platforms – the same time competing with third-party sellers and providing them with an opportunity of placing their offers on the platform – additionally increases the complexity of the application.

5. OTHER RELATED ISSUES

Apart from the calculation of damage, there are some other issues that have been discussed in the legal literature and case-law ever since the outset of private antitrust enforcement. Even though conclusions from the discussion and legal interpretation can vary in particular legal systems (e.g. the US and Europe), some of the elements have a lot in common. There are for example issues such as the concept of competition law infringement and identifying the infringer, causal link between the infringement and damage suffered by the injured party or standing of an indirect purchaser downstream and upstream in the supply chain.³²

As regards to the infringement of competition law and identifying the infringer, if an antitrust damages claim follows decision of the competition authority ('follow-on' claim), then all what the claimant should know before filing a claim is included in the above decision. Therefore, in follow-on cases the main burden when finding the infringer and ascertaining the violation of competition law rests on the competition authority. This process does not significantly differ in cases related to the digital market, though, the competition authority is challenged by the complexity of the latter outlined above.

In case of 'stand-alone' actions (not preceded by a decision of the competition authority), this challenge rests on the plaintiff, which is more burdensome in some type of relationships related to the digital market (e.g. the platform-retailer contractual relationships discussed above). Additionally, in case of a contract (prohibited agreement), based on well-established case-law following *Courage Crehan* case, when identifying an infringing party, the decisive factor is which party, considering its bargaining power in given circumstances, was able to force another party to agree on the anti-competitive clause in the agreement. The application of this rule to the digital market would not change.³³

³⁰ The Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 5 and p. 12.

³¹ See the Class Action Complaint of 19 March 2020, United States District Court Western District of Washington at Seattle (Case No. 2:20-cv-00424), p. 13.

³² Some of the issues are discussed in the EU context in Wolski (2016, pp. 69-96; 2017, pp. 69-84).

³³ See also the Court's judgement in *Eturas* case in relation to tacit consent for anti-competitive conduct of the travel booking online platform: CJEU the preliminary ruling of 21 January 2016, Eturas UAB and Others v Lietuvos Respublikos konkurencijos taryba, C-74/14, ECLI:EU:C:2016:42.

Provided that the claimant, whether a business, a consumer or a group of consumers in case of the class action, is able to prove damage he suffered, the second issue is to link the damage and the infringement based upon private law principles of the particular legal system. This applies in each case the same way, whether follow-on or stand-alone. This is because competition authority decision does quantify damage, but merely ascertains the occurrence of competition law infringement. Therefore even considering presumption of damage resulted from a cartel infringement set forth in the Damages Directive,³⁴ although rebuttable, quantification of harm is not presumed. What this means is that the claimant in order to be successful in filing a claim must always prove the size of damage he suffered. This can be particularly complex and difficult bearing in mind the above-mentioned downstream and upstream relationships between the big digital online platform and retailers or service providers respectively.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In conclusion, although many similarities with the traditional market, the socalled digital revolution brought about important changes, that have to be taken into account when discussing and applying private antitrust enforcement rules (e.g. consumers' easy access to the market, almost no geographical limits, the dominance of a digital online platform, etc.). The above-described complexity of the digital market, in particular in downstream and upstream online platform-retailers-suppliers scheme as well as main difficulties of private antitrust enforcement (e.g. quantification of harm, causal link, indirect purchaser standing, etc.), are in antitrust damages claims related to the digital market even harder. Certainly, the application of private enforcement rules to the digital market requires a profound understanding of the market, its functions and relationships between its participants. For the above reasons, the environment of antitrust damages claims significantly changed due to the digital transformation of the market. Whether to file a claim is easier or not, vastly depends on the understanding of the market structure and its characteristics. This is important not only on the part of a claimant but first and foremost for the court when adjudicating the case. As the example of the UK judgement mentioned in this paper makes it clear, the court is able to cope with such cases, in particular when specializing in competition law. On the other hand, having in mind the main elements of antitrust damages claims (e.g. damage, guantification of harm, causal link, etc.), they do not significantly differ when applying to cases related to the digital market.

Having said that, as recommendations, there are two elements worth emphasizing. Firstly, in relation to the infringement of competition law and antitrust damages claims following the infringement, definition of the relevant market (a market where the infringement occurs), is of great significance. The market changed and the definition of the market in competition law should be rethought and changed as well. In this respect, consultations initiated by the EC can bring about necessary adjustment of relevant market definition to the new market environment. For this reason, the Bundeskartellamt's conclusion with respect to current competition law tools and digital platforms seems to be at least premature.

From the perspective of practical application, assuming that eventually in competition law-based cases the court adjudicates the plaintiff and defendant's arguments, an understanding of the digital market is crucial. Therefore, not only the courts should have ability to cope with the complexity of the digital market, but the role of the experts' opinions are of great importance. Even though the court, in particular when

³⁴ This presumption is set forth in Article 17 clause 2 of the Damages Directive.

not specializing in competition cases,³⁵ is highly skilled, considering the aforementioned complexity and fact that competition law is inextricably intertwined with the economy, an expert opinion is inevitable in order to just and effectively decide in antitrust damages cases. There is also a need for the impartiality of the above experts since they play crucial role in private antitrust cases.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Bundeskartellamt. (2019). *Algorithms and Competition. Executive Summary.* Available at: https://www.bundeskartellamt.de/SharedDocs/Publikation/EN/Berichte/Algorith ms_and_Competition_summary.pdf;jsessionid=6A11BAF19E1FAE586226AC438 0C3425D.1_cid390?__blob=publicationFile&v=4 (accessed on 04.12.2020).
- Bundeskartellamt. (2016). Working Paper. The Market Power of Platforms and Networks. Executive Summary. Available at:

https://www.bundeskartellamt.de/SharedDocs/Publikation/EN/Berichte/Think-Tank-Bericht-Zusammenfassung.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=4 (accessed on 04.12.2020).

Competition: Commission consults stakeholders on the Market Definition Notice, 26 June 2020. Available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_20_1187 (accessed on 04.12.2020).

- Dunne, N. (2014). The Role of Private Enforcement within EU Competition Law. King's College London Dickson Poon School of Law, Legal Studies Research Paper Series, Paper No. 36/2014.
- European Commission (2019). Antitrust: Commission opens investigation into possible anti-competitive conduct of Amazon, 17 July 2019. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_19_4291 (accessed on 04.12.2020).
- Floyd, C. D. and Sullivan, E. T. (1996). Private Antitrust Actions, The Structure and Process of Civil Antitrust Litigation. Little, Brown and Company.
- The French, Italian and Swedish Competition Authorities Accept the Commitments Offered by Booking.com. Available at:

https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/multisite/ecn-brief/en/content/french-italian-andswedish-competition-authorities-accept-commitments-offered-bookingcom (accessed on 04.12.2020).

- Jones, C. A. (1999). *Private Enforcement of Antitrust Law in the EU, UK and USA*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lande, R. H. (2006). Five Myths About Antitrust Damages. University of San Francisco Law Review, 40, 1-24.
- Lande, R. H. (2004). Why Antitrust Damage Levels Should Be Raised. *Loyola Consumer Law Review*, 16(4), 329-345.
- Lande, R. H. and Davis, J. P. (2010). Benefits from Private Antitrust Enforcement: An Analysis of Forty Cases. *University of San Francisco Law Review*, 42, 879-918.
- Magana, G. (2019). Amazon is ending its restrictive pricing practice. *Business Insider*, 13 March 2019. Available at: https://www.businessinsider.com/amazon-endsrestrictive-pricing-parity-2019-3?IR=T (accessed on 04.12.2020).

 $^{^{\}rm 35}$ As an example of specialized court serves Competition Appeal Tribunal in London (see more at https://www.catribunal.org.uk/).

- Procedure against Allegro. A new platform for whistle-blowers, 10 December 2019. Available at: https://www.uokik.gov.pl/news.php?news_id=16014 (accessed on 04.12.2020).
- Szmigiera, M. (2019). Distribution of credit card issuers worldwide in 2017, by purchase transactions, 11 December 2019. Available at:

https://www.statista.com/statistics/278970/share-of-purchase-transactions-on-global-credit-cards/ (accessed on 04.12.2020).

- UK Supreme Court gives important judgement in the Visa/Marstercard 'interchange fee' litigation, Sherman & Sterling, 23 June 2020. Available at: https://www.shearman.com/perspectives/2020/06/uk-supreme-court-givesimportant-judgment-in-the-visa-mastercard-interchange-fee-litigation (accessed on 04.12.2020).
- Wolski, D. (2016). The Principle of Liability in Private Antitrust Enforcement in Selected European States In Light of the Implementation of the Damages Directive into the Polish Legal System. Yearbook of Antitrust and Regulatory Studies, 9(14), 69-96.
- Wolski, D. (2017). The Type of Liability in Private Enforcement in Selected CEE Countries Relating to the Implementation of the Damages Directive. *Yearbook of Antitrust and Regulatory Studies*, 10(15), 69-84.
- Wu, T. (2011). The Master Switch. The Rise and Fall of Information Empires. Vintage Books.
- Vestager, M. (2019). Defining markets in the new age, Speech, Chillin' Competition Conference, Brussels, 9 December 2019. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/commissioners/2019-2024/vestager/announcements/defining-markets-new-age_en (accessed on 04.12.2020).
- Givati, Y. and Kaplan, Y. (2020). Harm Displacement and Tort Doctrine. *The Journal of Legal Studies*, 49 (1), 1-30.

DISCUSSION PAPERS AND COMMENTARIES





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

THE EUROPEAN PUBLIC PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE: NEW ACTOR IN EU CRIMINAL LAW / Dominika Becková

JUDr. Bc. Dominika Becková, PhD. University of Pavol Jozef Šafárik in Košice, Faculty of Law, Institute of International Law and European Law; Kováčska 26, 040 75 Košice, Slovakia; dominika.beckova@upjs.sk; ORCID: 0000-0001-6489-1701

The article presents output of the research project APVV-18-0421 ,The European Public Prosecutor's Office in Connections of the Constitutional Order of the Slovak Republic as Strengthening of the European Integration through Law"

Abstract: The European Public Prosecutor's Office was established under enhanced cooperation in 2017, as a new body in the institutional system of the European Union. The establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office changes the EU criminal law in a significant way, as it is the first body of the European Union, which will undertake its own investigations of criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU, carry out acts of prosecution and exercise the functions of prosecutor in the competent courts of the Member States.

Key words: European Public Prosecutor's Office; EPPO; EPPO Regulation; Competence; EU criminal law; Crimes affecting the EU's financial interests; PIF Directive; Lisbon Treaty; Article 86 TFEU; European Union law

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 30 September 2020 Accepted: 02 December 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Becková, D. (2020). The European Public Prosecutor's Office: New Actor in EU Criminal Law. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 163-172. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.207

1. INTRODUCTORY REMARKS

The issue of criminal law protection of the budget and the financial interests of the European Union has been the topic of many discussions for nearly 30 years.¹ One of the most significant changes in the Union criminal law came during the year 2017, when Regulation (EU) 2017/1939 implementing enhanced cooperation on the establishment of

¹ The idea of the establishment the European Public Prosecutor was firstly launched in the *Corpus iuris* project in 1990s, but it remained controversial for a large number of Member States. This attempt was followed by the Green-Paper on criminal law protection of the financial interests of the Community and the establishment of a European Prosecutor (COM (2001) 715), which was adopted on 11 December 2001, later the topic appeared also at the Convention for an EU Constitution. The Treaty of Lisbon has brought many changes to EU Criminal Law, mainly the legal basis for the future European Public Prosecutor's Office (scope of competences), but it does not directly set up EPPO. The last attempt on the field of the establishment of the EPPO was a Council Regulation on the Establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office. COM (2013) 534 final.

the European Public Prosecutor's Office (*"the EPPO Regulation"*)² has been passed. The European Public Prosecutor's Office became a new body of the Union with an extremely hard task – to fight crimes against the EU budget and protect the Union's financial interest through the provisions of criminal law. Until now, criminal policy has been applied exclusively on the national level by Member States' bodies without their practice being controlled, replaced or applied in parallel by any body of the European Union. The establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office signifies the turning point in the protection of the financial interests of the European Union, as this new Union's body has the power to investigate and prosecute criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU.

The establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office together with the establishment of minimum rules concerning the definition of criminal offences affecting the Union's financial interests, strengthen the protection of the EU budget in line with the acquis of the Union in the field of criminal policy. According to this fact, the EPPO is a new body in the legal environment of the EU, it has to define precisely its competences set out in Article 86 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and in the EPPO Regulation, as well as their exercise in practice. The material competence of the EPPO is laid down in Art. 22 EPPO Regulation, according to which the EPPO is competent in the offences affecting the financial interests of the Union that are provided in the Directive (EU) 2017/1371 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2017 on the fight against fraud to the Union's financial interest by means of criminal law (*,the PIF Directive*"), as implemented in national law. The legal framework for the investigations and prosecutions on behalf of the EPPO Regulation, as a partly harmonised criminal procedural law, and national laws of Member States will apply only in cases when a matter is not regulated by the EPPO Regulation.

This article's general aim is to clarify the task and the competence of the European Public Prosecutor's Office in the European Union law. To reach this aim, it is necessary to focus on the provisions of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (provisions about judicial cooperation in criminal matters), as they are the cornerstone of nowadays EU criminal law. The second part of this article deals with the question of the material competence of the EPPO and its limitation. This part also takes a closer look at the exercise of the competence of the EPPO.

2. THE TREATY FRAME

The constitutional changes in the concept of the EU criminal law could be found in the Treaty of Lisbon, which is also known as the reform treaty. The Lisbon Treaty abolished the pillar structure and completed the absorption of the third pillar – cooperation in the fields of justice and home affairs into the first pillar (nowadays the only one existing). The entry into force of the Treaty of Lisbon opened the possibility to improve the integration in judicial cooperation in criminal matters in the EU. The provisions of Art. 82 - 86 TFEU provide for the harmonisation of criminal law, changes in the existing European criminal law institutional system, changes in the powers of European criminal law bodies, as well as they provide the possibility to establish new bodies to the institutional system, specifically the EPPO. The opportunity to establish a new body to combat crimes affecting the financial interests of the Union presents the most significant change in existing EU criminal law and poses a challenge for the EU itself and its Member States. Article 86 TFEU provides the legal basis for the establishment of

² Council Regulation (EU) 2017/1939 of 12 October 2017 implementing enhanced cooperation on the establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office.

the European Public Prosecutor's Office. Article 86 TFEU does not directly set up the European Public Prosecutor's Office but left its establishment to the existing EU institutions and the Member States.³ Although Art. 86 TFEU does not directly establish the EPPO, it provides for three types of special procedures for the EPPO subsequent establishment. Firstly, the Council may establish the European Public Prosecutor's Office from Eurojust by regulation adopted under a special legislative procedure. Secondly, in the absence of unanimity in the Council, a group of at least nine Member States may request that the draft regulation be referred to the European Council and in a case of a consensus in the European Council, the draft has to be adopted by the Council. The last option, the one used for the establishment of the EPPO in 2017, in case of disagreement in the European Council, at least nine Member States can establish enhanced cooperation based on the draft regulation.

Article 86 TFEU is just setting up the basic mandate of the EPPO which is responsible for investigating, prosecuting, and bringing to judgment the perpetrators of. and accomplices in offences against the Union's financial interests.⁴ The mandate of the EPPO can be extended by a decision of the European Council to combat serious crimes having a cross-border dimension and affecting more than one Member State.⁵ Judicial cooperation in criminal matters in the EU is based on the principle of mutual recognition of judgments and judicial decisions. The provisions on the minimal harmonised rules of criminal law refer to criminal areas listed in Art. 82 and 83 TFEU.⁶ The problem is that the above-mentioned list of criminal areas does not explicitly include the crime of fraud against the Union's financial interests, the crime the EPPO has the competence to investigate and prosecute as the only body of the EU. The provisions about combatting fraud or other illegal activities affecting the financial interests of the EU can be found in Art. 325 TFEU which establishes the guidelines for building the legal architecture that will protect the EU's financial interests (Marín, 2020). Based on this provision, the EU and the Member States have to take measures to counter fraud or any other illegal activities affecting the EU's financial interests, whereas the measures taken in the Member States have to be the same as they take to counter fraud affecting their own financial interests. There is no doubt, that Member States have a key role in the process of fighting fraud by taking effective measures to protect the EU budget. By comparison with Art. 82 - 83TFEU (harmonisation of laws in criminal matters) and Art. 325 TFEU (measures to combat fraud) it can be seen that the legislator aimed to separate a special group of crimes, where the Union can approximate the criminal laws of the Member States and the crimes of fraud affecting the Union's budget, as the crime of fraud affecting the financial interests of the EU is serious. Article 325 TFEU contains a legal basis to take measures in order to assure an effective deterrent and protection and can be qualified as a special provision to the general provision of Art. 83 TFEU (Vervaele, 2018).

The legislator decided to give an option to the EU institutions and the Member States to establish a special criminal law enforcement body of the Union – the European Public Prosecutor's Office - with competence to fight directly against crimes affecting the

³ Article 86 par. 1 TFEU.

⁴ Article 86 par. 2 TFEU.

⁵ Article 86 par. 4 TFEU.

⁶ The approximation of the laws and regulations of the Member States concerns the areas of mutual admissibility of evidence between the Member States, the rights of individuals in criminal procedure, the rights of victims of crime or other specific aspects of criminal procedure which the Council has identified by a decision (Art. 82 par. 2 TFEU). The area of crimes, where the minimum rules concerning the definition of criminal offences and sanctions can be adopted, are due to Art. 83 TFEU terrorism, trafficking, inhuman beings and sexual exploitation of women and children, illicit drug trafficking, illicit arms trafficking, money laundering, corruption, counterfeiting of means of payment, computer crime, and organised crime.

Union's financial interests through the criminal law. The Art. 86 TFEU is not defining the institutional structure of the EPPO, the appointment of its members, its competence, or its rule of procedure. The institutional design of the EPPO determines its status and powers, its relations with national authorities and existing EU institutions and bodies and makes the transfer of sovereignty visible for the Member States (Ligeti and Weyembergh, 2015). The problem in this context is that The Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union is limited just to stating that the general rules applicable to the EPPO, the conditions governing the performance of its functions and the rules of procedure applicable to its activities shall be the object of the regulation on the establishment of the EPPO. The missing institutional context of the EPPO in primary law of the EU caused problems and long discussions with the aim to find the proper way. The result came in 2017 when the EPPO was established by the Council Regulation implementing enhanced cooperation on the establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office. Based on Art. 3 of the EPPO Regulation the EPPO is a new body of the EU with a legal personality. The EPPO, as presented and set-up in the EPPO Regulation will not only be a new actor in the Union's iudicial landscape, but it also brings an entirely new and different approach in fighting crimes in the European Union (Csonka, Juszczak and Sason, 2017).

3. THE EUROPEAN PUBLIC PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE AND ITS COMPETENCE

The establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office is the result of the obligation of the Union and the Member States to protect the Union's financial interests against criminal offences which cause significant financial damage. The experiences with combatting crimes affecting the financial interest of the Union, in which the Member States had exclusive competence to fight against them showed, that the aim should be better achieved at the Union level. Because of this fact – to achieve better results and more effective investigation and prosecution – the main task of the EPPO is to investigate, prosecute and bring to judgment the perpetrators of, and accomplices to, criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the Union.⁷ Due to the fact, that the EPPO has direct power of investigation and prosecution, it will dramatically increase the deterrent effect for potential criminals and solve the problems of different applicable legal systems (Maesa, 2017).

3.1. Material competence of the EPPO

The material competence of the EPPO, set in Art 22 EPPO Regulation, covers criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU as provided for in the PIF Directive,⁸ and as implemented by national law.⁹ The PIF Directive establishes minimum rules concerning the definition of criminal offences and sanctions with regard to combatting fraud and other illegal activities affecting the Union's financial interests.¹⁰ Harmonized offences include procurement and non-procurement fraud, customs revenue fraud, VAT revenue fraud, active and passive corruption, or money laundering.

⁷ Article 4 EPPO Regulation.

⁸ Directive (EU) 2017/1371 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2017 on the fight against fraud to the Union's financial interest by means of criminal law.

⁹ Article 22 par. 1 EPPO Regulation.

¹⁰ The PIF Directive contains definitions of criminal offences with regard to fraud affecting the Union's financial interests in two main categories – fraud affecting the Union's financial interests (Article 3) and other criminal offences affecting the Union's financial interests (Article 4).

The Union's legislator provides the definitions of criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU in the PIF Directive, but the Union does not have the competence to set legally binding definitions of criminal offences. The scope of the PIF Directive is to serve as a reference frame with harmonized financial criminal offences (Kuhl, 2017). The concrete definitions of criminal offences which fall within the material competence of the EPPO, are required to be set by the Member States in their national laws (criminal law), by which the PIF Directive will be transposed into national law. The transposition of the PIF Directive and its rules will not be homogenous, and the result will be that the original mandate of the EPPO will not be homogenous either (Marín, 2020).

In addition to investigations and prosecution of criminal offences defined in PIF Directive the EPPO also has the competence to investigate and prosecute the offences regarding participation in a criminal organisation,¹¹ if the focus of the criminal activity of a criminal organisation is to commit any of the offences defined in the PIF Directive.¹² Moreover, the competence of the EPPO is also given for any other offence that is inextricably linked to criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU as defined in the PIF Directive.¹³ In this case, the EPPO can exercise its competence only when two conditions are simultaneously fulfilled: (1) there exists an inextricably link¹⁴ between a criminal offence defined in the PIF Directive and other criminal offence, and (2) the maximum sanction provided by national law for an offence defined in the PIF Directive is higher than the maximum sanction for an inextricably linked offence.¹⁵

The EPPO regulation also contains negative definition of the competence of the EPPO. The EPPO does not have the competence to investigate and prosecute criminal offences relating to national direct taxes including offences inextricably linked to them.¹⁶

In connection with the competence of the EPPO, it is necessary to keep in mind the possibility of an option to extend the competence of the EPPO. The possibility of extending the competence of the EPPO is connected with serious crimes having a crossborder dimension.¹⁷ The decision to extend the powers of the EPPO has to be adopted by the unanimous decision of the European Council. The first attempt to extend the competence of the EPPO came soon after the establishment of the EPPO, on 12 September 2018, when the European Commission presented an initiative to extend the competence of the EPPO to cross-border terrorist crimes as part of the comprehensive and strengthened European response to terrorist threats.¹⁸

The material competence of the EPPO in every single case is according to Art. 23 EPPO Regulation determined by its territorial and personal competence. The EPPO is competent for the criminal offences referred to in Art. 22 where these offences (a) were committed in whole or in part within the territory of one or several Member States,¹⁹ (b)

 $^{^{11}}$ Criminal organisation for the purpose of the EPPO Regulation is criminal organisation as defined in Framework Decision 2008/841/JHA.

¹² Article 22 par. 2 EPPO Regulation.

¹³ Article 22 par. 3 EPPO Regulation.

¹⁴ The term inextricably link should be considered in light of the relevant case-law of the Court of the Justice of the European Union, for which the relevant criterion is the identity of the material facts, so it should be understood in the sense of existence of a set of concrete circumstances which are inextricably linked together in time and space (Recital 54 EPPO Regulation).

¹⁵ Article 25 par. 3 let. a EPPO Regulation.

¹⁶ Article 22 par. 4 EPPO Regulation.

¹⁷ Article 86 par. 4 TFEU.

¹⁸ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the European Council. A Europe that protects: an initiative to extend the competence of the European Public Prosecutor's Office to cross-border terrorist crimes. COM/2018/641 final.

¹⁹ For the purposes of the EPPO Regulation Member State is a Member State participating in enhanced cooperation.

were committed by a national of a Member State, provided that the Member State has jurisdiction over such offences when committed outside its territory, or (c) were committed outside the territories of Member States by a person who was subject to the Staff Regulations or the Conditions of Employment, at the time of the offence, provided that the Member State has jurisdiction for such offences when committed outside its territory. The EPPO will have the competence to investigate and prosecute criminal offence exists. On the other hand, the territorial and personal competence of the EPPO has to be read and applied in connection with the idea, that the EPPO should exercise its competence as broadly as possible so its investigations and prosecutions may extend to offences committed outside the territory of the Member State.²⁰

3.2. Shared competence

The European Public Prosecutor's Office is an indivisible body of the Union operating as a single Office. The EPPO can perform effectively its task – to investigate, prosecute and bring to judgment the perpetrators of criminal offences affecting the financial interest of the Union - only when the EPPO and the competent national authorities will support and inform each other.²¹ Sound communication and cooperation between the EPPO and the national authorities are fundamental to ensure real protection of the Union's financial interests and effective enforcement system (Csonka, Juszczak and Sason, 2017). For the EPPO, to become an effective player in the area of EU criminal law, it is necessary to have up to date information about the criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU. Due to these reasons, the institutions, bodies, offices and agencies of the EU and the relevant authorities of the Member States have the obligation to report to the EPPO any criminal conduct in respect of which the EPPO could exercise its competence.²² The mutual exchange of information of importance, as well as the principle of loyalty, are both instruments necessary for the effective investigation and prosecution of crimes at the Union's level.

Based on the reported criminal conduct the EPPO has to decide whether there are grounds to initiate its investigation, to exercise its right of evocation, or whether there are no grounds to initiate its investigation. If the EPPO decides to exercise its competence, the national authorities will not exercise their own competence in respect of the same criminal conduct.^{23 24} The system provided by Art. 86 TFEU and the EPPO Regulation is a system of shared competences between the EPPO and national authorities in the fight against crimes affecting the financial interests of the EU, based on the mere right of evocation of the EPPO (Rafaraci, 2019). Right of evocation of the EPPO,²⁵ is the result of negotiations and it replaced the concept of exclusive competence of the EPPO. In cases, where the EPPO decides to exercise its right of evocation, the competent national authorities of the Member States have to stop their investigation and transfer the case to the EPPO.

Even when the criminal offence falls within the material competence of the EPPO, the EPPO cannot exercise its competence unless the criminal offence involves damage

²⁰ Recital 64 EPPO Regulation.

²¹ The relation between the EPPO and the Member States, especially their national authorities involved in the criminal matters, is governed by the principle of sincere cooperation.

²² Article 24 par. 1 EPPO Regulation.

²³ Article 25 par. 1 EPPO Regulation.

²⁴ Article 25 par. 2 EPPO Regulation.

²⁵ Article 27 EPPO Regulation.

to the Union's financial interests higher than EUR 10.000.²⁶ The EPPO also refrains from exercising its competence over criminal offences affecting Union's financial interests in two other cases.²⁷ Firstly, if the criminal offence defined in the PIF Directive is inextricably linked to another offence, decisive criteria are sanctions and damage caused. If the maximum sanction provided for by national law for a criminal offence defined in the PIF Directive is equal to or less severe than a maximum sanction for an inextricably linked offence, the EPPO shall not exercise its competence. The exception to this rule is the situation when an inextricably linked offence has been instrumental to commit the criminal offence defined in the PIF Directive. The second case, when the EPPO refrains from exercising its material competence, is the case when the damage caused or likely to be caused to the Union's financial interest does not exceed the damage caused or likely to be caused to another victim. As highlighted above, it is clear that in some situations the competence of the EPPO and the competence of the Member State (its national prosecution authorities) can come into conflict, as both of them have the competence to investigate the cases under some conditions or circumstances, whereas not all of them are clear yet. In such a case, the specified national authority is the one with the right to decide who has the power to investigate and prosecute the case. To any conflict of competence between the EPPO and the competent national authorities, the Court of Justice of the EU has jurisdiction to give preliminary rulings concerning the interpretation of Article 25.28

When the EPPO decides to initiate an investigation or exercise its right of evocation, the competent national authorities of the Member State have to be informed as soon as possible. The investigation of the EPPO is then initiated and handled by the European Delegated Prosecutor.²⁹ The European Delegated Prosecutor is responsible for investigations and prosecutions of the criminal offences against the Union's financial interest and for bringing cases to judgment, as he performs his tasks under the direction and supervision of the central Office of the EPPO. During the investigations, the European Delegated Prosecutor acts on behalf of the EPPO and has the same powers as a national prosecutor in respect to investigations, prosecutions and bringing cases to judgment.³⁰ The European Delegated Prosecutor is acting on behalf of the EPPO, investigating and prosecuting the criminal offences which fall within the material competence of the EPPO, but the European rules governing investigation and prosecution of these criminal offences do not exist. Because of missing European rules, the European Delegated Prosecutor undertakes all necessary procedures and measures under the national law. The problem of these situations is that national criminal laws of the Member States are different (e.g. competences of the prosecutors, their positions, different transposition of the PIF Directive). These differences may at the end lead to a different exercise of the EPPO's competence at the national level.

4. CONCLUSIONS

The EPPO regulation represents a move towards the EU Criminal law and paves the way for a new era of criminal justice cooperation in the EU (Ligeti and Weyembergh, 2015). By the establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office under the

²⁶ In situations like this, the EPPO can exercise its competence only if the case has repercussions at Union level which required the investigation by the EPPO or if the case involves EU officials or other servants.

²⁷ Article 25 par. 3 EPPO Regulation.

²⁸ Article 42 par. 2 EPPO Regulation.

²⁹ The European Delegated Prosecutor is a prosecutor at the national level of participating Member States, who is simultaneously a member of the EPPO.

³⁰ Article 13 EPPO Regulation.

enhanced cooperation, the Member States proved their real interest to build an effective legal system to protect the financial interest of the European Union and its budget (lancu and Jigau, 2019). The establishment of the single European Public Prosecutor's Office represents a conceptual change which means a shift from a system based exclusively on mutual recognition of investigation measures adopted by national authorities to a completely new European mechanism of investigation and prosecution of criminal offences by the independent European Public Prosecutor's Office with power to take decisions, which are directly enforced in the Member States (Met-Domestici, 2017).

The adoption of the EPPO Regulation represents an effort to establish harmonized rules in the area of fighting against the financial interests of the European Union. The EPPO Regulation determines its competence, its institutional structure and exercise of its competence. The EPPO regulation itself determines its competence in general terms, but its text does not contain definitions of the criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the EU. The legislator of the EPPO Regulation decided to make reference to the PIF Directive and the national implementing provisions in the question of definitions of the criminal offences. The EPPO proposal does not only lack common definitions of the criminal offences affecting the financial interests of the Cuncete powers of the EPPO in the investigation and the prosecution (Lohse, 2015). In this context, the EPPO Regulation sets up a mixed model consisting of minimum European criminal rules but the exercise of powers of the EPPO in the EPPO is regulated by the provisions of the EPPO is regulated by the provisions of the EPPO will exercise its competence mostly under the provisions of national criminal laws.

Nowadays it is not possible to make a clear conclusion on the true added value of the EPPO, as the EPPO is still in its setting-up phase. The competence of the EPPO opens a space for this new body of the Union to protect the financial interests and the budget of the Union effectively, in cooperation with the competent national authorities. The material competence of the EPPO and its exercise, as well as problems connected to shared competence, will raise when the EPPO will assume the investigative and prosecutorial tasks.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Csonka, P., Juszczak, A. and Sason, E. (2017). The establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office. The Road from Vision to Reality. *Eucrim*, (3), pp. 125 – 135, DOI: https://doi.org/10.30709/eucrim-2017-012
- Herrnfeld, H-H. (2018). The Draft Regulation on the Establishement of the European Public Prosecutor's Office – Issues of Balance Between the Prosecution and the Defence. In: Briére, Ch. and Weyembergh, A. (eds.), *The Needed Balances in EU Criminal Law. Past, Present and Future* (vol. 5 in the series Hart Studies in European Criminal Law, pp. 383 – 412). Oxford: Hart Publishing, ISBN 978-1-50991-700-6.
- Iancu, E.A. and JIGAU, C. (2019). The European Public Prosecutor's Office An Instituion with a Fundamental Role in defining the European Security Space. Agora International Journal of Juridicial Sciences, 13(2), 56-65, DOI: https://doi.org/10.15837/aijjs.v13i2.3801
- Kuhl, L. (2017). The European Public Prosecutor's Office More Effective, Equivalent, and Independent Criminal Prosecution against Fraud? *Eucrim*, (3), 135-143, DOI: https://doi.org/10.30709/eucrim-2017-013

- Ligeti, K. and Weyembergh, A. (2015). The European Public Prosecutor's Office: Certain Consitutional Issues. In: Erkelens, L.H., Meij, A.W.H. and Pawlik, M. (eds.), *The European Public Prosecutor's Office. An Extended Arm or a Two-Headed Dragon?* (vol. 1, pp. 53-77). The Hague: T.M.C. Asser Press, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6265-035-0_5
- Lohse K.M. (2015). The European Public Prosecutor: Issues of Conferral, Subsidiarity and Proportionality. In: Erkelens L.H., Meij A.W.H. and Pawlik M. (eds), *The European Public Prosecutor's Office. An Extended Arm or a Two-Headed Dragon?* (vol. 1, pp. 165-182). The Hague: T.M.C. Asser Press, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6265-035-0 10
- Maesa, C.D.F. (2017). Repercussions of the Establishment of the EPPO via Enhanced Cooperation. *Eucrim*, (3), 156 160, DOI: https://doi.org/10.30709/eucrim-2017-016
- Marín, A. P. (2020). The European Public Prosecutor's Office. Protecting the Union's Financial Interests through Criminal Law. *Eucrim*, (1), 36-41, DOI: https://doi.org/10.30709/eucrim-2020-002
- Met-Domestici, A. (2017). The Hybrid Architecture of the EPP, From the Comission's Proposal to the Final Act. *Eucrim*, (3), 125 – 135, DOI: https://doi.org/10.30709/eucrim-2017-012
- Rafaraci, T. (2019). Brief Notes on the European Public Prosecutor's Office: Ideas, Project and Fulfilment. In: Rafaraci T., Belfiore R. (eds), *EU Criminal Justice* (vol. 1, pp. 157-163). Cham: Springer, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-97319-7_11
- Vervaele, J.A.E. (2018). The Material Scope of Competence of the European Public Prosecutor's Office: Lex uncerta and unpraevia? In: Briére, Ch. and Weyembergh, A. (eds.), *The Needed Balances in EU Criminal Law. Past, Present and Future* (vol. 5 in the series Hart Studies in European Criminal Law, pp. 413-429). Oxford: Hart Publishing, ISBN 978-1-50991-700-6.
- Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the European Council. A Europe that protects: an initiative to extend the competence of the European Public Prosecutor's Office to cross-border terrorist crimes. COM/2018/641 final.
- Council Regulation (EU) 2017/1939 of 12 October 2017 implementing enhanced cooperation on the establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office.
- Directive (EU) 2017/1371 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2017 on the fight against fraud to the Union's financial interest by means of criminal law.
- Proposal for a Council Regulation on the Establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office. COM (2013) 534 final – 2013/0255 (APP).





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

THE MODEL OF SUPERVISION OVER ADMINISTRATIVE COURTS IN POLAND / Jan Olszanowski

Jan Olszanowski Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań, Faculty of Law and Administration, Św Marcin 90, Poznań, Poland. jan olszanowski@amu.edu.pl. ORCID: 0000-0003-3072-3413

The article was created within the research financed by a scientific grant OPUS according to Decision of Director of National Science Centre (NCN) of 15 November 2017 (DEC-2017/25/B/HS5/00343; project *Administrative supervision over courts and judges*.

Abstract: One of the most significant current discussions in Polish legal doctrine is how actions of executive powers, especially supervisory measures can affect judicial independence. It is related to basic constitutional and administrative law issues, including the separation of powers, the independence and the impartiality of the judiciary, the independence of the courts, the supervision and control, the efficiency and effectiveness of judicial protection. The analysis focuses on the dependence between the model of administrative supervision adopted in administrative justice and the efficiency of the courts, as well as their perception by the public. The study will examine supervisory measures aimed at ensuring the efficient functioning of the courts. The effectiveness of judicial review of administrative justice is essential for the protection of individuals' rights and the functioning of the state authorities in both the social and the economic sphere. From an extraiudicial point of view its significance is reflected in the influence on the judiciary, which will not only be effective in its procedural activity, but also in the level of trust and social prestige. It holds that the three arms of the state - the executive, the judiciary and the legislature - should, to a greater or lesser extent, be kept separate. That way, they are able to hold one another to account. This theory about the separation of state power went on to have a formative effect on the development of modern-day democracies. And it's this vision of the tripartite separation of state power that is essential to the EU's argument against the Polish reforms of the judiciary. The problem of supervision over administrative courts is also connected with external and internal independence of the judiciary. External independence refers to freedom from undue outside pressure, while internal independence protects individual judges from undue pressure from within the system. "Undue internal pressure" sometimes comes from court presidents and may take different forms: even where individual judges are not formally subordinate to court presidents or other authorities and may be result of attribution of workload, allocation of resources and benefits, disciplinary powers, powers of transfer and secondment, distribution of cases, etc. The aim of this paper is to examine the problem of supervision over administrative courts in legal system of Poland. The article focuses on the dependence between the model of administrative supervision and the efficiency of the courts.

Key words: supervision over courts; independence of judiciary; administrative justice.

Suggested citation:

Olszanowski, J. (2020). The Model of Supervision over Administrative Courts in Poland. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 173-188. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.195

Submitted : 08 August 2020 Accepted : 24 November 2020 Published : 31 December 2020

1. INTRODUCTION

The administration of the courts, their management, and the technical aspects of their functioning, as well as the supervision of these activities, are often exercised by specific bodies which do not have to fall under the structure of judicial power (Mikuli, 2014, p. 521). In the case of administrative courts, the model of supervision is different. It is exercised by the President of the Supreme Administrative Court. Supervision may be understood as all the actions pertaining to the organisational and financial functioning of the courts (administrative supervision), or to the appellate procedures of a higher court concerning the judgment of a lower court (judicial supervision).¹ The aim of this paper is to examine the problem of the proper shape of the supervision over administrative courts in the Polish legal system from the theoretical point of view.

The analysis focuses on the dependence of the model of administrative supervision adopted in administrative justice on the efficiency of the courts, as well as their perception by the public. It is also essential to discuss whether this supervision is not abused by the public authorities who exercise it in order to achieve other ends than to make the activity of the courts more effective. First, it is necessary to present how the administrative courts proceed and how they are constructed. Attention also has to be paid to how the Polish doctrine defines supervision over courts. The most important problem is the separation of administrative tasks from the administration of justice. The tension that arises in this context involves, within the framework of administrative supervision, the simultaneous consideration of judicial independence and the efficiency of the court's activity, the separation of the judiciary from other authorities, and the need for its co-operation with the legislative and executive powers. It has to be pointed out that there is a distinction between administrative supervision and other forms of supervision, especially judicial supervision (exercised by the courts of higher instance as part of the established procedure) (see Łazarska, 2015, p. 327).² Finally, it is also necessary to compare the differences between the supervision of common courts and of the administrative courts, and to review this supervision.

This may sound obvious, but the courts must be accessible, and should dispense justice freely, fairly, impartially and expeditiously.³ The procedures of lawsuits and the structure of the courts are a means of providing justice. The State, as a whole, should supervise proper functioning of judiciary and should not leave scope for practices or processes which may ultimately hinder or prevent the dispensation of justice. The administrative activities of courts consist in providing adequate technical, organizational and financial conditions for the court's internal functioning, which is directly connected with the tasks that it performs (dispensation of justice). These activities should be aimed at providing resources for the internal organisation of the courts' bodies. This should be the task of bodies and organizational units of the court.

Poland, which in October 2015 elected its first single-party government since 1989, following the election victory of PiS ("Prawo i Sprawiedliwość" which translates as the "Law and Justice" party), has received internal criticism (from the lawyers' organizations) and international criticism following its introduction of new legislation, which many believe will curtail the independence of the judiciary (Biernat, 2018; Bojarski & Wejman, 2017, p. 118; Koncewicz, 2017; Starski, 2016; Żurek & Mazur, 2017). The amendments to the structure of courts in Poland have even resulted the submission of a

¹ Art. 3 of the Polish Act on the System of Administrative Courts, Journal of Laws (2002).

² Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 45/07, OTK-A 2009/1/3 (15 January 2009).

³ Art. 6.1 of the Convention on the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms; art. 47 Charter on the Fundamental Rights of the European Union.

proposal for a European Council decision on the determination of there being a clear risk of a serious breach by the Republic of Poland of the rule of law.⁴ From 2015 until now. there have been many modifications to the statutes regarding the structure of the Supreme Court and the common courts.⁵ They are also connected with the supervision exercised over the courts (Malicki, 2019, p. 270). The reforms affect the administrative judiciary to a lesser extent. However, the essence of the problem, consisting in the scope and manner of exercising supervision over the courts and judges, is the same: it relates to the effectiveness of judicial review. The proper functioning of supervision over the activity of the courts is crucial for the effectiveness of the entire legal system. Moreover, the effectiveness of judicial review and the shape of the supervision over the courts' activities are essential for the protection of individual rights and the functioning of the state authorities in both the social and the economic sphere. From an extrajudicial point of view, its significance is reflected in the influence on the judiciary, which will not only be effective in its procedural activity, but also on the level of trust and social prestige. Judicial power should aim to achieve an efficient and fair legal system (van Dijk, 2014, p. 16). When the system of supervision of the courts is complete and consistent, it will be possible to guarantee every person the fundamental right to have their case decided in a fair trial, on legal grounds only, and without any improper influence.

2. THE SYSTEM OF THE JUDICIARY IN POLAND

Poland is a constitutional republic formed on democratic grounds based on the principle of the separation of powers (Piotrowski, 2018, pp. 216–220).⁶ The system of government is founded on the balance between the legislative, executive and judicial powers. The legislative power is vested in the Parliament, consisting of the lower house (Sejm) and the upper house (Senate). The executive power is vested in the President of Poland and the Council of Ministers, while the judicial power is vested in the courts and tribunals. The constitutional checks and balances constitute a mechanism which establishes mutual control between the authorities on equal level (Tremmel, 2014, p. 6). The principle of separation of powers clearly states that the legislative, executive, and judicial powers are separated, that there should be a balance between them, and that they should cooperate with each another (Sobczak, 2015, p. 82). This theory on the separation of state power came to have a formative effect on the development of modern-day democracies. Therefore, this vision of the tripartite separation of state power is essential to the EU's argument against the Polish reforms of the justice system.

The significance of this principle is not only of an organizational nature. The principle of separation of powers seeks, e.g. to protect human rights by preventing abuse of power by any authority. An element inherent to the principle of separation of powers, and to the foundation of democratic rule of law, is the principle of judicial impartiality (Uitz, 2009, p. 126). The implementation of this principle has always been pursued in democratic systems, while its abandonment has been characteristic of totalitarian and authoritarian ones.⁷ It requires a guarantee of independence of judiciary from the political

⁴ COM(2017) 835, 2017/0360 (APP), Reasoned proposal in accordance with the article 7 (1) of the Treaty on European Union regarding the rule of Law in Poland: Proposal for a Council decision on the determination of a clear risk of a serious breach by the Republic of Poland of the rule of law (Belgium, 2017).

⁵ The most important is the Polish Act on the Supreme Court, Journal of Laws (2017) and Polish Act amending the Act on the National Council of the Judiciary and some other acts, Journal of Laws (2017).

⁶ According to art. 2 of the Konstytucja Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej [Constitution], Apr. 2, 1997 (Poland) (hereinafter 'the Polish Constitution'): "The Republic of Poland shall be a democratic state governed by the rule of law and implementing the principles of social justice."

⁷ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 11/93, OTK No. 2/1993 (9 November 1993).

influence of the legislative and executive authorities. The interdependences between state bodies results from the non-existence of an absolute organizational separation between functions, but that does not contradict the fact that each sovereign body is actually the main holder of its given function (Correia, 1993a, p. 89). Moreover, another crucial rule established by the Polish Constitution is the principle of democratic state ruled by law,⁸ which stipulates the requirements for legal drafting – carried out by the law-giver – which are also referred to as the principles of appropriate (correct, proper) legislation, as well as the principles of the proper exercise of power by executive and judiciary.⁹

The sources of Polish law are divided into two categories, i.e. universally binding law and internal law. According to the current Polish Constitution of 2 April 1997, the sources of universally binding Polish law are: the Constitution itself – as the supreme law of the land, statutes, and ratified international agreements and regulations. In addition to these sources, it is necessary to mention that the acts issued by respective bodies - in the course of their operation constitute universally binding law in the territory of the relevant body that issued such acts (local law). Moreover, Poland is a Member State of the European Union, and therefore the national courts and tribunals are obliged to ensure the full application of the EU law and judicial protection of the rights of individuals under the same. The Constitution of the Republic of Poland stipulates the dual nature of the judicial authority, in that it is composed of courts and tribunals. The courts encompass the Supreme Court, common courts, administrative courts (including the Supreme Administrative Court) and military courts. As regards tribunals, the Constitution lists the Constitutional Tribunal and the Tribunal of State.

The issue of the competences of administrative courts and the essence of administrative justice exercised by these courts is covered in the Article 184 of the Polish Constitution. This provision states that administrative courts exercise, to the extent specified by statute, control over the performance of the public administration. Such control shall also extend to judgments on the conformity to statute, of resolutions issued by the local government bodies, and normative acts of territorial organs of government administration (more on the problem of control exercised by Polish administrative courts see Kmieciak, 2013).

The acts regulating the detailed competences of administrative courts which are referred to in the Constitution are, above all, the Act on the System of Administrative Courts¹⁰ as amended and the Act on the Proceedings before Administrative Courts¹¹ as amended. According to the Article 3 and the following provisions of the Act on the Proceedings before Administrative Courts, these courts shall adjudicate on individual complaints brought against mainly administrative decisions or orders subject to complaint, termination of proceedings or determining the substance of the case, as well as orders issued in executive proceedings and proceedings to secure claims, written interpretations of tax levied in individual cases. The administrative courts should also adjudicate on disputes regarding local enactments issued by local self-governments or by regional authorities of the state administration, as well as complaints concerning administration's failure to act.

In 1 January 2004, Poland introduced a two-tier system of administrative judiciary (Skoczylas & Swora, 2007). According to Article 13, § 1 of the Act on the

⁸ According to the art. 2 of the Polish Constitution: "The organs of public authority shall function on the basis of, and within the limits of the law."

⁹ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 15/05, OTK No. 11/A/2006 (12 December 2006) and Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 16/03, OTK No. 4/A/2004 (27 April 2004).

¹⁰ Poland, Act on the System of Administrative Courts, Journal of Laws (2002).

¹¹ Poland, Act on the Proceedings before Administrative Courts, Journal of Laws (2002).

Proceedings before Administrative Courts, the voivodship courts hear – in principle – all administrative matters, except for matters reserved for the jurisdiction of the Supreme Administrative Court. Cases within the jurisdiction of administrative courts are considered in the first instance by the voivodship administrative courts. The Supreme Administrative Court supervises the work of the voivodship administrative courts. The voivodship administrative courts are divided into divisions whose number depends on the voivodship.

The basic task of the Supreme Administrative Court and the administrative courts is to control the legality of the activities of the public administration (Turłukowski, 2016, p. 126). This includes adjudicating on compliance of resolutions adopted by local self-government bodies and of normative instruments passed by the regional bodies of government administration with law. The subject of this compliance control is the adherence to the law by public administration bodies, in other words, the protection of substantive law, and the result of this control - if the administrative court determines that a breach of substantive law has occurred - is the application of the legal reliefs e. g. revocation of a decision. Most often, however, the protection of substantive law involves the protection of normative rights of citizens which derive from the norms of substantive law, and which have been breached as a result of an unlawful action of public administrative bodies. The administrative court is a court of cassation which investigates whether an act or deed of an administrative body complies with the provisions of law. If the court decides that the act or deed does not comply with the law, it rescinds it or declares it void. When delivering a judgement, the court performs a legal assessment of the act and provides guidelines regarding application of law in a given individual case, or declares previous decision subject to appeal, ineffective. This brings the administrative court's role to a close, and the case is referred to the administrative bodies which are to take further action. This is the result of the principle of separation of powers. In the Polish legal system, there is the rule that a court judgement should not deprive the administration of its discretionary powers (Kmieciak, 2012, pp. 3-5; see also Correia, 1993b, p. 89; Jansen, 2005, p. 54) If the administrative court controls the legality of administrative decisions, generally, this cannot result in depriving the administration of the essence of the material function that it wields. The case then will go back to the administrative authority.

3. LEGAL GUARANTEES OF THE INDEPENDENCE OF THE JUDICIARY AND IMPARTIALITY OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE COURTS IN THE CONTEXT OF THE SUPERVISORY CONTROL OVER JUDICIARY

One of the most significant discussions currently taking place in the Polish legal doctrine is how supervision can affect judicial independence (Mikuli, 2014, p. 522). This is related to basic issues in constitutional and administrative law, including: separation of powers, independence and the impartiality of the judiciary, independence of the courts, supervision and control, and efficiency of judicial protection.

The principle of judicial independence entails the independence of each individual judge at exercise of his adjudicating functions. In their decision making, judges should be independent, impartial and able to act without any and all restrictions, improper influence, pressure, threat or interference, direct or indirect, from any authority, including authorities internal to the judiciary. Hierarchical judicial organization should not undermine individual independence of judges. However, it might be possible that the supervisory authority has influence on the judges, especially within its capacity to introduce incentive measures or disciplinary measures (the capacity to initiate disciplinary proceedings). Sometimes, it pointed out, that the independence of individual judges and the independence of the

judiciary are separate matters, and there is need to distinguish judicial autonomy from the independence of individual judges (Kosař, 2017, p. 120). However, it is also clear that the fundamental right to an effective remedy enshrined therein means, inter alia, that everyone is entitled to a fair hearing by an independent and impartial tribunal. This is the most important task for the judiciary and legislative powers.

The Polish Constitutional Tribunal clearly stated that all cases shall be considered before the competent, impartial, and independent courts specified in the Constitution. The independence and impartiality of courts and judges are closely related to each other. The independence of the courts refers, above all, to the organizational and operational separateness of the judiciary from the other organs of public authority, in order to guarantee full autonomy thereof in terms of consideration of cases and adjudication. In turn, the independence of judges means that judges shall act solely on the basis of the law, in accordance with their conscience and personal convictions. Several elements are connected with the notion of independence: impartiality with regard to participants in proceedings, the independence of judges from non-judicial bodies, the principle of separation of powers should ensure judges a degree of protection against interference with their exercise of judicial power, including interference by fellow judges and other authorities.

The basic regulation concerning independence and impartiality of courts is set out in the Article 45 paragraph 1 of the Constitution of the Republic of Poland. This regulation establishes the individual's right to a fair and public hearing. The right to have a case examined by an independent and impartial court is expressed in the Article 6 paragraph 1 of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, and in the Article 14 paragraph 1 of the International Pact on Civil and Political Rights. With the term 'independence of judges', emphasis is placed on judges not being dependent on factors outside of legal requirements when it comes to their judicial activity. The independence of judges, including the independence of the judges of the Tribunal, comprises numerous elements, namely:

1) impartiality towards the participants in proceedings;

2) independence from non-judicial authorities (institutions);

3) judge's autonomy in his/her relations with other branches of government and other judicial bodies;

4) independence from political factors;

5) the intrinsic independence of judges.

The independence of judges is not only their right but also a constitutional obligation, whereas the protection of judge's independence is a constitutional obligation of the legislator and the organs of judicial administration.¹³

Traditionally, also the Venice Commission distinguished between the external and internal independence of the judiciary. External independence refers to freedom from undue outside pressure, while internal independence protects individual judges from undue pressure from within the system. "Undue internal pressure" sometimes comes from court presidents and may take different forms: even where individual judges are not formally subordinate to court presidents, other powers (attribution of workload, allocation of resources and benefits, disciplinary powers, powers of transfer and secondment, distribution of cases, etc.) may be easily abused. The borderline between internal and external independence may become blurred when the appointment of court presidents is

¹² Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, SK 7/06, OTK-A No. 9/2007/9 (24 October 2007).

¹³ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 3/98, OTK ZU No. 4/1998 (24 June 1998).

politicized. It is thus important to examine what powers court presidents have vis-à-vis ordinary judges, and how those presidents are appointed, dismissed, etc., i.e. whether they themselves enjoy sufficient independence from the executive and the legislature.¹⁴

4. ADMINISTRATIVE SUPERVISION OVER ADMINISTRATIVE COURTS

The administrative activities of courts are contained consist in providing adequate technical-and-organizational conditions as well as financial conditions for the courts to operate and perform their tasks, and also in ensuring the correct course of the court's internal functioning, which is directly connected with the tasks it performs. These activities should be aimed at providing financial resources for the operation of an internal court office, and to ensure its proper course, it is connected with proper shape of organizational units of the court.

In turn, supervision itself is one of the central institutions of administrative law. The manner of its exercise, the types of measures and supervisory activities are among the basic issues in the study of systemic and procedural law. Supervision does not represent an institution typical for the judiciary. The problem is how to transpose the norms of administrative law into the field of supervision over judiciary (Banaszak, 2014, p. 6). There are views judicial independence must be absolute, with no interference from any external source. These rely on the importance of judicial independence and the (apparently) existing contradiction between judicial independence and any review of judge's actions and claim that no external reviewing mechanism should be maintained to handle this matter. According to this understanding, even matters of judicial administration must be handled by and within the judicial system itself (Shetreet, 1984, p. 979).

The supervisory measures applied to the courts are not as intense as in the case of administrative authorities, which are based on hierarchical structure and vertical subordination. Given the sensitive nature of the issue, the concept of supervision must be used carefully and appropriately in relation to the administrative practice of the courts and, possibly, it could be replaced with a different legal structure, including, for example, the management scheme.

In the European jurisprudence, supervision is primarily associated with administration – including the management of budget allocations, external administrative practices, and proper formal procedures, whereas adjudication (legal judgments and precedents, material accuracy) remains largely outside the scope of supervision. Thus, here supervisory control constitutes, in principle, a kind of retrospective control, as it does in central administration (Lienhard, 2009b, p. 3). The model of administrative supervision over the judiciary is functionally linked with the principles of legal certainty legal security, the protection of citizens' trust in the State and its laws, and appropriate legislation.¹⁵ The model of administrative supervision of the state and its assessment in terms of the implementation of democratic standards and the rule of law. The legal regulation of such supervision corresponds with the level of trust which the courts enjoy in the society. The courts, which are bodies of personal and material resources, must have their own administration. In any case, administrative supervision

¹⁴ Report of the Venice Commission on the independence of the judicial system, Part I: the independence of judges, CDL-AD(2010)004, Study No. 494 / 2008, p. 12 (2010).

¹⁵ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, Kp 3/09, OTK ZU No. 9/A/2009 (28 October 2009); Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 23/09, OTK ZU No. 2/A/2011 (3 March 2011) and Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 49/13, OTK ZU No. 7/A/2014 (29 July 2014).

should not enter the judicial area. It is thus justified to pose a question whether the judicial sphere can be separated from the administrative activities of the courts and, in the broader context, from the sphere of executive and legislative powers. Moreover, in the Article 178 of the Polish Constitution of 1997, it is clearly stated that judges, within the exercise of their office, shall be independent and subject only to the Constitution and statutes.

In the literature, supervisory control has three different definitions. The narrow definition restricts supervisory control to aspects of the formal adherence to proper administrative procedures, including budget management. The medium position goes a step further and includes the examination of trends in adjudication, as well as, the appraisal of legislative success and effectiveness (with a view to amending the law), and also inquiries in the case of gross infringements of the law or violations of procedures (e. g. delays). A broad definition of the concept would, in addition, involve enhanced rights to information (in particular the obligation to provide information about court judgments) (Lienhard, 2009b, p. 2). The Polish Constitutional Tribunal explains the meaning of supervision as management and organizational activity connected with the jurisdictional acts of a court. The court's administrative activity involves the activities which are necessary to ensure the proper and continuous functioning of the court. It is clearly stated that court administration should make it possible for courts and judges to actually fulfil their tasks (Lienhard & Kettiger, 2017, p. 9).

The judicial administrative activities *sensu stricto* also comprise a certain degree matters concerning the personal issues of both judges and the court clerks, and the regulatory activities executed during the course of a trial, or otherwise directly connected with adjudication. The supervision over the courts may also be understood as administrative activity and administrative supervision consisting of assessing the due course of office work, checking and applying orders and instructions by the court's administration bodies, monitoring the performance of judges' and other court staff duties, as well as analysing the jurisprudence of the court (see Mikuli, 2014, p. 532).¹⁶ The problem of supervision over the courts is also connected with the external and internal independence of judiciary, especially in the sphere of judicial power only the court enjoys the discretion to act (Gudowski, 1994, p. 32; Lienhard, 2009a).

In the legal doctrine, there is a great deal of difference between administrative and judicial supervision. Administrative supervision covers issues connected with the financial and administrative activity of courts, as well as any other issues concerning efficient consideration of cases and proper execution of judgements. This means that the supervisory power regarding administrative matters should not interfere with judicial independence the wording of judgements and decisions, whose correctness may be examined only according to the procedure stipulated by law (Kiener, 2001, p. 301). It should be noted that courts often have to adjudicate on conflicts between individual rights and the State, and this relationship is imperilled when the State takes control over judicial functions. An incorrect model of supervision over the courts enables the legislative and executive powers to interfere in a severe and extensive manner in the administration of justice, and thereby poses a grave threat to judicial independence as a key element of the rule of law.

The Supreme Court shall exercise judicial supervision over common and military courts regarding judgments (Article 183, paragraph 1 of the Polish Constitution) (Gudowski, 2015, pp. 15–19). The administrative supervision of common courts in

¹⁶ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 45/07, OTK-A 2009/1/3 (15 January 2009).
accordance with the Article 9 of the Act on the System of Common Courts¹⁷ as amended is exercised by the Minister of Justice, judges seconded to the Ministry, as well as the presidents of the courts and thus the executive branch. The Minister of Justice's supervision of the courts' administrative activity has a long tradition in Poland. It also existed before World War II under the Constitutions of 1921 and 1935 (Mikuli, 2017, p. 13). The current legislation increases the powers of the Minister of Justice related to the internal organization of the courts, to the appointment and dismissal of the presidents and deputy presidents of the courts, and extends the competences of the Minister of Justice in the areas of promotion and discipline. The competence of the Minister of Justice regarding the administrative supervision over the courts is justified by referring to the general position of the Ministry of Justice in the legal system (Mikuli, 2014, p. 525). It is emphasized that not all the activities of the courts involve the dispensation of justice. because there are many activities which are related to the organizational or administrative aspects of the courts' activities. The problem, first of all, lies in the ambiguous wording of the statutory regulations, which makes it difficult to clearly distinguish administrative tasks in a strict sense from duties connected with the dispensation of justice. However, many scholars and judges in Poland claim that the administrative activity of the common courts should rather be controlled by judicial bodies especially by the First President of the Supreme Court (Celej, 2007; Żackiewicz-Zborska, 2008; Zawiślak, Sawko, & Bujak, 2009, pp. 833 – 837).

Another model of supervisory control was set up in the branch of administrative courts. The Supreme Administrative Court exercises supervision (both judicial and administrative) over voivodship administrative courts. This is of great importance because the administrative courts cannot be in any way dependent on the government administration. These courts control the legality of administrative authorities' activities. Additionally, the administrative courts are not supervised by the Supreme Court. It is necessary to raise the question of legitimacy of maintaining two distinctly different models of court supervision (over common courts and administrative courts), and of compliance with the Constitution and international law.

5. THE SUPERVISORY COMPETENCES OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE SUPREME ADMINISTRATIVE COURT

The supervision of the administrative courts is exercised by the President of the Supreme Administrative Court, as provided for in the Article 12 of the Act on the System of Administrative Courts.¹⁸ However, the President of the Supreme Administrative Court may assign specific activities of court administration to the judges and may authorize them to manage particular affairs on his behalf. It is clearly stated in the Act on the System of administrative courts that the judges of the administrative courts and court assessors, within the exercise of their office, shall be independent and subjected only to the Constitution and statutes. This means that administrative supervisory activities cannot encroach on an area in which judges and court assessors are independent (Oleszko, 1988, p. 29).

Firstly, administrative supervision may rely on the financial resources of the administrative courts. The consequence of the autonomous regulation of the supervision of administrative courts is that the President of the Supreme Administrative Court equips the authorities with the power to draw up the revenue project and expenditure budget of the Supreme Administrative Court, which includes the revenue and expenditures of

¹⁷ Poland, Act on the System of Common Courts, Journal of Laws (2001).

¹⁸ Poland, Act on the System of Administrative Courts, Journal of Laws (2002).

voivodship administrative courts. Activities associated with the supervision of the administrative courts may also be connected with access to activities of the courts. For example, the President of the Supreme Administrative Court, the president of a voivodship administrative court and other persons appointed to direct and supervise administrative activity have the right of access to activities of an appropriate voivodship court or they may attend a trial held in camera and may demand explanation and elimination of irregularities (Kuczyński & Masternak-Kubiak, 2009, p. 199). The President of the Supreme Administrative court and the president of a voivodship administrative court may annul **administrative rulings** which are not in conformity with the law. It is necessary to emphasize that exercising this kind of competence cannot encroach into the judgements' merits.

Within the scope of measures of supervision over the administrative activities of voivodship administrative courts, the President of the Supreme Administrative Court may order an inspection or general inspection in the court (Kuczyński & Masternak-Kubiak, 2009, pp. 202–203). In the event that irregularities have been found in respect of the effectiveness of the court proceedings, the President of the Supreme Administrative Court and the president of a voivodship administrative court may point out such irregularities and may demand that their consequences be eliminated. Moreover, the President of the Supreme Administrative court shall establish the principles of clerical work in all administrative courts.

The President of the Supreme Administrative Court also has many competences connected with the structure of the administrative courts and their management. For example, a voivodship administrative court is divided into divisions created and dissolved by the President of the Supreme Administrative Court. Moreover, s/he defines the number of judges, vice-presidents of the court and court assessors at the voivodship administrative court and a president and a vice-president in a voivodship administrative court after seeking the opinion of the general assembly of that court. The President of the Supreme Administrative Court is the Chairperson of the General Assembly and of the Board of the Supreme Administrative Court. These bodies are very important in the process of assessing the candidates for Supreme Administrative Court judges.

A measure connected with judicial supervision is the possibility of the President of the Supreme Administrative Court to apply to the Supreme Administrative Court for adoption of a resolution explaining legal regulations whose application has caused a divergence of jurisprudence between administrative courts (Skoczylas, 2004, p. 225).

As can be seen from the catalogue of statutory competences, the power of the President of the Supreme Administrative Court, in terms of judiciary and administrative supervision, are wide. The manner in which the directive of separation between the administrative and judicial supervision is implemented largely depends on the personal qualities of the people holding supervisory posts, because the judicial and administrative functions of the President of Supreme Administrative Court cannot be unambiguously separated. In my opinion, there is no doubt that this body, free of political pressure, may exercise these powers in a manner consistent with the Constitution. The competences of the President of Supreme Administrative Court do not interfere with court proceedings. The purpose of these powers is only to ensure the right course of a lawsuit or the proper organization of a given court. The shape of the administrative supervision is also in line with the principle of separation of powers.

6. CONCLUSION

There is widespread conviction that the reforms of the judiciary in Poland should be implemented to improve the quality of the due process of law and the efficiency of iustice as a whole. It is also obvious that court administration and proper supervision over judiciary have direct influence on the quality of court performance and on the quality of justice being the essential outcome thereof. The quality work in courts is measured by performance of courts, public services, and the quality of justice (Simonis, 2019). However, the transformation of the system of administration of justice should pay more attention to building of ethical consensus and responsibility, rather than to institutional and staff changes (Bobek, 2010, p. 251). Supervision of the judiciary is not limited exclusively to administration, but also, in a narrow sense, concerned with judgments and rulings. Supervisory authority may have some influence on the judges. For example, the influence may consist in the participation of the supervisory body in the process of judges' promotion, or potential capacity to initiate disciplinary proceedings. It is obvious that it is impossible to create a supervisory body which would be completely independent of any other bodies. This is necessitated by the need to establish the selection procedure of members of such a body, and to create a supervisory body over the existent supervisory authorities. In other words, someone has to choose the members of a supervisory body. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the supervisory body should be independent from the executive branch of the State, which always seeks to influence the judiciary. This is particularly important in the case of administrative judiciary, which is established to control the activities of the state administration bodies.

In relation to supervisory control over the courts, further restrictions arise as a result of judicial independence. It must be assumed that the basic principle is that supervision is primarily concerned with administration, including the management of budget allocations, whereas adjudication is largely outside the scope of supervision. Supervision thus constitutes, in principle, a kind of retrospective control, as it does in central administration. It has to be emphasized that Poland is a parliamentary republic where the separation of powers is one of the most important principles regulating the system (Banaszak, 2017, p. 570). Even before the current parliamentary term, the administrative supervision of the Minister of Justice was criticized both in the legal doctrine and by the association of judges. This is why the system of the supervision adopted by the President of the Supreme Administrative Courts (who is always a judge) has to be assessed more positively than supervision adopted by the Minister of Justice over the common courts ('Warszawski Oddział "lustitii" w sprawie dobrych praktyk nadzorczych.', 2013).

Judicial review in individual cases should be conducted by an independent authority which is separate from the legislature and the executive. Separation of powers implies that each of the branches of government should be vested with substantive powers that correspond with its nature. What is more, each of the three branches of government ought to have a certain minimum of exclusive competence that would determine the nature of a given branch.¹⁹ Attention should be given to the independence of individual judges irrespective of the model of court administration in which they operate, as such strategy is more resistant to abuse of the constitution (Kosař, 2017, p. 98). The independence of the courts and judges from politicians is at the heart of the normative importance of independent courts within the rule of law (Popova, 2012, pp. 139–145). The internal pressure of supervisory bodies can be as dangerous as the pressure from the bodies of the executive or even legislative branches. The exercise of

¹⁹ Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 34/15 (3 December 2015).

supervisory power often escapes additional control and may be abused. The most important issue of administrative supervision is that the less political factors influence the judiciary, the better it is able to protect the rights of an individual through independent courts and independent judges. The scope of competence in the field of administrative supervision over the administrative courts falls within the definition proposed above. Moreover, the exercise of supervision over this branch of the courts by a judicial factor (not related to the executive) does not raise any doubts regarding the system (related to the separation of state powers).

This is the reason why the scientific assessment of administrative supervision over the administrative courts (conducted by the President of the Supreme Administrative Court) can be assessed positively, as opposed to the model of administrative supervision over common courts. Administrative courts are more independent in this respect, and apart from the practice and current political turmoil, from the theoretical point of view, it can be concluded that there is a separation of the judicial and executive powers from the executive. *De lege ferenda*, various possibilities arise in this connection. Supervision over the common courts may be exercised by the Supreme Court. Then this court would be equipped with competences in the field of administrative and judicial supervision over the common courts.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Banaszak, B. (2014). Konstytucyjne i ustawowe uwarunkowania niezawisłości sędziowskiej. *lustitia.*, 1(15).
- Banaszak, B. (2017). Prawo konstytucyjne. (8th ed.). Warsaw: C.H. Beck.
- Biernat, S. (2018). How to Assess the Independence of Member State Courts? Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.17176/20180730-100627-0
- Bobek, M. (2010). The Administration of Courts in the Czech Republic in Search of a Constitutional Balance. *European Public Law.*, 16(2).
- Bojarski, L., & Wejman, F. (Eds.). (2017). *Legal think tanks and governments capacity building (Report)*. Warsaw: Inpris.
- Celej, M. (2007). Jaki powinien być nadzór nad sądami i kto ma go sprawować. Retrieved from https://www.rp.pl/artykul/70144-Jaki-powinien-byc-nadzor-nadsadami-i-kto-ma-go-sprawowac.html.
- Correia, S. (1993a). Separation of powers and judicial review of administrative decisions in Portugal. In C. Zoethout, G. van der Tang, & P. Akkermans (Eds.), *Control in Constitutional Law*. Dordrecht/Boston/London: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.
- Correia, S. (1993b). Separation of powers and judicial review of administrative decisions in Portugal. *Revista Da Faculdade de Direito Da Universidade de Lisboa.*, 34.
- Gudowski, J. (1994). Urząd sędziego w prawie o ustroju sądów powszechnych. *Przegląd Sądowy.*, (11–12).
- Gudowski, J. (2015). Sąd Najwyższy. Pozycja ustrojowa, funkcje i zadania (spojrzenie sędziego cywilisty). *Przegląd Sądowy.*, (11–12).
- Jansen, A. M. L. (2005). Towards an Adjustment of the Trias Politica: the Administrative Courts as (Procedural) Lawmaker; a Study of the Influence of the European Human Rights Convention and the Case Law by the European Court of Human Rights on the Trias Politica, in particular t. In F. Stroink & E. Van der Linden (Eds.), Judicial Lawmaking and Administrative Law. (1st ed., pp. 37–55). Intersentia.
- Kiener, R. (2001). Richterliche Unabhängigkeit. Verfassungsrechtliche Anforderungen an Richter und Gerichte. Bern: Stämpfli Verlag AG.
- Kmieciak, Z. (2012). Instancyjność postępowania administracyjnego w świetle Konstytucji RP. *Państwo i Prawo.*, (5), 3–17.

- Kmieciak, Z. (2013). The Efficiency of Administrative Courts (in the Light of European and Polish Experiences). *Comparative Law Review*, 15(15), 135–150. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.12775/CLR.2013.008
- Koncewicz, T. T. (2017). Living under the unconstitutional capture and hoping for the constitutional recapture. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.17176/20170103-141016.
- Kosař, D. (2017). Politics of Judicial Independence and Judicial Accountability in Czechia: Bargaining in the Shadow of the Law between Court Presidents and the Ministry of Justice. *European Constitutional Law Review*, 13(1), 96–123. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/S1574019616000419
- Kuczyński, T., & Masternak-Kubiak, M. (2009). Prawo o ustroju sądów administracyjnych. Komentarz. Warsaw: Wolters Kluwer Polska.
- Lazarska, A. (2015). Pozycja ustrojowa sędziego. In R. Piotrowski (Ed.), *Pozycja ustrojowa sędziego.* (p. 323). Warsaw: Wolters Kluwer Polska.
- Lienhard, A. (2009a). Oberaufsicht und Justizmanagement. *Justice Justiz Giustizia.*, (1), 1 21.
- Lienhard, A. (2009b). Supervisory Control and Court Management. *International Journal* for Court Administration, 2(1), 30–45. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18352/ijca.110
- Lienhard, A., & Kettiger, D. (2017). Between Management and the Rule of Law: on the move towards a management model for the judiciary - Results from the project "Basic research into Court Management in Switzerland". International Journal for Court Administration, 8(2), 7–19. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18352/ijca.219
- Malicki, A. (2019). *Niezawisłość sędziego a niezależność adwokata w procesie*. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo C. H. Beck.
- Mikuli, P. (2014). Current Debates on the Supervision over the Administrative Activity of the Common Courts. *European Public Law.*, 20(3), 521–537.
- Mikuli, P. (2017). Tug of war between the judiciary and the Minister of Justice : on Court Administration in Poland. In P. Mikuli (Ed.), *Current challenges in Court Administration*. Hague: Eleven international publishing. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.31065.52329
- Oleszko, Á. (1988). Zwierzchni nadzór administracyjny a niezawisłość sędziowska w świetlre prawa o ustroju sądów powszechnych. *Nowe Prawo.*, 10–12(10–12).
- Piotrowski, R. (2018). Sędziowie i granice władzy demokratycznej w świetle Konstytucji RP. *Ruch Prawniczy, Ekonomiczny i Socjologiczny*, 80(1), 215–229. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.14746/rpeis.2018.80.1.17
- Popova, M. (2012). *Politicized Justice in Emerging Democracies*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781139055345
- Shetreet, S. (1984). Judicial Independence and Accountability in Israel. *The International* and Comparative Law Quarterly., 33(4), 979–1012.
- Simonis, M. (2019). Effective Court Administration and Professionalism of Judges as Necessary Factors Safeguarding the Mother of Justice – The Right to a Fair Trial. *International Journal for Court Administration*, 10(1), 47–58. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.18352/ijca.294
- Skoczylas, A. (2004). Działalność uchwałodawcza Naczelnego Sądu Administracyjnego. Warsaw: C. H. Beck.
- Skoczylas, A., & Swora, M. (2007). Administrative Judiciary in Poland in Search for Fairness and Efficiency - an Overview. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences.*, 3(19), 116–125.
- Sobczak, J. (2015). Niezawisłość sędziowska i niezależność sądów. Problem ważny i

ciągle aktualny. *Gdańskie Studia Prawnicze – Przegląd Orzecznictwa.*, (4), 79–115.

- Starski, P. (2016). The Power of the Rule of Law: The Polish Constitutional Tribunal's Forceful Reaction. Retrieved from https://doi.org/0.17176/20160317-165259
- Tremmel, J. (2014). An extended separation of powers model as the theoretical basis for the representation of future generations forthcoming. In D. Birnbacher & M. Thorseth (Eds.), *Roads to Sustainability.* London.
- Turłukowski, J. (2016). Administrative Justice in Poland. *BRICS Law Journal*, 3(2), 124– 152. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.21684/2412-2343-2016-3-2-124-152
- Uitz, R. (2009). Rozważania na temat postaw niezawisłości sędziowskiej oraz dalsze uwagi o statusie konstytucyjnym prokuratorów. In T. Wardyński & M. Niziołek (Eds.), *Niezależność sądownictwa i zawodów prawniczych jako fundamenty państwa prawa. Wyzwania współczesności.* (1st ed.). Warsaw: LexisNexis.
- van Dijk, F. (2014). Improved Performance of The Netherlands Judiciary: Assessment of the Gains for Society. *International Journal for Court Administration.*, 6(1).
- Warszawski Oddział 'lustitii' w sprawie dobrych praktyk nadzorczych. (2013). Retrieved from http://iustitia.pl/index.php/uchwaly/717-warszawski-oddzial-iustitii-w-sprawie-dobrych-praktyk-nadzorczych.
- Żackiewicz- Zborska, K. (2008). Nadzór nad sądami dla prezesa Sądu Najwyższego. Retrieved from https://www.gazetaprawna.pl/amp/6390,nadzor-nad-sadami-dlaprezesa-sadu-najwyzszego.html.
- Zawiślak, K., Sawko, E., & Bujak, I. (2009). Sędziów uwag kilka w związku z projektem zmian ustawy – Prawo o ustroju sądów powszechnych (FORUM). *Monitor Prawniczy*, (15).
- Żurek, W., & Mazur, D. (2017). Wymiar sprawiedliwości w Polsce u progu 2017 r. Wyzwania i zagrożenia. *Ruch Prawniczy, Ekonomiczny i Socjologiczny*., (1), 25– 36.

Charter on the Fundamental Rights of the European Union.

Convention on the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. International Pact on Civil and Political Rights.

Poland, Konstytucja Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej [Constitution], Apr. 2, 1997.

Poland, Act on the System of Common Courts, Journal of Laws (2001).

Poland, Act on the System of Administrative Courts, Journal of Laws (2002).

Poland, Act on the Proceedings before Administrative Courts, Journal of Laws (2002).

Poland, Act on the Supreme Court, Journal of Laws (2017).

Poland, Act amending the Act on the National Council of the Judiciary and some other acts, Journal of Laws (2017).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 11/93, OTK No. 2/1993 (9 November 1993).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 3/98, OTK ZU No. 4/1998 (24 June 1998).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 16/03, OTK No. 4/A/2004 (27 April 2004).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 15/05, OTK No. 11/A/2006 (12 December 2006).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, SK 7/06, OTK-A No. 9/2007/9 (24 October 2007).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 45/07, OTK-A 2009/1/3 (15 January 2009).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, Kp 3/09, OTK ZU No. 9/A/2009 (28 October 2009).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 23/09, OTK ZU No. 2/A/2011 (3 March 2011).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, P 49/13, OTK ZU No. 7/A/2014 (29 July 2014).

Poland, Constitutional Tribunal, K 34/15 (3 December 2015).

COM(2017) 835, 2017/0360 (APP), Reasoned proposal in accordance with the article 7

(1) of the Treaty on European Union regarding the rule of Law in Poland: Proposal

for a COUNCIL DECISION on the determination of a clear risk of a serious breach by the Republic of Poland of the rule of law (BELGIUM, 2017). Report of the Venice Commission on the independence of the judicial system, Part I: the independence of judges, CDL-AD(2010)004, Study No. 494 / 2008 (2010).





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

INSOLVENT GROUPS OF COMPANIES IN THE EUROPEAN UNION – OBJECTIVES OF ESTABLISHING GROUP COORDINATION PROCEEDINGS / Noémi Suri

Dr. Noémi Suri, PhD.

Pázmány Péter Catholic University, Faculty of Law and Political Sciences, Department of Civil Procedural Law; Szentkirályi u. 28-30, 1088 Budapest; Hungary; suri.noemi@jak.ppke.hu. ORCID: 0000-0003-1074-3783 Abstract: Before 26 June 2017, there was no single universal regulation governing the treatment of insolvency cases concerning groups of companies or certain members of a group in the European Union. The Regulation (EU) 2015/848 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2015 on insolvency proceedings defines the effective execution of insolvency proceedings at the different group members involved as the general objective of the legal source. The aim of my paper is to review the detailed rules of group coordination proceedings, on the request for opening group coordination proceedings, on the possibility of defining which court has jurisdiction, on the review of the opt-out and opt-in rights related to group coordination proceedings and on the presentation of the powers assigned to the coordinator.

Key words: Insolvency proceedings of members of a group of companies; the legal status of the group of companies; the coordinator; the right of opt-out and opt-in; multilateral coordination mechanisms; commercial law; EU law; Hungary

Suggested citation:

Submitted: 05 May 2020 Accepted: 24 July 2020 Published: 31 December 2020 Suri, N. (2020). Insolvent Groups of Companies in the European Union – Objectives of Establishing Group Coordination Proceedings. *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 189-198. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.179

1. INTRODUCTION

Before 26 June 2017, there was no single universal regulation governing the treatment of insolvency cases concerning groups of companies or certain members of a group in the European Union. The scope of the Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/2000 of 29 May 2000 on Insolvency proceedings (hereinafter referred to as the "Insolvency Proceedings Regulation")¹ affected natural or legal person taxpayers (traders or private individuals) for whom it was deemed necessary to launch partial or complete divestment of insolvency proceedings involving the assignment of a liquidator.²

Based on the authorisation granted by the Article 46 of Insolvency Proceedings Regulation, a consultation mechanism was initiated on 30 March 2012 to execute the necessary amendments of insolvency rules. The so-called *Vienna-Heidelberg Report* (hereinafter referred to as the "Vienna-Heidelberg Report") (Hess, Oberhammer, & Pfeiffer,

¹ Official Journal of the European Communities. L 160/1. 30.6.2000.

²See Article 1 (1) Insolvency Proceedings Regulation.

2014), prepared by *Hess, Oberhammer* and *Pfeiffer* constituting the basis of this consultation, held it effective during the development of specific rules for groups to develop a system of rules which is based on respect towards the diversity of jurisdictions in the EU Member States and does not lead to a unification of civil substantive law (so-called "substantive consolidation") (Hess et al., 2014, p. 227; Oberhammer, Koller, Auernig, & Planitzer, 2017, p. 186).

Paragraph 51 of the Preamble to the recast regulation on insolvency published³ in the EU Official Journal on 5 June 2015 defines the effective execution of insolvency proceedings at the different group members involved as the general objective of the legal source. The legal source aims to warrant this objective by establishing a system of rules based on cooperation and communication between the courts and the insolvency proceeding(s) launched against all the business entities of group(s) of companies (Jaufer, 2017, p. 255). "The reform is based on a "procedural coordination" approach which respects each group member's separate legal identity" (Oberhammer et al., 2017, p. 185). When coordinating the proceedings of different fields, ensuring independence remains a general requirement.

2. THE LEGAL STATUS OF THE GROUP OF COMPANIES IN THE NEW REGULATION

The recast regulation determines the definition of group of companies under *definitions: "group of companies means a parent undertaking and all its subsidiary undertakings".*⁴ It must be considered a "parent undertaking" "[...] an undertaking which controls, either directly or indirectly, one or more subsidiary undertakings. An undertaking which prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council (1) shall be deemed to be a parent undertaking."⁵

The parent undertaking needs to prepare consolidated financial statements if a.) has a majority of the shareholders' or members' voting rights in another undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking); b) has the right to appoint or remove a majority of the members of the administrative, management or supervisory body of another undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking) and is at the same time a shareholder in or member of that undertaking; c.) has the right to exercise a dominant influence over an undertaking (a subsidiary undertaking) of which it is a shareholder or member, pursuant to a contract entered into with that undertaking or to a provision in its memorandum or articles of association, where the law governing that subsidiary undertaking permits its being subject to such contracts or provisions.; d.) is a shareholder in or member of an undertaking, a majority of shareholders' or members' voting rights in that undertaking.⁶

³ Regulation (EU) 2015/848 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2015 on Insolvency proceedings. Official Journal of the European Communities. L 141/19. 5.6. 2015. (hereinafter referred to as the "EU Insolvency Regulation").

⁴See Article 2 (13) EU Insolvency Regulation.

⁵See Article 2 (14) EU Insolvency Regulation .

⁶Article 21(1) of the Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on the Annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports of certain types of undertakings, amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC.

The scope of the regulation covers only debtor groups of companies and members of groups whose centre of interest resides in the European Union.⁷ The EU Insolvency Regulation does not define which groups of companies or members of groups are to be considered debtors, the same way as it does not set forth whether the legal status of "debtor" means the same as "an insolvent group of companies or an insolvent member of a group". In certain Member States "over-indebtedness in itself is not a condition for launching insolvency proceedings" (Veress, 2019, p. 15), therefore in my opinion, the definition of debtor groups of companies (or a group member) may only be applied to groups of companies (group members) against whom insolvency proceedings as defined in Annex A of this regulation have been initiated.

3. THE NATURE OF THE REGULATION

Rules on insolvent groups of companies in the EU Insolvency Regulation may be classified into two groups: 1. the focus of the so-called general part is the institutional system of cooperation mechanisms, 2, the special part contains the detailed rules of group coordination proceedings. According to Mangano's approach the general part consists of three blocks: a) duties of cooperation and communication; b) IPs' extra powers; c) protocols (2016, p. 286).

The provisions of the Articles 56-60 of the Regulation enforce decentralised coordination (Jaufer, 2017, p. 260) in the event of insolvency proceedings concerning two or more members of the same group. The cooperation mechanism can be divided into three levels: firstly, cooperation and communication between insolvency practitioners, secondly, cooperation and communication between courts, and thirdly, cooperation and communication between insolvency practitioners and the courts. In line with Bornemann's approach, this decentralised coordination is successful in avoiding shortcomings stemming from the inherent relationship of subordination between the main proceeding and the territorial proceedings (Bornemann, 2016, p. 176; Jaufer, 2017, p. 260). The rules in the Articles 56-58 set forth an obligation for cooperation between insolvency practitioners and the courts. It is important to note, that the cooperation between the courts and the insolvency practitioners shall not be aimed at realising goals which defy creditor interests, a resolution must be achieved in full consideration of the interests of the group (and interests within the group) (Jaufer, 2017, p. 261).

The Article 56 of the Regulation lays dawn the duty to cooperate for an insolvency practitioner (Wessels, 2017, p. 673). During coordination between insolvency practitioners three levels of cooperation obligations is specified by the regulation: a) duty to inform each other; b) coordination of administration and supervision over members of the group; c) development of a harmonised plan to restructure the business operation of the group and preparation and execution of the negotiations necessary thereto.⁸ The new EU Insolvency Regulation authorised insolvency practitioners to transfer further rights to one practitioner selected from them to facilitate the measures prescribed by points b) and c) above, and to agree on the distribution of tasks, if the law of the Member State allows them to do so. The new EU Insolvency Regulation outlines the cooperation duties between insolvency practitioners only in terms of the content and not the form (verbal. written, formal conditions of agreement) (Jaufer, 2017, p. 261).

⁷ Pursuant to Art. 3(1) of the EU Insolvency Regulation: "The centre of main interests shall be the place where the debtor conducts the administration of its interests on a regular basis and which is ascertainable by third parties. In the case of a company or legal person, the place of the registered office shall be presumed to be the centre of its main interests in the absence of proof to the contrary." ⁸See Article 56(2) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

During the cooperation and communication between the courts, achieving the goal of increased efficiency in administration through the harmonisation of certain territorial proceedings is paramount. Cooperational duties shall be fulfilled by all courts irrespective of whether the given court has already opened insolvency proceedings against two or more members of the group, or a request for opening such proceedings concerning another member of the group has been submitted at the given court. The new EU Insolvency Regulation also authorises courts to designate an independent person or body acting under their instructions to achieve such coordination.⁹ The question arises whether this person can only be an insolvency practitioner as defined by the provisions of the regulation or other persons possessing adequate professional expertise can be authorised at the discretion of the courts. During communication between the courts, the principle of immediacy is mandatory,¹⁰ which, in my view, calls upon the application of the rules of the Regulation on serving judicial and extrajudicial documents in civil or commercial matters.¹¹ The content of the cooperation between courts is defined in detail by the legal source: coordination during the appointment of insolvency practitioners; exchange of information: coordination of the administration and supervision of the group members' assets and affairs; coordination of hearings, and the approval of protocols.

The base for the cooperation obligation between insolvency practitioners and the courts is created in all cases by a proceeding already opened or requested to be opened by a submission against a second member belonging to the same group of companies. Beside the principle of efficiency, the issues of the compatibility of the legal systems of the involved Member States as well as the conflicts of interests, incompatibility stemming from conflicts of interests also arise during cooperation between the insolvency practitioners and the courts.

The Article 60 of the new legal source grants the following special powers to insolvency practitioners in proceedings concerning members of a group of companies (so called IPs' extra powers) (Mangano, 2016, p. 287): 1.) in order to facilitate the administration and the efficiency of proceedings, the insolvency practitioner may be heard in any of the proceedings opened against any other member of the same group.¹² According to *Jaufer* this right to be heard also entails ensuring the right to make recommendations (2017, p. 262). 2.) The right of intervention: requesting a stay of enforcement actions, including any measures related to the realisation of assets, 3.) preparation of a restructuring plan to re-establish the group member's solvency and carry out the necessary measures to the adequate enforcement of the restructuring plan, 4.) requesting the opening of group coordination proceedings. The court shall adopt a lesslution on the stay of enforcement actions, during which it has to hear the insolvency practitioner. The suspension of the partial or full realisation of the assets may last no longer than three months, during which the court may order the insolvency practitioner to take every adequate step prescribed by the law of the Member State – such as

⁹ See Article 57(1) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

¹⁰ See Article 57(2) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

¹¹ Regulation (EC) No 1393/2007 of the European and of the Council of 13 November 2007 on the Service in the Member States of judicial and extrajudicial documents in civil or commercial matters (service of documents), and repealing Council Regulation (EC) No 1348/2000. Official Journal of the European Communities. L 324/79. 10.12.2007.

¹² According to Wessels this "provision does not establish any special procedure, the procedural details are governed by the respective lex fori concurus" (2017, p. 681).

insurance measures – and deemed necessary to enforce the rights of the creditors involved in the proceedings. $^{\rm 13}$

4. INSOLVENCY PROCEEDINGS OF MEMBERS OF A GROUP OF COMPANIES

The special part of the provisions related to insolvent groups of companies comprises the rules of group coordination proceedings. The condition for opening the proceedings, added as a new element to the revamped insolvency regulation, is the declared state of insolvency of a group member (Jaufer, 2017, p. 261). The rules set forth in the regulation regarding group coordination proceedings aim at the establishment of so-called multilateral coordination mechanisms (Jaufer, 2017, p. 264), which presuppose the coordination of at least two main proceedings opened in different Member States (Jaufer, 2017, p. 264). During the proceedings, besides enforcing the principle of efficiency, one rule in the Preamble paragraphs must also be highlighted, namely the one requesting respect for the separate legal personality of the individual group members (Oberhammer et al., 2017, p. 185).¹⁴ Group coordination proceedings are divided into two phases by the new EU Insolvency Regulation. The first phase focuses on coordination, which means determination of the conditions for opening the proceedings, the relevant regulation on jurisdiction, the insolvency practitioners' right to lodge objections, the resolution ordering the group coordination proceedings and the institution of the group coordination plan. The second phase concentrates on the activities of the coordinator. In addition to the powers of the coordinator, this phase also outlines the basic coordination obligations between the coordinator and the insolvency practitioners.

The aim of my paper is to review the detailed rules of group coordination proceedings, during which I focus on the request for opening group coordination proceedings, on the possibility of defining which court has jurisdiction, on the review of the opt-out and opt-in rights related to group coordination proceedings and on the presentation of the powers assigned to the coordinator.

4.1 Details of the procedure

4.1.1 Initiation of proceedings

It can be safely stated along with the new EU Insolvency Regulation, that group coordination proceedings are mechanisms of cooperation the ordering of which falls under the jurisdiction of a court in a non-contentious proceeding opened upon request. The proceeding is in all cases initiated at the request of the insolvency practitioner appointed for an insolvency proceeding opened with regard to a member of a group of companies.¹⁵

The regulation "does not contain any rules specifically devoted to the international jurisdiction of companies belonging to a group" (Mangano, 2016, p. 282). According to my opinion the regulation prescribes one general and one special rule among the jurisdiction rules related to the opening of group coordination proceedings. The Article 61 defines as general head of jurisdiction the insolvency practitioner's

¹³ Pursuant to Article 60(2) of the EU Insolvency Regulation: "The court may extend the duration of the stay by such further period or periods as it considers appropriate and which are compatible with the rules applicable to the proceedings, provided that the conditions referred to in points (b)(ii) to (iv) of paragraph 1 continue to be fulfilled and that the total duration of the stay (the initial period together with any such extensions) does not exceed 6 months."

¹⁴See also Para. 51 of the Preamble of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

¹⁵See Article 61(1) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

submission of a request to open a group coordination proceeding at any courts having jurisdiction over the insolvency proceedings initiated against a member of the group concerned. In the event of parallel proceedings opened in line with this jurisdiction rule, the prevention rule prescribes that the court at which the request was filed first will have jurisdiction to decide on the opening of the group coordination proceeding.¹⁶ *Wessels* evaluated this rule as such the priority rule means "that only the time element is decisive, not the fact that the request itself it contains is sufficient grounds or is inadmissible" (2017, p. 688).

Besides general jurisdiction, the Article 66 determines the institution of the choice of court as an exclusive head of jurisdiction: the insolvency practitioners appointed to carry out insolvency proceedings against the group members may initiate the proceeding in front of the most adequate forum based on a request written by or confirmed in writing by two-thirds of the insolvency practitioners.¹⁷ In this respect the question may arise: what aspects do or may the insolvency practitioners consider when determining which Member State court is "the most adequate" to decide on the opening of the group coordination proceeding?, I believe, in this regard the following factors may be equally decisive: the main centre of interest of the debtor group of companies, the number of subsidiaries of the debtor group of companies seated in the given Member State(s), the location of the group's assets (rights and concessions), the regular place of residency of the main creditors of the group. In terms of the choice of jurisdiction, the request to open group coordination proceedings shall be submitted at the court having exclusive jurisdiction over the proceedings. The court having jurisdiction based on the general iurisdiction rule has to decline iurisdiction in favour of the court of choice pursuant to Section 3 of the Article 66. From this rule one can draw the conclusion that courts having jurisdiction based on the general head of jurisdiction may not review the choice - of whether the most adequate forum was indeed determined - in effect, since if the request complies with the rules of the Articles 61 and 66, they must decline jurisdiction.

Concerning the request for opening group coordination proceedings, the regulation sets the direction of submitting the request, on the one hand, and defines its mandatory attachments on the other. With regard to submitting the request, Section 2 of the Article 61 specifies the applicable law as the law of the Member State under which the insolvency practitioner was appointed. Consequently, it bears no significance in which Member State the request was filed (Jaufer, 2017, p. 264), and the determination of the applicable law by the regulation may lead to the application of a foreign law both for the court having jurisdiction and for the requesting person (i.e. the insolvency practitioner). Regarding the content of the request the regulation only specifies minimum rules (Bornemann, 2016, p. 216): a) recommendation on the person of the group coordinator (which includes documentation certifying the suitability and gualifications of the coordinator as well as a written statement from the coordinator assuming the task): b) the outline of the recommended group coordination proceeding; c) the list of appointed insolvency practitioners for the group members concerned and the competent courts and other authorities having jurisdiction over the insolvency proceedings concerning the group members; and d) cost estimates of the group coordination broken down by the individual members of the group.¹⁸

¹⁶See Article 62 of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

¹⁷When interpreting this part of the regulation, it can be stated that if carrying out the proceedings in front of the most adequate forum is a requirement, by insolvency practitioners we refer to the insolvency practitioners appointed for both the main proceedings and the territorial proceedings.

¹⁸See Article 61(3) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

4.1.2 Establishing group coordination proceedings

After receiving the request, the court having jurisdiction over opening the group coordination proceeding must examine the following in effect: a.) whether the group coordination proceeding is indeed an efficient treatment of the insolvency proceeding(s) concerning the individual members of the group, b.) whether one of the creditors of the group members involved in the proceedings is to become negatively affected in financial terms because of the involvement of the given group member in the proceeding, and c.) whether the nominated coordinator complies with the requirements set forth in the regulation.¹⁹ If the request is in accordance with the conditions defined in Section (1) of the Article 63 of the EU Insolvency Regulation, the court must notify the insolvency practitioners appointed for the group members about the request to an open group coordination proceeding and the nominated coordinator.

Section (4) of the Article 63 of the new EU Insolvency Regulation declares, that (Member State) insolvency practitioners must be provided with the opportunity to present their opinion on the group coordination proceeding. Firstly, insolvency practitioners may raise objections against opting the main and/or territorial insolvency proceedings in the group coordination proceeding (right of opt-out and opt-in), secondly, they may object to the insolvency practitioner nominated for coordinator.²⁰ Lodging an objection may be carried out within 30 days of receiving the court notification on the form prescribed in the Article 88 of the Regulation. The court attaches different legal consequences for the different objections: while exercising the right of opting out excludes participation in the group coordination proceeding, objection against the person of the coordinator does not necessarily result in exclusion from the coordination mechanism, and is not an objection against the group coordination proceeding itself (Jaufer, 2017, p. 265). If the insolvency practitioner raises an objection against the inclusion of a given insolvency proceeding in the group coordination proceeding, the insolvency proceeding is not included in the group coordination proceeding, the scope of the group coordination proceeding (including the costs thereof) shall not be extended to the given insolvency proceeding. In my opinion, the regulation leaves the door open for the Member State law with regard to the decision on the right to opt out or opt in when it stipulates as some kind of framework rule that the insolvency practitioner must obtain all approvals of the inclusion or exclusion in the coordination prescribed by the Member State law.

If the insolvency practitioner lodges an objection against the person of the coordinator, and at the same time does not object against including the given insolvency proceeding in the group coordination proceeding, then, pursuant to the Article 67, the court may request the insolvency practitioner to submit a new request for the initiation of group coordination proceeding. An objection against the person of the coordinator – a "constructive objection" as referred to by Bonnemann (2016, p. 219) – does not exclude the opening of a group coordination proceeding for the group of companies concerned, but, based on the Article 67, the insolvency practitioner lodging the objection must practically initiate a new proceeding in harmony with Section 3 of the Article 61 of the new EU Insolvency Regulation.

Upon reviewing the regulation on objections, it can be safely stated that, whereas an objection to the person of any coordinator by an insolvency practitioner blocks the opening of a group coordination proceeding, objection against involving a certain

¹⁹ According to the Article 71: "1. The coordinator shall be a person eligible under the law of a Member State to act as an insolvency practitioner. 2. The coordinator shall not be one of the insolvency practitioners appointed to act in respect of any of the group members, and shall have no conflict of interest in respect of the group members, their creditors and the insolvency practitioners appointed in respect of any of the group members."
²⁰ See Article 64(1) EU Insolvency Regulation.

insolvency proceeding in the group coordination proceeding has no suspending²¹ or delaying effect²² on the coordination process itself. One piece of criticism may be raised against the regulation saying that Section (2) of the Article 64 defines a due date for submitting objections, but it fails to govern, thus does not set time limits on the initiation of the new proceeding.²³

4.1.3 Ordering the opening of a proceeding

If the deadline for filing objections elapses, and the request complies with the requirements outlined in Section (3) of the Article 61 of the new EU Insolvency Regulation, the court may pass a decision to open a group coordination proceeding. Section (1) of the Article 68 of the new EU Insolvency Regulation provides an itemised list of the content of the court decision opening the group coordination proceeding.²⁴ but it does not specify a normative deadline for reaching such a decision. The decision on an opening group coordination proceeding shall be sent to the coordinator and the insolvency practitioner participating in the coordination with opting in rights. The regulation does not govern the issue of legal remedy/remedies against the decision, so based on Reinhard's position (2016, p. 9) I believe that Member State regulations are governed with regard to legal remedies.

4.2 Conducting of the insolvency proceedings of members of a group of companies and the activities of the coordinator

In fact, group coordination proceedings are cooperational mechanisms based on continuous exchange of information between the coordinator and the insolvency practitioners of the Member States, and they are aimed at reorganising the insolvent group of companies, thus restoring the group's solvency, economic performance and financial stability. In my view, the new regulation on insolvency proceedings does not create unified insolvency proceedings applicable throughout the European Union and superior to the Member State proceedings by establishing the institution of group coordination proceedings,²⁵ but through inclusion in insolvency proceedings it facilitates solutions for the legal position of insolvent groups or groups on the verge of insolvency by mean of a framework of harmonised coordination mechanisms between the group of companies and the specific group members without infringing on the interests of the specific group members and the creditors.

The coordinators' activities constitute the centre of the group coordination proceedings and the coordination mechanisms. The Article 71 of the regulation defines the conditions prescribed for the coordination proceedings, whereas the Article 72 provides an itemised list of the coordinator's responsibilities and powers. In my opinion, the powers of the coordinator may be divided into three groups: 1. coordination of

²¹ In my opinion, an objection against the coordinator excludes the opening of the coordination altogether if no request to initiate a new group coordination proceeding is submitted.

²²Until a request for a new group coordination proceeding is filed.

²³Pursuant to the Article 67 of the EU Insolvency Regulation the court may appoint the insolvency practitioner filing the request by way of exercising its right of discretion.

²⁴ The court with jurisdiction over ordering group coordination proceedings nominates the coordinator in its decision, decides on the course and cost estimates of the proceedings, as well as on the distribution of costs among the members concerned. See Article 68(1) of the EU Insolvency Regulation

²⁵Paragraph (22) of the Preamble to the new EU insolvency Regulation determines that, owing to the different material legislation of the Member States, no unified EU-wide insolvency proceedings with a universal scope can be established, which, in my view, can be reiterated after careful consideration of the system of rule pertaining to group coordination proceedings too.

Member State insolvency proceedings: identifying and outlining in broad terms the recommendations for a harmonised conduct of insolvency proceeding(s) through cooperation with insolvency practitioners,²⁶ 2. restructuring the solvency of the group of companies to which the development of a group coordination plan in the central.²⁷ and 3. participation in Member State insolvency proceedings in which the coordinator is entitled to take part, speak in any proceedings concerning the group or any of its members and request the suspension of such proceedings.²⁸

Beyond the tasks defined in Article 72 of the EU Insolvency Regulation, coordinators have a central role in the subsequent inclusion of insolvency proceedings in group coordination proceedings. The regulation provides grounds for insolvent groups of companies to join in the cooperation mechanism following the ordering of the group coordination proceeding. The legal source defines two types of cases for subsequent inclusion: i) if the insolvency practitioner lodges an objection against the inclusion of the given insolvency proceeding in the group coordination proceeding in the initiating phase of a group coordination proceeding (i.e. in the case of opt-out), ii) if an insolvency proceeding concerning the group of companies was opened after the ordering of the group coordinating proceeding. The coordinator makes a decision on subsequent inclusion following consultations with the affected insolvency practitioners. One condition for subsequent inclusion is the unilateral support of all the insolvency practitioners.29

The activities of the coordinator are defined by the court, which they shall carry out during a defined term under judicial supervision and for a set fee. Having completed their tasks, the coordinators shall prepare a final statement of costs (Wessels, 2017, p. 730).³⁰ which shall be submitted to the court ordering the group coordination proceedings and sent to all the insolvency practitioners. If the coordinator becomes undeserving of carrying out the tasks (owing to conduct causing damage to creditors; non-performance of the tasks assigned in the court decision), the court may withdraw the nomination ex officio or at the request of an insolvency practitioner.

5. SUMMARY

From December 2012, a change of concept can be traced to the European Commission's insolvency proceedings, consultation and legislative initiatives in this field at the EU level: The Commission's interest has shifted from winding-up proceedings to preventive restructuring proceedings. Following a review of the EU legislation on groups of companies and individual group members, I believe that the new Insolvency Regulation, in line with the objectives set out in the Preamble to the source and the group coordination procedure (in particular the institution of the group coordination plan), can be considered as new evidence, which in a broad sense can be classified as a reorganization procedure, in a narrower sense it can be assessed as a cooperation mechanism that facilitates and supports reorganization proceedings.

Consequently, the group coordination proceedings are cooperational mechanisms based on continuous exchange of information between the coordinator and

197

²⁶ See Article 72(1,2b) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

²⁷ The group coordination plan is a package of measures prepared by the coordinator with the aim of restoring the financial stability of the group members, to resolve the group members' insolvency, and settle and facilitate lawsuits or out-of-court settlements and foster agreements between the insolvency practitioners of the aroup members.

²⁸ See Article 72(2a,2e) of the EU Insolvency Regulation.

²⁹ See Article 69(2b) EU Insolvency Regulation.

³⁰ The regulation does not prescribe a specific form of the statement.

the insolvency practitioners of the Member States, and they are aimed at reorganising the insolvent group of companies, thus restoring the group's solvency, economic performance and financial stability. In my view, the new regulation on insolvency proceedings does not create unified insolvency proceedings applicable throughout the European Union and superior to the Member State proceedings by establishing the institution of group coordination proceedings, but through inclusion in insolvency proceedings it facilitates solutions for the legal position of insolvent groups or groups on the verge of insolvency by mean of a framework of harmonised coordination mechanisms between the group of companies and the specific group members without infringing on the interests of the specific group members and the creditors.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- Bornemann, A. (2016). Verfahren über Mitglieder einer Unternehraensgruppe Konzerninsolvenzrecht. In K. Wimmer, A. Bornemann, & M. Lienau (Eds.), *Die Neufassung der EulnsVO* (1st ed., pp. 174–228). Köln: Luchterhang Verlag.
- Hess, B., Oberhammer, P. and Pfeiffer, T. (2014). External evaluation of Regulation N°1346/2000/EC on Insolvency Proceedings. Retrieved from Universität Wien; Ruprecht-Karls-Universität: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/4d756fa7-b860-4e36-b1f8-c6640dced486#
- Jaufer, C. (2017). Konzerninsolvenz nach der EulnsVO 2015. In T. Garber, C. Jaufer, & B. Nunner-Krautgasser (Eds.), *Grenzüberschreitende Insolvenzen im europäischen Binnenmarkt. Die neue EU-Insolvenzverordnung.* Wien: MANZ Verlag Wien.
- Mangano, R. (2016). Group Insolvencies. In R. Bork & R. Mangano (Eds.), *European Cross-Border Insolvency Law* (1st ed., pp. 273–299). Oxford University Press.
- Oberhammer, P., Koller, C., Auernig, K. and Planitzer, L. (2017). Insolvencies of groups of companies. In S. Bariatti, B. Hess, C. Koller, B. Laukemann, P. Oberhammer, M. Requejo Isidro, & F. C. Villata (Eds.), *The Implementation of the New Insolvency Regulation* (1st ed., pp. 185–226). Hart/Nomos. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.5040/9781509921300.part-003
- Reinhart, S. (2016). Nachträgliches Opt-in durch Verwalter (Art 69 VO (EG 2015/848). In H.-P. Kirchhof, H. Eidenmüller, & R. Stürner (Eds.), Münchener Kommentar zur Insolvenzordnung (pp. 504–507). München: Verlag C. H. Beck.
- Veress, E. (2019). A román fizetésképtelenségi jog alapjai. *Gazdaság És Jog*, 27(4), 15– 19.
- Wessels, B. (2017). Insolvency proceedings of members of a group of companies. In International Insolvency Law. Part II European Insolvency Law (4th ed., pp. 671– 732). Deventer: Wolters Kluwer (Netherlands)

REPORTS





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

INTERNATIONAL AND NATIONAL LEGAL ASPECTS OF DIRECT CITIZEN PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL SELF-GOVERNMENT (BRATISLAVA, 3 DECEMBER 2020) / Ľudovít Máčaj

Mgr. Ľudovít Máčaj, PhD. Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, Department of Administrative and Environmental Law; Šafárikovo nám. 6; 818 00 Bratislava, Slovakia. Iudovit.macaj@uniba.sk

This report was prepared as part of the research project VEGA No. 1/0757/20 titled "Means of direct democracy in the conditions of smart cities and municipalities".

Suggested citation:

Submitted : 11 December 2020 Published : 31 December 2020 Máčaj, Ľ. (2020). International and National Legal Aspects of Direct Citizen Participation in Local Self-Government (Bratislava, 03 December 2020). *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 201-204. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.217

On the 3rd December 2020, Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law organized an international scientific conference entitled **"International and national legal aspects of direct citizen participation in local self-government"**. It was organized online via the MS Teams application. The conference represented the outcome of the research team concerning the project VEGA No. 1/0757/20 titled "Means of direct democracy in the conditions of smart cities and municipalities", awarded by the Scientific Grant Agency of the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic and the Slovak Academy of Sciences.

The aim of the conference was to identify shortcomings of the legal regulation of the means of direct democracy at the level of local self-government and the possibilities of their implementation electronically in Slovakia, as well as the advantages of foreign legal regulation. Its ambition was to join the voices drawing attention to the need for wider digitization of public administration with a special focus on the implementation of direct forms of local democracy in Slovakia.

The conference was held under the auspices of doc. JUDr. Lívia Trellová, PhD. from Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law. She opened the conference with a speech and also welcomed all guests. At the same time, she presented the tasks and goals of the project, not only about this calendar year but also other next years of the project duration.

A total of 20 participants registered for the conference, while 11 separate scientific submissions were presented during the meeting. The conference was attended by representatives of the academic community from Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, and also guests from Slovakia and the Czech Republic, as well as representatives of legal practice and the third sector (their workplace is mentioned below).

The introductory lecture was given by doc. JUDr. Marek Domin, PhD., who outlined the constitutional basis of direct democracy at the municipal level and tried to answer whether the current legal regulation of local referendum in Slovakia contains a sufficient guarantee of the implementation of the constitutional principles. Then the word was given to prof. JUDr. Mária Srebalová, PhD., who presented a submission about good governance in local self-government communication, which was prepared with the doc. PhDr. JUDr. Tomáš Peráček, PhD. from Department of Information System of Faculty of Management, Comenius University in Bratislava, In their contribution, they pointed out the possibilities on the basis of which the means of direct democracy could be put into practice, using several means of practical research to obtain information. In the third presentation, Ing. Paul Pirovits, as a representative of the third sector (civic associations "Priama demokracia" and "Robme to správne") focused on the project of civil councils. He pointed to this project, in which the direct participation of citizens in the administration of public affairs is applied in a special way. He also addressed a call for the implementation of this project. The fourth contribution was presented by Mgr. Mária Bezáková. She pointed out the importance of the principle of direct democracy as one of the pillars of a democratic and rule of law and its importance in legislation.

The second session of the conference focused on aspects of issues of spatial planning, administrative law as well as application practice. It was opened by Mgr. Ludovít Máčaj, PhD., pointing out issues of the possibilities of direct participation of the population of the municipality in spatial planning, with the perspective of landscape planning as an institute of nature and landscape protection. JUDr. Štefan Haulík focused on certain issues of present tools of direct democracy on the level of municipalities. Even if these tools are guaranteed and protected by the highest level of the legal order, for instance by the Constitution of the Slovak Republic, they are not sufficiently used in legal practice, JUDr. Matúš Radosa analyzed the electronic performance of direct participation of the population in local self-government in the light of the current legal regulation of the European Union. The session continued with the submissions of two Czech quests, JUDr. Ing. Josef Staša, CSc. from Charles University in Prague presented several considerations on the participation of citizens in spatial planning at the municipal level while presenting some interesting reflections on the future possibilities of legislation in this area. JUDr. Monika Horáková, Ph.D. from Palacký University in Olomouc presented her ideas about local referendum on territorial changes of the municipality.

The final session was opened by Mgr. Lukáš Tomaš from Pavol Jozef Šafárik University in Košice, with the analysis of the decision-making practice of the Supreme Administrative Court of the Czech Republic in matters of construction of local referendum issues and possibilities of its evaluation in the conditions of Slovakia. Subsequently, Mgr. Ján Mazúr, PhD. presented his submission on the alternative tools for involving the population in local self-governance. He described the Slovak application Link for Mayor (OPS), as well as examples of similar deliberative applications that allow citizens to formulate their political preferences, making them instruments of direct democracy at the local level. Finally, doc. JUDr. Lívia Trellová, PhD. concluded the conference with her contribution and a summary of problematic issues in the field of direct democracy at the local level, which will be further explored and developed in the direction of proposing new legal solutions within the project. The conference brought an exchange of views between legal theory, legal practice, and the third sector. We believe that it provided a certain basis for the further solution of the mentioned project, which can be very important at present when more and more activities are being moved to the online space. At the same time, it provides more opportunities for the use of the means of direct democracy, the application of which is suitable at the level of local self-government.





ISSN (print): 2585-7088 ISSN (electronic): 2644-6359

IMPROVEMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS OF LEGAL REGULATION OF PUBLIC PROCUREMENT AND ITS APPLICATION WITHIN EU LAW CONTEXT (BRATISLAVA, 25 NOVEMBER AND 3 DECEMBER 2020) / Adam Máčaj, Daniel Zigo

Mgr. Adam Máčaj Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, Institute of European Law; Šafárikovo nám. 6; 818 00 Bratislava, Slovakia. adam.macaj@flaw.uniba.sk ORCID: 0000-0002-3086-8025

Mgr. Daniel Zigo Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, Department of Commercial Law and Economic Law; Šafárikovo nám. 6; 818 00 Bratislava, Slovakia. daniel.zigo@flaw.uniba.sk ORCID: 0000-0003-2414-3471

This report was prepared as part of the research project APVV-17-0641 "Improvement of effectiveness of legal regulation of public procurement and its application within EU law context".

Suggested citation:

Submitted : 14 December 2020 Published : 31 December 2020 Máčaj, A., Zigo, D. (2020). Improvement of effectiveness of legal regulation of public procurement and its application within EU law context (Bratislava, 25 November and 3 December 2020). *Bratislava Law Review*, 4(2), 205-210. https://doi.org/10.46282/blr.2020.4.2.218

Comenius University in Bratislava held two scientific conferences in November and December 2020, dealing with contemporary topics in public procurement and its regulation on national and European level. Due to the ongoing restrictions related to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, both events were held online, nevertheless they attracted a plethora of participants of both academic and professional backgrounds. Both conferences were held as part of a research project APVV-17-0641 "Improvement of effectiveness of legal regulation of public procurement and its application within EU law context", but focused on a broad range of issues with cross-cutting implications, including independence and accountability of decision-making authorities, effectiveness of sanctions, and alternatives thereto.

The first conference, "Independence, Accountability, and Protection of Public Interest in Market Regulation and Public Procurement", took place on Wednesday, 25 November 2020 at 1:00 p.m. The keynote speech was delivered by JUDr. Miroslav Hlivák, PhD., LLM, president of the Office for Public Procurement of Slovakia, followed by doc. JUDr. Ing. Ondrej Blažo, PhD., director of the Institute of European Law at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava. The main highlights of the conference opening were especially the reiterated need for maintaining independence of market regulatory authorities on a variety of grounds, such as the requirements stemming from EU law, the independence as indispensable feature to ensure functioning of responsible authorities, and the broader implications of independence of public bodies. On the other hand, implications were also considered to be essential in contemporary discourse.

Afterwards, JUDr. Zuzana Šabová, PhD. and Assoc. Prof. Ing. Daniela Zemanovičová, CSc. brought useful insight into the development and newest proposed changes in the Anti-monopoly Office of Slovakia, which are likely to impact also the political independence and impartiality from external pressures. Describing the historical changes to nominations and appointments into the leading positions of the Anti-monopoly Office, the speakers found that variety of factors are liable to undermine objective and subjective independence of regulatory bodies, including but not limited to political appointees being granted leading positions in the institutions, or confidentiality of candidates proposed for the position.

JUDr. Mária T. Patakyová, PhD. from Institute of European Law at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava devoted her presentation to assessment of ongoing transposition of Directive (EU) 2019/1 in Slovakia that similarly impacts especially institutional position of Anti-monopoly Office. The main features of the proposed changes deal with explicit formulation of independence and impartiality in the statutory provisions, or more precise delimitation of bodies entitled to submit proposals for appointment of president of the Anti-monopoly Office to the government. On the other hand, the appointment by the government remains deficient in transparency, and proposed changes in cooldown period of leading representatives of the Anti-monopoly Office are similarly unsatisfactory, especially as they seem to lack enforcement mechanism.

Ing. Boris Gregor, vice-president of the Anti-monopoly Office, noted in the discussion that within the office, an independent proposal of legislative amendments needed to deal with position, independence, and tasks of the Anti-monopoly Office, providing for a comprehensive transposition of Directive (EU) 2019/1 from the view of professionals working directly in the institution. Their own efforts were, however, halted by difficulties in accessibility and transparency of similar regulations in other EU Member States, hampering comparative analysis or an assessment of best practices. Similarly, president of the Office for Public Procurement concurred that he considers independence of control and regulatory authorities as one of essential features in a rule of law, and praised attempts of the European Commission to strengthen this independence. He pointed out that on the basis of this impetus, Office for Public Procurement was drafting its own proposed amendments to legislation for over a year, in an attempt to balance interests of contracting authorities, as well as tenderers, and broader consideration of public interest. In their proposal, this balance is maintained through an ambitious strengthening of institutional independence, by formulating strict requirements for

candidates for presidency, or institutional balance in appointments to the Council of the Office for Public Procurement, as an appellate body.

Assoc. Prof. JUDr. Katarína Kalesná, CSc. from Institute of European Law at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava dealt with professionalization of public procurement in her speech. She considered especially its modernization and centralization through education in a variety of topics pertinent to public procurement, such as fundamental principles of public procurement, intellectual property, or case-law related thereto. She also pointed out the close relationship between competition law and public procurement, suggesting that absence of the former in education of responsible stakeholders may prove to be detrimental to the latter.

Prof. JUDr. PhDr. Miroslav Slašťan, PhD. from Department of International Law and International Relations at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava focused on the issue of EU legislative instruments in the area of public procurement and their legal effects. He pointed out the problem that frequently, monitoring, decisions, and revision are undertaken by the same institutions within the Member States.

JUDr. Juraj Tkáč from Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law assessed similarly revision procedures in public procurement. He pointed out that in spite of the announced changes, no draft of actual statutory text to be the basis of the amendments has been presented thus far. This hinders public discussion about the proposals, as well as limits the experts from academia and practice to analyse the appropriateness or necessity, and benefits of the proposed changes. He cautioned that the proposed changes, including those dealing with tenders below threshold values, may eventually come into conflict with EU law, as it nevertheless covers such tenders crossborder, and limited discussion of the impact the changes may have is therefore not desirable.

The second online conference, "Administrative Sanctions and Alternative Approaches to Solutions of Public Procurement Rule Infringements", took place on 3 December 2020 and, following up on various issues from the previous conference, elaborated especially on ways of adopting preventive, support, and sanction mechanisms in public procurement, and how to mitigate the amount and scale of infringements in public procurement.

The conference was once again opened both by JUDr. Miroslav Hlivák, PhD., LLM. president of the Office for Public Procurement of Slovakia, and oc. JUDr. Ing. Ondrej Blažo, PhD., director of the Institute of European Law at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava. President Hlivák once again appreciably noted the topic of the conference focused on questions that are subject to review in the proposed legislative changes. He reiterated the necessity to change the public perception of the Office for Public Procurement's activities to emphasize other approaches of their activities than sanctions. Director Blažo focused on quantification of fines imposed for infringements of public procurement rules in his speech. The aim of his research was to establish the amount of fines imposed by the Office for Public Procurement to various types of contracting authorities in Slovakia, and disaggregate the amount and height of fines on the basis of underlying infringement. The results established that most common infringement in public procurement is omission to act in accordance with procedure under the Public Procurement Act, and similarly this infringement is most severely punished, by fines comparatively higher to other infringements. The second most common infringement was violation of basic principles of public procurement, and most often, the responsible contracting authorities were either central government bodies, or regional self-administering entities. The research then focused on inquiring whether contracting authorities considered the sanctions and took steps to prevent similar infringements in the future, e.g. by claiming damages from persons responsible, or

adopting compliance measure *pro futuro*. Overall, out of 241 cases, only 146 contracting authorities adopted similar measures, posing therefore the question whether these, in conjunction with alternative sanctions, should not be considered more viable in relation to height of the fines by themselves.

The ensuing discussion dealt with a broad range of related issues, including the possibility to mitigate the fine imposed by 50%, which has been proven to bring preventive effects on contracting authorities, and proposals on part of the Office for Public Procurement consider expansion of situations where such mitigation of fines could be considered. The issue that arose in the course of comments by participants was also whether strict stipulation of lowest and highest applicable fine is the appropriate limitation, and whether proportion of the actual value of the tender should not be considered. In the view of the Office for Public Procurement, the current legislation is easier in application, although as doc. JUDr. Matej Horvat, PhD. pointed out, courts in Czechia already require these fines to avoid being destructive for the companies concerned. He also questioned what alternative approaches to pecuniary sanctions could be considered if public procurement itself concerns predominantly funding and public finances.

JUDr. Hynek Brom from Charles University in Prague dealt with purpose of the fines and alternative concepts of sanctioning infringements in public procurement, e. g. through changes especially in procedural rules, where more initiative would be required from the parties, as compared to current burden of investigation being placed upon Office for Public Procurement. This way, the sanction in form of the fine would be supplemented also by official finding as to the entitlements of respective parties and lawfulness of their claims.

Assoc. Prof. JUDr. Peter Lukáčka, PhD. from Department of Commercial Law and Economic Law at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava, with JUDr. Peter Kubolek from Office for Public Procurement, delivered their speech, dealing with prospective future introduction of prior assessment of contractual terms in public procurement, with the purpose of broadening the scope of monitoring from Office for Public Procurement to include assessment of compatibility of contractual terms not only with rules of public procurement, but also other mandatory norms, infringement of which can restrict competition, irresponsibly allocate public funding, or even annulment of tender. Alternative to sanctioning such infringements before they occur.

The final presentation was held by Mgr. Daniel Zigo from Department of Commercial Law and Economic Law at Faculty of Law of the Comenius University in Bratislava, and dealt with civil liability of public officers for damages caused when managing public funds. Assessing the historical attempts to enshrine such liability in Slovakia, and current legislative proposals, the author found that even in absence of any legislative amendments, which are likely to be controversial and intensively debated, the law offers a variety of measures to invoke civil liability of public officials even nowadays. The real issue is very rare commencement of the applicable proceedings. On the other hand, the ongoing proposals provide for conferring competence on specific state bodies to enforce the civil liability against public officials, and enshrine obligation of public officials to act with due diligence explicitly in the legislative text. Nevertheless, it remains questionable whether these novelties in fact increase the likelihood of public officials being called to account for their failures in securing appropriate utilization of public finances.

The conferences brought new life into ongoing debates concerning public procurement and efficient administration of public finances, issues that are of everincreasing importance across the EU. Further development in this area is therefore certainly expected, providing yet other incentives for extensive academic research, and cooperation of academia with professionals and state authorities in the future.